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ROZHODNUTÍ  

Česká národní banka, jako orgán dohledu nad finančním trhem podle zákona č. 6/1993 Sb., 

o České národní bance, ve znění pozdějších předpisů, orgán dohledu nad kapitálovým trhem 

podle zákona č. 15/1998 Sb., o dohledu v oblasti kapitálového trhu a o změně a doplnění 

dalších zákonů, ve znění pozdějších předpisů a zákona č. 256/2004 Sb., o podnikání 

na kapitálovém trhu, ve znění pozdějších předpisů a jako příslušný orgán podle nařízení 

Evropského parlamentu a Rady (EU) č. 2017/1129 ze dne 14. června 2017 o prospektu, 

který má být uveřejněn při veřejné nabídce nebo přijetí cenných papírů k obchodování 

na regulovaném trhu, a   o zrušení směrnice 2003/71/ES (dále jen „Nařízení“), 

rozhodla  ve správním řízení vedeném podle zákona č. 500/2004 Sb., správní řád, 

ve znění  pozdějších předpisů o žádosti společnosti J&T BANKA, a.s., IČO 47115378, 

se sídlem Sokolovská 700/113a, Karlín, 186 00 Praha 8,  

 o schválení prospektu dluhopisů podle článku 20 odst. 2 

Nařízení, která byla České národní bance doručena dne 19. září 2024, takto: 

Společnosti J&T BANKA, a.s., IČO 47115378, se sídlem Sokolovská 700/113a, Karlín, 

186 00 Praha 8, se podle článku 20 odst. 2 Nařízení pro účely veřejné nabídky a přijetí 

k obchodování na regulovaném trhu organizovaném společností Burza cenných papírů 

Praha, a.s. 

s c h v a l u j e  

prospekt zaknihovaných podřízených dluhopisů, ISIN CZ0003709339, v předpokládané 

celkové jmenovité hodnotě 1 500 000 000 Kč, s možností navýšení až na 2 500 000 000 Kč, 

o jmenovité hodnotě jednoho dluhopisu 10 000 Kč, s výnosem určeným nejdříve pevnou 

úrokovou ve výši 6,25 % p. a. a poté od 4. prosince 2029 součtem referenční sazby 

6M PRIBOR a marže 2,75 % p.a., a s datem splatnosti 4. prosince 2034. Schválený 

prospekt tvoří jako příloha nedílnou součást tohoto výroku. 

O D Ů V O D N Ě N Í 

Česká národní banka schválením prospektu v souladu s čl. 2 písm. r) Nařízení osvědčuje, 

že  prospekt splňuje normy týkající se úplnosti, srozumitelnosti a soudržnosti dle článku 6 

a  násl. Nařízení, tedy že obsahuje nezbytné informace, které jsou podstatné pro to, aby investor 

informovaně posoudil emitenta a cenné papíry, které mají být předmětem veřejné nabídky 

a  přijetí k obchodování na regulovaném trhu. 
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V rámci správního řízení o schválení prospektu Česká národní banka neposuzovala 

hospodářské výsledky ani finanční situaci účastníka řízení a schválením prospektu negarantuje 

budoucí ziskovost účastníka řízení ani jeho schopnost splatit výnosy nebo jmenovitou hodnotu 

vydávaných cenných papírů. 

Vzhledem k tomu, že Česká národní banka účastníkovi řízení v plném rozsahu vyhověla, není 

podle ustanovení § 68 odst. 4 správního řádu další odůvodnění tohoto rozhodnutí třeba. 

 

P O U Č E N Í 

Proti tomuto rozhodnutí lze podat rozklad u České národní banky, Na Příkopě 28, Nové Město, 

115 03 Praha 1, a to prostřednictvím sekce dohledu nad finančním trhem. Lhůta pro podání 

rozkladu činí 15 dnů ode dne doručení rozhodnutí. O rozkladu proti rozhodnutí České národní 

banky rozhoduje bankovní rada České národní banky. 

 

 

 

 v z. Michaela Kozáková LL.M. 

Ing. Jiří Kalivoda 

náměstek ředitelky 

sekce dohledu nad finančním trhem 
podepsáno elektronicky 

Mgr. Jan Vokroj 

ředitel 

odbor správních řízení 
podepsáno elektronicky 

 

 

 

 

Doručuje se (prostřednictvím datové schránky): 
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J&T BANKA, a.s. 


Prospectus of fixed to floating rate Tier 2 subordinated notes 
in the anticipated aggregate nominal amount of CZK 1,500,000,000  


with the possibility of increase of up to CZK 2,500,000,000 
due 2034 


This document constitutes the prospectus (the Prospectus) in respect of fixed to floating rate Tier 2 subordinated 
notes issued under Czech law in the anticipated aggregate nominal amount of CZK 1,500,000,000 (one billion 
five hundred million Czech Koruna) with the possibility of increase of up to CZK 2,500,000,000 (two billion 
five hundred million Czech Koruna) due 2034 (the Notes or the Issue), issued by J&T BANKA, a.s., a joint-
stock company incorporated under the laws of the Czech Republic, with its registered office at Sokolovská 
700/113a, Karlín, Prague 8, Postal Code 186 00, ID No.: 471 15 378, LEI: 31570010000000043842, registered 
in the Commercial Register maintained by the Municipal Court in Prague under file no. B 1731 (the Issuer).  


The issue date of the Notes is 4 December 2024 (the Issue Date). From (and including) the Issue Date to (but 
excluding) 4 December 2029 (the Reset Date), the Notes will bear a fixed interest of 6.25% per annum payable 
annually on 4 December. From the Reset Date until the Final Maturity Date (as defined below), the Notes will 
bear a floating interest payable semi-annually on 4 June and 4 December in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the Notes (the Conditions). 


The issue price of all the Notes issued on the Issue Date is equal to 100% of their nominal amount. The issue 
price of any Notes issued after the Issue Date will be determined by the Issuer taking into account the current 
market conditions. Where relevant, a corresponding accrued interest will be added to the amount of the issue 
price for any Notes issued after the Issue Date. For the avoidance of doubt, it is provided that the Issuer has no 
obligation to any investor in the Notes to repurchase any Notes. 


Unless redeemed early or purchased by the Issuer and cancelled, as described in the Conditions, the Notes will 
be redeemed in accordance with the Conditions at their outstanding principal amount on their maturity date, 
which is on 4 December 2034 (the Final Maturity Date). The Issuer may, at its discretion, redeem the Notes 
early in accordance with the conditions specified in the Conditions. 


The Notes are intended to qualify as Tier 2 Capital (as defined in the Conditions). The claims against the Issuer 
associated with the Notes (including the claims for the repayment of the nominal amount of the Notes and 
payment of interest associated with the Notes) constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated 
claims and they constitute and shall be satisfied as relevant capital instruments or obligations of the Issuer 
pursuant to Section 374c of the Insolvency Act. 


The Notes are subordinated bonds pursuant to Section 34 of the Bonds Act, which will rank junior to all present 
or future (i) claims in respect of unsecured and unsubordinated instruments or obligations of the Issuer, including 
claims in respect of senior non-preferred instruments of the Issuer pursuant to Section 374b of the Insolvency 
Act; and (ii) subordinated instruments or obligations of the Issuer pursuant to Section 172(2) of the Insolvency 
Act (other than relevant capital instruments of the Issuer pursuant to Section 374c of the Insolvency Act, 
including claims in respect of Tier 2 Instruments and Additional Tier 1 Instruments). 


In all cases, payments under the Notes will be made in accordance with the laws applicable in the Czech Republic 
as of the moment such payment is made. Where it is required by the laws of the Czech Republic applicable as of 
the moment a payment of nominal is made, applicable tax and other fees will be withheld or deducted from the 
payments to the Noteholders. If any deduction or withholding is required at the time of such payment, the Issuer 
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shall not be obliged to pay to the Noteholders any additional amounts. Subject to certain conditions, the Issuer 
is a taxpayer of a tax withheld or deducted from the interest on the Notes. For further information, please see 
Taxation. 


An investment in the Notes issued under this Prospectus involves risks. For a discussion of certain of these 
risks see Risk Factors. 


This Prospectus has been prepared and published for the purposes of an offer of the Notes to the public pursuant 
to Article 2(d) of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017 on 
the prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a regulated 
market, and repealing Directive 2003/71/EC (the Prospectus Regulation). The offer of the Notes to the public 
will be made in the Czech Republic by the Issuer. The Issuer will apply for admission of the Notes to trading on 
the regulated market (in Czech, Regulovaný trh) of Burza cenných papírů Praha, a.s., with its registered office at 
Rybná 14/682, 110 05 Prague 1, ID No.: 471 15 629, registered with the Commercial Register kept by the 
Municipal Court in Prague, File No. B 1773 (PSE and the Regulated Market of the PSE). 


The distribution of this Prospectus and the offer, sale or purchase of the Notes may be restricted by law in certain 
jurisdictions. Neither the Prospectus nor the Notes have been allowed or approved by any public authority of any 
jurisdiction, with the exception of the approval of the Prospectus by the Czech National Bank (CNB). 


On the basis of the mandate agreement, the Issuer has mandated J&T IB and Capital Markets, a.s., with its 
registered office at Sokolovská 700/113a, Karlín, Prague 8, Postal Code 186 00, ID No.: 247 66 259, registered 
in the Commercial Register maintained by the Municipal Court in Prague under file no. B 16661, for preparation 
of the documents related to the Issue and the listing of the Notes for trading at the Regulated Market of the PSE. 


The Prospectus, which includes the text of the Conditions, was approved by the CNB in its decision ref. no. [], 
file no. [] dated [], which became final and effective on []. The CNB has approved the Prospectus in its 
capacity as the competent authority under the Prospectus Regulation and only to the extent that the Prospectus 
meets the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the Prospectus Regulation. 
By approving the Prospectus, the CNB certifies that the Prospectus contains all information required by law 
necessary for the investor to take an investment decision. The CNB assesses neither the financial results nor the 
financial situation of the issuer and by approving the Prospectus it does not comment on the Issuer’s future 
profitability or its ability to repay the nominal value of the Notes or their proportional yield. Potential investors 
should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the Notes. The ISIN of the Notes allocated 
by Centrální depozitář cenných papírů, a.s., with its registered office at Rybná 682/14, Old Town, 110 00 Prague 
1, ID No.: 250 81 489 (the Central Depository) is CZ0003709339. 


This Prospectus was made on 6 November 2024. If there is any significant new factor, material mistake or 
material inaccuracy relating to the information included in the Prospectus which may affect the assessment of 
the Notes and which arises or is noted after the approval of the Prospectus but before the issue of the Notes or 
the end of the offer of the Notes to the public or the admission of the Notes to trading on the regulated market, 
the Issuer will update the Prospectus in the form of supplements. Each such supplement will be approved by the 
CNB. 


For the purposes of the offer of the Notes to the public and the admission of the Notes to the regulated 
market, the Prospectus will be valid for twelve months from the date on which its approval by the CNB 
became final and effective. The validity of the Prospectus will expire on []. The obligation to supplement 
the Prospectus in the event of significant new factors, material mistakes or material inaccuracies does not 
apply when the Prospectus is no longer valid or when the conditions of Article 23 of the Prospectus 
Regulation are not met. 


After the end of the offer of the Notes to the public or after the admission of the Notes to trading on the Regulated 
Market of the PSE, whichever happens later, potential investors must base their investment decisions not only 
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on the Prospectus as amended by any supplements, but also on other information published by the Issuer after 
the date of the Prospectus or other publicly available information. 


The Prospectus, any supplements to the Prospectus and other published documents are available electronically 
on the website of the Issuer www.jtbank.cz, section Investor Relations and also for inspection during regular 
business hours from 9 a.m. to 4 p.m. CET at the registered office of the Issuer Sokolovská 700/113a, Karlín, 
186 00 Prague 8 (for further information please see Important Information). 


The information contained on the websites’ hyperlinks included in the Prospectus, with the exception of the 
information in the chapter Documents Incorporated by Reference, is not part of the Prospectus and therefore has 
not been verified or approved by the CNB. 


The Issuer has been rated Baa2 and Prime-2 by Moody’s Deutschland GmbH (Moody’s). Moody’s is established 
in the European Union and is registered under the Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended) (the CRA 
Regulation). Moody’s is included in the list of credit rating agencies published by the European Securities and 
Markets Authority (ESMA) on its website (http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-certified-
CRAs) in accordance with the CRA Regulation. 


Rating of the Issue has not been carried out as of the Issue Date, and thus the Issue is unrated. Amounts payable 
on the Notes following (and including) the Reset Date will be calculated by reference to PRIBOR. As of the date 
of this Prospectus, Czech Financial Benchmark Facility s.r.o., the administrator of PRIBOR, is included in the 
register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by ESMA pursuant to Article 36 (Register 
of administrators and benchmarks) of Regulation (EU) 2016/1011. 


J&T BANKA, a.s. 
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION 


This document is a prospectus of notes pursuant to Article 6 of the Prospectus Regulation and Article 24 of 
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 of 14 March 2019 supplementing Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 
of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards the format, content, scrutiny and approval of the 
prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a regulated market, 
and repealing Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 (the Implementing Regulation).  


The distribution of the Prospectus and the offer, sale or purchase of the Notes may be restricted by law in certain 
jurisdictions. Neither the Prospectus nor the Notes will be allowed, approved or registered by any administrative 
authority or other authority of any jurisdiction, with the exception of the approval of the Prospectus by the CNB. 
In particular, the Notes will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933 (the U.S. Securities 
Act) and therefore cannot be offered, sold or transferred within the United States or to U.S. residents (as defined 
in Regulation S implementing the U.S. Securities Act) except pursuant to an exemption from the registration duty 
under the U.S. Securities Act or in transactions not subject to registration under the U.S. Securities Act. The 
persons who get hold of the Prospectus are responsible for compliance with the restrictions applicable in 
individual states to the offer, purchase or sale of the Notes or the holding and distribution of the Prospectus and 
any other materials relating to the Notes.  


Potential Note investors must determine the suitability of such an investment according to their own 
circumstances. Each potential investor should primarily (i) have sufficient knowledge and experience to 
effectively evaluate the Notes, the advantages and risks of investing in the Notes, and assess the information 
contained in this Prospectus (including any supplements thereto), (ii) have knowledge of and access to 
appropriate analytical tools for evaluation, always in the context of their specific financial situation, the 
investment in the Notes, and its impact on their overall investment portfolio, (iii) have sufficient financial 
resources and liquidity to be prepared to bear all the risks of investing in the Notes, (iv) fully understand the 
terms of the Notes (especially the Conditions of Issue and this Prospectus, including any supplements thereto) 
and be familiar with the behaviour or development of any relevant indicator or financial market, and (v) be able 
to evaluate (either independently or with the help of a financial advisor) possible scenarios of future economic 
developments, interest rates, or other factors that may affect their investment and their ability to bear potential 
risks. 


The potential Notes investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the Notes. 
The potential Notes investors must base their investment decision on the information contained in the Prospects 
as amended by any supplements. In the event of any discrepancies between the information contained in the 
Prospects and in any supplements, the latest published information shall prevail. Any investment decision 
regarding the subscription of the Notes must be based only on the information contained in these documents as 
a whole and the conditions of the offer, including individual assessment of the investment risk connected with 
the Notes by each potential investor.  


The Issuer has not authorised any representation or information regarding the Issuer or the Notes other than 
those contained in the Prospectus and any supplements. No such other representation or information may be 
relied on as having been authorised by the Issuer. Unless stated otherwise, all information contained in the 
Prospectus is valid as of the date of the Prospectus. The delivery of the Prospectus after the date of the Prospectus 
does not mean that the information contained in the Prospectus is correct after the date of the Prospectus.  


No person is or has been authorised by the Issuer to give any information or to make any representation not 
contained in or not consistent with this Prospectus or any other information supplied in connection with the 
Issue or the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having 
been authorised by the Issuer or any of its affiliates. 


Information contained in the chapters Taxation and Enforcement of Civil Liabilities and Foreign Exchange 
Regulation are of a general nature and they do not represent an exhaustive overview. The information in these 
chapters is based on the facts as of the date of the Prospects and they have been obtained from publicly available 
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sources that have not been processed or independently verified by the Issuer. The potential Notes investors 
should rely only on their own analysis of factors mentioned in these chapters and on their own tax, legal and 
other advisors. Potential foreign purchasers of the Notes are advised to consult their legal and other advisors 
on the provisions of the relevant laws, in particular the foreign exchange and tax regulations of the Czech 
Republic, the countries of their residence and other potentially relevant countries, and any relevant international 
agreements and the impact of such regulations and agreements on specific investment decisions.  


The Noteholders, including any foreign investors, are hereby encouraged to keep up to date with all laws and 
regulations governing the possession of the Notes, as well as the sale of the Notes abroad or the purchase of the 
Notes from abroad, as well as any other transactions concerning the Notes, and to comply with these laws and 
regulations.  


Any assumptions and outlooks regarding the Issuer's future development, financial position, business or market 
position cannot be construed as a representation or binding promise of the Issuer regarding future events or 
results, as such future events or results depend in whole or in part on circumstances and events that the Issuer 
cannot directly or fully control. Potential Notes investors should undertake their own analysis of any 
development trends or outlooks contained in the Prospectus, and make other separate investigations, and base 
their investment decisions on the results of such separate analyses and investigations.  


Unless otherwise indicated, the financial information in this Prospectus relating to the Issuer and its subsidiaries 
and the companies controlled by the Issuer that form the Issuer’s consolidation group for the purposes of 
preparing the Issuer’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS) (collectively, the Group) has been derived from 
the Issuer’s unaudited interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the six months ended 30 June 2024 
(with comparatives as of and for the six months ended 30 June 2023), together with the related notes (the Interim 
Financial Statements), the Issuer’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year 
ended 31 December 2023 (with comparatives as of and for the year ended 31 December 2022), together with the 
related notes (the 2023 Financial Statements) and the Issuer’s audited consolidated financial statements as of 
and for the year ended 31 December 2022 (with comparatives as of and for the year ended 31 December 2021), 
together with the related notes (the 2022 Financial Statements, and together with the 2023 Financial 
Statements, the Annual Financial Statements, and the Annual Financial Statements together with the Interim 
Financial Statements, the Financial Statements). The Issuer’s financial year ends on 31 December and 
references in this Prospectus to any specific year are to the 12-month period ended on 31 December of such 
year. The Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes thereto and the 
independent auditors’ reports thereon. The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with 
IFRS and the Interim Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with IAS 34, Interim Financial 
Reporting. Copies of the financial statements and audit reports incorporated in the Prospectus by reference are 
available free of charge for inspection during normal business hours from 9 a.m. to 4 p.m. CET at the Issuer's 
registered office. Some of the figures in the Prospectus have been adjusted by rounding. Therefore, the values 
reported for the same information item may vary slightly from one table to another and the values presented as 
sums in some tables may not be the arithmetic sum of the values on which they are based.  


If this Prospectus is translated into another language, the English version of the Prospectus shall prevail in case 
of any discrepancies between the wording of the Prospectus in English and the wording of the translated 
Prospectus.  
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SUMMARY 


The below stated summary provides key information which investors need to understand the character and risk 
factors related to the Issuer and the Notes. Terms defined in the Conditions or any other part of the Prospectus 
have the same meanings in this summary. 


1. Introduction and Warning 


Warning This summary should be read as an introduction to the Prospectus.  
Any decision to invest in the Notes should be based on a consideration of the Prospectus as a whole by the Noteholder, 
including the supplements to the Prospectus, if any.  
The Noteholder may lose all or part of the capital invested in, in case that the Issuer does not have sufficient funds to 
redeem the Notes and/or to pay out the interest from the Notes corresponding to the issue price of the Notes.  
Where a claim relating to the information contained in the Prospectus is brought before a court, the plaintiff Noteholder 
might, under national law, have to bear the costs of translating the Prospectus before the legal proceedings are initiated.  
Civil liability attaches only to those persons who have tabled the summary including any translation thereof, but only 
where the summary is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent, when read together with the other parts of the Prospectus, 
or where it does not provide, when read together with the other parts of the Prospectus, key information in order to aid 
investors when considering whether to invest in the Notes. 


Name of the 
Notes and ISIN 


The name of the Notes is “J&T BANKA VAR/34”. The ISIN of the Notes allocated by the Central Depository is 
CZ0003709339. 


Information and 
contact details of 
the Issuer 


The Issuer of the Notes is J&T BANKA, a.s., a joint-stock company incorporated under the laws of the Czech Republic, 
with its registered office at Sokolovská 700/113a, Karlín, Prague 8, Postal Code 186 00, ID No.: 471 15 378, LEI: 
31570010000000043842, registered in the Commercial Register maintained by the Municipal Court in Prague under file 
no. B 1731. 
The Issuer can be reached on the phone number +420 221 710 666 or by e-mail address info@jtbank.cz.  


Identification 
and contact 
details of the 
offeror and the 
person asking 
for admission to 
trading on 
regulated 
market 


The offer of the Notes to the public will be made in the Czech Republic by the Issuer. 
In the context of the public offering, the Issuer will accept instructions through its headquarters in Prague. 
The Issuer will apply for admission of the Notes for trading on the Regulated Market of the PSE and expects the Notes to 
be listed on the Issue Date, i.e. on 4 December 2024. 
In relation to the offer of the Notes to the public, the Issuer can be reached on the phone number +420 221 710 666 or by 
e-mail address DealingCZ@jtbank.cz. 


Identification 
and contact 
details of 
authority 
approving the 
Prospectus 


The Prospectus was approved by the Czech National Bank (in Czech: Česká národní banka) as the authority carrying out 
supervision of the financial market pursuant to Act No. 6/1993 Coll., on Czech National Bank, as amended, and Article 
31 of the Prospectus Regulation. The Czech National Bank can be reached on the phone number +420 224 411 111 or 
+420 800 160 170 or by e-mail at podatelna@cnb.cz.  
 


Date of approval 
of the 
Prospectus 


The Prospectus was approved by the decision of Czech National Bank ref. no. [], file no. [] dated [], which became 
final and effective on []. 


2. Key information about the Issuer 


2.1 Who is the Issuer of the Notes? 


Registered office 
and legal form of 
the Issuer, 
country of 
registration and 
the laws, under 
which the Issuer 
operates 


The Issuer is a joint-stock company incorporated and existing under Czech law, with its registered office at Sokolovská 
700/113a, Karlín, 186 00 Prague 8, Czech Republic, ID No.: 471 15 378, LEI 31570010000000043842, registered with 
the Commercial Register maintained by the Municipal Court in Prague, file no. B 1731. The Issuer operates under the 
laws of the Czech Republic, in particular under Act No. 21/1992 Coll., on Banks, as amended (the Banking Act), Act No. 
256/2004 Coll., on Business on the Capital Market, as amended (the Capital Market Act); Act No. 89/2012 Coll., Civil 
Code, as amended (the Civil Code); and Act No. 90/2012 Coll., on Companies and Cooperatives (Act on Business 
Corporations), as amended (the Act on Business Corporations). 


The Issuer’s 
main activities 


The Issuer is a bank pursuant to the relevant provisions of the Banking Act. The Issuer, in particular, accepts deposits 
from the public and provides loans. The Issuer provides the following services: (i) private banking (management, 
protection, and appreciation of assets); (ii) corporate banking (structuring, (re)financing, specialized financing, corporate 
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finance services, project financing); (iii) investment banking services (debt financing (e.g. notes, credit clubs, private 
placements, promissory note programmes); equity financing (e.g. initial public offerings, secondary offerings, private 
placements of issues); mergers and acquisitions advisory services); and financial market services (trading and investing 
in financial markets, economic research and analysis, brokerage services, securing and settling transactions). 


The Issuer’s 
shareholders 


The sole shareholder and ultimate parent company of the Issuer is J&T FINANCE GROUP SE which is owned by (i) 
Jozef Tkáč (45.05% ownership interest), (ii) Ivan Jakabovič (35.15% ownership interest), (iii) Rainbow Wisdom 
Investments Limited (9.9% ownership interest), (iv) Štepán Ašer (4.95% ownership interest), and (v) Igor Kováč (4.95% 
ownership interest). On this basis, the Issuer is directly controlled by J&T FINANCE GROUP SE and indirectly by Jozef 
Tkáč together with Ivan Jakabovič. 


The Issuer’s key 
managing 
directors 


The Issuer’s key managing directors are:  
Štěpán Ašer Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer 
Igor Kováč Member of the Board of Directors and Head of Risk Management and Active Trade Management. 
Jan Kotek Member of the Board of Directors and Head of Credit Operations. 
Anna 
Macaláková Member of the Board of Directors and Head of the Slovak branch of the Issuer 
Michal Kubeš Member of the Board of Directors and Chief Financial Officer 


 


The Issuer’s 
Auditor 


The Issuer’s independent auditor is KPMG Česká republika Audit, s.r.o., with its registered office at Pobřežní 648/1a, 
186 00 Prague 8, Czech Republic, ID No.: 496 19 187, registered in the Commercial Register maintained by the Municipal 
Court in Prague under file no. C 24185 (the Auditor). 


2.2 What is the key financial information regarding the Issuer? 


Key financial 
information 
about the Issuer 


The table below provides an overview of key financial information related to the Issuer. 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income (in CZK million): 


 For the year ended 31 
December – audited 


For the half-year ended 
30 June – unaudited 


2023 2022 2024  2023  
Net interest income 9,376 7,038 4,416 4,408 
Net fee and commission income 2,289 1,891 1,369 1,061 
Net change in loss allowances for financial instruments  (1,723) (3,032) 564 (562) 
Net income from trading and investments 1,957 2,154 931 1,263 
Operating income 14,237 11,519 6,798 7,031 
Operating expenses (5,434) (3,755) (2,268) (2,520) 
Profit before tax 7,037 4,617 5,095 4,023 
Profit for the period attributable to shareholders of the 
parent company 5,388 3,270 3,942 3,113 


 
Consolidated statement of financial position (in CZK million): 


 31 December 
2023 – audited 


31 December 
2022 (restated)* 
– audited 


30 June 2024– 
unaudited  


Total assets 293,084 227,253 345,516 
Senior debt (calculated as total assets less total equity 
and subordinated debt) 250,871 193,141 302,296 
Subordinated debt 1,256 256 2,001 
Loans and receivables from customers (net) 101,456 106,149 104,977 
Deposits from customers 217,837 164,022 243,735 
Total equity 40,957 35,856 41,219 


 
Non-performing loans 4.17% 6.09% 3.41% 
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (CET1) 18.52% 13.74% 17.11% 
Total Capital Ratio 24.91% 19.37% 22.53% 
Leverage Ratio 11.85% 13.21% 8.79% 
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* During the year 2023 the Group considered the IFRS Interpretations Committee agenda decision on the classification 
of a demand deposit arising from a contract with a third party which do not result in the deposit no longer being cash, 
unless those restrictions change the nature of the deposit in a way that it would no longer meet the definition of cash in 
IAS 7. Based on that agenda decision, the Group reassessed Obligatory minimum reserves in central banks and concluded 
them to be a component of “Cash and cash equivalents” in its statement of financial position and statement of cash flows 
(as in the separate statement above). As a result, the Group reclassified its Obligatory minimum reserves in central banks 
totalling CZK 756 million at 31 December 2022 (CZK 4,875 million at 1 January 2022) from the line “Due from banks 
and other financial institution” to the line “Cash and cash equivalents”. 


2.3 What are key risks that are specific to the Issuer? 


Key risk factors 
related to the 
Issuer 


The key risk factors that are specific to the Issuer are: 
1. Risks related to global financial, political and economic conditions and other market factors - The Group’s 


performance is influenced by the global political situation and economic conditions, the dynamics in the global 
financial markets, perceptions of those conditions and future economic prospects. The outlook for the global 
economy over the near to medium term remains uncertain and many forecasts predict an economic slowdown (a 
decline in real GDP growth rates) in many countries in which the Group operates. 


2. Risks related to the war in Ukraine and the conflict between Israel and Hamas - A potential slowdown in 
economic growth caused by these conflicts might affect the Group’s lending activity and the quality of its loan 
portfolio. A significant and permanent weakening of the CZK, EUR and other foreign currencies might increase 
the Group’s exposure to the foreign exchange and currency risks. It may also lead to an increase in funding costs 
and execution risks related to debt issuance in the capital markets. The realisation of any of these and other risks 
may have material adverse effects on the Issuer's business, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, 
capital base, prospects or reputation. 


3. Deterioration in the economic conditions and political situation in the Czech Republic could adversely 
affect the Group’s operations, profitability and financial condition - The Group principally conducts its 
business in the EU with the Czech Republic representing its most important market. Any deterioration in the 
economic conditions and political situation in the Czech Republic could adversely affect the Group’s operations, 
profitability and financial condition and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


4. Risks associated with the tax regulation - The Group is exposed to tax risks associated with general changes 
in tax rates or tax legislation or the incorrect interpretation of the rules and regulations in force. If tax risks are 
realised, this could lead to an increase in taxes or penalties which, in turn, could cause financial losses for the 
Group. 


5. The Issuer is a corporate bank competing against larger financial institutions with a universal banking 
model and more diversified and predictable revenue streams - Unlike its competitors in the Czech market 
who typically operate a universal banking model and serve both mass-market retail and corporate customers, the 
Issuer primarily serves top locally owned corporates and affluent private banking clientele. As a result, the Issuer 
derives nearly all of its consolidated net interest income and consolidated net fees and commissions from 
corporate and investment banking and asset management services. As a result, the Issuer’s revenues may be less 
predictable and more volatile than revenues of its competitors. Any of the above factors may have a material 
adverse effect on the Issuer’s operations, profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the 
obligations under the Notes. 


6. The Issuer serves a specific market segment and its future success depends on the relationships with, and 
the opportunities generated by, this market segment - The Issuer strategically focuses on, and serves, a 
specific market niche consisting of clients and potential clients who value individual approach and tailor-made 
solutions and appreciate flexibility and speed of execution – the building blocks of the Issuer’s competitive 
advantage – rather than just price. A failure of such delivery may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 
operations, profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


7. The Issuer’s loan portfolio contains relatively large loans, some of which are junior or subordinated, 
provided to a relatively small number of clients. This creates concentration risk which tends to be greater 
than in a universal banking model. 


8. Risk related to the Issuer’s exposure to real estate and construction sectors – The Issuer has significant 
exposures to real estate and construction sectors, which are monitored together given their similar characteristics. 
If property values decline in the future or the value of the real estate collateral proves to be insufficient, the 
Issuer’s operations, profitability and financial position can be materially adversely affected and expose the Issuer 
to reputational damage or legal claims if it is involved in any disputes, controversies, or scandals related to its 
real estate and construction lending activities or practices, which in turn can have a material adverse effect on 
Group’s operations, profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the 
Notes. 







  
 


  
0093318-0000041 EUO1: 2012389325.26 11  


 


 


9. Risks Related to the Banking Business - The Issuer and the Group are exposed, in particular, to (i) credit risk, 
(ii) market risk, in particular interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk, (iii) risks associated with the 
counterparty credit risk and presence of derivatives in the Issuer’s and the Group’s portfolio, (iv) liquidity risk, 
(v) funding risk, and (vi) competition in the financial services sector. 


The above stated risk factors can have significant negative impact on financial and economic situation of the Issuer and 
his business activity respectively. The Issuer’s ability to pay the debts under the Notes can thus be adversely affected. 


3. Key information about the Notes 


3.1 What are the main features of the Notes? 


Notes (type, 
class, ISIN) 


Book-entered fixed to floating rate Notes in the anticipated total nominal amount of CZK 1,500,000,000 (one billion five 
hundred million Czech Koruna) with a possible increase up to CZK 2,500,000,000, due 2034, ISIN CZ0003709339, name 
“J&T BANKA VAR/34”. Each Note is issued at nominal value of CZK 10,000. The maximum amount of the Notes that 
may be issued is 150,000 (in words: one hundred fifty thousand) if the aggregate nominal amount of the Issue does not 
exceed CZK 1,500,000,000, and CZK 250,000 (in words: two hundred fifty thousand) if the aggregate nominal amount 
of the Issue is increased to CZK 2,500,000,000. 
The Issue Date is 4 December 2024. The Final Maturity Date of the Notes is 4 December 2034. 
The Notes are issued under Act No. 190/2004 Coll., on Bonds, as amended (the Bonds Act). 


Currency of the 
Notes 


Czech Koruna (CZK). 


The rights 
attached to the 
Notes 


The rights and obligations of the Issuer and the Noteholders are governed by the Conditions.  
 
There are no pre-emptive or exchange rights attached to the Notes. In particular, the Notes are associated with the right to 
payment of the nominal value on the Final Maturity Date and the right to the payments of interest on Interest Payment 
Dates. If the Notes are not redeemed early, the nominal value of the Notes will be repaid in one lump sum. The right to 
participate and vote at Noteholder meetings in cases where such a meeting is convened in accordance with the Bonds Act 
and the Conditions is also attached to the Notes. The Noteholder does not have the right to request early repayment of the 
Notes if he voted against the proposal by which the Noteholders’ meeting agreed to a Material Change to the Conditions, 
or if he did not participate in such a meeting (the application of Section 23(5) of the Bonds Act is excluded under Section 
23(6) of the Bonds Act). The Noteholder meeting may, by resolution, elect a natural or legal person as a common 
representative and entrust him, in accordance with legal regulations, with the joint exercise of rights in court or with 
another body, or with the oversight of compliance with the Conditions by the Issuer. The Issuer may, on the Reset Date 
and on each subsequent interest payment date, redeem all outstanding Notes at their nominal amount together with unpaid 
interest accrued to the date of the redemption. Furthermore, the Issuer has the right to prematurely repay all (not just some) 
Notes on any date if, on or after the Issue Date, a Tax Event or a Capital Disqualification Event (as these terms are defined 
in the Conditions) occurs and continues. Rights to request early repayment of the Notes other than in the event of 
bankruptcy or cancellation and liquidation of the Issuer (especially if the Issuer does not properly and timely repay the 
payments of interest or the principal amount under the Notes or does not fulfill its other debts related to the Notes) are not 
attached to the Notes. The Issuer, or any entity from the Group may purchase the Notes in the market or otherwise at any 
price.  


The relative 
seniority of the 
Notes in case of 
insolvency of the 
Issuer 


The Notes are subordinated bonds pursuant to Section 34 of the Bonds Act. In the event of declaration of insolvency of 
the Issuer or the Issuer’s entry into liquidation, any claims against the Issuer associated with the Notes (including the 
claims for the repayment of the nominal amount of the Notes and payment of interest associated with the Notes) will rank, 
subject to any statutory exceptions (in particular those arising under the Insolvency Act): 


(i) junior to all present or future (A) claims in respect of unsecured and unsubordinated instruments or 
obligations of the Issuer, including claims in respect of senior non-preferred instruments of the Issuer 
pursuant to Section 374b of the Insolvency Act; and (B) subordinated instruments or obligations of the 
Issuer pursuant to Section 172(2) of the Insolvency Act (other than relevant capital instruments of the 
Issuer pursuant to Section 374c of the Insolvency Act, including claims in respect of Tier 2 Instruments 
(as defined in the Conditions) and Additional Tier 1 Instruments (as defined in the Conditions)); 


(ii) equally (pari passu) without any preference: (A) among themselves; and (B) with all other present or 
future claims in respect of Tier 2 Instruments (other than claims in respect of Tier 2 Instruments which 
according to their terms are expressed to rank junior to the Notes); and 


(iii) senior to all present or future claims in respect of: (A) all other Tier 2 Instruments which according to 
their terms are expressed to rank junior to the Notes; (B) Additional Tier 1 Instruments; and (C) CET 1 
Instruments (as defined in the Conditions).  
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Transferability The transferability of the Notes is not restricted. 
Interest rate 
policy 


The Notes bear fixed to floating interest rate. From the Issue Date (including the Issue Date) to the Reset Date (excluding 
the Reset Date), the Notes will bear a fixed interest of 6.25% per annum. During this time, the interest is paid annually. 
From the Reset Date until the Final Maturity Date, the Notes will bear a floating interest paid semi-annually on 4 June 
and 4 December. 
The Record Date for Interest Payments is the day that precedes by 30 days the relevant Interest Payment Date, provided, 
however, that for the purposes of determining the Record Date for Interest Payments, such Interest Payment Date will not 
be adjusted pursuant to the Business Day Convention, as set out in the Conditions. 


3.2 Where will the Notes be traded? 


Admission of the 
Notes to trading 
on regulated 
market 


The Issuer will apply for admission of the Notes for trading on the Regulated Market of the PSE and expects the Notes to 
be listed on the Issue Date, i.e. 4 December 2024. 


3.3 What are the risk factors that are specific to the Notes? 


Main risk 
factors related to 
the Notes 


Risk factors related to the Notes include mainly the following: 
1. Adoption of resolution measures or crisis prevention measures against the Issuer may materially adversely 


affect the value of the Notes and the satisfaction of the claims from the Notes - The exercise of any powers 
under the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act in relation to the Issuer or the Notes (including, but not limited to, 
the adoption of crisis resolution measures or the write/down or conversion of capital instruments), or any proposal 
to exercise such powers, or perception that they may be exercised even if such perception is not based on facts, 
may materially adversely affect the value of the Notes, otherwise affect the rights of the Noteholders and lead to 
the Noteholders losing some or all of their investment in the Notes. 


2. Any claims from the Notes may be written down or converted in the event of adoption of crisis resolution 
measures - The adoption of any write-down or conversion powers or any proposal to exercise such powers in 
respect of any Notes, even if the likelihood of the exercise is low, or perception that the measure may be adopted 
even if such perception is not based on facts, or even adoption of any write-down or conversion powers or any 
proposal to exercise such powers in respect of any comparable notes issued by other credit institutions or other 
financial institutions may materially adversely affect the value of the Notes, and lead to the Noteholders losing 
some or all of their investment in the Notes. 


3. There are no events of default applicable in relation to the Notes, their Noteholders do not have the right 
to accelerate payments or to request early redemption upon a breach of the Conditions, in particular not 
even upon a default in payments - The Issuer issues the Notes for regulatory purposes, in particular with the 
intention for them to qualify as Tier 2 Capital, and therefore also into the amount to be complied with for purposes 
of fulfilling the minimum capital requirements applicable to the Issuer. The rights of Noteholders to accelerate 
payments or request early redemption are more limited than is usual with notes generally, and the holders of the 
Notes are thus exposed to a higher risk in the enforcement of their claims associated with the Notes. 


4. The Notes carry an enhanced risk of loss in the event of the Issuer’s insolvency or liquidation and if the 
Issuer is failing or likely to fail - The Notes constitute subordinated claims of the Noteholders against the Issuer 
and shall be satisfied as relevant capital instruments or obligations of the Issuer pursuant to Section 374c of the 
Insolvency Act. The subordination of the Notes means that if the Issuer is declared insolvent or enters liquidation, 
the Notes will be satisfied only after the satisfaction of all the other claims against the Issuer, except for claims 
having the same or lower position in the hierarchy of claims. Therefore the holders of the Notes face (among 
others compared to depositors or other unsubordinated creditors) an enhanced risk that if the Issuer is failing or 
likely to fail, their claims will be written down or converted, and consequently that the Noteholders will lose a 
part or all of their investment. 


5. Risk of early redemption - Noteholders may be subject to the risk that interest/redemption proceeds 
earned/received from an investment in the Notes may not, in the event of early redemption of any Notes, be able 
to be reinvested in such a way that they earn the same rate of return as the redeemed Notes. The Issuer may, on 
the Reset Date and on each subsequent interest payment date, redeem all outstanding Notes at their nominal 
amount together with unpaid interest accrued to the date of the redemption. Furthermore, the Issuer has the right 
to prematurely repay all (not just some) Notes on any date if, on or after the Issue Date, a Tax Event or a Capital 
Disqualification Event (as these terms are defined in the Conditions) occurs and continues. 


6. Liquidity risk - Investors should note that difficult global credit market conditions may adversely affect the 
liquidity not only in the primary market but also in the secondary market for debt securities issued by the Issuer 
and may affect the liquidity of any primary or secondary market in which Notes to be issued by the Issuer may 
be traded. The Issuer cannot predict when these circumstances will change. 
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The above stated risk factors can have significant negative impact on the value of the investment into the Notes. If any of 
these risks materialise, the Noteholder may lose all or part of the capital invested in. 


4. Key information on the offer of the Notes to the public and the admission to trading on regulated 
market 


4.1 Under which conditions and timetable can I invest into the Notes? 


General 
conditions of 
public offer 


The Notes will be offered in the Czech Republic by the Issuer. No persons in connection with the Issue have undertaken 
any obligation to subscribe to or purchase the Notes from the Issuer.   
As part of the public offering, the investors will be approached by the Issuer, mainly by means of remote communication, 
and invited to place the Order, provided that the investor must present a valid identity document in order to participate 
in the public offering. Multiple Orders (subscriptions) are accepted. 
In connection with submitting an Order, investors are required to enter into or have an existing agreement with the Issuer, 
among other things, for the purpose of opening an asset account in the investment instruments register maintained by the 
Central Depository or maintaining a similar securities register with the Issuer (if such an asset account is not already 
open with another participant of the Central Depository) and submitting an instruction to arrange for the purchase of 
Notes under such an agreement. Investors may also be required by the Issuer to submit additional necessary documents 
and identification data. The condition for purchasing Notes from the Issuer is always entering into an investment services 
agreement between the investor and the Issuer and submitting an instruction to arrange for the purchase of Notes under 
this agreement. In the context of the public offering, the Issuer will accept instructions through its headquarters in Prague. 


Expected offering 
period 


The expected offering period of the Notes is from 11 November 2024 to 8 November 2025. 


Information 
about admission 
to trading on 
regulated market 


The Issuer will apply for admission of the Notes for trading on the Regulated Market of the PSE and expects the Notes 
to be listed on the Issue Date, i.e. on 4 December 2024, and will be traded in accordance with the rules of the Regulated 
Market of the PSE. 
When listed by the PSE, the Notes will be traded at the PSE and the transactions will be settled in CZK. The settlement 
will be performed as DVP (delivery versus payment) via the Central Depository or via persons keeping the related records 
following the standard practices in accordance with the rules and operating procedures of the PSE and the Central 
Depository and within the deadlines set by the applicable rules. The subscription of the Notes in the Central Depository 
can only be settled via a member of the Central Depository. 


Plan for 
distribution 


The Notes will be offered by the Issuer to all categories of investors in the Czech Republic, and selected qualified 
investors (and possibly also to other investors under conditions that do not establish an obligation for the offeror to 
prepare and publish a prospectus) abroad, always in accordance with the relevant legal regulations applicable in each 
country where the Notes will be offered. Given the number of persons who will be addressed in this manner, the offer 
will meet the characteristics of a public offering of securities within the meaning of the Prospectus Regulation. 
As part of the public offering, the investors will be approached by the Issuer mainly by means of remote communication, 
and invited to place the Order. 
The Notes will be offered for subscription for a monetary amount corresponding to the issue price, with the issue price 
of Notes issued on the Issue Date being 100% of their nominal value. The issue price of any Notes issued after the Issue 
Date will always be determined based on current market conditions. The current issue price will be published on the 
Issuer's website www.jtbank.cz, section Důležité informace, Emise cenných papírů subsection, under file J&T Banka a.s. 
To the amount of the issue price of any Notes issued after the Issue Date, a corresponding accrued yield will be added if 
relevant. 
The minimum amount for which an investor is entitled to subscribe and purchase Notes is not specified but is limited by 
the value of one Note’s issue price. 
The maximum nominal value of Notes requested by an individual investor in an Order is limited by the volume of the 
Issue. If the volume of Orders exceeds this amount, the Issuer is entitled to reduce accepted Orders at its discretion (with 
any overpayment, if it arises, being promptly returned to the relevant investor's account provided to the Issuer for this 
purpose). The final nominal value of Notes allocated to an individual investor will be stated in a settlement confirmation 
of the trade, which will be delivered by the Issuer to the investor (by email) without undue delay after executing the 
instruction. Before receiving this confirmation, investors cannot trade with subscribed Notes. 
Settlement of the Notes will be carried out using DVP (delivery versus payment) method through the Central Depository 
or persons maintaining records linked to central records in accordance with Central Depository rules, deadlines and 
operational procedures. The issue price for the Notes shall be paid by the end investors no later than on the Issue Date, 
or, in case of Notes issued after the Issue Date no later than on the relevant settlement date (i.e., the Issuer will collect 
from the end investors' accounts an amount corresponding to the issue price for the Notes). This means that, on the Issue 
Date, or, in case of Notes issued after the Issue Date on the relevant settlement date, the Notes will be sold and delivered 
to the investors in exchange for payment of the nominal amount of the Notes. For the avoidance of doubt the delivery 
and the payment of the purchase price of the relevant Notes will happen on the same date. 
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Estimate of total 
expenses of the 
Issue 


The Issuer expects that the total costs of preparing the Issue of the Notes will be approximately 0.25% of the total 
anticipated nominal value of the Issue, i.e., approximately CZK 3,750,000. In the case of the possible increase up to CZK 
2,500,000,000, the Issuer expects that the total costs of preparing the Issue of the Notes will be approximately 0.15% of 
the total anticipated amount of the Issue, i.e., approximately CZK 3,750,000. 
The investor may be charged fees for the Notes according to the current standard price list of the Issuer published on its 
website at www.jtbank.cz section Důležité informace, subsection Sazebník poplatků. As of the date of the Prospectus, 
these fees amount to 0.15% of the transaction volume, but at least 2,000 CZK.  
As of the date of the Prospectus, no fees are charged by the Issuer in connection with setting up and maintaining a 
securities account. 
The investor may be required to pay additional fees charged by the intermediary for the purchase or sale of the Notes, 
the person maintaining records of the Notes, the person executing the settlement of transactions with the Notes, or another 
person, such as fees for setting up and maintaining a securities account, for arranging the transfer of the Notes, services 
related to the custody of the Notes, or their records, etc. 


4.2 Who is the offeror and the person asking for admission to trading on regulated market? 


Description of person 
offering the Notes and 
person asking for 
admission to trading on 
regulated market 


The offer of the Notes to the public will be made in the Czech Republic by the Issuer. The Issuer will apply for 
admission of the Notes to trading on the Regulated Market of the PSE. 


4.3 Why is this Prospectus being produced? 


Use and estimated net 
amount of the proceeds 


The Issuer intends to offer the Notes in the Czech Republic and intends to apply for their admission to trading on 
the Regulated Market of the PSE with the intention for them to qualify as Tier 2 Capital. The Issuer expects that 
the net proceeds of the Issue will be approximately CZK 1,496,250,000 and the cost of the Issue will be 
approximately 0.25 % of the total anticipated amount of the Issue. In the case of the possible increase up to CZK 
2,500,000,000, the Issuer expects that the net proceeds of the Issue will be approximately CZK 2,496,250,000 and 
the cost of the Issue will be approximately 0.15 % of the total anticipated amount of the Issue. 


Method of the offering 
of the Notes 


The Notes will be offered for sale by the Issuer. No persons in connection with the Issue have undertaken any 
obligation to subscribe to or purchase the Notes from the Issuer. 


Conflict of interest To the best of the Issuer's knowledge, none of the individuals or legal entities involved in the issue or offer of the 
Notes have any interest in such issue or offer that would be material to such issue or offer of the Notes. The Issuer 
will offer the Notes and will act as the Calculation Agent, Fiscal and Paying Agent, and Listing Agent in relation 
to the Notes. J&T IB and Capital Markets, a.s., which is a subsidiary of the Issuer, acts as the arranger of the Issue. 
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RISK FACTORS 


In purchasing the Notes, investors assume the risk that the Issuer may become insolvent or otherwise be unable 
to make all payments due in respect of the Notes. There is a wide range of factors which individually or together 
could result in the Issuer becoming unable to make all payments due in respect of the Notes. It is not possible to 
identify all such risks as at the date of this Prospectus or to determine which risks are most likely to occur, as 
the Issuer may not be aware of all relevant risks as at the date of this Prospectus and certain risks which it 
currently deems not to be material may become material as a result of the occurrence of events outside the 
Issuer’s control. The Issuer has identified in this Prospectus a number of factors which could materially 
adversely affect its business or ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


In addition, factors which have been identified as material for the purpose of assessing the market risks 
associated with Notes issued under the Programme are also described in the list below. 


Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Prospectus and reach 
their own views prior to making any investment decision. 


The risk factors are presented in the individual categories depending on their nature with the most material risk 
factor presented first in each category. 


1. Factors that May Affect the Issuer’s Ability to Fulfil its Obligations under the Issue 


The risk factors regarding the Issuer and the Group are presented in the following categories depending on their 
nature with the most material risk factor presented first in each category: 


• Risks Related to the External Conditions under which the Group Conducts its Business; 


• Risks Related to the Business of the Issuer and the Group; and 


• Risks Related to the Banking Business. 


Due to the significance of the Issuer’s position within the Group, where the Issuer’s individual results comprised 
99% of the Group’s consolidated loans and advances to customers as at 30 June 2024 (99% as at 31 December 
2023 and 98% as at 31 December 2022), 99% of the Group’s consolidated deposits from customers as at 30 June 
2024 (99% as at 31 December 2023 and 97% as at 31 December 2022), 99% of the Group’s consolidated net 
interest income for the half-year 2024 (98% for the year 2023 and 94% for the year 2022) and 62% of the Group’s 
consolidated net fee and commission income for the half-year 2024 (63% for the year 2023 and 75% for the year 
2022), a majority of the risk factors below specifically refer to the Issuer but have (for the above-described 
reasons) an impact on the Group as well. Accordingly, risk factors pertaining to the Group also have an impact 
on the Issuer. 


Risks Related to the External Conditions under which the Group Conducts its Business 


Risks related to global financial, political and economic conditions and other market factors  


The Group’s performance is influenced by the global political situation and economic conditions, the dynamics 
in the global financial markets, perceptions of those conditions and future economic prospects. The outlook for 
the global economy over the near to medium term remains uncertain and many forecasts predict an economic 
slowdown (a decline in real GDP growth rates) in many countries in which the Group operates. 


In Europe specifically, many countries, including the Czech Republic, continue to generate large budget deficits 
and face rising or maintain elevated levels of public debt. This may raise concern of the market participants that 
some of these countries may in the future have difficulty in obtaining funds or refinancing their obligations as 
they become due, especially if the market conditions were to become more volatile or fail to function altogether. 
The international credit rating agencies have recently downgraded the credit ratings of many of those countries 
and have also withdrawn the AAA rating of certain core European sovereigns. Austerity measures to reduce debt 
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levels and fiscal deficits may too result in an economic slowdown accompanied by a marked rise in 
unemployment. Persistently high unemployment and high public debt levels have historically resulted in 
unusually high political risk and polarisation of society which can boost anti-EU sentiment. 


Each of these factors can change the overall demand for the Group’s products and services, the credit quality of 
its customers, debtors and counterparties, the net interest rate margin between lending and borrowing costs and 
the value of its investment and trading portfolios and can materially influence its operations, profitability and 
financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


Risks related to the war in Ukraine and the conflict between Israel and Hamas  


Throughout 2021, the Russian military build-up along the border of Ukraine escalated tensions between Russia 
and Ukraine and strained bilateral relations. These events continued in 2022 with Russia commencing a full-
scale military invasion of Ukraine on 24 February 2022 (the Invasion of Ukraine). 


Following the Invasion of Ukraine, the EU, the United States, the UK, Switzerland, Canada, Japan, Australia 
and some other countries imposed sanctions on Russia and Belarus.  


The Group has reviewed its portfolios to identify assets with direct exposure to Russia and/or Belarus and 
concluded that there is not any direct exposure. The Invasion of Ukraine may, however, have an indirect impact 
on the Group’s operations by affecting the Czech economy and financial markets due to, among other things, 
imposition of sanctions and the effects of the war, including price volatility, increased inflation, currency 
depreciation and problems related to a significant inflow of Ukraine’s refugees.  


The Invasion of Ukraine and the subsequent sanctions imposed on Russia also accelerated the trend of rapidly 
rising commodity prices when many EU countries had to tackle their dependence on Russia for oil and gas 
supplies. Even though the EU as a whole largely replaced Russian gas with imports from other countries, the 
Invasion of Ukraine has brought about a considerable uncertainty for the future, in particular with regards to 
energy and food prices, and continues to pose a major risk for the economic growth in many EU countries. 


On 7 October 2023, Hamas launched a combined rocket and ground attack on Israeli territory and civilian targets, 
which went down as unofficial beginning of Israel’s renewed armed conflict with Hamas. After clearing Hamas 
militants from its territory, the Israeli military embarked on an aerial bombardment of the Gaza Strip followed 
by a large-scale ground invasion. On 28 August 2024, Israel launched a military operation into the northern West 
Bank. 


Similarly to the Invasion of Ukraine, this conflict may (although the Issuer does not directly operate in the Middle 
East region) have an indirect impact on the Issuer’s operations by affecting the Czech and EU economy and 
financial markets due to, among other things, imposition of sanctions and the effects of the war, including price 
volatility, increased inflation and currency depreciation. 


Therefore, depending on the future development of the Invasion of Ukraine and the conflict between Israel and 
Hamas, it is not possible to exclude negative effects with respect to the Group. A potential slowdown in economic 
growth caused by these conflicts might affect the Group’s lending activity and the quality of its loan portfolio. 
A significant and permanent weakening of the CZK, EUR and other foreign currencies might increase the 
Group’s exposure to the foreign exchange and currency risks. It may also lead to an increase in funding costs 
and execution risks related to debt issuance in the capital markets. The realisation of any of these and other risks 
may have material adverse effects on the Issuer's business, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, 
capital base, prospects or reputation. 


Deterioration in the economic conditions and political situation in the Czech Republic could adversely affect 
the Group’s operations, profitability and financial condition 


The Group principally conducts its business in the EU with the Czech Republic representing its most important 
market. As at 31 December 2023, 97% of the Group’s consolidated assets were located within the EU (2022: 
94%) with the Czech Republic accounting for 68% (2022: 55%). And as at 30 June 2024, 97% of the Group’s 
consolidated assets were located within the EU with the Czech Republic accounting for 69%. 
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The Invasion of Ukraine has had a material impact on the Czech economy. Prior to the Invasion of Ukraine, the 
Czech Republic was almost entirely dependent on Russian gas (albeit transported to the country via Germany) 
which according to the information published by the Czech Ministry of Industry and Trade in 2021 represented 
approximately 97% of the country’s gas imports. This was reduced to approximately 3% in 2022 and to zero in 
January 2023 when Russian gas was entirely replaced by supplies from Norway and liquefied natural gas (LNG) 
from the Netherlands and Belgium. Although the country and its storage capacity proved to be well-positioned 
to navigate the 2022 – 2023 heating season, some uncertainty around the 2023 – 2024 heating season still persists 
given the need to replenish the storage capacity and the possibility of reduced availability of alternatives in case 
the on-going construction of LNG terminals in Germany and Poland does not progress as planned. Such an abrupt 
re-orientation, however, inevitably has had a severe impact on Czech businesses and households as high energy 
prices contributed materially to the country’s inflation rate and the government emergency support measures 
implemented in response to the energy crisis deepened the budget deficit. Secondly, the Invasion of Ukraine has 
caused a number of Ukrainian citizens to seek refuge in the Czech Republic. According to the United Nations 
Refugee Agency, there were 370,980 Ukrainian refugees registered in the Czech Republic as of 4 August 2024. 
Such a large number of refugees may put a strain on public services and may lead to increased government 
spending, further deepening the budget deficit. 


The Group’s business, as well as the successful implementation of its strategy, is highly dependent on the 
financial situation of its customers and their ability to repay existing loans, make deposits and invest in financial 
products offered by the Group. The level of risk that is acceptable to customers may also decrease with respect 
to investments in securities, investment fund units or other investment products offered by the Group. Any 
deterioration in the economic conditions and political situation in the Czech Republic could adversely affect the 
Group’s operations, profitability and financial condition and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the 
Notes. 


The Czech Republic’s long term foreign currency debt rating is AA- with stable outlook by S&P Global Ratings 
(S&P), Aa3 with stable outlook by Moody’s and AA- with stable outlook by Fitch Ratings (Fitch). S&P most 
recently affirmed the Czech Republic’s rating including its stable outlook on 12 April 2024, Fitch affirmed the 
Czech Republic’s rating including its stable outlook on 16 August 2024 and Moody’s affirmed the Czech 
Republic’s rating including the outlook on 2 February 2024. There can be no guarantee that any of S&P, Fitch 
or Moody’s will not downgrade their respective rating of the Czech Republic’s long term foreign currency 
obligations, which may have a negative impact on issuers out of the Czech Republic and the value of their 
outstanding securities. 


Risks associated with the tax regulation 


The Issuer is subject to a number of laws and regulations in a number of jurisdictions where it conducts its 
operations, particularly the Czech Republic. Such laws and regulations include, among other things, banking 
regulation designed to maintain the safety and financial soundness of banks and limit their exposure to risk, 
regulations relating to financial services, securities products and other businesses, tax, accounting and financial 
reporting regulation, anti-money laundering, consumer credit, capital requirements or corporate requirements 
regulation. 


As a result of new and more demanding regulatory requirements and other changes in legislation, the Issuer may 
need to increase its capital or debts eligible to meet the minimum capital requirement and eligible liabilities, 
increase retained earnings or reduce risk-weighted assets, for example through their sales, or stop participating 
in certain activities. These facts could lead to a reduction in the Issuer’s ability or complete inability to meet its 
debts. 


On 6 October 2022, the European Commission adopted Regulation (EU) 2022/1854 on an emergency 
intervention to address high prices (the Emergency Intervention Regulation) which, among others, established 
a solidarity contribution of electricity generating companies and fossil fuel sector due to the then-current market 
situation and their profits. Following the adoption of the Emergency Intervention Regulation, the Czech Ministry 
of Finance introduced a windfall tax proposal, which fully entered into force on 1 January 2023 (the Windfall 
Tax Amendment).  


The windfall tax introduced by the Windfall Tax Amendment applies to energy sector companies and banks with 
net interest income exceeding CZK 6 billion in the previous year, which is the threshold generally separating 
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large and medium banks and small banks, as defined by the CNB. The Issuer does not currently meet the 
threshold, but it cannot be excluded that the Issuer will be obliged under such or any other similar regulation in 
the future.  


The tax rate is 60% and applies to the concerned companies as a tax surcharge on top of the 21% corporate 
income tax on their excessive profits. The additional 60% tax rate will be applied against positive difference 
between tax base in the current year and the arithmetic average of its historical tax bases for the four preceding 
tax years before 2022 (i.e. 2018-2021) increased by 20%. The Windfall Tax Amendment assumes time limited 
effect for years 2023 to 2025. Advances on this tax were generally due during 2023 along with advances on 
corporation tax based on 2022 reported tax base.  


The above-described measures could result in additional tax liabilities/costs of the Issuer and as such could have 
a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, capital 
base, prospects or reputation.  


Additionally, because the above-described windfall tax did not bring the anticipated amount of income from 
banks into the state budget, the Government of the Czech Republic is discussing introducing a sector tax, 
specifically targeted at banks (the Banking Sector Tax). If the Banking Sector Tax is introduced, and the Group 
meets its criteria, it may have a material adverse impact on the Group’s financial results. It should be noted that 
a banking sector tax was already introduced in Slovakia at the beginning of 2024, where it was set as an additional 
income tax amounting to 30% of the bank’s profit, and it is possible that the Government of the Czech Republic 
will take inspiration from Slovakia’s regulation. 


Risks Related to the Business of the Issuer and the Group 


The Issuer is a corporate bank competing against larger financial institutions with a universal banking model 
and more diversified and predictable revenue streams 


Unlike its competitors in the Czech market who typically operate a universal banking model and serve both 
mass-market retail and corporate customers (including small and medium enterprises), the Issuer primarily serves 
top locally owned corporates and affluent private banking clientele (these corporates are largely owned by 
persons regularly placed in the Forbes Top 100 List for the Czech Republic and Slovakia). As a result, the Issuer 
derives nearly all of its consolidated net interest income and consolidated net fees and commissions from 
corporate and investment banking and asset management services. In the year ended 31 December 2023, net 
interest income represented 66% (2022: 61%), net fees and commissions 16% (2022: 16%), and net income from 
trading and investments 14% (2022: 18%) of the Issuer’s consolidated operating income, respectively. In the 
half-year ended 30 June 2024, net interest income represented 65% (2023: 63%), net fees and commissions 20% 
(2023: 15%), and net income from trading and investments 14% (2023: 18%) of the Issuer’s consolidated 
operating income, respectively. Thus, net interest income from lending activities represents the Issuer’s most 
significant revenue stream, followed by net fees and commissions and other (including trading) income. The 
Issuer’s revenue streams are, therefore, less diversified compared to other Czech banks. Moreover, demand for 
certain services such as, for example, securities underwriting and placement, tends to fluctuate in time. As a 
result, the Issuer’s revenues may be less predictable and more volatile than revenues of its competitors. Any of 
the above factors may have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s operations, profitability and financial 
position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


The Issuer serves a specific market segment and its future success depends on the relationships with, and the 
opportunities generated by, this market segment 


The Issuer strategically focuses on, and serves, a specific market niche consisting of clients and potential clients 
who value individual approach and tailor-made solutions and appreciate flexibility and speed of execution – the 
building blocks of the Issuer’s competitive advantage – rather than just price. While the Issuer has built a highly 
recognised brand in the Czech market, the success of its business depends on the relationships with, and the 
opportunities generated by, existing and potential clients in this relatively narrow and specific market segment. 
No assurance can be given that the Issuer will be able to maintain these relationships, including by being able to 
continue to offer financing solutions and investment opportunities its clients will find sufficiently appealing, to 
develop new relationships, or that the existing and targeted client base will be able to generate enough 
opportunities the Issuer and the Group will be able to monetise in the future. A failure to do so may have a 
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material adverse effect on the Group’s operations, profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s ability to 
meet the obligations under the Notes. 


The Issuer’s loan portfolio contains relatively large loans, some of which are junior or subordinated, provided 
to a relatively small number of clients. This creates concentration risk which tends to be greater than in a 
universal banking model 


The Issuer is a corporate bank and, as such, it does not provide retail loans (i.e. loans to individuals) which 
typically range from several hundred CZK (in case of consumer loans) to single digit million CZK (in case of 
mortgages). Instead, it focuses on financing corporate clients where loans typically range from several hundred 
million CZK up to single digit billion CZK and some of these loans may rank junior or be subordinated to other 
loans in a client’s capital structure. Therefore, in comparison to a retail bank with a balance sheet of a similar 
size, the average size of a loan granted by the Issuer is higher and the Issuer serves a considerably smaller number 
of clients. These factors increase the Issuer’s concentration risk.  


The relatively large exposures also mean that a re-classification of loans within stages, even if temporary, can 
materially impact the reported share of non-performing exposures at any given date and is one of the reasons 
why the Issuer has consistently reported higher share of non-performing exposures compared to the Czech market 
average for corporate lending. 


As at 30 June 2024, the Issuer’s share of non-performing exposures on an individual basis stood at 2.7% of its 
gross loan book (2023: 3.4%; 2022: 4.3%) compared to the Czech market average for corporate lending which 
stood at 2.6% (2023: 2.5%; 2022: 3.4%), according to the data published by the CNB. 


While the Issuer believes that it is well capitalised relative to the risk it takes, with a 22.91% Total Capital Ratio 
(24.84% as at 31 December 2023 and 20.36%  as at 31 December 2022) and 8.8% Leverage Ratio (11.85% as at 
31 December 2023 and 13.21% as at 31 December 2022) on an individual basis as at 30 June 2024 and has 
historically experienced only moderate client defaults, there can be no assurance that this historical trend will 
not reverse in the future, which could have a material adverse effect on Group’s operations, profitability and 
financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


Risk related to the Issuer’s exposure to real estate and construction sectors 


The Issuer has significant exposures to real estate and construction sectors, which are monitored together given 
their similar characteristics. As at 31 December 2023, the real estate sector represented 22% (2022: 21%) and 
the construction sector represented 7% (2022: 11%) of the Issuer’s consolidated net loans and advances to 
customers, respectively. 


The real estate and construction sectors are cyclical and sensitive to changes in general economic conditions, 
consumer preferences, interest rates, supply and demand, and availability of financing. The sectors may also face 
regulatory uncertainties, environmental liabilities, litigation and competition from other developers, builders, 
and investors. These factors may adversely affect the ability of the Issuer’s clients to repay their loans and the 
value of the real estate collateral securing these loans. If property values decline in the future or the value of the 
real estate collateral proves to be insufficient, the Issuer’s operations, profitability and financial position can be 
materially adversely affected and expose the Issuer to reputational damage or legal claims if it is involved in any 
disputes, controversies, or scandals related to its real estate and construction lending activities or practices, which 
in turn can have a material adverse effect on Group’s operations, profitability and financial position and the 
Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


The Issuer may be unable to continue to effectively hedge its positions 


As at 31 December 2023, 59% of the Group’s consolidated customer deposits were denominated in CZK (2022: 
64%), whereas 77% of the Group’s consolidated net loans and advances to customers were denominated in EUR 
(2022: 74%). The Issuer manages this mismatch using hedging derivative instruments, primarily cross-currency 
and foreign exchange swaps. When entering into those hedging arrangements, the Issuer relies on a group of 
counterparties which consists of both domestic financial institutions as well as global investment banks. There 
is no guarantee that the Issuer will be able to maintain the hedging lines it has in place with the existing 
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counterparties or that it will be able to replace any counterparty should such counterparty decide to terminate the 
existing relationship with the Issuer, on commercially acceptable terms or at all. This could have a material 
adverse effect on the Issuer’s operations, profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the 
obligations under the Notes. 


Resignation or loss of key personnel could have an adverse effect on the Issuer’s ability to execute its strategy 


The key personnel, including Igor Kováč, Štěpán Ašer, Jan Kotek, Michal Kubeš and Anna Macaláková as 
members of the Issuer’s Board of Directors and senior management team, have been instrumental in establishing 
and implementing the Issuer’s strategy. Their continued service, or the ability of the Group to appoint suitable 
replacements when necessary, is critical to the overall management of the Issuer and its ability to achieve the 
Issuer’s strategic objectives.  


The departure of other key personnel or the inability to attract and retain other suitably qualified senior 
management personnel, could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s operations, profitability and financial 
position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


Risks Related to the Banking Business 


The Issuer and the Group are exposed to credit risk 


The Issuer and the Group are exposed to the risk that borrowers and other counterparties under financial 
agreements will be unable or unwilling to meet their obligations in accordance with the agreed terms and 
conditions. The largest source of the Issuer’s and the Group’s credit risk exposure relates to their lending 
activities. 


The quality of the assets in the Issuer’s and the Group’s loan portfolio is affected by changes in the 
creditworthiness of their customers, their ability to repay loans on time and the Issuer’s as well as the Group’s 
ability to enforce their security interests on customers’ collateral. The recoverability of the credit provided by 
the Issuer and the Group to its customers may be adversely affected by negative changes in the overall economic, 
political or regulatory environment affecting the ability of the Issuer’s as well as the Group’s counterparties to 
repay their loans, the effectiveness of enforcement proceedings, a decrease in collateral values and other 
circumstances beyond the Issuer’s and the Group’s control. Insolvency proceedings in the Czech Republic often 
take several years and the level of the creditors' recovery is relatively low. 


Furthermore, the Issuer undertakes certain types of lending without tangible collateral, relying on other types of 
security, which may not be sufficient to cover the outstanding amount following a default. As of 30 June 2024, 
CZK 24.97 billion of the Issuer´s loan exposure (i.e. 27% of Issuer´s loan book, excluding repurchase 
agreements) was collateralized by tangible security, namely real estate. The loans in the amount of CZK 68.43 
billion (i.e. 73% of Issuer´s loan book, excluding repurchase agreements) were mostly collateralized by other 
means of collateral such as shares, promissory notes, other securities or cash. In the case of a default of such a 
loan, the satisfaction of the Issuer from the realization of collateral may be less predictable compared to tangible 
security due to a variety of other influencing factors. These factors include the creditworthiness of the debtor (in 
the case of promissory notes) or the company whose shares are pledged, limited liquidity of certain types of 
assets, higher volatility in the valuation of some assets (such as securities), costs associated with the enforcement 
of the pledge, and the time horizon for the realization of the security. As a result, if a large proportion of these 
borrowers were to default due to deteriorating economic conditions or otherwise, this could have a material 
adverse effect on the Issuer's business, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, capital base, prospects 
or reputation. 


The amounts in the tables below represent the maximum accounting loss that would be recognized in the 
statement of financial position if counterparties completely failed to fulfil their obligations and if any potential 
collateral had no value. These amounts are therefore considerably higher than expected losses that are included 
in the allowance for the loan losses. The Issuer’s policy is to require collateral from certain customers before 
loans can be drawn. Although the Issuer and the Group make provisions for potential credit losses in accordance 
with all applicable requirements and regulations, the provisions are made based on available information, 
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estimates and assumptions, which, by definition, are subject to uncertainty. Therefore, there can be no assurance 
that provisions made by the Issuer and the Group are or will be sufficient to cover potential future losses. The 
following tables show the break-down of expected credit loss (ECL) of the Group as at 31 December 2023, 
31 December 2022, and 30 June 2024. 


Loans and Other Advances to Customers at Amortised Cost as at 31 December 2023 
(in CZK millions) 


 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 


Gross 
carrying 
amount 


Loans and advances to customers and 
overdraft 77,416 7,152 3,995 352 88,645 
Receivables from reverse repurchase 
agreements with customers 2,746 - - - 2,746 
Margin lending (debits) 12,121 - 16 - 12,137 
Receivables from provided finance 
leases 172 1 215 - 388 
Other receivables 1,140 10 55 2 1,207 


Gross carrying amount 93,325 7,163 4,281 354 105,123 
ECL (837) (304) (2,546) 20 (3,667) 


Net carrying amount 92,488 6,859 1,735 374 101,456 
 


Loans and Other Advances to Customers at Amortised Cost as at 31 December 2022 
(in CZK millions) 


 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 


Gross 
carrying 
amount 


Loans and advances to customers and 
overdraft 72,998 9,681 6,167 297 89,143 
Receivables from reverse repurchase 
agreements with customers 2,490 - - - 2,490 
Margin lending (debits) 16,078 - - - 16,078 
Receivables from provided finance 
leases 760 26 321 - 1,107 
Other receivables 1,893 2 125 110 2,130 


Gross carrying amount 94,219 9,709 6,613 407 110,948 
ECL (981) (424) (3,412) 18 (4,799) 


Net carrying amount 93,238 9,285 3,201 425 106,149 
 


Loans and Other Advances to Customers at Amortised Cost as at 30 June 2024 
(in CZK millions) 


 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 


Gross 
carrying 
amount 


Loans and advances to customers and 
overdraft 81,806 8,233 3,433 285 93,757 
Receivables from reverse repurchase 
agreements with customers 2,625 - - - 2,625 
Margin lending (debits) 10,290 - - - 10,290 
Receivables from provided finance 
leases 116 2 216 - 334 
Other receivables 1,196 3 - - 1,199 


Gross carrying amount 96,033 8,238 3,649 285 108,205 
ECL (761) (316) (2,189) 38 (3,228) 


Net carrying amount 95,272 7,922 1,460 323 104,977 
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Furthermore, if the credit quality of the Issuer’s and the Group’s loans or the financial health of any of their 
customers (including, among others, clients in the construction and real estate sector to which the Issuer has 
significant exposure as described in more detail in Risk related to the Issuer’s exposure to real estate and 
construction sectors above) were to deteriorate, additional impairment provisions may have to be made, which 
could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s and the Group’s operations, profitability and financial 
position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


Any write-downs in the Issuer’s or the Group’s loan portfolio due to loan losses may ultimately be attributable 
to many factors, such as the general economic situation, including as a result of economic downturn caused by 
the Invasion of Ukraine, higher interest rates resulting from inflation expectations and/or monetary policy 
tightening, negative changes in the credit ratings of customers or counterparties, customers’ servicing of loans 
and ability to pay, reduction in property values, structural and technological changes in different sectors and 
external factors such as new rules laid down in legislation and relevant regulations all of which, individually or 
taken together, can have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s and the Group’s operations, profitability and 
financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


The Issuer and the Group are exposed to market risk, in particular interest rate risk and foreign exchange 
risk 


Market risk is the risk of loss to the Issuer and the Group arising from unfavourable changes in interest rates, 
currency exchange rates, quoted prices of securities, derivatives, commodities, investment instruments and other 
market variables. The Issuer and the Group are primarily exposed to interest rate risk and foreign currency 
exchange rate risk. 


Interest rate risk is the risk of loss or reduction of future income following changes in interest rates, including 
the price risk connected to the sale of assets or closing of positions. In the ordinary course of business, interest 
rate risk arises due to timing differences in the maturity (for fixed rate) and repricing (for floating rate) of the 
Issuer’s and the Group’s assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items. 


Due to differences between the Issuer’s and the Group’s lending and deposit interest rates, the Issuer or other 
members of the Group may face considerable interest rate risk, as changes in interest rates, yield curves and 
credit margins can affect the net interest margin realised between the loans provided and deposits accepted. 
Changes in interest rates (which have been steadily falling during 2024) can have a disproportionate or 
unexpected impact on the return on interest-bearing assets or the cost of interest-bearing liabilities, or otherwise 
have a negative effect on the Issuer’s or the Group’s funding costs. If the Group’s interest spread (the difference 
between the rate of interest that the Group pays on funds from depositors and lenders and the rate of interest that 
it charges on loans it grants to its customers) decreases, most commonly as a result of falling interest rates, then 
its net interest income will also decrease, unless the Group is able to compensate by increasing the total amount 
of funds it lends to customers. 


A decrease in rates charged to customers will often have a negative effect on the interest spread, particularly 
when interest rates on deposit accounts are already very low, because the Group has little ability to make a 
corresponding reduction in the interest it pays to depositors and lenders. An increase in interest rates can also 
affect general demand for loan products as customers face higher borrowing costs. The Issuer as well as the 
Group are also exposed to the risk that the fair value of instruments in its securities portfolio may be affected 
due to shifts in yield curves and credit spreads. 


The Value at Risk (VaR) statistics of the market risk as at 30 June 2024, 31 December 2023 and 31 December 
2022 are set out in the following table. 


(in CZK million) 30 June 20241 31 December 2023 31 December 2022 
VaR market risk overall 37 37 179 
VaR interest rate risk 35 25 83 


 
1 Stress testing scenarios for the value at risk, economic value of equity and for net interest income are performed annually on the consolidated 
basis. The interim results reflect the exposures of the J&T Bank, with the remainder of entities having immaterial impact on the outcome. 
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VaR FX risk 50 10 100 
VaR equity risk 15 32 87 
VaR commodity risk 2 1 1 


In order to assess the impact of extremely unfavourable market conditions, the Group performs stress testing. As 
part of the stress testing, a short-term, medium-term and long-term historic shock scenario is applied to the 
trading portfolio, and the foreign currency and commodity positions of the Group as a whole. These scenarios 
evaluate the deepest drop of the current portfolio value which would have happened in the last two years (short-
term scenario), five years (medium-term scenario) or fifteen years (long-term scenario). The change in the fair 
value of the trading portfolio of the Group due to historic shock scenarios is set in the following table. 


(in CZK million) 30 June 20241 2023 2022 
Short-term scenario (141) (107) (204) 
Medium-term scenario (354)  (200) (468) 
Long-term scenario (354)  (269) (660) 


The Group performs stress testing of the investment portfolio using a standardised interest rate shock, i.e. an 
immediate decrease / increase in interest rates by 200 basis points along the entire yield curve. The impact of a 
sudden change in interest rates by 200bp on the present value of the investment portfolio of the Group in 
economic value of equity (EVE) and net interest income (NII) is set out in the following table. 


(in CZK million) 
30 June 20241 


31 December 
2023 


31 December 
2022 


Increase/decrease in the 
present value of the 
investment portfolio  
due to a sudden change in 
interest rates by 200 bp 


EVE upward 1,100 1,234 843 
downward (402) (1,818) (1,274) 


NII 
upward 1,924 1,529 (992) 


downward (1,056) (1,589) 901 


The Issuer and other members of the Group endeavour to protect themselves against interest rate risk by entering 
into interest rate derivative contracts for hedging purposes or by accepting deposits with an interest and maturity 
structure that decreases the interest risk. It is, nevertheless, difficult to anticipate changes in the market situation 
and to predict the impact that such changes could have. An unfavourable movement in interest rates and the 
Issuer’s or the Group’s inability to maintain net interest rate margins can have a material adverse effect on the 
Issuer’s and the Group’s operations, profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the 
obligations under the Notes. 


Foreign currency exchange rate risk means that the Issuer or other members of the Group might suffer potential 
loss from unexpected unfavourable movements in exchange rates. Foreign currency exchange rates may be 
affected by complex political and economic factors, including relative rates of inflation, interest rate differentials, 
balance of payments between countries, the extent of any governmental budget surplus or deficit, and monetary, 
fiscal and trade policies pursued by governments in different countries. A substantial portion of the Group’s 
assets and liabilities are denominated in currencies other than Czech koruna and can be adversely affected by 
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The following tables set out the foreign exchange exposures of 
the Group as at 30 June 2024, 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022. 


Foreign Exchange Risk Exposure of the Issuer as at 30 June 2024 (in CZK millions) 
 CZK USD EUR Other Total 
Assets 208,865 5,203 126,246 2,916 343,230 
Equity and liabilities 218,074 3,766 117,028 4,362 343,230 


 
Foreign Exchange Risk Exposure as at 31 December 2023 (in CZK millions) 
 CZK USD EUR Other Total 
Assets 172,040 7,502 96,312 2,842 278,696 
Equity and liabilities 133,562 3,132 95,314 1,995 234,003 
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Foreign Exchange Risk Exposure as at 31 December 2022 (in CZK millions) 
 CZK USD EUR RUB Other Total 
Assets 105,862 12,286 92,632 2,033 5,536 218,349 
Equity and liabilities 111,517 2,002 61,777 2,808 940 179,044 


While the Issuer and other members of the Group endeavour to protect themselves against foreign currency 
exchange rate risk by entering into cross-currency derivative contracts for hedging purposes, an unexpected 
unfavourable movement in foreign currency exchange rates can have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s 
and the Group’s operations, profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations 
under the Notes. 


The Issuer and the Group are exposed to operational risk related to their business activities 


The Group is exposed to operational risk which is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal 
processes, people, and systems, or external events. This may arise as a result of a variety of factors, including 
the acts of the Group’s employees, inadequate system operations, irregularities in internal processes, acts of third 
parties and other external conditions, such as floods, fires or pandemics. The Group is also exposed to fraud 
committed by its customers, suppliers and third parties, such as cyber criminals, as well as fraud or misconduct 
committed by employees. Such fraud or misconduct may arise or persist due to the failure or inadequacy of the 
Group’s risk management or corporate governance procedures, weaknesses in IT infrastructure or the failure of 
third-party contractors to identify or prevent such fraud or misconduct. 


The scope of the operational risks associated with the Group’s employees include the risk of financial losses 
resulting from employees’ lack of knowledge, inadequate training or violation of laws, rules and regulations or 
any other misconduct or fraudulent behaviour. Misconduct and fraud have been seen across the global financial 
services industry and could involve conduct such as, but not limited to, the improper use or disclosure of 
confidential information or the violation of laws and regulations concerning financial abuse and money 
laundering. The occurrence of any type of misconduct or fraud could result in penalties or sanctions being 
imposed on the Issuer or other members of the Group, in addition to the risk that the Issuer or other members of 
the Group may suffer serious reputational or commercial harm. 


The area of financial services is characterised by continuous improvement in operational and information 
technology and infrastructure. Systems require regular upgrades to meet customer needs and regulatory 
requirements, keeping the pace corresponding to the current operations of banks and financial institutions. The 
Group or its service providers may not be able to implement the necessary improvements (such as the e-Portal 
client interface as described in more detail in Risks associated with business development initiatives and digital 
innovation) on time and upgrades may not work as planned. It is not certain that the Group will always be able 
to anticipate and respond in a timely and effective manner to the demand for new services and technologies to 
adapt its infrastructure to advanced technologies. 


In addition, there is a risk that key security and transaction documents held by the Issuer or other members of 
the Group may be lost, misplaced or destroyed (notwithstanding the Issuer’s best efforts to prevent this). Any 
such documents that are lost or destroyed would reduce the Group’s ability to enforce its collateral or its rights 
against the relevant counterparty in the relevant court. Any violation of the Issuer’s or other Group members’ 
internal risk management procedures, monitoring systems for foreign exchange transactions and control 
procedures could also result in the Issuer or other members of the Group inadvertently entering into binding 
transactions that exceed authorised limits. There is also a risk of sudden stoppages in the Group’s systems due 
to unexpected severe internal or external operational risk event(s), which may result in critical service 
disruptions. All of these factors or events, individually or taken together, can have a material adverse effect on 
the Group’s operations, profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under 
the Notes. 


Risks associated with the counterparty credit risk and presence of derivatives in the Issuer’s and the Group’s 
portfolio 
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Counterparty credit risk is the risk of loss arising from a failure of a counterparty to meet the terms of any contract 
with any member of the Group, or otherwise to fail to perform as agreed. In order to reduce the volatility in its 
net interest income, the Issuer limits the structural interest rate risk (which occurs as a result of imbalance 
between interest rate ties and the re-pricing of assets and liabilities) and the foreign currency exchange rate risk 
exposure, through extensive use of hedging derivative instruments, primarily cross-currency and foreign 
exchange swaps. 


When entering into those hedging arrangements, the Issuer and the Group rely on a group of counterparties which 
consists of both domestic financial institutions as well as global investment banks. There is no guarantee that the 
Issuer or the Group will be able to maintain the hedging lines it has in place with the existing counterparties or 
that it will be able to replace any counterparty should such counterparty decide to terminate the existing 
relationship with the Issuer or the Group. There can also be no guarantee that the Issuer and the Group will 
succeed in correctly estimating the risk that occurs in relation to those derivative contracts, which may mean that 
the collateral and other arrangements entered into between the Issuer and the Group and their counterparties turn 
out to be insufficient. Errors can also occur in relation to valuation of transactions and the managing of collateral 
arrangements, which can lead to the outcome of the arrangement being different than intended. A failure to hedge 
the interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate risks or any default in the future by any significant 
counterparty can have a material adverse effect on the Issuer and the Group’s operations, profitability and 
financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


The Issuer and the Group are exposed to liquidity risk 


The Issuer and other members of the Group are exposed to liquidity risk which is the risk of incurring losses 
resulting from the inability to meet payment obligations in a timely manner when they become due or from being 
unable to do so at an acceptable cost. This may arise, for example, if refinancing can only be obtained at 
unfavourable terms or is entirely impossible. 


Like most other Czech banks, the Issuer relies primarily on customer deposits to meet a substantial portion of its 
funding requirements. The majority of the Issuer’s deposits are retail deposits, whereas 17% of the Issuer’s 
deposits as at 30 June 2024 (20% at 31 December 2023, 18% as at 31 December 2022) could be withdrawn on-
demand without any notice. These deposits are subject to fluctuation due to factors beyond the Issuer’s control, 
and no assurances can be given by the Issuer that it will not experience a significant outflow of deposits within 
a short period of time. Since the majority of the Issuer’s funding comes from its customer deposit base, any 
material decrease in deposits could have an adverse effect on the Issuer’s liquidity unless appropriate measures 
are taken, which may not be possible under economically acceptable terms, if at all. 


The Czech banking sector experienced an extreme impact of this risk quite recently when Sberbank CZ, a.s., an 
indirect subsidiary of the Russian majority state-owned Sberbank, entered liquidation in May 2022, following a 
rapid withdrawal of deposits by customers as a result of the Invasion of Ukraine. 


Also, the Issuer or other members of the Group may be unable to meet their respective immediate payment 
obligations on any particular day and may have to obtain liquidity from the market at short notice and on 
unfavourable terms, or even fail to obtain liquidity from the market and, at the same time, be unable to generate 
sufficient alternative liquidity through the sale of its liquid assets. Loss of customer trust in the Issuer or other 
members of the Group could result in unexpectedly high client money outflows. Deposits could be withdrawn 
faster than the rate at which some of the Group’s borrowers repay their loans, and lending obligations could be 
terminated. The Issuer’s or other Group members’ liquidity buffers may not be sufficient and results of the 
Issuer’s or other Group members’ liquidity risk management models may lead to inadequate management 
measures. All of the above can have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s and the Group’s liquidity and 
financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


The tables below show the liquidity risk of the Group based on remaining contractual maturity dates as at 
31 December 2023 and as at 31 December 2022. 
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 31 December 2023 Gross 
carrying 
amount 


Total 
contractual 


cash inflows/ 
(outflows) 


Up to 3 
months 


3 months 
to 1 year 


From 1 to 
5 years 


Over 5 
years 


Unde-
fined 


maturity 
Assets               
Cash, cash 
equivalents and due 
from banks and 
other financial 
institutions 140,973 141,188 140,916 15 257 - - 
Securities (excl. 
derivatives) 31,440 39,879 324 910 14,286 12,570 11,789 
Loans and advances 
to customers 105,123 124,738 26,794 22,176 70,923 4,845 - 
Total 277,536 305,805 168,034 23,101 85,466 17,415 11,789 
Off balance        
Bank commitments 7,064 7,064 3,936 739 2,220 169 - 
Bank guarantees 4,104 4,104 4,104 - - - - 
Liabilities        
Deposits and loans 
from banks 9,191 9,336 4,503 38 4,795 - - 
Deposits from 
customers 217,837 228,299 146,508 47,135 33,084 1,572 - 
Bonds issued 3,287 3,403 - 64 3,339 - - 
Subordinated debt 1,256 1,637 100 64 1,473 - - 
Lease liabilities 260 286 29 41 156 60 - 
Total 231,831 242,961 151,140 47,342 42,847 1,632 - 
Net liquidity 
position 45,705 62,844 16,894  (24,241) 42,619 15,783 11,789 
Cumulative 
liquidity position   16,894 (7,347) 35,272 51,055 62,844 


 


 31 December 2022 Gross 
carrying 
amount 


Total 
contractual 


cash inflows/ 
(outflows) 


Up to 3 
months 


3 months 
to 1 year 


From 1 to 
5 years 


Over 5 
years 


Unde-
fined 


maturity 
Assets               
Cash, cash 
equivalents and due 
from banks and 
other financial 
institutions 78,158 78,342 78,074 12 256 - - 
Securities (excl. 
derivatives) 27,169 28,987 257 1,098 14,428 1,361 11 843 
Loans and advances 
to customers 110,948 129,494 26,380 25,627 71,297 6,190 - 
Total 216,275 236,823 104,711 26,737 85,981 7,551 11,843 
Off balance        
Bank commitments 5,393 5,393  3,667 283 1,343 100 - 
Bank guarantees 3,468 3,468 3,468 - - - - 
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Liabilities        
Deposits and loans 
from banks 10,530 10,977 4,940 241 5,336 460 - 
Deposits from 
customers 164,022 169,166 110,511 31,995 25,569 1,091 - 
Bonds issued 301 420 - 24 396 - - 
Subordinated debt 256 319 45 9 265 - - 
Lease liabilities 183 222 13 35 114 60 - 
Total 175,292 181,104 115,509 32,304 31,680 1,611 - 
Net liquidity 
position 40,983 55,719 (10,798) (5,567) 54,301 5,940 11,843 
Cumulative 
liquidity position   (10,798) (16,365) 37,936 43,876 55,719 


The Issuer and the Group are exposed to funding risk 


Funding risk is the risk of failure to refinance maturing wholesale funding, i.e. securities issued in the capital 
markets, on sufficiently favourable terms, if at all. Access to, and the cost of, financing raised by the Issuer or 
other members of the Group through the capital markets are affected, among other things, by general interest 
rate environment, interest rate cycle, investor sentiment or the Issuer’s as well as other Group members’ own 
capital adequacy and credit ratings. Any deterioration in market conditions or a downgrade of the Issuer’s current 
credit rating may increase its funding costs and limit its access to the capital markets. This could lead to a 
deterioration in the Issuer’s liquidity and make it more difficult to refinance its outstanding securities when they 
become due. This can have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s liquidity and financial position and the 
Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


Competition in the financial services sector is intense 


The sector in which the Issuer operates is and is expected to remain highly competitive. The Issuer and the Group 
compete with both established and new competitors from the Czech Republic and, more broadly, from the EU. 
There is no guarantee that the Issuer will be able to compete effectively, which could have a material adverse 
effect on its operations, profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under 
the Notes. 


In addition, the Czech financial services sector has been consolidating as competitors aim to increase the 
economies of scale inherent in their businesses with medium sized banks being particularly active. If competitors 
merge, they can typically realize synergies and benefit from greater economies of scale, which may allow them 
to offer new products at more attractive prices, while maintaining their margins. Intense competition can lead to 
a reduction in the Issuer’s net interest margin as well as fee income. New and/or larger competitors in the market 
may also offer jobs to the Issuer’s employees and thus potentially cause the Issuer to lose talent, which may force 
the Issuer to create better conditions to retain its employees to mitigate this impact, thus potentially significantly 
increasing the Issuer’s personnel costs. 


The Issuer’s ability to handle this competition depends on many factors, including the Issuer’s reputation, the 
quality of its services, performance, sales efforts, product innovation, pricing, ability to attract and retain 
qualified and competent staff, investments into its IT systems and infrastructure, ability to adapt to new industry 
trends and its access to liquidity and capital. A failure to compete effectively may have a material adverse effect 
on the Issuer’s operations, profitability or financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under 
the Notes. 


Risks associated with regulatory requirements and the Issuer’s and the Group’s legal obligations 


The Issuer and the Group’s business operations are subject to a large number of laws and regulations concerning 
banking operations and financial services and the Issuer and the Group are subject to stringent, constantly 
increasing and changing regulation and supervision, which means that the Issuer and the Group may be subject 
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to intervention from the regulatory authorities and there is no assurance that the Issuer and the Group will be 
found fully compliant with all applicable laws and regulations. 


In recent years, the regulation of banking operations and the financial sector in general has globally undergone 
extensive changes. The regulation applicable to banks and in the financial sector generally has been constantly 
tightening and the powers of the regulators have been widening since the 2008 global financial crisis. These 
changes can have an impact, among others, on capital and liquidity requirements for banking operations and can 
lead to further costs and obligations for the Issuer and the Group. Changes may also be imposed on rules 
governing how the Issuer and the Group run their business. New regulation may force the Issuer and the Group 
to reduce their level of risk, volume of business in general or the lending exposure to certain sectors in particular. 
New regulation also generally increases the administrative burden, resulting in increased costs and lower 
profitability. 


There have been recent regulatory changes focussing on environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors. 
Given the complexity of new ESG-related regulations, and as they have been introduced only recently, there is 
a risk that the Group may fail to comply with all such ESG-related regulatory requirements on time. Failure to 
comply with such ESG requirements may have an adverse impact on the Issuer and the Group through the 
imposition of fines and other regulatory sanctions as well as through reputational damage. 


Measures taken by the authorities or unfavourable decisions in disputes with the authorities could also result in 
fines or restrictions and limits being imposed on the Issuer’s or the Group’s business operations and give cause 
for negative publicity. 


For example, at its meeting on 10 October 2024, the Bank Board of the CNB decided to change the minimum 
reserve requirement. The current rate of 2% is to increase to 4% of the reserve base, except for repo liabilities. 
The new rate becomes effective on 2 January 2025, i.e. on the first day of the new reserve maintenance cycle. 
The CNB took this step to lower the cost of implementing monetary policy while preserving its effectiveness. 
This follows on the measure adopted by the CNB on 7 September 2023, when the CNB decided to end the 
remuneration of minimum reserves with effect from 5 October 2023. The ECB adopted a similar decision in July 
2023. Until then, the minimum reserves were remunerated at the 2W repo rate announced by the CNB, which at 
that time was 7%. The Issuer estimates that these measures will have impact on its financial results in the amount 
of CZK 100 million per year. 


Furthermore, banking activities are largely dependent on contractual relationships. Customers and counterparties 
to agreements that any member of the Group has entered into may submit claims against the Group or its 
subsidiaries that can lead to disputes and legal action. Such demands may, for example, concern liability towards 
customers with regard to the sale of unsuitable products or with regard to incorrect advice. If the Issuer or any 
member of the Group are deemed to have neglected their duties, they may be liable to pay damages. Any legal 
action against any member of the Group can also have a negative impact on the Group’s reputation, which in 
turn can have a material adverse effect on the Group’s operations, profitability and financial position and the 
Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


If any of the risks set out above were to be realised, this can have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 
operations, profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


The Basel III framework may affect the capital requirements associated with a holding of the Notes for certain 
investors and the Issuer may incur substantial costs in monitoring and complying with new capital adequacy 
requirements 


The Issuer is subject to the Basel III framework introduced by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (the 
Basel Committee), which envisages a substantial strengthening of existing capital rules, including new capital 
requirements intended to reinforce capital standards and to establish minimum leverage ratios for financial 
institutions. In particular, the changes include, amongst other things, new requirements for the capital base, 
measures to strengthen the capital requirements for counterparty credit exposures arising from certain 
transactions and the introduction of a leverage ratio as well as short-term and longer-term standards for funding 
liquidity (referred to as the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) and the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR)). The 
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changes approved by the Basel Committee may have an impact on the capital requirements in respect of the 
Notes and on incentives to hold the Notes for investors that are subject to requirements that follow the revised 
framework and, as a result, they may affect the liquidity and value of the Notes. 


Basel III has been implemented in the EU by Directive 2013/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the 
Council on access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions and 
investments firms (CRD IV) and Regulation 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council on 
prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms (CRR I). 


In December 2017, the Basel Committee published its final revised standards for calculating the risk exposure 
amount, also known as Basel IV. The Basel Committee recommends, among others, that constraints on internal 
models and the revised standardised approaches should be implemented beginning in 2022. However, the 
political process that should eventually lead to the implementation of the recommendations in the EU has started 
only recently, and the outcome thus remains uncertain. 


In general, investors should consult their own advisers as to the regulatory capital requirements in respect of the 
Notes and as to the consequences for and effect on them of any changes to the Basel III framework (including 
the possible Basel IV changes described above) and the relevant implementing measures. No predictions can be 
made as to the precise effects of such matters on any investor or otherwise. 


The requirements of the NSFR set out criteria for a minimum amount of stable resources to cover illiquid assets 
and contingent liabilities in the medium term (i.e. more than one year). The binding minimum standard for the 
NSFR is part of Regulation (EU) 2019/876 amending the CRR I (CRR II) and adopted together with Directive 
(EU) 2019/878 amending CRD IV (CRD V), Directive (EU) 2019/879 amending BRRD I (as defined below) 
(BRRD II) and Regulation (EU) 2019/877, which entered into force on 28 June 2021. The level at which the 
NSFR is set may have an adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, results of operations, financial condition, 
liquidity, capital base or prospects. 


There is no certainty as to the final framework for, or the timing of, the capital adequacy standards that will be 
ultimately developed and implemented, and the Issuer may incur substantial costs in monitoring and complying 
with the new capital adequacy requirements. The new capital adequacy requirements may also impact existing 
business models. In addition there can be no assurances that breaches of legislation or regulations by the Issuer 
will not occur and, to the extent that such a breach does occur, that significant liability or penalties will not be 
incurred. Any of the above may have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s operations, profitability or financial 
position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


The Issuer is subject to the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act, implementing BRRD and setting out a bank 
recovery and resolution framework which is intended to enable a range of actions to be taken in relation to 
credit institutions considered to be failing or at risk of failing. The implementation of any action under it 
could materially affect the Issuer and/or the value of any Notes 


Directive 2014/59/EU providing for the establishment of an EU-wide framework for the recovery and resolution 
of credit institutions and investment firms (BRRD I) is designed to provide authorities with a set of tools to 
intervene sufficiently early and quickly in an unsound or relevant entity. This is so as to ensure the continuity of 
the relevant entity’s critical financial and economic functions, while minimising the impact of a relevant entity’s 
failure on the economy and financial system. 


The powers set out in BRRD I, as amended by BRRD II (BRRD) impact how credit institutions and investment 
firms are managed as well as, in certain circumstances, the rights of creditors. BRRD is implemented in Czech 
law by the Czech Act No. 374/2015 Coll., on Recovery and Resolution in the Financial Market, as amended (the 
Czech Resolution and Recovery Act), which provides for a framework for the recovery and resolution of Czech 
banks and investment firms. 


The Czech Resolution and Recovery Act provides for a special resolution regime applicable to Czech banks 
(such as the Issuer) or their groups and distinguishes between two basic sets of measures. These measures are 
crisis prevention measures (in Czech, opatření k předcházení krizí) and crisis resolution measures (in Czech, 
opatření k řešení krize). Responsibility for operation of the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act rests almost 
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exclusively with the CNB as the relevant resolution authority whilst the Ministry of Finance of the Czech 
Republic has some joint powers together with the CNB in adopting and applying the government stabilisation 
tools (including the temporary public ownership (nationalisation) of all or part of a Czech bank). The Czech 
Resolution and Recovery Act enables the CNB to intervene in failing Czech banks, Czech banks which are likely 
to fail, or Czech banks reaching a point of non-viability and also deals with certain other discrete matters. The 
measures and procedures were implemented into Czech law by the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act without 
substantial deviations from BRRD. 


The legislative framework allows for a multiple-point-of-entry (MPE) or a single-point-of-entry (SPE) 
resolution strategy. The minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL) should reflect the 
resolution strategy which is appropriate to a group in accordance with the resolution plan. Under the SPE 
strategy, only one group entity, usually the parent undertaking, is resolved whereas other group entities, usually 
operating subsidiaries, are not put in resolution, but upstream their losses and recapitalisation needs to the entity 
to be resolved. Under the MPE strategy, more than one group entity may be resolved. 


The Issuer is part of J&T FINANCE GROUP which uses the MPE approach with two resolution groups and 
resolution entities: the Issuer and 365. bank, a.s. Therefore, in the Czech Republic, the Issuer is the point of entry 
for resolution which means that the losses are recognized at the local level and the resolution action takes place 
at the Issuer’s level with no recourse towards J&T FINANCE GROUP SE or any member of J&T FINANCE 
GROUP, other than the Issuer. The indicative MREL targets based on risk weighted assets prescribed by the 
CNB (excluding the combined capital buffer) applicable to the Issuer have been set as follows: 13.3% as at 1 
January 2022, 14.8% as at 1 January 2023 and 16.5% as at 1 January 2024. The Issuer can therefore issue external 
(extragroup) MREL eligible liabilities. Resolution plans and MREL decisions will be adopted in respect of the 
Issuer and updated from time to time. As at the date of this Prospectus, the CNB’s prescription does not 
specifically require the Issuer to cover the MREL requirement by a subordinated instrument but it cannot be 
ruled out that in the future the CNB will specify such requirement to the Issuer. Requirements and obligations 
laid out in the afore-mentioned plans pose potential regulatory risk to the Issuer. 


The exercise of any power under the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act or any suggestion of such exercise can, 
therefore, have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s ability 
to meet the obligations under the Notes. For a detailed description of the powers available under BRRD, as 
implemented in the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act, see Adoption of resolution measures or crisis 
prevention measures against the Issuer may materially adversely affect the value of the Notes and the satisfaction 
of the claims from the Notes and Any claims from the Notes may be written down or converted in the event of 
adoption of crisis resolution measures. 


Risks associated with abuse of the financial system 


The regulations applicable to the financial sector on the prevention of money laundering, corruption and the 
financing of terrorism as well as international sanctions have been and are subject to ongoing tightening. The 
risk that banks may become the subject of or be exploited for the purposes of money laundering or the financing 
of terrorism has increased and continues to increase substantially. Any breach of the rules that aim to prevent the 
illegal exploitation of the financial system or even the suspicion of such infringements could have grave legal 
consequences for the Group and its reputation, which, in turn, can have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 
operations, profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


Regardless of the risk mitigation measures that the Issuer and other members of the Group are taking, there can 
be no assurance that the measures of the Issuer or any member of the Group to prevent money laundering, 
corruption and the financing of terrorism as well as breach of international sanctions are and have in the past 
been at all times sufficient and there will be no proceedings, investigations or allegations involving any member 
of the Group. 


The Issuer and the Group are committed to continuously applying sufficient enhancement and maintenance 
operations on supporting systems. However, there is a risk that the Issuer’s or the Group’s screening and 
monitoring approach, supporting processes and systems may not fully prevent the execution or facilitation of 
transaction(s) which have exposure to money laundering, sanctions and/or terrorism financing offences. 
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The Issuer and the Group monitor transactions according to predefined scenarios and thresholds, however, there 
is a risk that the Issuer or the Group may not be able to detect all the patterns and occurrences in a customer’s 
behaviour which indicate breaches of anti-money laundering or sanctions laws on the part of the customer. 


The Issuer and the Group have developed a regular reporting routine and has defined additional need-based 
escalation topics to management containing both qualitative and quantitative components. Nevertheless, risks 
may arise where the Issuer has not sufficiently defined the content of reporting principles. The occurrence and 
realisation of the above-mentioned risks could – regardless of whether due to enforcement activities of state 
supervisory authorities or adverse public opinion – have a material adverse effect on the Group’s operations, 
profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


Risks associated with the Issuer’s and the Group’s human resources 


The Issuer’s and the Group’s performance are largely dependent on the talent and effort of its highly skilled 
individuals. The Issuer’s and the Group’s continued ability to compete effectively in their businesses depends 
on the Issuer’s and the Group’s ability to attract new qualified employees and to retain and motivate their existing 
employees. Competition from within the financial services industry and from businesses outside the financial 
services industry for qualified staff is intense. The need for cost efficiency coupled with high workload could 
also result in a lower rate of wage increases in the coming years, which may pose a challenge to the Issuer’s and 
the Group’s ability to retain or recruit employees. A failure by the Issuer or the Group to attract and retain 
sufficiently qualified, skilled and motivated employees, can have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 
operations, profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


Risks associated with business development initiatives and digital innovation 


The rise of digital banking is changing customer expectations of the availability of banking services. As digital 
changes make transactions easier and more convenient, the Issuer and the Group expect customers to transact 
more, and in many different ways. The Issuer or the Group may not be able to manage service provision ahead 
of rising customer expectations or may have competitors who are more successful in meeting demand for digital 
banking services, which could affect their ability to attract and retain customers. 


The Issuer and the Group are constantly exploring ways to develop and streamline their operations, meet their 
customers’ demands, stay up-to-date with market developments, make their operations more efficient and 
improve their profitability and financial position. 


With any business development initiatives and changes to the operating model, there is a risk that the initiative 
or change may, regardless of the Issuer’s or the Group’s efforts, not bring the desired benefits. Moreover, there 
is a risk that such initiatives and changes may result in inefficiencies, stoppages or delays in the Issuer’s or the 
Group’s operations, negatively affect the Issuer’s or the Group’s customer satisfaction (potentially leading to 
loss of clients), reputation and awareness of the Group’s brand. The occurrence of any such event can have a 
material adverse effect on the Group’s operations, profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s ability to 
meet the obligations under the Notes. 


Litigation and disputes 


In the ordinary course of their business, the Issuer and other members of the Group are exposed to a significant 
risk of claims, disputes and legal proceedings. In many cases, the Issuer or other members of the Group will be 
the plaintiff, typically seeking to recover money advanced and they may not always be successful in this 
endeavour and, even where successful, the costs involved in the litigation will reduce the recoveries. In cases 
where the Issuer or any member of the Group is a defendant, in addition to the cost of defending the claim, the 
Issuer or any other member of the Group may be required to pay significant damages and the dispute could also 
negatively affect the Group’s reputation.  


For example, in 2020-2022 the Issuer was one of the defendants in the New York Court, with Kingstown Capital, 
Investhold Ltd. and Verali Limited, among others, as plaintiffs. The plaintiffs sought compensation for damages 
in excess of USD 1 billion (which could have been increased up to three times under US law) for the allegedly 
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illegal way of gaining control of the company ORCO by CPI. The plaintiffs alleged that the Issuer assisted CPI 
in its unlawful conduct. On 4 September 2020, the United States District Court, Southern District of New York 
dismissed the action brought by the plaintiffs (including, among others, Kingstown Capital, Investhold Ltd. and 
Verali Limited). The plaintiffs lodged an appeal against this decision on the dismissal of the action in the United 
States Court of Appeal which issued in September 2022 a summary order affirming the judgment of the United 
States District Court, Southern District of New York to dismiss the lawsuit. 


Furthermore, J&T Leasingová společnost, a.s. (JTLS), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Issuer, is a party to the 
insolvency proceedings in relation to the bankruptcy of MAMMOTH s.r.o. (Mammoth). JTLS, as the creditor, 
registered its claims against Mammoth in the total amount of CZK 2,365,322,433 with the relevant insolvency 
court (whereas this amount is different from the amount of the created provision in relation to this case due to 
the different nature of the two items). The insolvency proceedings is currently pending, and the timing and 
amount of recovery for JTLS are uncertain. For further information on these proceedings, see section Legal and 
arbitration proceedings. 


Any such damages or reputational harm, or any associated fines or other penalties, can have a material adverse 
effect on the Group’s operations, profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the 
obligations under the Notes. 


Risk associated with information security and risk of cybercrime attacks 


The Issuer and the Group’s operations rely on the correct and secure processing and communication of large 
amounts of information, which is often of a confidential nature. As part of their business operations, the Issuer 
and other members of the Group record personal and banking details that they receive from their customers. 
Significant costs may be incurred if information security risks, such as illegal access to or distortion of 
information (such as accidental alteration or omission of certain information processed and communicated by 
the Issuer or other member of the Group), are realised. Costs may also be incurred by the Issuer or other members 
of the Group in protecting themselves against breaches of data protection rules and in solving problems that have 
been caused as a result of such breaches. 


Regulatory requirements in relation to cybersecurity are increasingly demanding. The Issuer as well as other 
members of the Group (seated within the EU) are also subject to the EU General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR). If any such member of the Group or any of their third-party service providers fail to store or transmit 
customer information in a secure manner, or if any loss or wrongful processing of personal customer data were 
otherwise to occur, such member of the Group could be subject to investigative and enforcement action by 
relevant regulatory authorities and could be subject to claims or complaints from the person to whom the data 
relates, or could face liability under data protection laws. Under GDPR, data protection agencies have the right 
to audit as well as to impose orders and fines, up to EUR 20 million, or up to 4% of the worldwide annual revenue 
for the previous financial year, if they find that the respective member of the Group has not complied with 
applicable laws and adequately protected customer data. Should some or all of these risks materialise, this can 
have a material adverse effect on the Group’s operations, profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s 
ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


As is the case with all financial institutions, the Group’s activities have been, and could continue to be, subject 
to an increasing risk of cyber-attacks, the nature of which is continually evolving. In addition, digital 
transformation can make the Issuer or any member of the Group a potential target for cybercrime attempts which, 
among others, include physical identity theft, unauthorised access to privileged and sensitive customer 
information as well as payment and credit card information. While the Issuer and the Group have invested into 
developing and implementing systems and defences to address cyber-attacks threats, there can be no assurance 
that the Issuer or the Group will not continue to be subject to increasingly sophisticated cybersecurity attacks 
and experience security breaches or unexpected disruptions to their systems and services in the future. Such 
security breaches and unexpected disruptions could in turn result in liability towards the Issuer’s or the Group’s 
customers and/or third parties and consequently have a material adverse effect on the Group’s operations, 
profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 
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The Issuer’s and the Group’s risk management strategies and procedures may prove insufficient or fail 


The Issuer’s or other Group members’ strategies and procedures for managing credit risk, market risk, liquidity 
risk and operational risk may prove insufficient or fail. Some of the Issuer’s or other Group member’s methods 
for managing risk are based upon observations of historical market behaviour. The Issuer and other Group 
members also apply statistical techniques to observations to arrive at quantifications of their risk exposures. 
However, these methods may not accurately quantify the Issuer’s or other Group member’s risk exposures. As 
additional information becomes available, the Issuer or other member of the Group may need to make additional 
provisions if default rates are higher than expected. If circumstances arise whereby the Issuer or other Group 
member did not identify, anticipate or correctly evaluate certain risks in developing their statistical models, losses 
could be greater than the maximum losses envisaged under their risk management system.  


For example, during 2023, JTLS faced a substantial increase in a credit risk, which later resulted in the default 
and subsequent bankruptcy of one of its large clients, Mammoth. A provision of CZK 1,471 million was created 
in relation to this event at the level of J&T FINANCE GROUP whereas J&T FINANCE GROUP SE provided 
JTLS with a risk participation of CZK 1,014 million which has been exercised in full on 30 November 2023. 
The claims of JTLS against Mammoth have been registered to the pending insolvency proceedings. The timing 
and amount of recovery for JTLS are uncertain. For further information on these proceedings, see section Legal 
and arbitration proceedings. 


In addition, if any of the instruments and strategies that the Issuer or other Group member use to hedge their 
exposure to various types of risk is not effective, the Issuer or other Group member may incur losses. Unexpected 
market developments may also adversely affect the effectiveness of the Issuer’s or other Group member’s 
hedging strategies, and the Issuer or other Group member may choose not to hedge all of its risk exposures in all 
market environments or against all types of risk. In addition, the methodology by which gains and losses resulting 
from certain ineffective hedges are recorded may result in additional volatility in the Issuer’s or the Group’s 
reported results of operations.   


Any material deficiency in the Issuer’s or other Group member’s risk management or other internal control 
policies or procedures may expose them to significant credit, liquidity, market or operational risk and material 
unanticipated losses, which may in turn have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of 
operations, financial condition, liquidity, capital base, prospects or reputation and the Issuer’s ability to meet the 
obligations under the Notes. 


The Issuer and the Group are subject to risks in their trading activities 


The Issuer and the Group trade various securities and derivatives, including debt, equity and commodities, both 
as agent and principal, and derive a portion of its non-interest income from profits earned on such trades. The 
consolidated net trading income of the Group for the year 2023 and 2022 and for the half-year ended 30 June 
2024 and 30 June 2023 is set out in the following table. 


(in CZK million) 
31 December 


2023 
31 December 


2022 


6 months 
ended 30 June 


2024 


6 months 
ended 30 June 


2023 
Realised/unrealised gains/(losses) 
on securities 769 (84) 977 294 
Net gains on derivative operations 1,094 3,413 (449) 1,492 
Net gains (losses) from financial 
liabilities at fair value (31) - - - 
Net gains (losses) from foreign 
currency translation (9) (1,244) 388 (618) 
Dividend income 134 69 15 95 
Total 1,957 2,154 931 1,263 


The Issuer and the Group may be exposed to a number of risks related to changes in the value of such financial 
instruments, including the risk of unfavourable market price movements relative to its investment positions, a 
decline in the market liquidity of the related instruments, volatility in market prices, interest rates or foreign 
currency exchange rates relating to these positions and the risk that the instruments with which the Issuer and 
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the Group choose to hedge certain positions do not track the market value of those positions. If the Issuer or the 
Group incur any losses from these exposures, this would reduce the Group’s income or cause the Issuer or the 
Group to suffer losses, either of which could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s operations, 
profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


The Issuer is dependent on its banking and other licences 


The banking and other operations performed by the Issuer require it to obtain licences from the CNB and other 
Czech authorities. A large majority of the Issuer’s business depends on its banking licence granted by the CNB, 
which can, at the same time, be revoked by the CNB in case the Issuer becomes insolvent or in case the CNB 
detects serious shortcomings in the activities of the Issuer and such shortcomings persist (for more details see 
section Banking Regulation in the Czech Republic- Remedial Measures and Penalties). If the Issuer loses its 
general banking licence, it will be unable to perform any banking operations, especially in the Czech Republic. 
There is no assurance that the Issuer will be able to maintain the necessary licences in the future. The loss of a 
licence, a breach of the terms of any licence or failure to obtain or renew any required licences in the future could 
have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s operations, profitability and financial position and the Issuer’s 
ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


2. Risks related to the Notes 


The risk factors related to the Notes are presented in the following categories depending on their nature: 


Risks relating to the regulatory classification of the Notes; and 


General risks relating to the Notes. 


Risks relating to the regulatory classification of the Notes 


Adoption of resolution measures or crisis prevention measures against the Issuer may materially adversely 
affect the value of the Notes and the satisfaction of the claims from the Notes  


The Czech Resolution and Recovery Act, which transposes the BRRD into Czech law, enables the CNB to 
intervene in respect of Czech banks (including the Issuer) or their groups that are likely to fail or are failing, by 
exercising the power to adopt crisis resolution measures, crisis prevention measures or certain other powers. 


Responsibility for the exercise of the powers under the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act sits almost 
exclusively with the CNB, which, as at the date of this Prospectus, is the relevant resolution authority. The 
Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic has some joint powers together with the CNB in relation to the 
government stabilisation tools, including joint deciding on a proposal to provide public financial support to a 
bank or a proposal for a transfer of instruments of participation in the bank to the state. The application of the 
government stabilisation tools is decided on by the Government of the Czech Republic. 


A bank is failing when (a) it meets the conditions for withdrawal of its authorisation, in particular as it has 
suffered a loss that has caused or may cause a material fall in the amount of its capital; (b) its assets are less than 
its liabilities; (c) it is unable to pay its debts as they fall due; or (d) it requires extraordinary public support (except 
in limited circumstances). A bank is also failing when it can be reasonably expected that at least one of the 
conditions set out in (a) to (c) above will be met. 


The Czech Resolution and Recovery Act enables the CNB to adopt various crisis resolution measures, alone or 
in combination where (i) a bank is failing; (ii) taking into account all circumstances, there is no reasonable 
prospect that any alternative measure than resolution measure would prevent the failure of such bank; and (iii) a 
resolution action is in the public interest. The crisis resolution measures introduced by the Czech Resolution and 
Recovery Act include, for example: (i) transfer of activity to a private acquirer, which enables the CNB to decide 
on the transfer of an instrument of participation in the bank or the bank’s assets or debts in the whole or in part 
to a private acquirer; (ii) transfer of activity to a bridge institution for the purpose of preserving fundamental 
operations of the bank, which enables the CNB to decide on the transfer of an instrument of participation in the 
bank or the bank’s assets or debts in whole or in part to a business corporation in which the state holds a stake 
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and whose purpose is the acquisition, holding and subsequent transfer of these instruments, assets or debts to a 
third party; (iii) transfer of activity to an asset management vehicle, which enables the CNB to decide on the 
transfer of the assets or debts of the bank or of the bridge institution in whole or in part to a business corporation 
in which the state holds a stake and whose purpose is the acquisition, holding and subsequent transfer of these 
instruments, assets or debts to a third party; (iv) adoption of management resolution measures, which enables the 
CNB to commence administration of the bank independently, as a result of which the exercise of powers of the 
management body and the supreme body of the bank will be suspended, and the powers that would otherwise 
pertain to these bodies will be exercised by the CNB or a special administrator; (v) write-down or conversion 
powers, which give the CNB a power to write-down eligible liabilities (such as the Senior MREL Notes and 
Senior Non-Preferred MREL Notes), or to convert them to equity or other common equity Tier 1 capital 
instruments of the bank (which may also be subject to future write-down), in part or in full; and (vi) government 
stabilisation tools, which means public capital support and transfer of instruments of participation in the bank to 
the state. 


The Czech Resolution and Recovery Act also gives the CNB the power to adopt certain crisis prevention 
measures. They include, for example, the power to write-down (in whole or in part) capital instruments, including 
the bank’s Tier 2 instruments eligible for inclusion in the Tier 2 capital of the Issuer pursuant to Article 63 of the 
CRR (the Tier 2 Capital) (such as the Notes) or eligible intragroup liabilities or convert them to equity or other 
common equity Tier 1 capital instruments of the bank (which may also be subject to future write-down) which 
are applicable when the bank is not viable. A full write-down or conversion of capital instruments and intragroup 
liabilities eligible for write-down must occur before, or at the latest together with, the adoption of certain crisis 
resolution measures (write-down or conversion of eligible liabilities, transfer of activity to private acquirer, 
transfer of activity to bridge institution, or introduction of asset management vehicle), except in case the CNB 
expects that the creditors will not bear any losses due to the adoption of those crisis resolution measures. The 
point of non-viability is the point at which the CNB determines that the bank either (i) meets the conditions for 
the adoption of crisis resolution measures; (ii) is not viable without a write-down or conversion of capital 
instruments; or (iii) is in a state that requires the providing of public support (with an exception envisaged by the 
Czech Resolution and Recovery Act). The point of non-viability may be determined also on the level of the 
bank’s group. The bank or the group of which the bank is a member is non-viable without a write-down or 
conversion of capital instruments and eligible intragroup liabilities if it is failing and, taking into account all the 
circumstances, it cannot be reasonably expected that any other measure than a write-down or conversion of 
capital instruments and eligible intragroup liabilities made separately or together with another measure would 
avert its failure in a reasonable time. For the purposes of assessment according to the previous sentence, the 
bank’s group is failing if its member fails to meet the prudential requirements on a consolidated basis in such a 
way that it warrants an intervention by the CNB, or if, taking into account all the circumstances, it can be 
reasonably expected that this condition will be met in the near future. 


The CNB is not required to provide any advance notice to the Noteholders of its decision to exercise any powers 
under the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act, and such a decision may become effective upon its publication 
on the website of the CNB. Therefore, the Noteholders may not be able to anticipate a potential exercise of any 
such powers or the potential effect of any exercise of such powers on the Issuer or the Notes. The Noteholders 
have only very limited rights to challenge and/or seek a suspension of any such powers; the powers may 
principally only be challenged and/or sought to be suspended in administrative or judicial proceedings held in 
the Czech Republic under Czech law. 


The Noteholders should presume for the event of the bank’s failure that public support would be granted to the 
bank only as a solution of last resort, after the CNB has considered and as much as possible adopted other 
measures, including the power to write-down or convert capital instruments and eligible liabilities. Therefore, 
the Noteholders may in no case rely on such support being granted to the bank. 


The CNB’s powers under the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act to intervene in Czech banks may also be 
further amended and expanded over time, as so happened for example by way of implementation of BRRD II 
into Czech law with effect mostly from 14 August 2021. 


The exercise of any powers under the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act in relation to the Issuer or the Notes 
(including, but not limited to, the adoption of crisis resolution measures or the write/down or conversion of 
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capital instruments), or any proposal to exercise such powers, or perception that they may be exercised even if 
such perception is not based on facts, may materially adversely affect the value of the Notes, otherwise affect 
the rights of the Noteholders and lead to the Noteholders losing some or all of their investment in the Notes. 


Any claims from the Notes may be written down or converted in the event of adoption of crisis resolution 
measures  


The power of the CNB to write-down or convert under the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act enables the CNB, 
without the consent of the Noteholders or the Issuer, to write-down or convert (to equity or other common equity 
Tier 1 capital instruments of the Issuer) the Issuer’s debts if it is failing or is likely to fail, so that the losses are 
transmitted to its shareholders and unsecured creditors. Any claims from the Notes, including claims for the 
repayment of the principal and payment of accrued and outstanding interest, may be written down or converted 
(see also Adoption of resolution measures or crisis prevention measures against the Issuer may materially 
adversely affect the value of the Notes and the satisfaction of the claims from the Notes) without the consent of 
the creditors or the Issuer. Additionally, if the receivables associated with the Notes are converted into shares or 
other instruments of Tier 1 capital of Issuer, such shares or other instruments may be further reduced, transferred, 
written off or diluted. 


Under the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act, the CNB is required to exercise the write-down or conversion in 
accordance with the hierarchy of claims in normal insolvency proceedings (i.e. claims would be written-down 
or converted in inverse order to the order in which the claims would be satisfied in insolvency proceedings). 
Accordingly, the impact of application of such powers on the Notes should depend on their ranking in accordance 
with such hierarchy. The claims should be written-down or converted in accordance with the following sequence2 
(also called “loss absorbing cascade”): (i) CET 1 items; (ii) AT 1 instruments; (iii) Tier 2 Capital (including the 
Notes); (iv) eligible intragroup liabilities, (v) subordinated debt that is not AT 1 or Tier 2 Capital; (vi) unsecured 
claims resulting from non-preferred debt instruments within the meaning of Section 374b of the Czech Act No. 
182/2006 Coll., on Insolvency and Method of its Resolution (Insolvency Act), as amended from time to time 
(the Czech Insolvency Act); (vii) unsecured and unsubordinated claims that are not resulting from debt 
instruments within the meaning of Section 374b of the Czech Insolvency Act; and (viii) the rest of the bail-inable 
liabilities which rank senior to other unsubordinated claims (such as most deposits and secured claims). 


The Noteholders whose claims from the Notes have been written down or converted have, if they have registered 
with the CNB in accordance with the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act, the right to a compensation only if, 
after the adoption of the resolution measure or write-down or conversion, their status has deteriorated compared 
to a hypothetical status they would have in the Issuer’s insolvency proceedings, determined based on an 
independent valuation. If it follows from such valuation that as a result of a write-down or a conversion the 
Noteholders suffered a loss (represented as a difference between the amount the Noteholders received and the 
amount the Noteholders would receive in a hypothetical insolvency proceeding relating to the Issuer), the CNB 
decides that the Noteholders are entitled to a compensation. The compensation represents a safeguard (known as 
“no creditor worse off”) whose goal is to ensure that no creditor obtains a worse status than it would have in the 
event of the Issuer’s insolvency. However, if such a compensation is granted it is possible that it will be made 
with a delay, in particular compared to the original payment dates of the Notes and the related interest. 
Furthermore, even if such a compensation is granted, it is likely that it would not compensate all the losses the 
Noteholders have suffered by the write-down or conversion of their claims from the Notes, because the purpose 
of the compensation is not to compensate the losses of the investors caused in this way in the full extent, but only 
in an extent in which those losses exceed the losses the investor would suffer in hypothetical insolvency 
proceedings with the Issuer (which would, as a general rule, be held under Czech law in accordance with the 
Czech Insolvency Act). 


The Issuer can provide no assurance, however, that under severe or unexpected circumstances the Parliament of 
the Czech Republic or the CNB would not take steps, which may include amendments to the Czech Resolution 
and Recovery Act or rules in relation thereto, that would result in changes to the loss absorbing cascade 


 
2 See also the Standardised method of reporting insolvency rankings published by the CNB. Available at: 
https://www.cnb.cz/en/resolution/general-approach-of-the-czech-national-bank-to-setting-a-minimum-requirement-for-own-funds-and-
eligible-liabilities-mrel/standardised-method-of-reporting-insolvency-rankings/. 
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summarized above. For example, as part of the sale of Credit Suisse Group AG (Credit Suisse) to UBS Group 
AG (UBS) announced in March 2023, the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA) issued a 
decree ordering the write-down of outstanding Credit Suisse additional Tier 1 (AT1) instruments, comprising an 
aggregate nominal value of approximately CHF 16 billion ($17.3 billion equivalent). The write-down, which 
was implemented pursuant to the AT1 instruments’ contractual terms, was enforced notwithstanding the ability 
of the holders of Credit Suisse ordinary shares to receive compensation in connection with the sale to UBS. 
While the European Banking Authority, the Single Resolution Board and the European Central Bank Banking 
Supervision subsequently published a statement confirming that common equity remains the first to absorb losses 
in case of resolution or insolvency, and only after their full use would additional AT1 instruments be written 
down, there can be no assurance that similar steps will not occur in the future, and the prospect or implementation 
of such changes, whether or not in connection with a resolution proceeding, could have an adverse impact on the 
market value of the Tier 2 Subordinated Notes (and potentially on other types of Notes). 


It is likely that a decision on the write-down or conversion of claims from the Notes (as one of possible crisis 
resolution measures) will be unforeseeable, and it may depend on a number of factors that may be outside of the 
Issuer’s control. If the power of write-down or conversion is applied to the Issuer, the principal amount of the 
Notes may be fully or partially written down or converted into instruments of ownership, although claims of 
other creditors of the Issuer might not be affected. 


The adoption of any write-down or conversion powers or any proposal to exercise such powers in respect of any 
Notes, even if the likelihood of the exercise is low, or perception that the measure may be adopted even if such 
perception is not based on facts, or even adoption of any write-down or conversion powers or any proposal to 
exercise such powers in respect of any comparable notes issued by other credit institutions or other financial 
institutions may materially adversely affect the value of the Notes, and lead to the Noteholders losing some or 
all of their investment in the Notes.  


Noteholders may not be able to enforce their rights under the Notes in the event of the exercise of any 
resolution power 


Adoption of any resolution measure in relation to the Issuer by the CNB, or a circumstance that arises as a direct 
consequence of adoption of the measures, would not constitute an event of default and would not give the 
Noteholders the right of withdrawal, set-off or other termination of rights and liabilities under the Notes, provided 
the contractual obligations from the Notes continue to be performed (including payment obligations). 


The Czech Resolution and Recovery Act also enables the CNB to temporarily suspend the Issuer’s payments or 
other satisfaction of debts (including the debts from the Notes) until the end of the business day following the 
public announcement of a resolution measure. The Czech Resolution and Recovery Act also enables the CNB to 
postpone by up to 18 months, even repeatedly, the maturity of capital instruments issued by the bank (which 
include, among others, the Tier 2 Subordinated Notes) or the bank’s other liabilities that may be written down 
(which include, among others, the other Notes), including the maturity of interest agreed in connection with such 
instrument or liability. 


Moreover, under the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act, the CNB may suspend the obligations of a Czech bank 
stemming out of agreements or contracts for up to two business days, if the CNB (i) finds that the Czech bank is 
failing; (ii) it cannot reasonably be assumed that a private sector measure would avert its failure within a 
reasonable time; (iii) the suspension of the obligation is necessary to prevent a further deterioration of the 
financial situation of the Czech bank; and (iv) suspension of the obligation is necessary to determine whether 
crisis resolution is in the public interest, to select appropriate crisis resolution measures or to ensure their effective 
implementation. 


If any resolution power is exercised, any exercise of the rights associated with the Notes may also be restricted 
by the provisions of the resolution action or the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act. Therefore, it cannot be 
ruled out that the exercise of any resolution power may materially adversely affect the rights of the Noteholders, 
the value of the Notes, and/or the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Notes. 


The Notes may not be subject to set-off or any guarantee 
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The Notes are not subject to any set-off or netting arrangements that would undermine their capacity to absorb 
losses in resolution and are neither secured nor subject to a guarantee or any other arrangement that enhances the 
seniority of the claims under the Notes. The Noteholders are not entitled to set-off any claim against the Issuer 
associated with these Notes against any Issuer’s claim.  


The Notes carry an enhanced risk of loss in the event of the Issuer’s insolvency or liquidation and if the Issuer 
is failing or likely to fail 


The Notes constitute subordinated claims of the Noteholders against the Issuer and shall be satisfied as relevant 
capital instruments or obligations of the Issuer pursuant to Section 374c of the Insolvency Act. The subordination 
of the Notes means that if the Issuer is declared insolvent or enters liquidation, the Notes will be satisfied only 
after the satisfaction of all the other claims against the Issuer, except for claims having the same or lower position 
in the hierarchy of claims. Therefore, in the event of the Issuer’s insolvency or liquidation, the claims from the 
Notes, including the claims for the repayment of the principal and payment of interest will be satisfied in 
particular after the full satisfaction of all unsubordinated claims against the Issuer. If the Issuer does not have 
sufficient assets to satisfy all the claims that are to be satisfied before the claims from the Notes, the claims from 
the Notes will not be satisfied, therefore investors in these Notes will lose the entire amount of their investment. 
If the Issuer does not have sufficient assets to satisfy all the debts that are to be satisfied in the same ranking as 
claims from the Notes, these claims will be satisfied proportionately and only partially, therefore the investors 
will lose a part of their investment. Although with the Notes there may be associated a right to a higher interest 
than in relation to other notes that have a higher ranking in the event of insolvency or liquidation proceedings, 
in the event the Issuer is declared insolvent or enters liquidation, the holders of the Notes face (among others 
compared to depositors or other unsubordinated creditors of the Issuer) an enhanced risk that their claims will 
not be satisfied, and therefore, also an enhanced risk of loss of a part or all of their investment. 


In the event of the exercise of a power to write-down or convert under the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act, 
the claims against the Issuer would be written down or converted in inverse ranking to the ranking in which the 
claims in the Issuer’s insolvency proceedings would be satisfied. Moreover, a full write-down or conversion of 
capital instruments (i.e. CET 1, AT 1 and Tier 2 Capital, including the Notes) or eligible intragroup liabilities 
must occur before, or at the latest together with, the adoption of certain resolution measures (write-down or 
conversion of eligible liabilities, transfer of activity to a private acquirer, transfer of activity to a bridge 
institution, or introduction of an asset management vehicle). Therefore the holders of the Notes face (among 
others compared to depositors or other unsubordinated creditors) an enhanced risk that if the Issuer is failing or 
likely to fail, their claims will be written down or converted, and consequently that the Noteholders will lose a 
part or all of their investment. 


Claims from the Notes may be written down or converted also in the event the Issuer is determined not viable 
(and not only if the conditions for application of a resolution measure are fulfilled) 


The Czech Resolution and Recovery Act stipulates that claims from the Notes may be written down or converted 
as capital instruments also if the CNB determines that the Issuer is not viable. Also if claims associated with the 
Notes are converted to equity or other common equity Tier 1 capital instruments of the bank, these equity or 
other common equity Tier 1 capital instruments of the bank may be further decreased, transferred, written down 
or diluted. 


The point of non-viability is the point at which the CNB determines that the bank either (i) meets the conditions 
for adoption of resolution measures; (ii) it is not viable without a write-down or conversion of capital instruments 
and eligible intragroup liabilities; or (iii) it is in a state that requires the providing of public support (with an 
exception envisaged by the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act). The point of non-viability may be determined 
also on the level of the bank’s group (however this approach does not apply to the Issuer as at the date of this 
Prospectus). The bank or the group of which the bank is a member is non-viable without a write-down or 
conversion of capital instruments and eligible intragroup liabilities that may be written down if it is failing and, 
taking into account all the circumstances, it cannot be reasonably expected that any other measure than a write-
down or conversion of capital instruments and eligible intragroup liabilities that may be written down made 
separately or together with another measure would avert its failure in a reasonable time. For the purposes of 
assessment according to the previous sentence, the bank’s group is failing if its member fails to meet the 
prudential requirements on a consolidated basis in such a way that it warrants an intervention by the CNB, or if, 
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taking into account all the circumstances, it can be reasonably expected that this condition will be met in the near 
future. 


The exercise of the power to write-down or convert capital instruments and eligible intragroup liabilities that 
may be written down precedes the adoption of certain resolution measures (if any), in particular the exercise of 
the power to write-down or convert eligible liabilities, and its exercise is not always conditioned only by the 
Issuer failing. 


Therefore, the holders of the Notes, compared to other claims that rank higher in the hierarchy of claims against 
the Issuer (among others all depositors and other unsubordinated creditors) face a higher risk of loss of a part or 
whole of their investment due to the exercise of the write-down or conversion powers. 


The holders of the relevant Notes whose claims from the Notes have been written down or converted to absorb 
losses when the Issuer has been determined to be non-viable have, if they have registered with the CNB in 
accordance with the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act, the right to a compensation determined based on an 
independent valuation of the Issuer only if, after the adoption of the powers (if any), their status has deteriorated 
compared to a hypothetical status they would have in the Issuer’s insolvency proceedings determined based on 
an independent valuation. If it follows from such valuation that as a result of a write-down or a conversion the 
Noteholders suffered a loss (represented as a difference between the amount the Noteholders received and the 
amount the Noteholders would receive in a hypothetical insolvency proceeding relating to the Issuer), the CNB 
decides that the Noteholders are entitled to compensation. The compensation represents a safeguard (known as 
“no creditor worse off”) whose goal is to ensure that no creditor obtains a worse status than it would have in the 
event of the Issuer’s insolvency. However, if such compensation is made it is possible that it will be made with 
a delay, in particular compared to the original payment dates of the Notes and the related interest. Even if such 
a compensation is made, it is also likely that the compensation would not compensate all the losses the 
Noteholders have suffered by the write-down or conversion of their claims associated with the Notes as the 
purpose of the compensation is not to compensate the losses of the investors caused in this way in the full extent, 
but only in the extent in which those losses exceed the losses the investor would suffer in hypothetical insolvency 
proceedings with the Issuer (which would, as a general rule, be held under Czech law in accordance with the 
Czech Insolvency Act). 


Holders of the Notes are exposed to the risk that the Issuer may issue further debt instruments or incur further 
liabilities 


There are no restrictions (contractual or otherwise) on the amount of ordinary secured or unsecured liabilities 
that the Issuer may (or may have to) issue, borrow and/or incur, ranking pari passu with, or senior to, the Notes. 


Any issue of such instruments and/or any incurring of such liabilities generally increases the risk that the Issuer 
will not be able to pay its debts under the Notes and may reduce the amount (including to zero) recoverable by 
Noteholders of the Tier 2 Subordinated Notes upon the Issuer’s insolvency. 


In the event of exercise of the crisis resolution measure of write-down and conversion of liabilities, all 
lower-ranking claims against the Issuer will have to be written-down or converted before the write-down and 
conversion of the higher-ranking claims. As a result, the issuance of debts ranking higher than the Notes may 
unexpectedly increase the losses of holders of the Notes if such measures are exercised. In the same way, issuance 
of pari passu debts to the Notes may increase the losses of the holders of the Notes proportionally. 


Given the subordinated status of the Notes, this risk is significantly higher than in the case of other Notes or any 
other unsubordinated debt issued by the Issuer. 


Market making by the Issuer for the Notes is subject to the prior permission of the Competent Authority and 
certain conditions and thresholds 


The Notes may be repurchased by the Issuer (also for market making purposes) only subject to certain conditions, 
such as the prior permission of the Competent Authority, and within certain thresholds. 
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These conditions and thresholds restrict the Issuer’s possibility for market making for the Notes. Such restrictions 
may have a negative impact on the liquidity of the Notes and may lead to inadequate or delayed market prices 
for the Notes. 


The Notes are not covered by any (statutory or voluntary) deposit guarantee scheme 


Claims of the Noteholders under the Notes are not covered by the statutory deposit protection (pojištění 
pohledávek z vkladů). Such Noteholders’ claims may only be satisfied in the ranking described in the Conditions. 
Therefore, in such case and upon the insolvency of the Issuer, Noteholders could be subject to the risk of a 
significant loss of their investment in the Notes. 


Investors should not invest in the Notes with the expectation of their early redemption 


The Issuer is entitled to redeem the Notes early in certain cases, especially upon (i) Capital Disqualification 
Event, (ii) Tax Event, or (iii) by decision of the Issuer on the Reset Date and the subsequent Floating Interest 
Payment Dates. 


Potential investors should not invest in the Notes in the expectation that any early redemption right will be 
exercised by the Issuer. 


However, any early redemption and any repurchase of the Notes is subject to the prior permission of the CNB, 
all if and as applicable from time to time to the Issuer. Under the CRR, the CNB may only permit institutions to 
early redeem or repurchase instruments eligible for inclusion in the Tier 2 Capital (such as the Notes) if certain 
conditions prescribed by the CRR are complied with. These conditions, as well as a number of other technical 
rules and standards relating to regulatory capital requirements applicable to the Issuer, should be taken into 
account by the CNB in its assessment of whether or not to permit any early redemption or repurchase. It is 
uncertain how the CNB will apply these criteria in practice and such rules and standards may change during the 
maturity of the Notes. It is therefore difficult to predict whether, and if so, on what terms, the CNB will grant its 
prior permission for any early redemption or repurchase of the Notes. 


Furthermore, even if the Issuer would be granted the prior permission of the Competent Authority, any decision 
by the Issuer as to whether it will early redeem the Notes will be made at the sole discretion of the Issuer with 
regard to external factors (such as the economic and market impact of exercising an early redemption right, 
regulatory capital requirements and prevailing market conditions). The Issuer disclaims, and investors should 
therefore not expect (and not invest in the expectation), that the Issuer will exercise any early redemption right 
in relation to the Notes. 


There are no events of default applicable in relation to the Notes, their Noteholders do not have the right to 
accelerate payments or to request early redemption upon a breach of the Conditions, in particular not even 
upon a default in payments 


The Issuer issues the Notes for regulatory purposes, in particular with the intention for them to qualify as Tier 2 
Capital, and therefore also into the amount to be complied with for purposes of fulfilling the minimum capital 
requirements applicable to the Issuer.  


In relation to these Notes, the CRR and the BRRD (in the wording of applicable regulations as amended by the 
proposal for an EU banking reform (first published by the European Commission on 23 November 2016) of 20 
May 2019 (the EU Banking Reforms)) do not allow the Conditions to permit the Noteholders to accelerate 
payments under the Notes or to decide on early redemption of the Notes in other cases than in the event of the 
Issuer’s insolvency or liquidation. 


As a result of the regulatory restrictions applicable to these Notes, there are no events of default applicable in 
relation to the Notes and the Noteholders do not have the right to accelerate payments of interest or principal 
under the Notes otherwise than in case of insolvency or liquidation of the Issuer, and the Noteholders do not 
have the right to or request early redemption of the Notes upon a breach of the Conditions, in particular not even 
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when the Issuer fails to pay duly and in time the interest on, and repay the principal of, the Notes or if the Issuer 
fails to satisfy any other obligations associated with the Notes. 


The rights of holders of the Notes to accelerate payments or request early redemption are more limited than is 
usual with notes generally, and the holders of the Notes are thus exposed to a higher risk in the enforcement of 
their claims associated with the Notes. The Noteholders may redeem the Notes early only in case of a Liquidation 
and Insolvency Event of the Issuer, as defined in the Conditions. 


Noteholders may be bound by decisions of the Meeting on Material Changes, for which they did not vote, and 
do not have the right to request early redemption of the Notes in a such case 


According to the provisions of Section 23(5) of the Bonds Act, unless the Bonds Act or the terms and conditions 
of a particular issue stipulate otherwise, each noteholder, subject to the fulfilment of other conditions, has the 
right to request an early redemption of the notes or the purchase of the notes at market price if he voted against 
the proposal by which the Meeting agreed to changes of a fundamental nature (defined in the Conditions as 
Material Changes), or if he did not attend such a Meeting. 


Section 23(6) of the Bonds Act excludes this right, among other things, in relation to MREL eligible notes and 
Tier 2 eligible notes. Noteholders of notes that are MREL eligible notes and Tier 2 eligible notes therefore do 
not have this right. Thus, as the Notes are intended to qualify as Tier 2 Instruments (and are intended to qualify 
as MREL Eligible Liabilities (as defined below) in case the Notes no longer qualify as Tier 2 Instruments), no 
Noteholder may request an early redemption of the Notes in connection with the above-described resolutions of 
the Meeting. 


The exclusion of this right of the Noteholders entails the risk that the Meeting may decide on Material Changes 
without the consent of, or in spite of the disapproval of, the Noteholder. In such a case, the position or interests 
of the Noteholder in relation to the Notes held by him will change, but the Noteholder will not have the right to 
request an early redemption of the Notes or the repayment of the Notes at market price. At the same time, the 
Meeting may decide on a change that will be perceived negatively by the Noteholder, or which may lead to the 
loss of part of his investment. 


The Conditions also intentionally deviate from Section 23(8) of the Bonds Act under which if the Meeting is 
convened by a Noteholder or the Noteholders, the minutes of such Meeting must also be delivered to the Issuer 
not later than 30 days after the date of the Meeting. Pursuant to the Conditions, the minutes of such Meeting 
must also be delivered to the Issuer not later than 25 days. This deviation may constitute a greater time constraint 
to the Noteholder(s) who decide to convene a Meeting. 


Conflicts of Interest 


To the best of the Issuer's knowledge, none of the individuals or legal entities involved in the issue or offer of 
the Notes have any interest in such issue or offer that would be material to such issue or offer of the Notes. The 
Issuer will offer the Notes and will act as the Calculation Agent, Fiscal and Paying Agent, and Listing Agent in 
relation to the Notes. J&T IB and Capital Markets, a.s., which is a subsidiary of the Issuer, acts as the arranger 
of the Issue. 


A conflict of interest between the Issuer and the Noteholders may be given rise to by the Issuer acting as a 
Calculation Agent. The Calculation Agent is authorized to make a number of determinations affecting the Notes. 
These determinations could adversely affect the value of the Notes and the amounts payable to investors under 
the Conditions. 


Conflicts of interest may also arise in connection with Notes that are offered to the public, as any distributors or 
other entities participating in the offering and/or listing of such Notes will be acting under a mandate granted by 
the Issuer and may receive commissions and/or fees based on services rendered in relation to this offer and/or 
quotation. As a member of the Group, J&T IB and Capital Markets, a.s.’s role as arranger of the Issue may give 
rise to potential conflicts of interest in connection with this role. Whilst such arranger will, where relevant, have 
information barriers and procedures in place to manage conflicts of interest, it may in its other activities from 
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time to time be engaged in transactions which may affect amounts receivable by Noteholders during the term 
and on the maturity of the Notes or the market price, liquidity or value of the Notes and which could be deemed 
to be adverse to the interests of the Noteholders. 


In the event of a Capital Disqualification Event or a Tax Event, the Notes may be redeemed early, substituted 
and the Conditions may be changed without the consent of the Noteholders 


The Issuer issues the Notes with the intention of including the Notes in its Tier 2 Capital. To the extent the Notes 
do not qualify as Tier 2 Capital after the Reset Date, the Notes are intended to be included in the amount of 
eligible liabilities for the purposes of meeting MREL requirements (MREL Eligible Liabilities) as permitted 
by applicable banking regulations. 


The Issuer may, if a Capital Disqualification Event or a Tax Event (as defined in Condition 4.2 of the Conditions) 
occurs and if other conditions specified in the Conditions are met, including the possible consent of the CNB, if 
this consent is required at any time to redeem the Notes prematurely and, subject to the fulfilment of the 
conditions set out in Condition 4.2 of the Conditions, without the consent of the Noteholders, substitute or vary 
the Conditions so that the debts associated with the Notes remain or become MREL Eligible Liabilities of the 
Issuer. 


It is not possible to predict whether and when the Capital Disqualification Event occurs and, if so, whether the 
Issuer will exercise its rights as set out in the Conditions, or whether the CNB will allow the exercise of such 
rights, in case the consent of the CNB is required. If such event occurs and the Issuer decides on early redemption 
of the Notes and the other conditions are met, this may have an adverse effect on the Noteholders from the point 
of view of their investment strategies and intentions or because they will no longer accrue interest in relation to 
the Notes after an early redemption takes place, or even on the value of the Notes. In particular, if it is foreseeable 
that such an event will occur, the market value of the Notes would generally not increase significantly above the 
value for which the Notes could be redeemed early. If the Issuer decides to substitute the Notes or to vary the 
Conditions, although this cannot a priori negatively impact the position of the Noteholders or their interests, it 
is not possible to predict how these changes will actually be reflected in the market, or that the Notes will be 
traded on the regulated market at the same or similar prices as before such change. 


No Noteholder who, in the event of a Capital Disqualification Event, will be affected by early redemption and 
amendment of the Conditions, will not be entitled to demand compensation for any consequences of the exercise 
of such rights by the Issuer on his tax liability, in particular, any compensation for damage to the Issuer or the 
Fiscal and Paying Agent, or other person. The risk of exercising these rights by the Issuer may affect the value 
of the Notes or the return on investment of the Noteholders. 


General risks relating to the Notes 


Return on investment in the Notes may be affected by the interest rate 


During the Floating Rate Interest Period, the interest rate of the Notes will be particularly determined by reference 
to a Reference Rate (as defined in the Conditions), i.e., PRIBOR. Such determination involves certain risks. In 
particular, a Noteholder might receive less interest than expected or no interest in respect of such Notes. The 
market price of such Notes may be volatile as the Reference Rate may be subject to significant fluctuations that 
may not correlate with changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices. The timing of changes in a Reference 
Rate may affect the actual yield the holders of such Notes will receive, even if the average level is consistent 
with their expectations. These facts may have an adverse impact on the value and development of the investment 
in the Notes. The historical experience of the Reference Rate should not be viewed as an indication of the future 
performance of such Reference Rate during the term of the Notes. 


The table below sets forth the average reference rate for 6M PRIBOR for the years 2017 to 2023 and for the 
period of January to September 2024.3 


 
3 Source: The CNB’s PRIBOR rates – monthly and yearly averages page available at the CNB’s website under the following link: 
https://www.cnb.cz/en/financial_markets/money_market/pribor/averages_form.html. 
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 01–09 
2024 


2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 


  (in per cent.) 


6M 
PRIBOR……………. 


5.03 7.09 6.42 1.29 0.88 2.16 1.36 0.48 


Although it cannot yet be judged that a similar abandonment should occur in relation to PRIBOR rates, there can 
be no assurance that PRIBOR will be maintained in the future, and if so, to what extent. This may cause PRIBOR 
to develop differently than in the past or have other consequences that cannot be predicted. Any reform or 
oversight in relation to reference rates may generally increase the costs of administration or other activities in 
relation to the setting of reference rates and the fulfilment of regulatory conditions. These factors may cause, for 
example, (i) reluctance of market participants to participate in the administration and creation of reference rates, 
(ii) changes in the rules and methodology used for the reference rate, or (iii) lead to the termination of the 
reference rate. Any of these changes could have a material adverse effect on the value and return of the Notes. 
In relation to the Notes, the Conditions provide that the relevant Reference Rate is determined by reference to 
the 6M PRIBOR (as displayed in the REFINITIV EIKON information system on the PRIBOR page (or such 
replacement page or pages on that service which displays the information) (the Original Reference Rate). If on 
any Interest Determination Date the PRIBOR page of the REFINITIV EIKON information system is not 
available or the 6M PRIBOR does not appear on the PRIBOR page, Conditions provide that the interest rate 
must be determined by the Calculation Agent by reference to bank quotations communicated to the Calculation 
Agent. 


Further, if even this option for determining the interest rate is unavailable, the Conditions set out other ways of 
determining such interest rate, the usage of which may be less favourable to the Noteholders than if the Original 
Reference was available in the first place. Pursuant to the Conditions, the interest may be set as the interest rate 
in effect as of the last preceding Interest Period, which might cause the Notes to perform differently (e.g. by 
paying a lower yield) than they would develop if the Original Reference Rate continued to apply or if a Successor 
Rate or an Alternative Rate could be established in accordance with the Conditions. 


The fixed to floating rate nature of the Notes may affect the secondary market and the market value of the 
Notes 


The Notes are fixed to floating rate notes. That means that the Notes bear interest at a rate that converts from a 
fixed rate to a floating rate in accordance with the Conditions. Such a feature to convert the interest basis, and 
any conversion of the interest basis, may affect the secondary market in, and the market value of, such Notes as 
the change of interest basis may result in a lower interest return for Noteholders. 


Risks associated with PRIBOR and other interest rate ‘benchmarks’ from a regulatory perspective 


The PRIBOR and other interest rates or other types of rates and indices which are deemed ‘benchmarks’ (each a 
Benchmark and together, the Benchmarks) have become the subject of regulatory scrutiny and recent national 
and international regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective 
whilst others are still to be implemented. These reforms may cause such Benchmarks to perform differently than 
in the past, or to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such 
consequence could have a material adverse effect on any Notes linked to such a Benchmark. 


International proposals for reform of Benchmarks include the European Council’s regulation (EU) 2016/1011 of 
8 June 2016 on indices used as benchmarks in financial instruments and financial contracts or to measure the 
performance of investment funds and amending Directives 2008/48/EC and 2014/17/EU and Regulation (EU) 
No 596/2014 (as amended, the Benchmarks Regulation). 


The Benchmarks Regulation could have a material impact on Notes linked to a Benchmark, including in any of 
the following circumstances: 


(a) a rate which is a Benchmark may only be used if its administrator obtains authorisation or is registered 
and in case of an administrator which is based in a non-EU jurisdiction, if the administrator’s legal 







  
 


  
0093318-0000041 EUO1: 2012389325.26 44  


 


 


benchmark system is considered equivalent (Article 30 of the Benchmarks Regulation), the 
administrator is recognised (Article 32 of the Benchmarks Regulation) or the Benchmark is endorsed 
(Article 33 of the Benchmarks Regulation) (subject to applicable transitional provisions). If this is not 
the case, Notes linked to such Benchmarks could be impacted as the Issuer would have to determine a 
replacement Benchmark in accordance with the Conditions, possibly leading to a lower Floating Rate 
of Interest calculated on the basis of any replacement Benchmark as opposed to the previously-used 
Benchmark; and 


(b) the methodology or other terms of the Benchmark could be changed in order to comply with the terms 
of the Benchmarks Regulation, and such changes could have the effect of reducing or increasing the 
rate or level or affecting the volatility of the published rate or level, and could impact the Notes, 
including Issuer’s determination of the rate, by, for example, leading to a lower Floating Rate of Interest 
calculated on the basis of such Benchmark. 


In addition to the aforementioned Benchmarks Regulation, there are numerous other proposals, initiatives and 
investigations which may impact Benchmarks. 


Following the implementation of any such potential reforms, the manner of administration of Benchmarks may 
change, with the result that they may perform differently than in the past, or Benchmarks could be eliminated 
entirely, or there could be other consequences which cannot be predicted. 


If a Benchmark were to be discontinued or otherwise unavailable, the rate of interest for the Notes which are 
linked to such Benchmark will be determined for the relevant period by the fallback provisions in accordance 
with the Conditions, which in the end could lead, inter alia, to a previously available rate of the Benchmark being 
applied until maturity of the Notes, effectively turning the floating rate of interest into a fixed rate of interest or 
to an early termination of the relevant Notes at the option of the Issuer. 


In case a new Benchmark is determined by the Issuer in accordance with the Conditions, such determination 
may, in some cases, require a prior approval by the Meeting in accordance with the Conditions. However, 
Noteholders should be aware that in case a prior approval is not given by the Meeting, the Noteholders may not 
request an early redemption of the Notes. Similarly, no Noteholder may request an early redemption of the Notes 
if the prior approval is given by the Meeting and such Noteholder voted against or did not attend the Meeting. 


Any changes to a Benchmark as a result of the Benchmarks Regulation or other initiatives, could have a material 
adverse effect on the costs of refinancing a Benchmark or the costs and risks of administering or otherwise 
participating in the setting of a Benchmark and complying with any such regulations or requirements. Although 
it is uncertain whether or to what extent any of the above-mentioned changes and/or any further changes in the 
administration or method of determining a Benchmark could have an effect on the value of the Notes linked to 
the relevant Benchmark, investors should be aware that any changes to a relevant Benchmark may have a material 
adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and the amounts payable on, the Notes whose rate of interest is linked 
to such Benchmark. It should be noted that Noteholders may not request an early redemption of the Notes even 
in cases of material changes to the Benchmark (and the Floating Rate of Interest calculated on the basis of such 
Benchmark in accordance with the Conditions). 


Under the terms of the Benchmarks Regulation, the European Commission has also been granted powers to 
designate a replacement for certain critical benchmarks contained in contracts governed by the laws of an EU 
Member State, where that contract does not already contain a suitable fallback. It is currently unclear whether 
the fallback provisions of the Notes would be considered suitable, and there is therefore a risk that if the consent 
to solicitation is not successful the Notes would be required to transition to a replacement benchmark rate selected 
by the European Commission. There is no certainty at this stage what any such replacement benchmark would 
be. 


Risk of early redemption 


If the Issuer redeems Notes prior to their maturity or Notes are subject to early redemption due to an early 
redemption event, a holder of such Notes is exposed to the risk that due to such early redemption its investment 
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will have a lower than expected yield. On the Reset Date and on each subsequent interest payment date, the 
Issuer may redeem all outstanding Notes at their nominal amount together with unpaid interest accrued to the 
date of the redemption, as set out in the Conditions. The Issuer can be expected to exercise this optional call right 
if the yield on comparable Notes in the capital market has fallen which means that the investor may only be able 
to reinvest the redemption proceeds in comparable Notes with a lower yield. On the other hand, the Issuer can 
be expected not to exercise its optional call right if the yield on comparable Notes in the capital market has 
increased. In this event an investor will not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in comparable Notes 
with a higher yield. 


Noteholders may be subject to the risk that interest/redemption proceeds earned/received from an investment in 
the Notes may not in the event of early redemption of any Notes be able to be reinvested in such a way that they 
earn the same rate of return as the redeemed Notes. 


The Conditions of the Notes contain provisions which may permit their modification without the consent of 
all investors 


The Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings (including by way of conference call or by 
use of a videoconference platform) of Noteholders to consider and vote upon matters affecting their interests 
generally, or to pass resolutions in writing or through the use of electronic consents. These provisions permit 
defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant 
meeting or, as the case may be, did not sign the written resolution or give their consent electronically, and 
including those Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. 


Liquidity risk 


The notes will be listed on the official list of the PSE and will be traded on the Regulated Market of the PSE. 
There can be no assurance that any liquid secondary market for the Notes will develop and the Notes could trade 
at prices that may be higher or lower than the initial offering price depending on many factors, including 
prevailing interest rates, the Issuer’s operating results, the market for similar securities and other factors, 
including general economic conditions, performance and prospects, as well as recommendations of securities 
analysts. The liquidity of, and the trading market for, the Notes may also be adversely affected by declines in the 
market for debt securities generally. Such a decline may affect any liquidity and trading of the Notes regardless 
of the Issuer’s financial performance and prospects. 


Investors should note that difficult global credit market conditions may adversely affect the liquidity not only in 
the primary market but also in the secondary market for debt securities issued by the Issuer and may affect the 
liquidity of any primary or secondary market in which Notes to be issued by the Issuer may be traded. The Issuer 
cannot predict when these circumstances will change. 


Market price risk 


The development of market prices of the Notes depends on various factors, such as changes of levels of the 
market interest rate, development of an underlying, the policy of central banks, overall economic developments, 
inflation rates or the lack of or excess demand for the Notes. The Noteholders are therefore exposed to the risk 
of an unfavourable development of market prices of its Notes which materialises if it sells the Notes prior to the 
final maturity of such Notes. If the Noteholder decides to hold the Notes until final maturity the Notes shall be 
redeemed at the amount set out in the Conditions. 


The Noteholders are particularly exposed to the risk that the price of such Notes fluctuates as a result of changes 
in the market interest rate levels. After a reset to floating rate, the Noteholders are particularly exposed to the 
risk of fluctuating interest rate levels and uncertain interest income. Fluctuating interest rate levels make it 
impossible to determine the profitability of Floating Rate Notes in advance. Neither the current nor the historical 
value of the relevant floating rate should be taken as an indication of the future development of such floating rate 
during the term of any Notes. 
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If an investor holds Notes which are not denominated in the investor’s home currency, they will be exposed 
to movements in exchange rates adversely affecting the value of their holding. In addition, the imposition of 
exchange controls in relation to any Notes could result in an investor not receiving payments on those Notes 


The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in CZK. This presents certain risks relating to currency 
conversions if an investor’s financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the 
Investor’s Currency) other than CZK. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change 
(including changes due to devaluation of CZK or revaluation of the Investor’s Currency) and the risk that 
authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor’s Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An 
appreciation in the value of the Investor’s Currency relative to CZK would decrease (1) the Investor’s Currency-
equivalent yield on the Notes, (2) the Investor’s Currency equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes 
and (3) the Investor’s Currency equivalent market value of the Notes. 


Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could 
adversely affect an applicable exchange rate or the ability of the Issuer to make payments in respect of the Notes. 
As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal. 
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 


The following documents which have previously been published shall be incorporated by reference in, and form 
part of, this Prospectus: 


(a) the 2023 Financial Statements, i.e. the consolidated audited annual financial statements of the Issuer 
(in respect of the Group) as at and for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 and 
the auditor’s report, available at: https://assets-eu-01.kc-usercontent.com/23883f12-8a12-01af-3f05-
426faedce691/c82aeb25-49c4-44d4-874f-3d9846ecb7a0/31570010000000043842-2023-12-31.zip.* 


A legally non-binding English translation of the 2023 Financial Statements included herein only for the 
sake of convenience is available at: https://assets-eu-01.kc-usercontent.com/23883f12-8a12-01af-3f05-
426faedce691/1dd582f5-94cf-4feb-977f-
88e04d3e51f4/JTBanka%20VZ%202023%20ENG%20FIN_zal.pdf, including the information set out 
at the following pages: 


Consolidated Statement of Financial Position ..........................................  152 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income .................................  153-154 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity .........................................  156-159 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ....................................................  160-161 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements .........................................  162-255 
Auditor’s Report .......................................................................................  140-151 


(b) the 2022 Financial Statements, i.e. the consolidated audited annual financial statements of the Issuer 
(in respect of the Group) as at and for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 and 
the auditor’s report, available at https://assets-eu-01.kc-usercontent.com/23883f12-8a12-01af-3f05-
426faedce691/5373ffdc-b06f-4bb0-be48-d273aac800f1/31570010000000043842-2022-12-31.zip.* 


A legally non-binding English translation of the 2022 Financial Statements included herein only for the 
sake of convenience is available at: https://assets-eu-01.kc-usercontent.com/23883f12-8a12-01af-3f05-
426faedce691/a641800c-4c70-4e00-ae18-4ee47bada5b7/VZ%20JTBanka_2022_ENG_fin.pdf, 
including the information set out at the following pages: 


Consolidated Statement of Financial Position ..........................................  74 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income .................................  75-76 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity .........................................  78-81 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ....................................................  82-83 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements .........................................  84-181 
Auditor’s Report .......................................................................................  64-72 


* Due to the specificity of the .xhtml format, which is not precisely paginated here, it is clarified that the reference 
is directed only to the consolidated financial statements and the auditor's report, not to the entire content of the 
annual report. 


(c) the consolidated unaudited interim financial statements of the Issuer (in respect of the Group) for the 
six months ended 30 June 2024 including the information set out at the following pages: 


Consolidated Statement of Financial Position ..........................................  11 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income .................................  12-13 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity .........................................  14-15 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ....................................................  16-17 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements .........................................  18-58 
Auditor’s Report .......................................................................................  59 
  
available at: https://assets-eu-01.kc-usercontent.com/23883f12-8a12-01af-3f05-
426faedce691/58a52483-d7ab-41c0-af9b-e4ca422c2742/Semi-
Annual%20Report%20%281H%202024%29.pdf 


Any non-incorporated parts of a document referred to herein are either deemed irrelevant for an investor or are 
otherwise covered elsewhere in this Prospectus. 



https://assets-eu-01.kc-usercontent.com/23883f12-8a12-01af-3f05-426faedce691/c82aeb25-49c4-44d4-874f-3d9846ecb7a0/31570010000000043842-2023-12-31.zip

https://assets-eu-01.kc-usercontent.com/23883f12-8a12-01af-3f05-426faedce691/c82aeb25-49c4-44d4-874f-3d9846ecb7a0/31570010000000043842-2023-12-31.zip

https://assets-eu-01.kc-usercontent.com/23883f12-8a12-01af-3f05-426faedce691/1dd582f5-94cf-4feb-977f-88e04d3e51f4/JTBanka%20VZ%202023%20ENG%20FIN_zal.pdf

https://assets-eu-01.kc-usercontent.com/23883f12-8a12-01af-3f05-426faedce691/1dd582f5-94cf-4feb-977f-88e04d3e51f4/JTBanka%20VZ%202023%20ENG%20FIN_zal.pdf

https://assets-eu-01.kc-usercontent.com/23883f12-8a12-01af-3f05-426faedce691/1dd582f5-94cf-4feb-977f-88e04d3e51f4/JTBanka%20VZ%202023%20ENG%20FIN_zal.pdf

https://assets-eu-01.kc-usercontent.com/23883f12-8a12-01af-3f05-426faedce691/5373ffdc-b06f-4bb0-be48-d273aac800f1/31570010000000043842-2022-12-31.zip

https://assets-eu-01.kc-usercontent.com/23883f12-8a12-01af-3f05-426faedce691/5373ffdc-b06f-4bb0-be48-d273aac800f1/31570010000000043842-2022-12-31.zip

https://assets-eu-01.kc-usercontent.com/23883f12-8a12-01af-3f05-426faedce691/a641800c-4c70-4e00-ae18-4ee47bada5b7/VZ%20JTBanka_2022_ENG_fin.pdf

https://assets-eu-01.kc-usercontent.com/23883f12-8a12-01af-3f05-426faedce691/a641800c-4c70-4e00-ae18-4ee47bada5b7/VZ%20JTBanka_2022_ENG_fin.pdf

https://assets-eu-01.kc-usercontent.com/23883f12-8a12-01af-3f05-426faedce691/58a52483-d7ab-41c0-af9b-e4ca422c2742/Semi-Annual%20Report%20%281H%202024%29.pdf

https://assets-eu-01.kc-usercontent.com/23883f12-8a12-01af-3f05-426faedce691/58a52483-d7ab-41c0-af9b-e4ca422c2742/Semi-Annual%20Report%20%281H%202024%29.pdf

https://assets-eu-01.kc-usercontent.com/23883f12-8a12-01af-3f05-426faedce691/58a52483-d7ab-41c0-af9b-e4ca422c2742/Semi-Annual%20Report%20%281H%202024%29.pdf
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE 


1. General Information about the Offering, the Authorised Person and the Method of Subscription 


On the basis of the mandate agreement (the Mandate Agreement), the Issuer has mandated J&T IB and Capital 
Markets, a.s., with its registered office at Sokolovská 700/113a, Karlín, Prague 8, Postal Code 186 00, ID No.: 
247 66 259, registered in the Commercial Register maintained by the Municipal Court in Prague under file no. 
B 16661 for preparation of the documents related to the Issue. 


The Issuer intends to issue the Notes in the expected aggregate nominal amount of the Issue of CZK 
1,500,000,000 (in words: one billion five hundred million Czech Koruna) with the possibility of increase of up 
to CZK 2,500,000,000 (in words: two billion five hundred million Czech Koruna). The nominal amount of each 
Note is CZK 10,000 (in words: ten thousand Czech Koruna). The maximum number of the Notes that may be 
issued is 150,000 (in words: one hundred fifty thousand) if the aggregate nominal amount of the Issue does not 
exceed CZK 1,500,000,000, and CZK 250,000 (in words: two hundred fifty thousand) if the aggregate nominal 
amount of the Issue is increased to CZK 2,500,000,000. The Notes may be issued individually or in tranches. 
All the Notes issued as a part of the Issue will be subject to the public offering.  


The Notes will be offered in the Czech Republic by the Issuer. The Issuer has not authorized any third party to 
offer the Notes. No persons in connection with the Issue have undertaken any obligation to subscribe to or 
purchase the Notes from the Issuer. 


This Prospectus has been prepared and published for the purpose of the public offering of the Notes and for the 
purpose of admission of the Notes for trading on the Regulated Market of the PSE. 


2. Placement and Offering of the Notes 


The Notes will be offered by the Issuer, to all categories of investors in the Czech Republic, and selected qualified 
investors (and possibly also to other investors under conditions that do not establish an obligation for the offeror 
to prepare and publish a prospectus) abroad, always in accordance with the relevant legal regulations applicable 
in each country where the Notes will be offered. Given the number of persons who will be addressed in this 
manner, the offer will meet the characteristics of a public offering of securities within the meaning of the 
Prospectus Regulation. The Issuer can be reached on the phone number +420 221 710 666 or by e-mail address 
DealingCZ@jtbank.cz. 


The Issuer is not aware that the main shareholders or members of the Issuer's administrative, management, and 
supervisory bodies intended to subscribe within the offering, nor that any person intended to subscribe for more 
than 5% of the offering, except for J&T FINANCE GROUP SE, the sole shareholder of the Issuer, who may 
subscribe for more than 5% of the offering. 


The offering of the Notes to the public will be from 11 November 2024 to 8 November 2025. The public offering 
will be closed either when the specified period for offering the Notes expires or when the entire volume of the 
Issue is subscribed (to the extent it may be increased), but not earlier than one business day after the 
commencement of the public offering. 


As part of the public offering, the investors will be approached by the Issuer, mainly by means of remote 
communication, and invited to place an order for the purchase of the Notes (Order), provided that the investor 
must present a valid identity document, and a proof that the investor has sufficient financial resources to purchase 
the required number of Notes as of the date of submitting the Order,  in order to participate in the public offering. 
In the event of failure to present a valid identity document or failure to prove sufficient financial resources to 
purchase the required number of Notes, the Issuer will not consider the Order. Multiple Orders (subscriptions) 
are accepted. 


In connection with submitting an Order, investors are required to enter into or have an existing agreement with 
the Issuer, among other things, for the purpose of opening an asset account in the investment instruments register 
maintained by the Central Depository or maintaining a similar securities register with the Issuer (if such an asset 
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account is not already open with another participant of the Central Depository) and submitting an instruction to 
arrange for the purchase of Notes under such an agreement. Investors may also be required by the Issuer to 
submit additional necessary documents and identification data. The condition for purchasing Notes from the 
Issuer is always entering into an investment services agreement between the investor and the Issuer and 
submitting an instruction to arrange for the purchase of Notes under this agreement. 


In the context of the public offering, the Issuer will accept instructions through its headquarters in Prague. 


The Notes will be offered for subscription for a monetary amount corresponding to the issue price, with the issue 
price of Notes issued on the Issue Date being 100% of their nominal value. The issue price of any Notes issued 
after the Issue Date will always be determined based on current market conditions. To the amount of the issue 
price of any Notes issued after the Issue Date, a corresponding accrued yield will be added if relevant. The 
current issue price will be published on the Issuer's website www.jtbank.cz, section Důležité informace, Emise 
cenných papírů subsection, under file J&T Banka a.s. 


The minimum amount for which an investor is entitled to subscribe and purchase Notes is not specified but is 
limited by the value of one Note's issue price. 


The maximum nominal value of Notes requested by an individual investor in an Order is limited by the volume 
of the Issue. If the volume of Orders exceeds this amount, the Issuer is entitled to reduce accepted Orders at its 
discretion (with any overpayment, if it arises, being promptly returned to the relevant investor's account provided 
to the Issuer for this purpose). The final nominal value of Notes allocated to an individual investor will be stated 
in a settlement confirmation of the trade, which will be delivered by the Issuer to the investor (by email) without 
undue delay after executing the instruction. Before receiving this confirmation, investors cannot trade with 
subscribed Notes. 


Each investor who acquires Notes from the Issuer will pay fees according to the current standard price list of the 
Issuer; as of the date of the Prospectus , this price list is published on the Issuer's website at www.jtbank.cz 
section Důležité informace, subsection Sazebník poplatků, and as of the date of the Prospectus, fees directly 
related to acquiring Notes may be charged by the Issuer up to 0.15% of the transaction volume of acquired Notes, 
at least CZK 2,000.   


The investor may also be required to pay additional fees charged by intermediaries for buying or selling Notes, 
persons maintaining records of Notes, persons settling trades with Notes, or other persons, such as fees for setting 
up and maintaining a securities account, arranging for Note transfers, services related to Note custody or their 
records, etc. As of the date of the Prospectus, no fees are charged by the Issuer for setting up and maintaining a 
securities account. 


The Issuer will satisfy orders submitted by end investors and transfer Notes to individual investors' asset accounts 
maintained in relevant investment instrument registers. The final nominal value of the Notes allocated to each 
investor will be stated in the trade confirmation, which the Issuer will send to individual investors one business 
day after the settlement of the trade (particularly using remote communication means, such as electronic mail). 
Trading cannot begin before announcing allocated amounts to investors. At the same time, the Issuer will collect 
from end investors' monetary accounts an amount corresponding to the purchase price for the Notes. 


Settlement of the Notes will be carried out using DVP (delivery versus payment) method through the Central 
Depository or persons maintaining records linked to central records in accordance with Central Depository rules, 
deadlines and operational procedures. The issue price for the Notes shall be paid by the end investors no later 
than on the Issue Date, or, in case of Notes issued after the Issue Date no later than on the relevant settlement 
date (i.e., the Issuer will collect from the end investors' accounts an amount corresponding to the issue price for 
the Notes). This means that, on the Issue Date, or, in case of Notes issued after the Issue Date on the relevant 
settlement date, the Notes will be sold and delivered to the investors in exchange for payment of the nominal 
amount of the Notes. For the avoidance of doubt the delivery and the payment of the purchase price of the 
relevant Notes will happen on the same date. 


The final results of the public offering, including the total nominal value of all issued Notes, will be published 
on the Issuer's website www.jtbank.cz, section Důležité informace, Emise cenných papírů subsection, under file 
J&T Banka a.s., immediately after its conclusion or immediately after full subscription of Notes. 
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The Issuer has the option to suspend or terminate the offering based on its decision (depending on its current 
financing needs), in which case no further orders will be accepted at all or in case of suspension until information 
about continuing with the offering is published by the Issuer. The Issuer will always publish information about 
terminating, suspending, or continuing with the offering in advance on a dedicated part of its website 
www.jtbank.cz, section Důležité informace, Emise cenných papírů subsection, under file J&T Banka a.s. 


3. MiFID II Product Governance / Target Market  


Professional investors, eligible counterparties and retail investors target market. 


Solely for the purposes of each manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect 
of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties, 
professional clients and retail clients, each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended (MiFID II); and (ii) 
all channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate including investment advice, portfolio management, 
non-advised sales and pure execution services. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the 
Notes (a distributor) should take into consideration the manufacturers' target market assessment; however, a 
distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the 
Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturers' target market assessment) and determining appropriate 
distribution channels, subject to the distributor's suitability and appropriateness obligations under MiFID II, as 
applicable. 


4. Listing 


The Issuer will apply for admission of the Notes for trading on the Regulated Market of the PSE and expects the 
Notes to be listed on the Issue Date, i.e. 4 December 2024. The estimated amount of fees associated with the 
listing of the Notes on the regulated market is CZK 50,000 as the listing fee and CZK 15,000 as the annual 
trading fee.  


When listed by the PSE, the Notes will be traded at the PSE and the transactions will be settled in CZK. The 
settlement will be performed as DVP (delivery versus payment) through the Central Depository or through 
persons keeping the related records following the standard practices in accordance with the rules and operating 
procedures of the PSE and the Central Depository and within the deadlines set by the applicable rules. The 
subscription of the Notes in the Central Depository can only be settled through a member of the Central 
Depository.  


No person has accepted the obligation to act as a market maker. Neither the Issuer or the Joint Lead Managers 
can rule out that the Notes may become non-tradable on any market(s) and that the Noteholders will thus be 
unable to sell the Notes on such a market or on such markets before maturity. 


5. Restrictions on the Distribution of the Prospectus and the Offer and Sale of the Notes 


The distribution of this Prospectus and the offer, sale or purchase of the Notes is restricted by the law in certain 
countries. The Issuer has not applied for approval or recognition of this Prospectus in another state and the Notes 
are not authorised or approved by any administrative or other authority in any jurisdiction except for the approval 
of this Prospectus by the CNB and, without further steps, these Notes may only be offered in the Czech Republic 
as described herein (except where the offering of the Notes meets all the requirements of the applicable laws and 
regulations of the state where the offer is made). 


The persons in possession of this Prospectus are responsible for observing the restrictions related to the offer, 
purchase or sale of the Notes or to holding and distributing any materials related to the Notes, including this 
Prospectus, in the individual countries. 


In addition to the above, the Issuer requests that all the acquirers of the Notes comply with all the applicable laws 
and regulations in each country (including the Czech Republic) where they purchase, offer, sell or transfer the 
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Notes issued by the Issuer or where they distribute, make available or otherwise put into circulation this 
Prospectus, including any amendments hereto, or any other offering or promotional material or information 
related to the Notes, and that they always do so at their own costs and regardless of the printed, electronic or 
other intangible nature of this Prospectus and the amendments hereto or any offering or promotional material or 
information related to the Notes. 


Each person who acquires any Note will be considered to have declared and agreed that (i) this person 
acknowledges all the applicable limitations regarding the offer and sale of the Notes that relate to this person and 
the relevant method of offer or sale, in particular in the Czech Republic; that (ii) this person will not sell or offer 
to sell the Notes without complying with all the applicable restrictions concerning the person and the relevant 
method of offer or sale; and that (iii) before reselling or offering to resell the Notes, this person should inform 
the prospective buyers that the further offer or sale of the Notes may be subject to statutory limitations that must 
be observed in different countries. 


The Issuer informs the prospective Noteholders that the Notes are not and will not be registered in accordance 
with the U.S. Securities Act or by any securities commission or another regulatory body of any state of the United 
States of America and therefore cannot be offered, sold or transferred in the territory of the United States of 
America or to U.S. residents (as these terms are defined in Regulation S issued to implement the U.S. Securities 
Act) other than on the basis of an exemption from the registration obligation according to the U.S. Securities Act 
or as a part of a transaction that is not subject to mandatory registration according to the U.S. Securities Act. 


The Issuer also notes that the Notes may not be offered or sold in the United Kingdom of Great Britain and 
Northern Ireland (UK) by disseminating any material or notice, except for sale to persons authorised to deal in 
securities in the UK on own account or on behalf of others or under circumstances which do not constitute a 
public offering of securities within the meaning of the Companies Act 1985, as amended. Any legal acts 
regarding notes performed in, from, or otherwise in connection with the UK must also be performed in 
accordance with the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (FSMA 2000), as amended, the Financial Services 
and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005, as amended, and the Prospectus Regulations 2005, as 
amended. 


6. Granting of Consent to the Use of the Prospectus 


The Issuer consents to the use of the Prospectus for the resale or final placement of the Notes by selected financial 
intermediaries exclusively in the Czech Republic for the period started on 11 November 2024 and ended on 8 
November 2025.  


The above consent is subject to the conclusion of a written agreement between the Issuer and the relevant 
financial intermediary regarding the resale or placement of the Notes.  


The Issuer uses and will use the Issuer’s website www.jtbank.cz, section Důležité informace, Emise cenných 
papírů subsection, under file J&T Banka a.s. to publish the list and identity of all the financial intermediaries 
who have been granting consent to the use of the Prospectus for resale or final placement of the Notes.  


Offering period: 11 November 2024 – 8 November 2025. 


The Issuer also assumes responsibility for the contents of the Prospectus with regard to the resale or final 
placement of the notes by any financial intermediary who has been granted consent to the use of the Prospectus. 


INVESTOR NOTICE: 


If an offer is presented by a financial intermediary, the financial intermediary will also provide the 
investors information about the terms of the offering of the Notes applicable at the time when the offer is 
presented.  
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Any new information about financial intermediaries which was not available at the time of the approval 
of the Prospectus will be published in the Issuer’s website www.jtbank.cz, section Důležité informace, 
Emise cenných papírů subsection, under file J&T Banka a.s.  


A financial intermediary who uses the Prospectus must specify on his website that the Prospectus is being 
used with the Issuer’s consent and the conditions attached thereto. 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES 


The book-entry fixed to floating rate notes (the Notes) are issued pursuant to Act No. 190/2004 Coll., on Bonds, 
as amended (the Bonds Act) by J&T BANKA, a.s., with its registered office at Sokolovská 700/113a, Karlín, 
186 00 Prague 8, the Czech Republic, ID No.: 471 15 378, registered in the Commercial Register maintained by 
the Municipal Court in Prague under file No. B 1731, LEI: 31570010000000043842 (the Issuer) in the 
anticipated aggregate nominal amount of all Notes of CZK 1,500,000,000 with the possibility of increase of up 
to CZK 2,500,000,000 (the Issue). The name of the Notes is “J&T BANKA VAR/34”. The maximum amount 
of Notes that may be issued is 150,000 if the aggregate nominal amount of the Issue does not exceed CZK 
1,500,000,000 and 250,000 if the aggregate nominal amount of the Issue is increased to CZK 2,500,000,000. 


Certain terms used in these terms and conditions of the Notes (the Conditions) are defined in Condition 14. 
References in these Conditions to a numbered Condition are, unless the context requires otherwise, to the 
numbered paragraphs of these Conditions below. 


The ISIN of the Notes allocated by the Central Depository is CZ0003709339. The CFI of the Notes is 
DBVUGN and the FISN of the Notes is J&T BANKA/VAR DEB 20341204. 


Unless a change is made in accordance with Condition 9.1(b), the Issuer will act as a fiscal and paying agent in 
charge of the settlement and administration of payments in connection with the Notes. The Issuer may entrust 
the performance of the services of the fiscal and paying agent related to the settlement and administration of 
payments in connections with the Notes to any other person having licence for the conduct of such activities (the 
Issuer or any such other person as the Fiscal and Paying Agent), based on an agreement concluded between the 
Issuer and the Fiscal and Paying Agent (the Agency Agreement). A copy of the Agency Agreement, if relevant, 
will be available for inspection to the Noteholders during regular business hours at the specified office of the 
Fiscal and Paying Agent (the Specified Office), as stipulated in Condition 9.1(a). Noteholders are advised to 
familiarise themselves thoroughly with the Agency Agreement, if relevant. 


Unless a change is made in accordance with Condition 9.2(a), the Issuer will perform the activities of the 
calculation agent associated with performing certain calculations in relation to the Notes. The Issuer reserves the 
right to appoint another or additional calculation agent (the Issuer or any such other person as the Calculation 
Agent). If a change of the Calculation agent occurs, the Issuer will notify the Noteholders in accordance with 
Condition 9.2(a). 


The Issuer intends to offer the Notes in the Czech Republic. The Issuer intends to apply for the admission of the 
Notes to trading on the Regulated Market of the PSE. The Issuer will perform the activities of the listing agent 
associated with listing of the Issue on the Regulated Market of the PSE. 


A reference to a provision of any law, regulation or other legal act in the Conditions means a reference to the 
provision of the relevant law, regulation or other legal act effective as of the date of the Conditions and includes 
any future provisions of the law, regulation or other legal act that may amend or replace the provisions of the 
law, regulation or other legal act effective as of the date of the Conditions.  


The Czech National Bank will supervise the issue of the Notes and the Issuer throughout the public offering of 
the Notes in the Czech Republic and during the admission of the Notes to trading on the Regulated Market of 
the PSE (such supervision includes, in particular, the approval of the Prospectus, including any supplements 
thereto, and the supervision of the Issuer's fulfilment of its information obligations throughout the duration of 
the public offering or the admission of the Notes to trading on the Regulated Market of the PSE), in particular to 
the extent relevant pursuant to Act No. 256/2004 Coll., on Business on the Capital Market, as amended (the 
Capital Market Act), the Bonds Act, Act No. 6/1993 Coll., on the Czech National Bank, as amended, or the 
Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council on the prospectus to be published in 
the event of a public offering or admission of securities to trading on a regulated market, as amended (the 
Prospectus Regulation). 
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The Czech National Bank also supervises the Issuer in the performance of its obligations under the relevant 
legislation applicable to the Issuer on the basis of the Issuer being a bank, in particular to the extent relevant 
pursuant to Act No. 21/1992 Coll., on Banks, as amended, and the Recovery and Resolution Act. 


By deciding on the approval of the Prospectus of the Notes, the Czech National Bank, as the authority responsible 
for approving a prospectus according to the Prospectus Regulation, approves the Prospectus only from the point 
of view that it meets the standards regarding completeness, comprehensibility and coherence imposed by the 
Prospectus Regulation. This approval should not be understood as support of the Issuer, who prepares the 
Prospectus. The Czech National Bank does not assess the economic results or financial situation of the Issuer, 
and by approving the Prospectus the Czech National Bank does not comment on the Issuer’s future profitability 
or its ability to repay the nominal value of the Notes or their proportional yield.   


1. GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE NOTES 


1.1 Form, Nominal Amount and other Characteristics of the Notes 


The Notes will be issued as book-entry securities (in Czech: zaknihované dluhopisy). The Notes will be 
issued each having a nominal amount (in Czech: jmenovitá hodnota) of CZK 10,000. The aggregate 
anticipated nominal amount of the Issue is CZK 1,500,000,000. The aggregate nominal amount of the 
Issue can be increased up to CZK 2,500,000,000. The currency of the Notes is Czech Koruna (CZK). 


No pre-emption or exchange rights will be attached to the Notes. 


1.2 Issue Price 


The issue price of each Note issued on the Issue Date is equal to 100% of its nominal amount. The issue 
price of any Notes issued after the Issue Date will be determined by the Issuer taking into account the 
current market conditions. Where relevant, a corresponding accrued interest will be added to the amount 
of the issue price for any Notes issued after the Issue Date. The Issuer shall notify the decision on the 
determination of the issue price in accordance with Condition 11. 


1.3 Issue Date, Subscription and sale of the Notes 


The issue date of the Notes is 4 December 2024 (the Issue Date).  


The subscription period of the Notes starts on (and includes) 11 November 2024 and ends on (and 
includes) 8 November 2025 (the Subscription Period). 


The Notes may be issued (i) in one lump sum on the Issue Date or (ii) in tranches at any time after the 
Issue Date during the Subscription Period, or additional subscription period (the Additional 
Subscription Period), which the Issuer may set if the Subscription Period is not sufficient. The Issuer 
is entitled to set the Additional Subscription Period repeatedly. The Issuer is obliged to notify the 
Noteholders of the decision to set the Additional Subscription Period in the manner specified in 
Condition 11. The additional period for subscription ends on the Record Date for Nominal Amount 
Repayment at the latest. 


Within the Subscription Period or the Additional Subscription Period, the Issuer may issue Notes (i) 
with a lower aggregate nominal amount than the anticipated aggregate nominal amount of the Issue if 
the anticipated aggregate nominal amount of the Issue is not subscribed; (ii) with the anticipated 
aggregate nominal amount of the Issue; or (iii) with a higher aggregate nominal amount than the 
anticipated aggregate nominal amount of the Issue. Issuer shall notify the decision to issue the Notes in 
the manner stipulated in the previous sentence in accordance with Condition 11. 
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If the Issuer decides to issue the Notes with a higher aggregate nominal amount than the anticipated 
aggregate nominal amount of the Issue, the highest possible aggregate nominal amount of the Issue will 
be CZK 2,500,000,000. 


Without undue delay after the expiry of the Subscription Period or the Additional Subscription Period 
or after all the Notes of the Issue are subscribed (prior to the expiry of the Subscription Period or the 
Additional Subscription Period), the Issuer will notify the Noteholders, in accordance with Condition 
11, of the aggregate nominal amount of all issued Notes, but only if any such aggregate nominal amount 
of all issued Notes is lower or higher than the anticipated aggregate nominal amount of the Issue. 


Further information on the subscription period, method and place of subscription of the Notes is 
provided in the Prospectus (see section Subscription and sale). 


1.4 Separation of Rights to Interest on the Notes 


There will be no separation of the right to receive interest payable on the Notes through an issue of 
coupons as separate securities. 


1.5 Noteholders, Transfer of the Notes 


(a) Holders of the Notes 


The noteholder is the person on whose owner’s securities account (within the meaning of the Capital 
Market Act) with the Central Depository or in follow-up records linked to the Central Depository the 
Note is recorded (the Noteholder). Until it has been sufficiently proven to the Issuer and the Fiscal and 
Paying Agent that any record on the owner’s securities account in the Central Depository or in the 
follow-up records linked to the Central Depository does not correspond to reality and that there is 
another person on whose owner’s securities account in the Central Depository or in the follow-up 
records linked to the Central Depository the Note should be registered, the Issuer and the Fiscal and 
Paying Agent will, subject to Condition 5.4(iii), consider each Noteholder as the authorised noteholder 
in all respects and make payments to that Noteholder in accordance with the Conditions. Persons on 
whose owner’s securities accounts in the Central Depository or in the follow-up records linked to the 
Central Depository their Notes are not registered for any reason, even though such persons should be 
recorded as the Noteholders, are obliged to immediately inform the Issuer and the Fiscal and Paying 
Agent of this fact and of their claimed ownership title of the Notes and prove these facts to them in a 
sufficient manner. The list of Noteholders shall consist of the records of the Central Depository or the 
person keeping the follow-up records linked to the Central Depository. 


(b) Transferability of the Notes 


The transferability of the Notes is not restricted. 


(c) Transfers of the Notes 


The transfer of the Notes will be effective upon the crediting thereof to the owner’s securities account 
with the Central Depository in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Central Depository and 
applicable law. In the event that the Notes are recorded in a client’s securities account in the Central 
Depository, the transfer of the Notes will be effective (i) upon crediting of the transferred Note to the 
client’s securities account in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Central Depository and 
applicable law, whereas the owner of the client’s securities account is obliged to promptly register such 
transfer in the owner’s securities account as of the moment of registration thereof in the client’s 
securities account, or (ii) in the event of any transfer between the Noteholders within a single client’s 
securities account, upon the registration of such transfer in the owner’s securities account in the follow-
up records linked to the Central Depository. 
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2. STATUS OF THE NOTES, NO SET-OFF 


2.1 Status of the Notes 


The Notes are intended to qualify as Tier 2 Instruments. The claims against the Issuer associated with 
the Notes (including the claims for the repayment of the nominal amount of the Notes and payment of 
interest associated with the Notes) constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated claims 
and they constitute and shall be satisfied as relevant capital instruments or obligations of the Issuer 
pursuant to Section 374c of the Insolvency Act. The Notes are subordinated bonds pursuant to Section 
34 of the Bonds Act. 


In the event of declaration of insolvency of the Issuer (in Czech: vydání rozhodnutí o úpadku) or the 
Issuer’s entry into liquidation (in Czech: vstup do likvidace), any claims against the Issuer associated 
with the Notes (including the claims for the repayment of the nominal amount of the Notes and payment 
of interest associated with the Notes) will rank, subject to any statutory exceptions (in particular those 
arising under the Insolvency Act): 


(a) junior to all present or future (i) claims in respect of unsecured and unsubordinated instruments 
or obligations of the Issuer, including claims in respect of senior non-preferred instruments of 
the Issuer pursuant to Section 374b of the Insolvency Act; and (ii) subordinated instruments or 
obligations of the Issuer pursuant to Section 172(2) of the Insolvency Act (other than relevant 
capital instruments of the Issuer pursuant to Section 374c of the Insolvency Act, including 
claims in respect of Tier 2 Instruments and Additional Tier 1 Instruments); 


(b) pari passu without any preference: (i) among themselves; and (ii) with all other present or 
future claims in respect of Tier 2 Instruments (other than claims in respect of Tier 2 Instruments 
which according to their terms are expressed to rank junior to the Notes); and 


(c) senior to all present or future claims in respect of: (i) all other Tier 2 Instruments which 
according to their terms are expressed to rank junior to the Notes; (ii) Additional Tier 1 
Instruments; and (iii) CET 1 Instruments. 


For the avoidance of doubt, claims against the Issuer associated with the Notes will be satisfied in the 
ranking described in this Condition 2.1 regardless of whether the Notes qualify as Tier 2 Instruments. 


In these Conditions: 


Additional Tier 1 Instruments means any (directly or indirectly issued) capital instruments of the 
Issuer that qualify as Additional Tier 1 instruments pursuant to Article 52 of the CRR, including any 
capital (or other) instruments that qualify as Additional Tier 1 items pursuant to transitional provisions 
under the CRR. 


CET 1 Instruments means any ordinary shares and other Common Equity Tier 1 instruments pursuant 
to Article 28 of the CRR of the Issuer. 


Tier 2 Instruments means any (directly or indirectly issued) capital instruments of the Issuer that 
qualify as Tier 2 instruments pursuant to Article 63 CRR, including any capital (or other) instruments 
that qualify as Tier 2 items pursuant to transitional provisions under the CRR. 


2.2 No Set-off 


No Noteholder may, at any time, exercise or claim any Set-off Right against any right, claim or liability 
of the Issuer or that the Issuer may have or acquire against such Noteholder, directly or indirectly and 
arising under or in connection with any Note (including the claim for repayment of the nominal amount 
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of any Note). Each Noteholder, by virtue of its subscription, purchase or holding of any Notes, waives 
irrevocably all such Set-off Rights to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law. If, notwithstanding 
this Condition 2.2, any Noteholder receives or recovers any sum or the benefit of any sum in respect of 
any Note by virtue of any such Set-off Right, it shall, subject to applicable law, immediately pay an 
amount equal to such sum or benefit to the Issuer or, in the event of the winding up of the Issuer, to the 
liquidator of the Issuer and, until such time as payment is made, shall not dispose of such sum or benefit 
and shall hold the same separately from its other assets. 


For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Condition 2.2 is intended to provide, or shall be construed 
as acknowledging, any right of set-off or netting or that any such right is or would be available to any 
Noteholder of any Note but for this Condition. 


In these Conditions: 


Set-Off Right means any rights of or claims for netting, including any rights from close-out netting, or 
for set-off of the claims of any Noteholder against the Issuer arising under or in connection with any 
Note (including the claim for the repayment of the nominal amount of any Note). 


2.3 No Security 


The Notes and any obligations associated with the Notes shall not be secured, nor subject to a guarantee 
or any other arrangement that enhances their seniority.  


3. INTEREST 


3.1 Interest Accrual 


The interest on each Note will accrue evenly from the first day of each Interest Period to the last day 
included in such Interest Period, at the applicable interest rates set out pursuant to Condition 3.3. 


Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for redemption unless, upon due presentation, 
payment of its nominal amount is improperly withheld or refused, in which case it will continue to bear 
interest at such rate until the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day have been 
paid. 


In these Conditions: 


Interest Period means the period from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) the first Interest 
Payment Date and each successive period from (and including) an Interest Payment Date to (but 
excluding) the next succeeding Interest Payment Date. 


3.2 Interest Periods and Interest Payment Dates 


From the Issue Date to (and including) 4 December 2029 (the Reset Date), interest shall be payable 
annually in arrear, subject to Condition 5.3, on 4 December in each year (each a Fixed Rate Interest 
Payment Date). Thereafter, interest will be payable half-yearly in arrear, subject to Condition 5.3, on 
4 June and 4 December in each year (each a Floating Rate Interest Payment Date).  


The first interest payment for the period from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) 
4 December 2025 shall be made on 4 December 2025. 


3.3 Interest Rate 


The interest rate of the Notes is set as a fixed to floating rate as set out in Conditions 3.3(a) and 3.3(b).  
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(a) Fixed Rate of Interest 


The rate of interest payable in respect of each Interest Period ending prior to the Reset Date (the Fixed 
Rate Interest Period) shall be 6.25% per annum (the Fixed Rate of Interest).  


The amount of interest accrued per Note for each Fixed Rate Interest Period of one current year shall 
be determined as the multiple of the outstanding nominal amount of any such Note and the Fixed Rate 
of Interest (expressed as a decimal number). If interest is required to be paid in respect of a Note for a 
Fixed Rate Interest Period of less than one current year, such interest shall be determined as the multiple 
of the outstanding nominal amount of any such Note, the Fixed Rate of Interest (expressed as a decimal 
number) and the Fixed Day Count Fraction. The resultant figure shall be rounded to the nearest CZK 
0.01 (hundredth of a Czech Koruna) (CZK 0.005 being rounded upwards). 


Fixed Day Count Fraction means the number of days in the relevant period divided by 360 (where the 
number of days is set out on the basis of a year of 360 days divided into 12 months of 30 days each), 
referred to as “30E/360” day count fraction. 


(b) Floating Rate of Interest 


From (and including) the Reset Rate, the rate of interest payable in respect of the Notes for each relevant 
Interest Period (Floating Rate Interest Period) will be determined by the Calculation Agent on each 
Interest Determination Date as the sum of (i) the Reference Rate and (ii) the Margin (the Floating Rate 
of Interest). The resultant figure shall be rounded to the nearest CZK 0.01 (hundredth of a Czech 
Koruna) (CZK 0.005 being rounded upwards). 


In the event that the Floating Rate of Interest in respect of any Floating Rate Interest Period determined 
in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 3.3(b) is less than zero, the Floating Rate of Interest 
for such Floating Rate Interest Period shall be zero. 


The amount of interest accrued per Note for each Floating Rate Interest Period shall be determined as 
the multiple of the outstanding nominal amount of any such Note, the Floating Rate of Interest for the 
relevant Floating Rate Interest Period (expressed as a decimal number) and the Floating Day Count 
Fraction. The resultant figure shall be rounded to the nearest CZK 0.01 (hundredth of a Czech Koruna) 
(CZK 0.005 being rounded upwards). 


The Calculation Agent shall cause the Floating Rate of Interest for each Floating Rate Interest Period 
and the relative Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer and to be published in accordance 
with Condition 11 on the relevant Interest Determination Date. 


In these Conditions: 


Floating Day Count Fraction means the actual number of days in the relevant period divided by 360, 
referred to as “Actual/360” day count fraction. 


Interest Determination Date means the second Business Day prior to the first day of the relevant 
Floating Rate Interest Period. 


Margin means 2.75% per annum. 


Reference Rate means 6M PRIBOR, as the interest rate in % per annum which is displayed in the 
REFINITIV EIKON information system on the PRIBOR page (or such replacement page or pages on 
that service which displays the information) as the fixing value of the interest rate on sales on the Prague 
CZK interbank deposit market for six months as determined by Czech Financial Benchmark Facility 
s.r.o., as an administrator and which is in effect on the Interest Determination Date. If the PRIBOR rate 
is not determinable for the six months period in this manner, then the PRIBOR rate shall be determined 
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by the Calculation Agent by calculating a linear interpolation between the PRIBOR rate for the next 
immediately longer period for which the PRIBOR rate is determinable in this manner and the PRIBOR 
rate for the next immediately shorter period for which the PRIBOR rate is determinable in this manner. 
If on any Interest Determination Date the screen page set out above in this paragraph is not available or 
the reference rate set out above in this paragraph does not appear on the screen page, the Calculation 
Agent shall determine the reference rate as the arithmetic average of the quoted rate of interest on sales 
of CZK interbank deposits for six months obtained on the Interest Determination Date from at least 
three banks (of the Calculation Agent’s choice) operating on the Prague interbank market. If the 
reference rate cannot be determined even by the above-described procedure, the reference rate shall be 
equal to (i) the Reference Rate determined in accordance with this Condition 3.3(b) on the previous 
Interest Determination Date, or, if there was no such date, (ii) the Fixed Rate of Interest decreased by 
the Margin. If applicable, the reference rate shall be rounded by the Calculation Agent to two decimal 
places according to the third decimal place (0.005 being rounded upwards). 


3.4 Benchmark Discontinuation 


(a) Independent Adviser 


If a Benchmark Event occurs in relation to an Original Reference Rate when, pursuant to Condition 
3.3(b), any rate of interest (or any component part thereof) remains to be determined in relation to any 
Floating Rate Interest Period by reference to such Original Reference Rate, then the Issuer shall use its 
reasonable endeavours to appoint an Independent Adviser, as soon as reasonably practicable, with a 
view to the Issuer determining a Successor Rate (in accordance with Condition 3.4(b)), failing which 
an Alternative Rate (in accordance with Condition 3.4(b)) and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread if 
any (in accordance with Condition 3.4(c)) and any Benchmark Amendments (in accordance with 
Condition 3.4(d)). 


An Independent Adviser appointed pursuant to this Condition 3.4(a) shall act in good faith and in a 
commercially reasonable manner as an expert. The Independent Adviser will not be liable for any 
damage caused to the Issuer, the Fiscal and Paying Agent, or the Noteholders by any advice given to 
the Issuer in connection with any determination made by the Issuer, pursuant to this Condition 3.4(a) 
except for any damage caused intentionally or by gross negligence of the Independent Adviser.  


If (i) the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser; or (ii) the Issuer fails to determine a 
Successor Rate or, failing which, an Alternative Rate in accordance with this Condition 3.4(a) prior to 
the relevant Interest Determination Date, the rate of interest applicable to the next succeeding Floating 
Rate Interest Period, as applicable, shall be equal to the rate of interest last determined in relation to the 
Notes in respect of the immediately preceding Interest Period, respectively. For the avoidance of doubt, 
this Condition 3.4(a) will apply to the relevant next succeeding Interest Period only and any subsequent 
Interest Periods are subject to the subsequent operation of, and to adjustment as provided in, this 
Condition 3.4(a). 


(b) Successor Rate or Alternative Rate 


If the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and in a 
commercially reasonable manner, determines that: 


(i) there is a Successor Rate, then such Successor Rate shall (subject to adjustment as provided in 
Condition 3.4(c)) subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine 
the rate of interest (or the relevant component part thereof), as applicable, for all future 
payments of interest on the Notes in relation to any Floating Rate Interest Period; or 
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(ii) there is no Successor Rate but that there is an Alternative Rate, then such Alternative Rate shall 
(subject to adjustment as provided in Condition 3.4(c)) subsequently be used in place of the 
Original Reference Rate to determine the rate of interest (or the relevant component part 
thereof), as applicable, for all future payments of interest on the Notes in relation to any 
Floating Rate Interest Period. 


(c) Adjustment Spread 


If the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and in a 
commercially reasonable manner, determines (i) that an Adjustment Spread is required to be applied to 
the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate and (ii) the quantum of, or a formula or methodology for 
determining, such Adjustment Spread, then such Adjustment Spread shall be applied to the Successor 
Rate or the Alternative Rate. 


(d) Benchmark Amendments 


If any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate or Adjustment Spread is determined in accordance with this 
Condition 3.4 and the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good 
faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, determines (i) that amendments to the Conditions are 
necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate, Alternative Rate and/or Adjustment 
Spread (such amendments, the Benchmark Amendments) and (ii) the terms of the Benchmark 
Amendments, then the Issuer shall, subject to giving notice thereof in accordance with Condition 3.4(e), 
effect such Benchmark Amendments with effect from the date specified in such notice. If the 
Benchmark Amendments negatively impact the status or interests of the Noteholders, they will require 
a prior approval by the Meeting pursuant to Condition 10. For the purposes of the preceding sentence, 
the status or interests of the Noteholders will not be negatively impacted if, after the amendments, the 
Notes whose Conditions are subject to the Benchmark Amendments will be, after effecting the 
amendments, Eligible Notes, except that for these purposes the Notes whose Conditions are subject to 
the Benchmark Amendments do not have to have the same rate of interest and manner of determination 
of rate of interest (otherwise required for Eligible Notes under letter (c) of the definition of Eligible 
Notes in Condition 10.6), insofar as the rate of interest and manner of determination of rate of interest 
are changed only in accordance with this Condition 3.4. 


In connection with any such change in accordance with this Condition 3.4(d), the Issuer is obliged to 
comply with the rules of any regulated market on which the Notes are admitted to trading at the relevant 
time. 


The Noteholders will not bear any costs or fees in connection with any Benchmark Amendments 
pursuant to this Condition 3.4(d). 


Notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition 3.4(d), no Successor Rate or Alternative Rate 
will be adopted, nor any Adjustment Spread applied, nor will any Benchmark Amendments be made, if 
and to the extent that, in the determination of the Issuer, they could reasonably be expected to: 


(i) jeopardize the Notes qualifying as Tier 2 Instruments; and/or 


(ii) result in the Relevant Supervisor and/or the Relevant Resolution Authority considering the 
next Interest Payment Date as the effective maturity date of such Notes instead of the Final 
Maturity Date. 


In such an event, the interest rate of the Notes shall be determined in accordance with the last paragraph 
of Condition 3.4(a). 


(e) Notices 
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Any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, Adjustment Spread and the specific terms of any Benchmark 
Amendments, determined under this Condition 3.4 will be notified promptly by the Issuer to the 
Calculation Agent, the Fiscal and Paying Agent and, in accordance with Condition 11, the Noteholders. 
Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date of the Benchmark Amendments, if 
any.  


(f) Survival of Original Reference Rate 


Without prejudice to the obligations of the Issuer under Conditions 3.4(a), 3.4(b), 3.4(c) or 3.4(d), the 
Original Reference Rate and the fallback provisions provided for in Condition 3.3(b) will continue to 
apply unless and until a Benchmark Event has occurred. Upon the occurrence of a Benchmark Event, 
this Condition 3.4 shall prevail. 


In these Conditions:  


Adjustment Spread means either a spread (which may be positive or negative), or the formula or 
methodology for calculating a spread, in either case, which the Issuer, following consultation with the 
Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, determines is 
required to be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and is the 
spread, formula or methodology which: 


(i) in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended in relation to the replacement of the 
Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body; or (if no 
such recommendation has been made, or in the case of an Alternative Rate); 


(ii) is commonly used in international debt capital markets in transactions that refer to the Original 
Reference Rate and in which that rate has been replaced by a Successor Rate or an Alternative 
Rate (as the case may be); or, if neither (i) above nor this point (ii) applies, 


(iii) the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and 
in a commercially reasonable manner, determines, is recognised or acknowledged as being the 
industry standard for over-the-counter derivative transactions which reference the Original 
Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the Alternative 
Rate (as the case may be). 


Alternative Rate means an alternative benchmark or screen rate which the Issuer following 
consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable 
manner, determines in accordance with Condition 3.4(b) is customary in market usage in the 
international debt capital markets for the purposes of determining rates of interest (or the relevant 
component part thereof) in the currency in which the Notes are denominated. 


Benchmark Event means:  


(i) the Original Reference Rate ceasing to exist or ceasing to be published for a period of at least 
5 Business Days; or 


(ii) the later of these occurring: A) the administrator of the Original Reference Rate publicly 
announces that it will stop publishing the Original Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely 
by a specified date (in circumstances where no successor administrator has been appointed to 
continue publishing the Original Reference Rate), and B) the day which precedes the specified 
date mentioned in the preceding sentence by six months occurs; or 


(iii) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate, that 
the Original Reference Rate has been or will be permanently or indefinitely discontinued; or 
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(iv) the later of these occurring: A) the supervisory authority of the administrator of the Original 
Reference Rate publicly announces that the Original Reference Rate will be terminated 
permanently or indefinitely by a specified date, and B) the day which precedes the specified 
date mentioned in the preceding sentence by six months occurs; or 


(v) the later of these occurring: A) as a result of a statement by the supervisory authority of the 
administrator of the Original Reference Rate, the use of the Original Reference Rate either 
generally or in relation to the Notes will be prohibited as of a specified date, and B) the day 
which precedes the specified date mentioned in the preceding sentence by six months occurs; 
or 


(vi) it has become unlawful for any Fiscal and Paying Agent, Calculation Agent, the Issuer or other 
party to calculate any payments due to be made to any Noteholder using the Original Reference 
Rate; or 


(vii) a public statement by the supervisory authority of the administrator of the Original Reference 
Rate that the Original Reference Rate is no longer representative or may no longer be used. 


Independent Adviser means an independent financial institution of international repute or an 
independent financial adviser with appropriate expertise appointed by the Issuer under Condition 3.4(a). 


Original Reference Rate means the Reference Rate or, if a Successor Rate or an Alternative Rate is 
determined in accordance with this Condition 3.4, any such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (or any 
component part thereof). 


Relevant Nominating Body means, in respect of a benchmark or screen rate (as applicable): 


(i) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates, 
or any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the 
administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable); or 


(ii) any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at the 
request of (a) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as 
applicable) relates, (b) any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for 
supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable), (c) a group of 
the aforementioned central banks or other supervisory authorities or (d) the Financial Stability 
Board or any part thereof. 


Successor Rate means a successor to or replacement of the Original Reference Rate which is formally 
recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body. 


4. REDEMPTION OF THE NOTES 


4.1 Redemption at Maturity 


Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as specified below, each Note will be redeemed 
by the Issuer at its outstanding nominal amount on 4 December 2034 (the Final Maturity Date) in 
accordance with Condition 5, together with unpaid interest accrued to (but excluding) the Final Maturity 
Date. 


4.2 Early Redemption at the Option of the Issuer 


(a) Early Redemption upon Decision of the Issuer 
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Subject to Condition 4.2(d), the Issuer may, at its discretion, having given no more than 60 days’ nor 
less than 40 days’ notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 11 (which notice shall be 
irrevocable), redeem all outstanding Notes, in full but not in part, on the Reset Date and on each 
subsequent Floating Interest Payment Date (each an Early Redemption Date), which date shall be set 
out in the notice, at their outstanding nominal amount together with unpaid interest accrued to (but 
excluding) the Early Redemption Date. 


(b) Early Redemption upon Capital Disqualification Event 


(i) Admissibility and notice of the early redemption upon Capital Disqualification Event  


Subject to Condition 4.2(d), the Issuer may, at its discretion, redeem early at any time all the 
outstanding Notes, in whole but not in part, if at any time after the Issue Date a Capital 
Disqualification Event has occurred and is continuing and provided that the Issuer notifies this 
decision to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 11 not earlier than 60 and not later 
than 40 days prior to any such relevant early redemption date (Early Redemption Date). 


(ii) Early redemption upon Capital Disqualification Event  


The notice on early redemption at the option of the Issuer in accordance with Condition 
4.2(b)(i) will be irrevocable and will bind the Issuer to redeem early each outstanding Note in 
accordance with the provisions of this Condition 4.2(a) as of the Early Redemption Date set 
out in this notice. In such cases, each outstanding Note will be redeemed by the Issuer at its 
outstanding nominal amount, together with unpaid interest accrued to (but excluding) the Early 
Redemption Date. 


In these Conditions: 


Capital Disqualification Event means the determination by the Issuer that as a result of any 
amendment to, or change in, any Applicable Banking Regulations, or any change in the 
application or official interpretation of any Applicable Banking Regulations, for example by 
courts, Relevant Supervisor or Relevant Resolution Authority, or a planned change which the 
Relevant Supervisor considers sufficiently certain, the obligations of the Issuer associated with 
the Notes (i) do not or will not in the next 60 days qualify partly or in full towards the Tier 2 
Capital or (ii) are or will be in the next 60 days qualified as a lower form of capital of the Issuer 
than the Tier 2 Capital or (iii) do not or will not in the next 60 days, but in each case only after 
the Reset Date, qualify partly or in full towards the Issuer’s minimum requirements for MREL 
Eligible Liabilities, if such obligations were to qualify that way in accordance with Article 
72a(1)(b) of the CRR or the Recovery and Resolution Act (to the extent they do not or are 
likely not to qualify towards the relevant Issuer’s and/or the Group’s Tier 2 capital pursuant to 
Article 64 of the CRR) were there not for the amendment or change. 


Group means the Issuer and its consolidated subsidiaries. 


MREL Eligible Liabilities means, at any time, the obligations of the Issuer that qualify as 
eligible liabilities pursuant to Article 72b of the CRR or Section 128 et seq. of the Czech 
Recovery and Resolution Act, as the case may be, which are included in the amount to be 
complied with for the purposes of fulfilling the minimum requirements for own funds and 
eligible liabilities or loss-absorbing capacity of the Issuer or the Group pursuant to the Czech 
Recovery and Resolution Act or other Applicable Banking Regulations, including any debt 
instruments that qualify as eligible liabilities items pursuant to transitional provisions under 
the CRR or the Czech Recovery and Resolution Act, as the case may be. 


Tier 2 Capital means Tier 2 capital of the Issuer and/or the Group pursuant to Article 71 CRR. 
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(c) Early Redemption upon Tax Event 


(i) Admissibility and notice of the early redemption upon Tax Event 


Subject to Condition 4.2(d), the Issuer may, at its discretion, redeem early at any time, all the 
outstanding Notes, in whole but not in part, if at any time a Tax Event has occurred and is 
continuing and provided that the Issuer notifies this decision to the Noteholders in accordance 
with Condition 11 not earlier than 60 and not later than 40 days prior to any such relevant early 
redemption date (Early Redemption Date) and provided that no such notice is given earlier 
than 90 days prior to the date on which a payment in respect of the Notes would not be 
deductible by the Issuer for corporate income tax purposes or such deduction would be reduced 
or such tax treatment on the Notes would be affected.  


(ii) Early redemption upon Tax Event 


The notice on early redemption at the option of the Issuer in accordance with Condition 
4.2(c)(i) will be irrevocable and will bind the Issuer to redeem early all the outstanding Notes, 
in full but not in part, in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 4.2(c) as of the Early 
Redemption Date set out in this notice. In such cases, each outstanding Note will be redeemed 
by the Issuer at its outstanding nominal amount, together with unpaid interest accrued to (but 
excluding) the Early Redemption Date. 


In these Conditions: 


A Tax Event will occur if, as a result of a Tax Law Change, on the next Payment Date any 
payments by the Issuer in respect of the Notes cease (or will cease) to be deductible by the 
Issuer for the Czech Republic’s corporate income tax purposes or such deductibility is reduced 
or the applicable tax treatment of the Notes materially changes. 


A Tax Law Change means any change or proposed change in, or amendment or proposed 
amendment to, the laws or regulations of the Czech Republic, including any treaty to which 
the Czech Republic is a party, or any change in the application or official interpretation of such 
laws or regulations, including a decision of any court, or any interpretation or pronouncement 
by any relevant tax authority, which change or amendment (a) (subject to (b)) becomes, or 
would become, effective on or after the Issue Date, or (b) in the case of a change or proposed 
change in law, if such change is enacted (or, in the case of a proposed change, is expected to 
be enacted) on or after the Issue Date.  


(d) Conditions to Early Redemption at the Option of the Issuer and Purchases by the Issuer 


Any early redemption at the option of the Issuer pursuant to Conditions 4.2(a), 4.2(b) and 4.2(c) and 
any purchase of the Notes by the Issuer pursuant to Condition 4.4 will, if and to the extent required by 
the Applicable Banking Regulations at such date, be subject to the prior approval of the Relevant 
Supervisor, and will only be made if such early redemption or purchase is in accordance with the 
Applicable Banking Regulations. 


4.3 Early Redemption at the Option of the Noteholders 


The Noteholders may not, at their option, request redemption of Notes prior to the Final Maturity Date, 
with the exception of early redemption in accordance with Condition 7.1. 
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4.4 Purchase of the Notes by the Issuer and their Cancellation 


Subject to Condition 4.2(d), the Issuer, or any entity from the Group, is authorised to purchase the Notes 
in the market or otherwise at any price. The Notes purchased in accordance with this Condition 4.4 or 
the Notes otherwise acquired by the Issuer will not be cancelled, and the Issuer will have discretion in 
deciding whether to hold, and, if applicable, to resell or whether to declare such Notes cancelled before 
maturity by virtue of a merger of the rights and obligations in a single person. If the Issuer does not 
decide on an earlier termination of the Notes owned by the Issuer pursuant to the previous sentence, the 
rights and obligations arising from the Notes owned by the Issuer shall expire only at the time of their 
maturity. 


5. PAYMENT TERMS 


The Issuer undertakes to pay the interest on and to repay the nominal amount of the Notes to the 
Noteholders under the terms and conditions set forth in the Conditions and in accordance with any tax, 
foreign exchange and other relevant legislation of the Czech Republic. 


5.1 Currency of Payments 


The Issuer undertakes to pay the interest and the nominal amount of the Notes exclusively in the 
currency in which the Notes are denominated, i.e., the Czech Koruna. 


In the case that the CZK currency ceases to exist as a legal currency of the Czech Republic and is 
replaced by EUR, (i) the denomination of the Notes will be changed to EUR in accordance with the 
applicable laws, and (ii) all the sums payable under the Notes will automatically and without any further 
notice to the Noteholders be payable in EUR, with the official rate (i.e., the fixed conversion ratio) being 
in accordance with the applicable law used as the exchange rate between the CZK and EUR. Such 
currency replacement (A) will not, in any respect, affect the existence or enforceability of the Issuer’s 
obligations arising under the Notes, and (B) for the avoidance of doubt, will not constitute any change 
to these Conditions or an event of default or other breach of the Issuer’s obligations. 


5.2 Payment Date 


Payment of interest and the repayment of the nominal amount of the Notes will be made by the Issuer 
through the Fiscal and Paying Agent on the dates specified in the Conditions (each such date depending 
on the context are referred to as the Interest Payment Date; the Final Maturity Date or the Early 
Redemption Date; and each such date will also hereinafter be referred to as the Payment Date). 


5.3 Following Business Day Convention 


If any Payment Date would fall on a day that is not a Business Day, such Payment Date will instead fall 
on the next following Business Day (the Business Day Convention), and the Issuer will not be obliged 
to pay any interest or any other additional amounts for any delay resulting from an application of such 
Business Day Convention. 


5.4 Determination of the Right to Receive Payments under the Notes 


(i) The authorised persons to whom the Issuer will pay the interest on the Notes will be the persons 
in whose owner’s accounts in the Central Depository or in follow-up records linked to the 
Central Depository the Notes are recorded as at the end of the relevant Record Date for Interest 
Payment. For the purposes of determining the recipient of interest, neither the Issuer nor the 
Fiscal and Paying Agent will take into account transfers of any Notes made from the day 
immediately following the Record Date for Interest Payment (inclusive) until the relevant 
Interest Payment Date. 
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(ii) The authorised persons to whom the Issuer will repay the nominal amount of the Notes will be 
the persons in whose owner’s accounts in the Central Depository or in follow-up records linked 
to the Central Depository the Notes are recorded as at the end of the relevant Record Date for 
Nominal Amount Repayment. For the purposes of determining the recipient of the nominal 
amount, neither the Issuer nor the Fiscal and Paying Agent will take into account transfers of 
any Notes made from the day immediately following the Record Date for Nominal Amount 
Repayment (inclusive) until the relevant Maturity Date. 


(iii) However, if the Issuer or the Fiscal and Paying Agent have been provided with conclusive 
evidence no later than five Business Days preceding the relevant Payment Date that the entry 
in the owner’s account in the Central Depository or in the follow-up records linked to the 
Central Depository does not correspond to reality and that there is another person or persons 
in whose owner’s account in the Central Depository or in the follow-up records linked to the 
Central Depository the Notes were supposed to be recorded at the end of the relevant Payment 
Record Date, then the Issuer will pay the interest on the Notes or will repay the nominal amount 
of the Notes to any such person or persons. 


(iv) If the Notes are pledged as recorded in the owner's account in the Central Depository, the 
pledgee entered in the extract from the register prepared by the Central Depository at the end 
of the Record Date for Interest Payment or the Record Date for Nominal Amount Repayment 
is considered to be the person entitled to receive the payment of interest and/or nominal amount 
in relation to the relevant Notes, unless (i) it is clear from the extract from the register that the 
person entitled to payment from the pledged Notes is the relevant Noteholder, or (ii) it is proven 
to the Fiscal and Paying Agent in another manner satisfactory to the Fiscal and Paying Agent 
that the relevant Noteholder is entitled to payment in respect of the pledged Notes pursuant to 
an agreement between such Noteholder and the pledgee. 


5.5 Payments by Wire Transfer 


(a) The Fiscal and Paying Agent will make payments in connection with the Notes to the 
Authorised Persons by means of a wire transfer to their accounts kept with a bank with 
registered office in a member state of the European Union or other state that is a member of 
the European Economic Area, according to the instruction that the Authorised Person delivers 
to the Fiscal and Paying Agent in a credible manner at the address of the Specified Office. The 
instruction will be in the form of a signed written declaration with officially legalised signature 
(or signatures) or a signature verified by an authorised employee of the Fiscal and Paying 
Agent and will contain sufficient information about the above-mentioned account allowing the 
Fiscal and Paying Agent to make the payment. Any Authorised Person who claims a tax relief 
in accordance with the law or an international double taxation treaty (by which the Czech 
Republic is bound) is obliged to deliver to the Fiscal and Paying Agent together with the 
instruction, according to the choice of the Fiscal and Paying Agent, either the statement of the 
Authorised Person about the person’s tax domicile for the relevant tax period, or the original 
or officially certified copy of the Authorised Person’s tax domicile certificate for the relevant 
tax period issued by the relevant tax authority of the country of which the Authorised Person 
is a tax resident, as well as other documents the Fiscal and Paying Agent and the relevant tax 
authorities may request (e.g. a statement of the Authorised Person on beneficial ownership of 
the income to be paid out). In the case of legal entities, the instruction must also be 
accompanied by the original or an officially certified copy of a valid extract from the 
Commercial Register of the Authorised Person not older than three months (or the original or 
an officially certified copy of an extract from a similar foreign register if the Authorised Person 
is a foreign legal entity registered in such register). The Fiscal and Paying Agent may also 
reasonably require other information or documents to be provided as part of the instruction 
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(such an instruction, together with all other relevant enclosures, an Instruction). In the case 
of originals of foreign official instruments or deeds of official legalisation abroad, the 
appropriate higher or other legalisation, or the apostille under the Convention Abolishing the 
Requirement of Legalisation for Foreign Public Documents of 5 October 1961 (the Hague 
Convention), is required (whichever is relevant). The Instructions will be in a form and content 
reasonably acceptable to the Fiscal and Paying Agent and the Fiscal and Paying Agent may 
require satisfactory evidence that the person who signed the Instructions is authorised to sign 
such Instruction on behalf of the Authorised Person. Such evidence will also be delivered to 
the Fiscal and Paying Agent together with the Instruction. In this respect, the Fiscal and Paying 
Agent may require, without limitation, (i) the presentation of a power of attorney with officially 
verified signatures if the Authorised Person is represented (if necessary with a certified 
translation into Czech) and (ii) an additional confirmation of the Instruction by the Authorised 
Person. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the Issuer nor the Fiscal and Paying Agent will 
be obliged to examine the correctness, completeness or authenticity of any such Instruction 
and neither of them will be liable for any damage caused by any delay by any Authorised 
Person in the delivery of the Instruction or any incorrectness or other defects of such 
Instruction. The Instruction will be considered properly made if it contains all information in 
accordance with this Condition, is delivered to the Fiscal and Paying Agent in accordance with 
this Condition and complies with the requirements of this Condition. 


(b) The Instruction must be delivered to the Fiscal and Paying Agent no later than five Business 
Days before the relevant Payment Date. 


(c) If the Instruction is not delivered to the Fiscal and Paying Agent within the deadline set for the 
delivery of the Instruction, or if an Instruction that is not proper is delivered to him within this 
deadline, the Issuer and the Fiscal and Paying Agent will proceed – with regard to the burden 
of proof and the Issuer's own property responsibility in the administration of taxes collected 
by withholding – as if the proper Instruction was not presented to him. If the Authorised Person 
does not additionally apply for a tax advantage at the relevant tax authority himself (e.g. in 
connection with the tax security), the Authorised Person can subsequently deliver the 
Instruction substantiating the right to apply a lower rate or non-application of withholding tax 
and ask the Issuer through the Fiscal and Paying Agent for a refund of the tax withheld by him 
or its parts to the extent of the correctly documented claim. If the Issuer assesses that it is 
authorized to initiate the relevant proceedings in accordance with the legal regulations 
(including, for example, taking into account the forfeiture periods limiting the applicability of 
the relevant claim in time), in such a case, the Issuer has the right to demand payment of CZK 
25,000 from the Authorised Person for each such request, due to non-compliance with the 
proper deadline for delivery or defects in the Instruction substantiating the right to apply the 
benefit in question in the form of a lower rate or non-application of withholding tax, as a flat-
rate compensation for additional costs that the Issuer will incur due to additional administration 
and correspondence and communication with the relevant authorities in connection with the 
refund request. In such a case, the Issuer will pay the amount corresponding to the refunded 
withholding tax to the relevant Authorised Person only after: (i) this Authorised Person has 
reimbursed the Issuer for costs according to this Condition 5.5(c) (unless the Issuer has decided 
not to assert the claim in the given case) and, at the same time, (ii) the Issuer has already 
received the given amount from the relevant tax authority or the given amount was definitively 
settled in favour of the Issuer as part of the tax administration provided by the Issuer, as the 
tax payer. The Issuer is not obliged to take any further steps and submissions in this matter, to 
participate in any negotiations, or to enforce or assist in the enforcement of any claim in 
addition to the initiation of proceedings regarding the refund of withholding tax or its part. 
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(d) The Issuer’s obligation to pay any amount due in connection with the Notes will be discharged 
in a due and timely manner, if the relevant amount has been remitted to the Authorised Person 
in accordance with a proper Instruction pursuant Conditions 5.5(a) and 5.5(b) and if no later 
than on the due date of any such amount (i) it is credited to the account of any such Authorised 
Person’s bank with the clearing centre of the Czech National Bank if the payment is made in 
the legal currency of the Czech Republic; or (ii) it is debited from the Fiscal and Paying Agent’s 
account if the payment is in other currency than the legal currency of the Czech Republic.  


(e) Neither the Issuer nor the Fiscal and Paying Agent will be liable for any delay caused by the 
Authorised Person, e.g. by its failure to deliver a proper Instruction in a timely manner. Unless 
it is excluded by the provisions of legal regulations that cannot be derogated from, neither the 
Issuer nor the Fiscal and Paying Agent will be liable for any damage caused by (i) the failure 
to deliver in time the proper Instruction or any other documents or information required to be 
delivered under this Condition 5.5, or (ii) the fact that such Instruction or any related document 
or information is incorrect, incomplete or untrue, or (iii) circumstances beyond the control of 
the Issuer or the Fiscal and Paying Agent. The Authorised Person will not be entitled to any 
interest or other compensation for the time delay of the relevant payment caused by such 
reasons. If any Authorised Person fails to deliver to the Fiscal and Paying Agent in time a 
proper Instruction in accordance with this Condition 5.5, then the Issuer’s obligation to pay 
any due amount will be discharged in a due and timely manner vis-à-vis such Authorised 
Person if the relevant amount is remitted to the Authorised Person in accordance with a proper 
Instruction pursuant to this Condition 5.5 and if it is debited from the Fiscal and Paying Agent’s 
account not later than within 15 Business Days after the Fiscal and Paying Agent has received 
a proper Instruction unless this Authorised Person’s claim has become prescribed. 


(f) If the Fiscal and Paying Agent cannot pay any amount due in connection with the Notes within 
a reasonable time after the Payment Date due to delays on the part of an Authorised Person, 
failure to submit a proper Instruction or other reasons on the part of the Authorised Person (e.g. 
in case of the person’s death), the Fiscal and Paying Agent may, without prejudice to the rights 
under Section 1953 of the Civil Code, deposit the amount due at the expense of the Authorised 
Person (or the person’s legal successor) at its own discretion either in a notarial custody, or the 
Fiscal and Paying Agent itself may take this amount into custody. By the amount owed being 
put into custody, the obligation of the Issuer and the Fiscal and Paying Agent in connection 
with the payment of such amount is fulfilled and the Authorised Person (or the person’s legal 
successor) acquires the right to receive the amount from custody (after costs have been 
deducted), but is not entitled to any additional payment, interest or other income in connection 
with the custody and subsequent payment of the amount. 


5.6 Change in the Payment Method 


The Issuer and the Fiscal and Paying Agent are jointly entitled to elect to change the payment procedure. 
However, such change may not negatively impact the position or interests of the Noteholders. This 
decision will be notified to Noteholders in accordance with the provisions of Condition 11. In other 
cases, the change would require prior approval by the Meeting in accordance with Condition 10. 


6. TAXATION 


Repayment of the nominal amount of the Notes and payments of interest in respect of the Notes by or 
on behalf of the Issuer will be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any 
taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, 
withheld or assessed by the Czech Republic or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, 
unless such withholding or deduction is required by applicable law. In such case, the Issuer will not be 
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obliged to pay to the Noteholders any additional amounts as a compensation of the withholding or 
deduction of any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature. 


The tax legislation of the Czech Republic, as the Issuer’s country of tax residence, and the tax legislation 
of the Noteholder’s state of tax residence (or of any other state whose tax legislation apply to them for 
other reasons) may have an impact on the income received from the Notes. For more information on 
the taxation regime please see chapter “Taxation” of the Prospectus. 


7. EVENTS OF DEFAULT 


7.1 Liquidation or Insolvency Event 


If (a) a court has issued a final decision or a decision has been taken by the shareholders’ meeting of 
the Issuer to wind up and liquidate the Issuer; or (b) a final declaration of insolvency of the Issuer is 
adopted, and such events under (a) or (b) above are continuing, then any Noteholder, at its discretion, 
by a written notice addressed to the Issuer and delivered to the Fiscal and Paying Agent at the address 
of the Specified Office (the Acceleration Notice), may require early redemption of the nominal amount 
of the Notes held by such Noteholder, and any accrued and unpaid interest in accordance with Condition 
3.3 upon which the Issuer will redeem such Notes (together with accrued and unpaid interest) in 
accordance with Condition 7.2. 


If, as a result of the exercise of the Bail-in Power against the Issuer, the Notes are cancelled, the nominal 
amount of the Notes is written off in whole or in part, the debts associated with the Notes are converted 
into capital instruments or debts of the Issuer or the Notes are otherwise converted into rights associated 
with the Notes, none of the foregoing shall be deemed to constitute an event of default by the Issuer or 
otherwise constitute a default by the Issuer or entitle the Noteholders to indemnification against the 
Issuer which is expressly waived by such persons to the fullest extent permitted by mandatory 
provisions of law. Any right of the Noteholders to compensation under Article 75 of the BRRD or 
Section 177 of the Recovery and Resolution Act, as the case may be, shall not be affected thereby. 


7.2 Maturity of the Accelerated Notes  


All amounts payable by the Issuer to any Noteholder according to Condition 7.1 will become due and 
payable on the last Business Day of the month following the month in which the Noteholder delivered 
the relevant Acceleration Notice (Early Redemption Date), unless the mandatory provisions of 
applicable law provide otherwise. 


7.3 Withdrawal of Acceleration Notice 


A Noteholder may withdraw the Acceleration Notice in writing, but only in relation to the Notes owned 
by such Noteholder and only if such withdrawal is addressed to the Issuer and delivered to the Fiscal 
and Paying Agent at the address of the Specified Office before the relevant amounts become payable in 
accordance with Condition 7.2. Such revocation will not affect any Acceleration Notice of any other 
Noteholders. 


7.4 Other Conditions for Early Redemption of the Notes 


The provisions of Condition 5 will apply mutatis mutandis to the early redemption of the Notes pursuant 
to this Condition 7. 
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8. PRESCRIPTION 


Any claims arising under the Notes will be prescribed by the expiry of three years from the date on 
which they could be exercised for the first time, but no later than ten years from the date on which they 
matured. 


9. FISCAL AND PAYING AGENT AND CALCULATION AGENT  


9.1 Fiscal and Paying Agent 


(a) Fiscal and Paying Agent and the Specified Office 


Unless changed in accordance with Condition 9.1(b), the Issuer will be the Fiscal and Paying Agent. 


Unless changed in accordance with Condition 9.1(b), the Specified Office will be at the following 
address: 
 
J&T BANKA, a.s. 
Sokolovská 700/113a 
186 00 Prague 8 
Czech Republic 


(b) Additional or Another Fiscal and Paying Agent and Specified Office  


The Issuer (or the Fiscal and Paying Agent based on the Agency Agreement (if entered into)) may at 
any time designate another or additional Specified Office of the Fiscal and Paying Agent. The Issuer 
reserves the right to appoint another or additional Fiscal and Paying Agent. If a change of the Fiscal and 
Paying Agent or the Specified Office occurs, the Issuer will notify the Noteholders of such change in 
the same manner in which the Conditions were published and any such change will become effective 
after the expiry of a period of 15 days from the date of such notice unless a later effective date is 
specified in any such notice. In any event, any such change that would otherwise become effective less 
than 15 days before or after a Payment Date will become effective on the 15th day after such Payment 
Date. If such change in the Fiscal and Paying Agent or Specified Office negatively impacts the position 
or interests of the Noteholders, it shall be decided upon by the Meeting in accordance with Condition 
10. 


(c) Relationship between the Fiscal and Paying Agent and the Noteholders 


In relation to the performance of obligations under the Agency Agreement concluded between the Issuer 
and the Fiscal and Paying Agent (other than the Issuer), the Fiscal and Paying Agent will act as the 
Issuer’s agent and will not be in any legal relationship with the Noteholders. 


9.2 Calculation Agent 


Unless changed in accordance with Condition 9.2(a), the Issuer will be the Calculation Agent. 


(a) Another and Additional Calculation Agent 


The Issuer reserves the right to appoint another or additional Calculation Agent. If a change of the 
Calculation Agent occurs, the Issuer will notify the Noteholders of any such change of the Calculation 
Agent in the manner in which the Conditions were published, and any such change will become 
effective on the expiration of 15 days following the day of such notice unless a later effective date is 
specified in such notice. In any case, any change that would otherwise become effective less than 15 
days before or after the date when the Calculation Agent is required to make any calculation in 
connection with the Notes will become effective on the 15th day of such date when the Calculation 
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Agent was required to make such calculation. If such change in the Calculation Agent negatively 
impacts the position or interests of the Noteholders, it shall be decided upon by the Meeting in 
accordance with Condition 10. 


(b) Relationship between the Calculation Agent and Noteholder 


In relation to the performance of obligations under the agreement with the Calculation Agent concluded 
between the Issuer and the Calculation Agent (other than the Issuer), the Calculation Agent will act as 
the Issuer´s agent and will not be in any legal relationship with the Noteholders. 


9.3 Common Representative 


No common representative of the Noteholders pursuant to Section 24(1) of the Bonds Act will be 
appointed in relation to the Notes on the Issue Date. 


10. MEETINGS AND CHANGES TO THE CONDITIONS AND REPLACEMENT OF THE 
NOTES 


10.1 Authority and Convocation of the Meeting 


(a) Right to Convene the Meeting 


The Issuer has the right to convene a meeting of Noteholders (the Meeting) if it deems it appropriate, 
in accordance with the Conditions and applicable legal regulations. A Noteholder or Noteholders may 
convene the Meeting only if the Issuer has not convened the Meeting, despite the Issuer’s obligation to 
do so pursuant to Condition 10.1(b). 


The costs of organizing and convening the Meeting will be borne by the Issuer. The costs related to the 
attendance at the Meeting will be borne by each participant itself. 


If the convening person is one or more Noteholders, such convening person will be required, no later 
than on the day on which the notice of the Meeting is served (see Condition 10.1(c)) (i) to deliver to the 
Fiscal and Paying Agent a request for a provision of a document listing the number of all Notes to which 
the Meeting relates that authorise the participation in the Meeting, i.e. an extract from the relevant 
register in the scope of the issue of the Notes; and (ii) where applicable, to pay advance to the Fiscal 
and Paying Agent for costs incurred in connection with its services related to the Meeting. The proper 
and timely delivery of the request under point (i) above and the payment of the advance under point (ii) 
above will be the conditions for validly convening the Meeting. 


(b) Meeting Convened by the Issuer 


The Issuer will be obliged to convene a Meeting without undue delay and to request the opinion of the 
Noteholders through the Meeting only if there is a proposal to amend the Conditions that requires 
consent of the Meeting under applicable law (the Material Change). In other cases, the Issuer is not 
obliged to convene the Meeting.  


(c) Notice of the Meeting 


The Issuer is obliged to give notice of the Meeting in the manner set out in Condition 11 no later than 
15 days prior to the date of the Meeting. If the Meeting is convened by the Noteholder (or Noteholders), 
such Noteholder(s) will deliver a notice of the Meeting (containing all statutory elements) sufficiently 
in advance (at least 20 days prior to the proposed date of the Meeting) to the Issuer at the address of the 
Specified Office. The Issuer will promptly ensure that such notice of the Meeting is served in the manner 
and within the time limit specified in the first sentence of this Condition 10.1(c) (however, the Issuer is 
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responsible neither for the content of such notice nor for any delay or default in complying with any 
statutory time limits by a Noteholder who convened the Meeting). The notice of the Meeting must 
contain at least (i) the business name, identification number and registered office of the Issuer; (ii) the 
identification of the Notes, at least the Note title, the Issue Date and the ISIN; (iii) the venue, date and 
time of the Meeting provided that the Meeting may only take place in Prague and the date of the Meeting 
must fall on a day that is a Business Day, and the time of the Meeting cannot take place earlier than 4 
p.m.; (iv) the agenda of the Meeting and, in the case of any proposed amendment(s) to the Conditions 
within the meaning of Condition 10.1(b), the specification of the proposed amendment(s) and 
justification thereof; and (v) the day that is the record date for the attendance at the Meeting. The 
Meeting shall be authorised to decide on the proposed resolutions that have not been contained in the 
notice of the Meeting only in the presence of and with the consent of all Noteholders. 


If the reason for convocation of the Meeting is not continuing, the person, who convened the Meeting, 
will revoke the convocation of the Meeting in the same manner as convened. 


10.2 Persons Authorised to Attend and Vote at the Meeting 


(a) As the Notes are issued in the form of book-entry bonds, a person entitled to attend and vote at the 
Meeting (the Person Authorised to Attend the Meeting) will only be (i) the Noteholder recorded as a 
Noteholder at the end of the accounting day preceding the date of the Meeting by seven days (the 
Meeting Attendance Record Date) or (ii) a person who provides to the Issuer and Fiscal and Paying 
Agent a certificate of the custodian in whose owner’s securities account with the Central Depository 
the relevant number of the Notes was recorded as of the Meeting Attendance Record Date certifying 
that such person was a Noteholder as at the Meeting Attendance Record Date and that the Notes held 
by such person are registered in the securities account of the custodian by reason of their custodianship. 
The certificate according to the preceding sentence must be in content and form satisfactory to the Fiscal 
and Paying Agent. No transfers of the Notes made after the Meeting Attendance Record Date will be 
taken into account. 


(b) Voting Rights 


Each Person Authorised to Attend the Meeting will have such number of votes out of the total number 
of votes that corresponds to the ratio between the outstanding nominal amount of the Notes held by 
such person as of the Meeting Attendance Record Date to the aggregate outstanding nominal amount 
of all issued Notes as of the Meeting Attendance Record Date. No voting right will be attached to any 
Notes held by the Issuer as of the Meeting Attendance Record Date that have not been cancelled by the 
Issuer within the meaning of Condition 4, and no such Notes will be taken into account when 
determining the presence of a quorum at the Meeting and determining the number of votes of the 
Noteholders for decision-making purposes. If the Meeting decides on recalling a common 
representative, the common representative (if they are a Person Authorised to Attend the Meeting) may 
not exercise his/her/its voting right at such Meeting. 


(c) Attendance of the Meeting by Other Persons 


The Issuer is obliged to attend the Meeting, either in person or by proxy. Other persons entitled to attend 
the Meeting are Noteholders, proxies of the Noteholders, proxies of the Fiscal and Paying Agent, the 
common representative of the Noteholders (unless he is a Person Authorised to Attend the Meeting) 
and any guests invited by the Issuer and/or the Fiscal and Paying Agent. 


10.3 Course of the Meeting; Decision-making 


(a) Quorum 
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The Meeting will constitute a quorum if attended by the Persons Authorised to Attend the Meeting, who 
were, as of the Meeting Attendance Record Date, owners of the Notes the nominal amount of which 
represents more than 30% of the aggregate nominal amount of the issued and outstanding Notes. If the 
Meeting decides on recalling a common representative, any votes belonging to the common 
representative (if he is a Person Authorised to Attend the Meeting) will not be included in the total 
number of votes. Before opening the Meeting the Issuer will inform the Meeting, either alone or through 
the Fiscal and Paying Agent, about the number of all the Notes in respect of which the Persons 
Authorised to Attend the Meeting are entitled to vote at the Meeting in accordance with the Conditions. 


(b) Chairman of the Meeting 


The Meeting convened by the Issuer will be chaired by a chairman appointed by the Issuer. The Meeting 
convened by a Noteholder or the Noteholders will be chaired by a chairman elected by a simple majority 
of votes of the attending Persons Authorised to Attend the Meeting. Until the chairman is elected, the 
Meeting will be chaired by a person appointed by the Noteholder(s) who convened the Meeting, and 
the election of the chairman must be the first item on the agenda of any Meeting not convened by the 
Issuer. 


(c) Common Representative 


The Meeting may elect, by resolution, an individual or a legal entity to act as a common representative. 
The common representative is authorised under the law (i) to enforce, on behalf of all of the 
Noteholders, any rights associated with the Notes to the extent specified in a resolution adopted by the 
Meeting, (ii) to supervise the compliance with the Conditions by the Issuer, and (iii) to execute, on 
behalf of all of the Noteholders, any other acts or protect the Noteholders’ interests in the manner and 
to the extent specified in a resolution adopted by the Meeting. The Meeting may recall the common 
representative in the same way in which the common representative was elected or replace him with a 
new common representative.  


(d) Decision-making at the Meeting 


The Meeting will decide on any issues on its agenda in the form of resolutions. Any resolution that (i) 
approves a proposal on any amendment to these Conditions that requires the Noteholders’ consent under 
Condition 10.1(b) or under applicable law, or (ii) appoints or recalls a common representative, will 
require the affirmative vote of at least 3/4 (three-quarters) of the attending Persons Authorised to Attend 
the Meeting. Unless provided otherwise by law, any other resolutions will require a simple majority of 
votes of the attending Persons Authorised to Attend the Meeting in order to be passed. 


(e) Adjournment of a Meeting 


If within one hour after the scheduled opening of the Meeting a quorum is not present, then such 
Meeting will be automatically dissolved without further notice. 


If the Meeting which is to decide on amendments to the Conditions under Condition 10.1(b) does not 
have a quorum within 1 (one) hour from the scheduled opening of the Meeting, the Issuer or another 
convenor will convene, if necessary, a substitute Meeting to be held not later than six weeks from the 
date for which the original Meeting was scheduled. The holding of a substitute Meeting with the 
unchanged agenda will be notified to the Noteholders not later than 15 days from the scheduled date of 
the original Meeting. The Issuer is also entitled to convene a substitute Meeting at the same time as the 
original Meeting or at any time before a regular Meeting. In case of a substitute meeting, the deadline 
for notification of the Meeting pursuant to Condition 10.1(c) is shortened to five Business Days before 
the day of the substitute Meeting. No later than on the day following the date of the original Meeting, 
in the manner specified in Condition 11, the Issuer shall notify the Noteholders that the original Meeting 
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was unable to reach a resolution. The substitute Meeting will constitute quorum irrespective of the 
conditions for quorum set out in Condition 10.3(a). 


(f) No right to an early redemption 


Because the Notes are intended to qualify as Tier 2 Instruments, Section 23(6) of the Bonds Act applies 
to the Notes. Under Section 23(6) of the Bonds Act, no Noteholder may request early redemption of the 
Notes, even if a Meeting approved a Material Change and such Noteholder voted against the approval 
of such Material Change or did not attend the Meeting on which such Material Change was approved. 


10.4 Minutes of the Meeting 


Minutes of the business discussed and resolved at the Meeting will be taken by the person who convened 
the Meeting or by a person authorised by such person within 30 days from the date of the Meeting. The 
minutes will contain the conclusions of the Meeting, including, without limitation, any resolutions 
adopted by such Meeting. Notwithstanding Section 23(8) of the Bonds Act, if the Meeting is convened 
by a Noteholder or the Noteholders, the minutes of such Meeting must also be delivered to the Issuer at 
the Specified Office address not later than 25 days after the date of the Meeting. The Issuer is obliged 
to keep the minutes of the Meeting until the rights under the Notes expire under the statute of limitations. 
The minutes of the Meeting will be available for inspection by the Noteholders during the usual business 
hours at the Specified Office. Within 30 days from the date of the Meeting, the Issuer (either by itself 
or through an authorised agent, in particular, the Fiscal and Paying Agent) will publish all resolutions 
of the Meeting in the manner specified in Condition 11 and the same manner in which it published these 
Conditions. If the Meeting discussed any of the Material Changes, a notarial record must be made with 
respect to the attendance at the Meeting and with respect to the decisions made by the Meeting. If the 
Meeting adopts any of those changes, the notarial record will name the Persons Authorised to Attend 
the Meeting who voted in favour of those changes and the numbers of Notes which each of these 
Noteholders holds as at the Meeting Attendance Record Date. 


10.5 Decisions adopted outside of a Meeting 


(a) Notice of the proposed decision 


In accordance with these Conditions, decision-making outside a Meeting is also permissible. In such a 
case, the Issuer will notify all Noteholders of the draft decision in the manner specified in Condition 11. 
In addition to such notification, the Issuer or the Fiscal and Paying Agent may, at their discretion, notify 
the Noteholders of the draft decision also in another appropriate way. The proposed decision must 
contain at least: 


(i) the business name, identification number and registered office of the Issuer; 


(ii) the identification of the Notes, at least the Note title, the Issue Date and the ISIN; 


(iii) the text of the proposed decision and justification thereof; 


(iv) the deadline for delivering the Noteholder’s statement, which is at least 15 days from 
the date of the notification; 


(v) the Meeting Attendance Record Date; 


(vi) documents necessary for the adoption of the proposed decision; and 


(vii) other information and data at the convenor’s discretion. 


(b) Persons Authorised to Make Decisions outside of a Meeting 
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Only a Noteholder who would be a Person Authorised to Attend the Meeting according to Condition 
10.2 if a Meeting were to take place is entitled to participate in decision-making outside a Meeting. The 
days specified in Condition 10.2 as Meeting Attendance Record Dates are also considered meeting 
attendance record dates for decision-making outside a Meeting, and only for these purposes the day the 
notification of the proposed decision was delivered shall be considered the day on which a Meeting 
took place, unless a different date is set out in the notification. 


(c) Adoption of a decision 


If a Noteholder does not deliver their approval of the proposed decision to the convenor within the time 
limit set by the proposed decision, such Noteholder shall be considered as voting against the proposed 
decision. The decisive majority is calculated from the total number of votes of all Noteholders. The 
decision is adopted on the day on which the statement of the last Noteholder on the proposed decision 
was delivered, or on the expiration of the last day of the time limit set for the delivery of the Noteholder’s 
statement, if the number of votes needed to adopt the decision was reached. If the proposed decision 
constitutes a Material Change, an officially verified handwritten signature is required for a vote to be 
valid, or the vote must be made via a data box. 


(d) Other provisions 


For decision-making outside the Meeting, the provisions of Conditions 10.1 to 10.4 shall apply mutatis 
mutandis. The day of the Meeting is considered to be the last day of the time limit set for the delivery 
of the Noteholder's statement. For the content of the notarial record, Section 80gd(2) of Act No. 
358/1992 Coll., the Notary Code, as amended (the Notary Code), shall apply proportionately, but 
instead of the data identifying the notarial record of the proposed decision, the content of the proposed 
decision shall be indicated. The declaration pursuant to Section 80gd(2) letter j) of the Notary Code will 
not be indicated. 


10.6 Substitution and Variation 


If, after the Issue Date: 


(a) the Capital Disqualification Event occurs and is continuing; or 


(b) the Tax Event occurs and is continuing; 


the Issuer may, without the consent of the Noteholders or the approval of the Meeting, substitute all 
(but not some only) of the Notes or vary the Conditions, so that they are substituted for, or varied to, 
become, or remain, Eligible Notes, provided that such variation or substitution does not negatively 
impact the position or interests of the Noteholders. Substitution or variation will only be made if it is in 
accordance with the Applicable Banking Regulations and with the prior approval of the Relevant 
Supervisor, if such approval is required under the Applicable Banking Regulations. 


For the purposes of the preceding paragraph, there shall be no negative impact on the position or 
interests of the Noteholders, in particular where the notes, which will substitute the Notes or the terms 
and conditions of which will be the result of the variation of the Conditions of the relevant Notes, will 
be Eligible Notes after such substitution or variation. 


Following the receipt of the prior approval of the Relevant Supervisor, if such approval is required 
under the Applicable Banking Regulations at the relevant time, the Issuer will notify the substitution or 
variation to the Fiscal and Paying Agent and to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 11 not 
earlier than 60 and not later than 20 days prior to the date on which such substitution or variation is to 
take place. Such notice shall be irrevocable and will specify the date for such substitution or variation, 
details of how such substitution or variation will take place and the date on which such substitution or 







  
 


  
0093318-0000041 EUO1: 2012389325.26 77  


 


 


variation shall become effective as well as details on where the Noteholders may inspect or obtain 
copies of the amended Conditions of the relevant Notes.  


The Issuer will, no later than 5 Business Days before: 


(a) in the case of substitution of Notes, the issue date of the relevant substitute notes; or 


(b) in the case of variation of the Conditions of the Notes, the effective date of the relevant 
variation; 


deliver to the Fiscal and Paying Agent and, if elected, to the common representative of the Noteholders, 
and make available to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 11 a certificate of the Issuer signed 
by a person authorised to act on behalf of the Issuer and confirming that the substitution or variation 
pursuant to this Condition 10.6 will not negatively impact the position or interests of the Noteholders. 


No costs or charges shall be borne by the Noteholders in connection with any substitution or variation 
pursuant to this Condition 10.6.  


Noteholders, by virtue of subscribing and/or purchasing and holding any Notes, accept the substitution 
of the Notes or variation of the Conditions of such Notes and to grant to the Issuer full power and 
authority to take any action and/or to execute and deliver any document in the name and/or on behalf 
of the Noteholders which is necessary or convenient to complete the substitution of the Notes or 
variation of the Conditions of such Notes. This consent and authorization may be revoked only if it 
appears to be reasonably probable that the substitution of the Notes or variation of the Conditions will 
have a negative impact on the position or interests of the Noteholders. Notwithstanding the preceding 
sentences of this paragraph, the Noteholders shall provide the Issuer with all necessary cooperation 
required for the substitution or variation pursuant to this Article 10.6. 


In these Conditions: 


Eligible Notes means, at any time, any notes issued directly by the Issuer if: 


(a) (1) in respect of Notes where the substitution or variation is triggered by the occurrence of a 
Capital Disqualification Event, the terms and conditions of such notes comply with the 
then-current requirements for their inclusion in the Tier 2 Capital; and (2) in respect of Notes 
where the substitution and variation is triggered by the occurrence of a Tax Event, any 
payments by the Issuer in respect of the notes will be fully deductible by the Issuer for the 
Czech Republic’s corporate income tax purposes; 


(b) they have terms not materially less favourable to Noteholders than the terms of the relevant 
Notes (as reasonably determined by the Issuer in consultation with an independent adviser of 
recognized standing); 


(c) they have the same denomination and aggregate outstanding nominal amount, rate of interest 
and manner of determination of rate of interest, Payment Dates and preserve any existing rights 
to any accrued and unpaid interest and any other amounts payable under the relevant Notes 
which have accrued to Noteholders and not been paid as in the relevant Notes immediately 
prior to the relevant amendment; 


(d) they have at least the same ranking as the relevant Notes pursuant to Condition 2 on the Issue 
Date of the Notes; 


(e) they do not contain any terms providing for mandatory deferral or cancellation of payments of 
interest and/or of their nominal amount, preserve the obligations (including the obligations 
arising from the exercise of any right) of the Issuer as to redemption of the relevant Notes, 
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including (without limitation) as to timing of, and amounts payable upon, such redemption and 
do not contain any terms providing for loss absorption through principal write-down or 
conversion to ordinary shares (but without prejudice to any acknowledgement of bail-in 
powers substantially similar to Condition 13); and 


(f) they are admitted to trading on a regulated market selected by the Issuer, if the Notes were 
admitted to trading on a regulated market immediately prior to the relevant substitution or 
variation pursuant to this Condition 10.6. 


11. NOTICES 


Any notice to the Noteholders concerning the Notes will be published in Czech or English languages 
on the Issuer’s website www.jtbank.cz, if in English in the Mandatory Disclosure section, EMTN 
Programme subsection, or if in Czech, in the Důležité informace section, Emise cenných papírů 
subsection, under J&T Banka a.s. file. If the mandatory provisions of applicable law determine any 
other method for notifying or publishing any of the notices, such notices will be notified or published 
in accordance with such provisions of law. If a notice is published in more than one manner, the date of 
the first publication will be considered as the date of the notice. 


12. GOVERNING LAW AND LANGUAGE 


Any rights and obligations under the Notes (including any non-contractual rights and obligations under 
or in connection with the Notes) will be governed by, and interpreted and construed in accordance with, 
the laws of the Czech Republic. These Conditions may be translated into other languages. In the event 
of any inconsistencies between the various language versions of the Conditions, the English language 
version shall prevail.  


The court competent to resolve any disputes between the Issuer and the Noteholders that may arise 
based on, or in connection with, the Notes (including disputes relating to non-contractual obligations 
arising therefrom and disputes concerning their existence and validity) is solely the Municipal Court in 
Prague, unless the agreement on the choice of territorial jurisdiction is not possible in a particular case 
and the law provides for another locally competent court.  


13. BAIL-IN POWER 


13.1 Acknowledgement of the Bail-in Power 


Notwithstanding and to the exclusion of any other term of the Conditions or any other agreements, 
arrangements or understanding between the Issuer and the Noteholders, on the basis of these Conditions 
and, within the limits of mandatory provisions of applicable law, by acquisition of the ownership right 
to the Notes, each Noteholder acknowledges and accepts that any obligation of the Issuer associated 
with the Notes may be subject to the exercise of the Bail-in Power by the Relevant Resolution Authority 
and acknowledges, accepts, consents to and agrees to be bound by: 


(a) the effect of the exercise of any Bail-in Power by the Relevant Resolution Authority, which 
exercise may (without limitation) include and result in any of the following, or a combination 
thereof: 


(i) the reduction of all, or a portion, of the Relevant Amounts in respect of any Note; 


(ii) the conversion of all, or a portion, of the Relevant Amounts in respect of any Note 
into shares, other securities or other obligations of the Issuer or another person, and 
the issue to or conferral on the Noteholder of such shares, securities or obligations, 
including by means of an amendment, modification or variation of the Conditions 
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and, for the avoidance of doubt, also any other transfer of any obligations of the Issuer 
associated with the Notes from the Issuer to a third person; 


(iii) the cancellation of any Note or the Relevant Amounts in respect of any Note; and 


(iv) the amendment or alteration of the maturity of any obligation for the repayment of 
the nominal amount of the Notes or amendment of any obligation for the payment of 
interest payable on any Note, or the date on which interest becomes payable, 
including by suspending payment for a temporary period and, for the avoidance of 
doubt, also any other suspension of any obligations of the Issuer associated with the 
Notes for a certain period of time; and 


(b) the variation of any Conditions, as deemed necessary by the Relevant Resolution Authority, to 
give effect to the exercise of any Bail-in Power by the Relevant Resolution Authority. 


In these Conditions: 


Bail-in Power means any write-down, conversion, transfer, modification or suspension power existing 
from time to time under, and exercised in compliance with, Applicable Banking Regulations, including 
the Recovery and Resolution Act, or under other applicable laws, regulations, requirements, guidelines, 
rules, standards and policies relating to the transposition of the BRRD and Regulation (EU) No 
806/2014 as amended from time to time (the SRM Regulation) pursuant to which the obligations of 
the Issuer (or an affiliate of the Issuer) can be reduced (in part or in whole), cancelled, written down, 
suspended, transferred, varied or otherwise modified in any way, or converted into shares, other 
securities or other obligations of the Issuer or any other person, whether in connection with the 
implementation of a bail-in tool following placement in resolution or otherwise.  


Relevant Amounts means the obligations of the Issuer for the repayment of the outstanding nominal 
amount of any Note, together with the obligations of the Issuer for the payment of any accrued but 
unpaid interest on the Note. References to such amounts will include obligations that have become due 
and payable, but which have not been paid, prior to the exercise of any Bail-in Power by the Relevant 
Resolution Authority. 


13.2 Notification to Noteholders 


Upon an exercise of the Bail-in Power by the Relevant Resolution Authority concerning the Notes, the 
Issuer will notify the Noteholders without undue delay in accordance with Condition 11 of the exercise 
of any such power. Any delay or failure by the Issuer to notify the Noteholders of the exercise of the 
Bail-in Power by the Relevant Resolution Authority shall not affect the validity and enforceability of 
the bail-in or write-down and conversion powers of the Relevant Resolution Authority. 


13.3 Proportionate Performance of the Bail-in Power 


If the Relevant Resolution Authority exercises the Bail-in Power in respect of a portion of the nominal 
amount of Notes, then, unless otherwise decided by the Relevant Resolution Authority, the write-down 
or conversion will be made in relation to the Notes pro rata to the total nominal amount of the Notes 
held by each Noteholder. 


14. DEFINITIONS 


In these Conditions, the following terms shall have the following meaning: 


Acceleration Notice has the meaning as set out in Condition 7.1. 
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Additional Subscription Period has the meaning as set out in Condition 1.2. 


Additional Tier 1 Instruments has the meaning as set out in Condition 2.1. 


Adjustment Spread has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.4. 


Agency Agreement has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the Notes. 


Applicable Banking Regulations means, at any time, the laws, regulations, requirements, guidelines 
and policies relating to capital adequacy, solvency or resolution then applicable to the Issuer and/or the 
Group including, without limitation to the generality of the foregoing, the CRD, the CRR, BRRD, the 
Recovery and Resolution Act, the Insolvency Act and those laws, regulations, requirements, guidelines 
and policies relating to capital adequacy, solvency and/or resolution adopted by the Relevant Supervisor 
and/or the Relevant Resolution Authority from time to time and then in effect (whether or not such 
requirements, guidelines or policies have the force of law and whether or not they are applied generally 
or specifically to the Issuer). 


Authorised Persons or Authorised Person mean the persons or person entitled to the payment of 
interest on the Notes and repayment of the nominal amount of the Notes, determined according to the 
rules specified for individual cases in Condition 5.4, unless otherwise stipulated by applicable law. 


Bail-in Power has the meaning as set out in Condition 13.1. 


Benchmark Event has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.4. 


Bonds Act has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the Notes. 


BRRD means Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 
establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms, as 
amended, including all implementing regulations, or another directive which may replace it, as 
implemented in Czech law by the Recovery and Resolution Act or by other legal regulations. 


Business Day means any day on which banks in the Czech Republic are open and interbank transactions 
are settled in CZK. 


Business Day Convention has the meaning as set out in Condition 5.3. 


Calculation Agent has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the Notes. 


Capital Disqualification Event has the meaning as set out in Condition 4.2(b)(ii). 


Capital Market Act has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the Notes. 


Central Depository means Centrální depozitář cenných papírů, a.s., with its registered office at Prague 
1, Rybná 14, Postal Code 110 00, ID No.: 250 81 489, registered in the Commercial Register under file 
no. B 4308 maintained by the Municipal Court in Prague. 


CET 1 Instruments has the meaning as set out in Condition 2.1. 


Civil Code means Act No. 89/2012 Coll., Civil Code, as amended. 


Conditions or Condition has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the 
Notes. 







  
 


  
0093318-0000041 EUO1: 2012389325.26 81  


 


 


CRD means any of, or any combination of, the CRD Directive, the CRR, and any CRD Implementing 
Measures. 


CRD Directive means Directive 2013/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 
2013 on access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions 
and investment firms, as amended. 


CRD Implementing Measures means any rules implementing the CRD Directive or the CRR which 
may from time to time be introduced, including, but not limited to, delegated or implementing acts 
(regulatory technical standards) adopted by the European Commission, national laws and regulations, 
and regulations and guidelines issued by the Relevant Supervisor and/or Relevant Resolution Authority 
or any other relevant authority, which are applicable to the Issuer (on a stand-alone basis) or the Group 
(on a consolidated basis) and which prescribe the requirements to be fulfilled by financial instruments 
for inclusion in the regulatory capital or the minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities, 
as the case may be, of the Issuer (on a stand-alone basis) or the Group (on a consolidated basis). 


CRR means Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 
2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms and amending Regulation 
(EU) No 648/2012 (Capital Requirements Regulation), as amended. 


Czech National Bank means the Czech National Bank, which performs supervision of the capital 
market in accordance with Act No. 15/1998 Coll. on Supervision in the Capital Market Area, as 
amended, or another authority which may have the competence of the Czech National Bank in the future. 


CZK means the Czech Koruna, the lawful currency of the Czech Republic. 


Early Redemption Date has the meaning as set out in Conditions 4.2(a), 4.2(b)(i), 4.2(c)(i), 5.2 or 7.2. 


Eligible Notes has the meaning as set out in Condition 10.6. 


EUR, Euro or euro refer to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic 
and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended. 


Final Maturity Date has the meaning as set out in Condition 4.1. 


Fiscal and Paying Agent has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the 
Notes. 


Fixed Day Count Fraction has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.3(a). 


Fixed Rate Interest Period has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.3(a). 


Fixed Rate of Interest has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.3(a). 


Floating Day Count Fraction has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.3(b). 


Floating Rate Interest Period has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.3(b). 


Floating Rate of Interest has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.3(b). 


Group has the meaning as set out in Condition 4.2(b)(ii). 


Hague Convention has the meaning as set out in Condition 5.5(a). 
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Independent Adviser has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.4. 


Insolvency Act means Act No. 182/2006 Coll., on Insolvency and Methods of its Resolution 
(Insolvency Act), as amended. 


Instruction has the meaning as set out in Condition 5.5(a). 


Interest Determination Date has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.3(b). 


Interest Payment Date has the meaning as set out in Condition 5.2. 


Interest Period has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.1. 


Issue has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the Notes. 


Issue Date has the meaning as set out in Condition 1.2. 


Issuer has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the Notes. 


Margin has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.3(b). 


Material Change has the meaning as set out in Condition 10.1(b). 


Maturity Date means the Final Maturity Date, the Early Redemption Date and any other day designated 
as the Maturity Date. 


Meeting has the meaning as set out in Condition 10.1(a). 


Meeting Attendance Record Date has the meaning as set out in Condition 10.2. 


MREL Eligible Liabilities has the meaning as set out in 4.2(b)(ii). 


Noteholder has the meaning as set out in Condition 1.5(a). 


Notes has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the Notes. 


Original Reference Rate has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.4. 


Payment Date means each Interest Payment Date and Maturity Date. 


Payment Record Date means Record Date for Interest Payment and/or Record Date for Nominal 
Amount Repayment. 


Person Authorised to Attend the Meeting has the meaning as set out in Condition 10.2. 


Prospectus Regulation means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the 
Council on the prospectus to be published in the event of a public offering or admission of securities to 
trading on a regulated market, as amended. 


Recovery and Resolution Act means Act No. 374/2015 Coll., on Recovery and Resolution in the 
Financial Market, as amended. 


Regulated Market of the PSE means the regulated market of Burza cenných papírů Praha, a.s., with 
its registered office at Rybná 14/682, 110 05 Prague 1, ID No.: 471 15 629, registered with the 
Commercial Register kept by the Municipal Court in Prague, File No. B 1773. 
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Relevant Amounts has the meaning as set out in Condition 13.1. 


Relevant Nominating Body has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.4. 


Relevant Supervisor means the Czech National Bank or any successor or replacement entity having 
primary responsibility for the prudential oversight and supervision of the Issuer. 


Relevant Resolution Authority means the Czech National Bank or any successor or replacement entity 
having responsibility for the recovery and resolution of the Issuer and/or the Group. 


Reset Date has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.1. 


Reference Rate has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.3(b). 


Record Date for Nominal Amount Repayment means the day that precedes by 30 days the relevant 
Maturity Date, provided, however, that for the purposes of determining the Record Date for Nominal 
Amount Repayment, such Maturity Date will not be adjusted pursuant to the Business Day Convention. 


Record Date for Interest Payment means the day that precedes by 30 days the relevant Interest 
Payment Date, provided, however, that for the purposes of determining the Record Date for Interest 
Payment, such Interest Payment Date will not be adjusted pursuant to the Business Day Convention. 


Set-Off Right has the meaning as set out in Condition 2.2. 


SRM Regulation has the meaning as set out in Condition 13.1. 


Subscription Period has the meaning as set out in Condition 1.2. 


Successor Rate has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.4. 


Specified Office has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the Notes. 


Tax Event has the meaning as set out in Condition 4.2(c)(ii). 


Tax Law Change has the meaning as set out in Condition 4.2(c)(ii). 


Tier 2 Capital has the meaning as set out in Condition 4.2(b)(ii). 


Tier 2 Instruments has the meaning as set out in Condition 2.1. 
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP 


Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 


 Year ended 31 December 


 
 


Six months ended 
30 June 


 2023 2022 (restated)* 


 
 


2024 
 (in CZK million) 
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 140,771 77,738   169,117 
Due from banks and other financial 
institutions 198 417   


 
491 


Positive fair value of derivatives 4,832 6,889   3,537 
Investment securities for trading 5,616 6,627   8,357 
Investment securities mandatorily at 
fair value through profit or loss 10,015 9,046   


 
10,970 


Investment securities at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 11,269 6,682   


 
11,558 


Investment securities at amortised 
cost 4,540 4,801   


18,336 


Of which pledged as collateral 
(repurchase agreements) 4,338 4,330 


 
4,315 


Loans and advances to customers at 
amortised cost 101,456 106,149   


 
104,977 


Investment in associates and joint 
ventures - 10 


- 


Goodwill 123 131   123 
Investment property 601 829   609 
Property, plant and equipment 2,091 3,072   2,080 
Intangible assets 120 238   34 
Current income tax receivable 21 3   30 
Deferred tax asset 696 511   666 
Disposal groups held for sale 467 35   26 
Other assets 10,268 4,075   14,605 
Total assets 293,084 227,253   345,516 
    
Liabilities and equity    
Deposits and loans from banks 9,191 10,530 28,993 
Deposits from customers 217,837 164,022 243,735 
Negative fair value of derivatives 2,432 3,935 2,114 
Investment securities issued 3,287 301 3,463 
Subordinated debt 1,256 256 2,001 
Provisions 1,652 1,508 1,475 
Current income tax liability 1,202 1,101 1,343 
Deferred tax liability 10 61 11 
Other liabilities 15,260 9,683 21,162 
Total liabilities 252,127 191,397 304,297 
    
Equity    
Share capital 10,638 10,638 10,638 
Retained earnings and other reserves 21,442 16,337 22,279 
Other equity instruments 8,868 8,868 8,293 
Equity 40,948 35,843 41,210 
Non-controlling interest 9 13 9 
Total equity 40,957 35,856 41,219 
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Total equity and liabilities 293,084 227,253 345,516 


* During the year 2023 the Group considered the IFRS Interpretations Committee agenda decision on the 
classification of a demand deposit arising from a contract with a third party which do not result in the deposit 
no longer being cash, unless those restrictions change the nature of the deposit in a way that it would no longer 
meet the definition of cash in IAS 7. Based on that agenda decision, the Group reassessed Obligatory minimum 
reserves in central banks and concluded them to be a component of “Cash and cash equivalents” in its statement 
of financial position and statement of cash flows (as in the separate statement above). As a result, the Group 
reclassified its Obligatory minimum reserves in central banks totalling CZK 756 million at 31 December 2022 
(CZK 4 875 million at 1 January 2022) from the line “Due from banks and other financial institution” to the 
line “Cash and cash equivalents”. 


Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 


 Year ended 31 December 


 
 


Six months ended 30 June 
 2023 2022 2024 2023 
 (in CZK million) 
Interest income calculated using 
the effective interest rate method 17,228 11,306 


 
9,905 


 
7,841 


Other interest income 481 357 198 245 
Interest expense (8,333) (4,625) (5,687) (3,678) 
Net interest income 9,376 7,038 4,416 4,408 
     
Fee and commission income 2,662 2,215 1,549 1,228 
Fee and commission expenses (373) (324) (180) (167) 
Net fee and commission income 2,289 1,891 1,369 1,061 
     
Net income from trading and 
investments 1,957 2,154 


931 1,263 


Other operating income 615 436 82 299 
Operating income 14,237 11,519 6,798 7,031 
     
Personnel expenses (1,988) (1,723) (1,034) (1,028) 
Loss on sales of subsidiaries (883) - - - 
Other operating expenses (306) (1,764) (71) (165) 
Depreciation and amortisation (2,257) (268) (1,163) (1,327) 
Operating expenses (5,434) (3,755) (2,268) (2,520) 
     
Profit before allowances, 
provisions and income tax 8,803 7,764 


 
4,530 


 
4,511 


Net change in loss allowances for 
financial instruments  (1,723) (3,032) 


 
564 


 
(562) 


Net profit from changes of loans 
and other receivables (42) (115) 


 
1 


 
75 


Profit before tax, excluding profit 
from equity accounted investees 7,038 4,617 


 
5,095 


 
4,024 


Profit/(loss) from equity accounted 
investees, net of tax (1) 142 


 
- 


 
(1) 


Profit before tax 7,037 4,759 5,095 4,023 
Income tax  (1,645) (1,379) (1,151) (910) 
Profit for the period 5,392 3,380 3,944 3,113 
Attributable to:     
Shareholders of the parent 
company 


5,388 
3,270 


3,942 3,113 


Non-controlling interest 4 110 2 - 
Profit for the period 5,392 3,380 3,944 3,113 
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Other comprehensive income – 
items that are or may be 
reclassified subsequently to profit 
or loss:   


  


Revaluation reserve – financial 
assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income – debt 
instruments   


  


Remeasurement to fair value (537) (745) (24) (369) 
Revaluation recycled to profit or 


loss 
- 


20 
- - 


Expected credit losses 299 647 (8) 164 
Related tax 50 47 7 23 


Foreign currency translation 
differences 


1,480 
353 


17 (142) 


     
Other comprehensive income – 
items that will not be reclassified 
to profit or loss in subsequent 
periods:   


  


Revaluation reserve – financial 
assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income – equity 
instruments   


  


Remeasurement to fair value 61 (104) 37 68 
Related tax - 22 - (14) 


Other comprehensive income for 
the period, net of tax 


 
1,353 240 


 
29 


 
(270) 


Total comprehensive income for 
the period 


6,745 
3,620 


3,973 2,843 


Attributable to:     
Shareholders of the parent 
company 


6,736 
3,510 


3,971 2,843 


Non-controlling interest 9 110 2 - 
Total comprehensive income for 
the period 


 
6,745 3,620 


 
3,973 


 
2,843 


Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June 


 2023 
2022 


(restated)* 
2024 2023 


 (in CZK million) 
Cash flows from operating 
activities   


  


Profit before tax from 
continuing operations 7,037 4,759 


 
5,095 


 
4,023 


Adjustments for:     
Depreciation and amortisation 306 268 71 165 
Net loss from changes of loans 
and other receivables 42 115 


 
(1) 


 
(75) 


Net change in loss allowances 
for financial instruments  1,723 3,032 


 
(564) 


 
562 


Net book value of sold 
intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment 216 (51) 


 
 


87 


 
 


72 
Net change in fair value of 
investment property and 
property, plant and equipment (32) - 


 
 


(13) 


 
 


60 
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Change in other provisions  81 50 (134) (169) 
Change in revaluation of 
financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss (357) 349 


 
 


(497) 


 
 


66 
Loss from subsidiaries sold 883   - - - 
Profit/(loss) from equity 
accounted investees 1 (142) 


 
- 


 
1 


Unrealised foreign exchange 
gains/(losses), net 940 265 


 
(194) 


 
579 


(Increase) / decrease in 
operating assets:   


  


Due from banks and other 
financial institutions 219 638 


 
(293) 


 
(5,835) 


Loans and other advances to 
customers 1,917 (16,190) 


 
(2,553) 


 
8,617 


Financial assets at FVTPL 356 (3,184) (3,199) (4,304) 
Prepayments, accrued income 
and other assets (8,179) 1,339 


 
(4,431) 


 
(1,394) 


Disposal groups held for sale - 79 - - 
Increase / (decrease) in 
operating liabilities:   


  


Deposits and loans from banks 2,069 5,233 19,802 10,392 
Deposits from customers 53,815 9,973 25,898 19,728 


Other liabilities 5,704 (3,885) 
 


6,099 
 


324 
Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss - (456) 


 
- 


 
(3) 


Net increase / (decrease) in 
fair values of derivatives   


  


Fair value of derivative 
instruments 575 (3,513) 


 
977 


 
(535) 


Tax effect     


Income tax expenses paid (1,790) (315) 
 


(977) 
 


(296) 
Net cash flows from operating 
activities 65,526 (1,636) 


 
45,173 


 
31,978 


     
Cash flows from investing 
activities   


  


Acquisition of property plant 
and equipment and intangible 
assets (199) (244) 


 
 


(22) 


 
 


(113) 
Acquisition of subsidiaries 
(excl. cash acquired) 237 - 


 
- 


 
- 


Disposal of subsidiaries (excl. 
cash disposed) - (1,171) 


 
- 


 
9 


Proceeds from sale of 
intangible assets - - 


 
88 


 
- 


Financial assets at amortized 
cost – proceeds 652 701 


 
- 


 
- 


Financial assets at amortized 
cost – acquisition 230 12 


 
(13,797) 


 
- 


Financial assets measured at 
FVOCI – proceeds 46 2,599 


 
- 


 
- 


Financial assets measured at 
FVOCI – acquisition (5,922) (4,075) 


 
(191) 


 
(295) 


Net cash flows used in 
investing activities (4,956) (2,178) 


 
(13,922) 


 
(399) 
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Cash flows from financing 
activities   


  


Proceeds from capital 
contribution - 2,913 


 
- 


 
- 


Issue of other equity 
instruments - 4,971 


 
- 


 
- 


Proceeds from Note issue 2,967 300 - - 
Dividends paid (1,007) (43) (2,802) (1,007) 
Distribution of income from 
other equity instruments (632) (319) 


 
- 


 
- 


Payment of earnings on 
perpetuity certificates - - 


 
(334) 


 
(328) 


Repayment of investment 
certificates - - 


 
(575) 


 
- 


Repayment of subordinated 
debt 1,000 185 


 
(21) 


 
- 


Proceeds from subordinated 
debt issue (40) (47) 


 
774 


 
535 


Lease liabilities paid - 2,913 (26) (20) 
Net cash flows from financing 
activities 2,288 7,960 


 
(2,984) 


 
(820) 


Increase in cash and cash 
equivalents 62,858 4,146 


 
28,267 


 
30,759 


Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of period 77,738 72,886 


 
140,771 


 
76,982 


Effects of exchange rate 
fluctuations on cash held 175 706 


 
79 


 
(43) 


Cash and cash equivalents at 
end of period 140,771 77,738 


 
169,117 


 
107,698 


Cash flows from operating 
activities include:   


  


Interest received 16,014 11,155 9,392 7,454 
Interest paid (7,265) (3,768) (3,675) (3,140) 
Interest paid / lease liabilities 2 13 (7) (6) 
Dividends received 131 - 6 - 


* During the year 2023 the Group considered the IFRS Interpretations Committee agenda decision on the 
classification of a demand deposit arising from a contract with a third party which do not result in the deposit 
no longer being cash, unless those restrictions change the nature of the deposit in a way that it would no longer 
meet the definition of cash in IAS 7. Based on that agenda decision, the Group reassessed Obligatory minimum 
reserves in central banks and concluded them to be a component of “Cash and cash equivalents” in its statement 
of financial position and statement of cash flows (as in the separate statement above). As a result, the Group 
reclassified its Obligatory minimum reserves in central banks totalling CZK 756 million at 31 December 2022 
(CZK 4 875 million at 1 January 2022) from the line “Due from banks and other financial institution” to the 
line “Cash and cash equivalents”. 


The Group does not hold any cash and cash equivalents that are not available for use by the Group. 


Capital adequacy ratios 


 Year ended 31 December 
Six months ended 30 


June 
 2023 2022 2024 
 (in %) 


Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET 1) 18.52% 13.74% 
 


17.11% 
Tier 1 capital 24.23% 19.24% 21.53% 
Total regulatory capital 24.91% 19.37% 22.53% 
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Leverage and liquidity ratios 


 Year ended 31 December 
Six months ended 30 


June 
 2023 2022 2024 
 (in %) 


Leverage ratio 11.85% 13.21% 
 


8.79% 
Liquidity ratios    
LCR 413.26% 276.59% 416.01% 
NSFR 191.91% 145.88% 197.74% 


 


Credit Risk 


 Year ended 31 December 
Six months ended 30 


June 
 2023 2022 2024 
 (in CZK million) 
Performing exposures 100,740 104,190 104,518 
Non-performing exposures 4,383 6,758 3,690 
Total 105,123 110,948 108,208 
 
NPL ratio gross 4.17% 6.09% 


 
3.41% 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER AND THE GROUP 


1. Information about the Issuer 


General Information about the Issuer 
 


Business name: J&T BANKA, a.s. 
Registration: Registered in the Commercial Register maintained by the 


Municipal Court in Prague, File No. B 1731 
ID No.: 471 15 378 
LEI: 31570010000000043842 
Incorporation date: 13 October 1992 
Registered office: Sokolovská 700/113a, Karlín, 186 00 Prague 8, Czech 


Republic 
Legal form: joint-stock company 
Applicable law: law of the Czech Republic 
Telephone number: +420 221 710 111 
E-mail: info@jtbank.cz 
Website: www.jtbank.cz 


The information on the Issuer’s website is not part of this 
Prospectus, unless such information is incorporated into this 
Prospectus by reference. 


Laws and regulations governing the Issuer: These mainly include the following: 
 • the Banking Act; 
 • the Capital Market Act; 
 • the Civil Code; and 
 • the Act on Business Corporations. 


History and Development of the Issuer and the Group 


The activities of the Issuer commenced on 13 October 1992 under the business name Podnikatelská banka, a.s. 
In 1998, J&T Finance Group, a.s. (a Slovak-based predecessor of J&T FINANCE GROUP SE) acquired 100% 
of the shares in Podnikatelská banka, a.s. and Podnikatelská banka, a.s. became part of J&T FINANCE GROUP. 
Other important milestones in terms of the Group’s activities include: 


2003 Extension of the banking licence to include the investment firm licence 


2006 Opening a branch in Bratislava, Slovakia 


2007 Acquisition of 100% shares in the Russian bank Tretij Rim ZAO, later renamed as J&T Bank, a.o. 


2009 The Issuer begins to accept retail deposits (subject to a CZK 500,000 minimum) 


2011 Establishment of J&T IB and Capital Markets, an investment banking subsidiary of the Issuer and 
J&T INVESTIČNÍ SPOLEČNOST, an asset management subsidiary of the Issuer 


CZK 1.5 billion share capital increase by J&T FINANCE GROUP SE 


2013 CZK 5.7 billion share capital increase by J&T FINANCE GROUP SE 


2014 Acquisition of 58.33% shares in the Croatian bank Vaba d.d. banka Varaždin  
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2015 An agreement is signed with the Chinese conglomerate CEFC Group (CEFC) based on which 
CEFC acquires 9.9% shares in J&T FINANCE GROUP SE by way of a share capital increase. The 
agreement anticipates multiple steps through which CEFC can ultimately increase its ownership 
interest in J&T FINANCE GROUP SE up to 50%.  


2018 The process of CEFC’s capital entry into J&T FINANCE GROUP SE is stopped. Rainbow 
Wisdom Investment Limited, a company controlled by the Chinese CITIC Group Corporation, 
takes over the CEFC’s 9.9% shares in J&T FINANCE GROUP SE 


2019 Ownership interest in J&T banka d.d. (formerly Vaba d.d. banka Varaždin) increased to 96.03% 


2020 The Issuer moves into a new head office at Sokolovská 700/113a, 186 00 Prague 8 


2022 The Issuer becomes the sole shareholder of J&T banka d.d. 


The Issuer increases its ownership interest in AMISTA investiční společnost, a.s. (AMISTA) to 
80% 


2023 Moody’s assigns the Issuer Baa2/P-2 long- and short-term bank deposits ratings (stable outlook) 


The Issuer opens a fully digital branch in Germany under the name J&T BANKA, a.s. 
Zweigniederlassung Deutschland (brand name J&T Direktbank), intended primarily for deposit 
collection  


2023 An exit from the Russian market by the disposal of J&T Bank, a.o. 


2024 Moody’s affirmed the assigned J&T BANKA deposit rating Baa2/stable outlook 


The Issuer paid CZK 2,8 billion in dividend 


The Issuer recorded historically highest semi-annual profit of CZK 3,9 billion  
JTLS no longer provides new financings to the customers and the Group is taking steps to gradually 
wind down all of its business activities. These include sale of finance leases in the amount of EUR 
17,833 thousand granted to clients from the healthcare sector to the buyer in January 2024. 


Position of the Issuer within the Group 


In terms of the Issuer’s position in the Group, the Issuer is the controlling person of the other companies within 
the Group. The Issuer’s results represent the substantial majority share in the Group’s results, thus making the 
Group’s results highly dependent on the results achieved by the Issuer. 


The following tables highlight the contribution of the Issuer’s individual results to the consolidated results of the 
Group for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.4 


(in CZK million unless indicated otherwise) 31 December 2023 
31 December 2022 
(restated)* 


Loans and advances to 
customers 


Consolidated 101,456 106,149 
Issuer 100,270 103,644 
Issuer as % of consolidated 99% 98% 


Deposits from 
customers 


Consolidated 217,837 164,022 
Issuer 216,733 159,575 
Issuer as % of consolidated 99% 97% 


 


 
4 Individual financial information of the Issuer is derived from the Issuer’s individual financial statements for the year 2023 and 2022 prepared 
in accordance with IFRS. 







  
 


  
0093318-0000041 EUO1: 2012389325.26 92  


 


 


(in CZK million unless indicated otherwise) For the year 2023 For the year 2022 


Net interest income 
Consolidated 9,376 7,038 
Issuer 9,145 6,641 
Issuer as % of consolidated 98% 94% 


Net fee and commission 
income 


Consolidated 2,289 1,891 
Issuer 1,449 1,414 
Issuer as % of consolidated 63% 75% 


* During the year 2023 the Group considered the IFRS Interpretations Committee agenda decision on the 
classification of a demand deposit arising from a contract with a third party which do not result in the deposit 
no longer being cash, unless those restrictions change the nature of the deposit in a way that it would no longer 
meet the definition of cash in IAS 7. Based on that agenda decision, the Group reassessed Obligatory minimum 
reserves in central banks and concluded them to be a component of “Cash and cash equivalents” in its statement 
of financial position and statement of cash flows (as in the separate statement above). As a result, the Group 
reclassified its Obligatory minimum reserves in central banks totalling CZK 756 million at 31 December 2022 
(CZK 4 875 million at 1 January 2022) from the line “Due from banks and other financial institution” to the 
line “Cash and cash equivalents”. 


Recent Developments Particular to the Issuer which are to a Material Extent Relevant to an Evaluation 
of the Issuer’s Solvency 


At its meeting on 10 October 2024, the Bank Board of the CNB decided to change the minimum reserve 
requirement. The current rate of 2% is to increase to 4% of the reserve base, except for repo liabilities. The new 
rate becomes effective on 2 January 2025, i.e. on the first day of the new reserve maintenance cycle. The CNB 
took this step to lower the cost of implementing monetary policy while preserving its effectiveness. This follows 
on the measure adopted by the CNB on 7 September 2023, when the CNB decided to end the remuneration of 
minimum reserves with effect from 5 October 2023. The ECB adopted a similar decision in July 2023. Until 
then, the minimum reserves were remunerated at the 2W repo rate announced by the CNB, which at that time 
was 7%. The Issuer estimates that these measures will have impact on its financial results in the amount of CZK 
100 million per year. 


Other than that, the Issuer is not aware of any developments particular to the Issuer or the any other member of 
the Group which are to a material extent relevant to an evaluation of the Issuer’s solvency. 


Change in the financial position 


Since 30 June 2024, there has been no significant change in the financial position of the Issuer or the Group. 


Rating of the Issuer or its Debt Securities 


In January 2023, Moody’s assigned Baa2/P-2 long- and short-term bank deposits ratings as well as Baa1/P-2 
long- and short-term Counterparty Risk Ratings (CRR) and Baa1(cr)/P-2(cr) long- and short-term Counterparty 
Risk Assessments to the Issuer. The outlook on the Issuer’s long-term deposit rating is stable. 


Moody’s assigns long-term obligation ratings at the following levels: Aaa, Aa, A, Baa, Ba, B, Caa, Ca and C. 
To each generic rating category from Aa to Caa, Moody’s adds the numerical modifiers “1”, “2” and “3”. The 
modifier “1” indicates that the bank is in the higher end of its letter-rating category, the modifier “2” indicates a 
mid-range ranking and the modifier “3” indicates that the bank is in the lower end of its letter-rating category. 
Moody’s also has the option of adding further guidance (referred to as “under review”) as to whether a rating is 
likely to be upgraded (possible upgrade), downgraded (possible downgrade) or uncertain (direction uncertain). 
Outlooks assigned indicate the direction of any pressure. Characteristics are positive, negative, stable and 
developing. Moody’s short-term ratings are opinions of the ability of issuers to honour short-term financial 
obligations and range from P-1, P-2, P-3 (Prime) down to NP (Not Prime). 


2. Business Overview 
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Overview 


The Issuer is a Czech bank under the relevant provisions of the Banking Act. In accordance with its banking 
licence, the Issuer’s principal activities include, among other things, acceptance of deposits from the general 
public, granting loans and providing other financing (e.g. financial leasing), issuance of guarantees, opening 
letters of credit, trading and investing in securities and other financial instruments (both for its own as well as 
the clients’ account), financial brokerage services, provision of certain investment services under the Capital 
Market Act, acting as Depository, issuance and administration of payment instruments, payments processing and 
clearing services, rental of safe-deposit boxes and other activities directly associated with the activities listed in 
the Issuer’s banking license. 


The subsidiaries of the Issuer, J&T INVESTIČNÍ SPOLEČNOST and AMISTA each operate on the basis of a 
licence obtained from the CNB pursuant to the Czech Act No. 240/2013 Coll., on Investment Companies and 
Investment Funds, as amended. 


In terms of future development, the Issuer will gradually deploy new internet banking in the Czech Republic and 
Slovakia with the aim of switching all customers to the new internet banking system during 2025. The long and 
investment-intensive project of the new internet banking will not just a modernisation of the client interface 
itself, but a rebuilding of part of the infrastructure on which internet banking is based. This is supposed to create 
the conditions for future development and innovation in digital customer service. 


Reporting Segments 


The Group’s reporting segments according to IFRS 8 are: 


(a) banking (categorised by country); 
(b) asset management;  
(c) real estate;  
(d) leasing; and 
(e) other. 


The following tables set out the breakdown of the operating income of the Group by individual reporting 
segments as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 and for six months ended 30 June 2024 and 30 June 
2023. 


Operating Income by Reporting Segments as at 31 December 2023 (in CZK millions) 


 
Banking Asset 


management 
Real 


estate Leasing Other Total CR SR RU HR DE 
Net interest 
income 


               
9,830  


                
(519)  


                 
156  


                         
76  


                     
(310)      10  


                                     
(20)  


                    
209  


                 
(56)  9,376 


Inter-segment 
       


(1,062)  
             


1,228  
                


(2)  
                     


(3)  
                    


-                       2  
                                 


2  
                


(158)  
               


(7)  
                        


-    
Net fee and 
commission 
income 


                  
889  


                  
114  


                     
-    


                           
2  


                          
-                   1,313  


                                       
-    


                     
(29)  


                   
-    


                  
2,289  


Inter-segment 
               


445  
                 


-    
                


-    
                      


5  
                    


-                  (441)  
                               


-    
                  


-    
               


-    
                         


9  
Net income/(loss) 
from trading and 
investments 


               
1,802  


                       
4  


                 
171  


                          
-    


                          
-                         12  


                                     
(39)  


                         
3  


                    
4  


                  
1,957  


Inter-segment 
                 


(3)  
                 


(2)  
                


-    
                    


-    
                    


-                     -    
                               


-    
                    


5  
               


-    
                        


-    
Other operating 
income 


                     
(7)  


                       
1  


                   
31  


                           
5  


                          
-    


                      
(7)  


                                    
149  


                       
54  


                
389  


                     
615  


Inter-segment 
              


(564)  
               


104  
               


(12)  
                      


1  
                   


455                   (8)  
                               


11  
                  


-    
               


-    
                      


(13)  
Operating 
income 12,514 (400) 358 83 (310) 1,328 90 237 337 14,237 


 


Operating Income by Reporting Segments as at 31 December 2022 (in CZK millions)    
 Banking Leasing Other Total 
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CR SR RU HR 
Asset 


management 
Real 


estate 
Net interest income 6,658 (148) 307 50 62 (13) 134 (12) 7,038 
Inter-segment (626) 768 (7) (4) - 5 (75) (60) 1 
Net fee and 
commission income 976 150 4 2 759 - - - 1,891 
Inter-segment 287 - - 12 (285) - (8) (1) 5 
Net income/(loss) 
from trading and 
investments 1,914 (24) 213 5 1 99 1 (55) 2,154 
Inter-segment (428) 16 - 27 - (6) 26 - (365) 
Other operating 
income (93) 1 30 9 (6) 148 25 322 436 
Inter-segment (82) 89 (27) - (6) 27 - 7 8 
Operating income 9,445 (21) 554 66 816 234 160 255 11,519 


 
 


Operating Income by Reporting Segments for six months ended 30 June 2024 (in CZK millions) 


 
Banking Asset 


management 
Real 


estate Leasing Other Total CR SR RU HR DE 
Net interest 
income 5,321 (411) - 40 (550) 8   (28)  18   18   4 416   
Inter-segment (814) 824 - (2) - 5   - (12)  (4)  (3)  
Net fee and 
commission 
income 449 76 - 1 - 843   - - - 1 369   
Inter-segment 322 - - 2 - (322)  - - - 2   
Net income/(loss) 
from trading and 
investments 874 - - - - 45   15   - (3)  931   
Inter-segment 53 (3) - - - (33)  - - (1)  16   
Other operating 
income (27) 2 - 3 4 (6)  71   2   33   82   
Inter-segment (730) 110 - - 626 (4)  - - - 2   
Operating 
income 6 617 (333) - 44 (546) 890   58   20   48   6,798   


 
 


Operating Income by Reporting Segments for six months ended 30 June 2023 (in CZK millions) 


 
Banking Asset 


management 
Real 


estate Leasing Other Total CR SR RU HR DE 
Net interest 
income 4,324  (151)  109   37   (40)  5   (10)  166   (32)  4,408   


Inter-segment (417)  504   (1)  (1)  - 1   1   (82)  (3)  2   
Net fee and 
commission 
income 


468   51   (2)  1   - 549   - (6)  - 1,061   


Inter-segment 201   - - - - (198)  - (2)  (1)  - 
Net income/(loss) 
from trading and 
investments 


1,132   - 141   - - (5)  (5)  3   (3)  1,263   


Inter-segment 17   (1)  - - - - - 5   - 21   
Other operating 
income (45)  1   16   3   - (4)  77   48   203   299   


Inter-segment (111)  12   (8)  - 101   (4)  8   - - (2)  


Operating income 5 879   (99)  264   41   (40)  545   62   211   168   7 031   
 


Business Lines and Categories of Services Provided 


The Issuer provides corporate and investment banking, private banking and asset management services primarily 
to affluent Czech and Slovak clientele, connecting client capital with market opportunities by combining suitable 
products and services it can deliver. The Issuer strategically focuses on clients and services requiring a significant 
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degree of individual approach. Its principal competitive advantage lies in its ability to provide tailor-made 
solutions with an emphasis on flexibility and speed of execution and in the in-house capability to arrange 
financing across the whole capital structure: senior debt, junior/hybrid capital as well as equity. Its private 
banking clientele considerably enhances its financial firepower and, hence, relevance to its clients. Leveraging 
its long-standing relationships with an affluent entrepreneurial clientele, the Issuer has built a highly recognised 
private and corporate banking franchise and is also a leading player in domestic securities underwriting and 
placement in the Czech Republic and Slovakia.5   


Net interest income from lending activities represents the Issuer’s as well as the Group’s most significant revenue 
stream, followed by net fees and commissions and other (including trading) income.  


In 2023, the Group’s consolidated operating income amounted to CZK 14,237 million (up 23.6% year-on-year 
from CZK 11,519 million in 2022). This was comprised of CZK 9,376 million net interest income (up 33.2% 
year-on-year from CZK 7,038 million in 2022), CZK 2,289 million net fees and commissions (up 21.0% year-
on-year from CZK 1,891 million in 2022) and CZK 2,904 million other operating income (including net income 
from trading and investments) (up 12.1% year-on-year from CZK 2,590 million in 2022). On a relative basis, 
net interest income constituted 65.9% (61.1% in 2022), net fees and commissions constituted 16.1% (16.4% in 
2022) and other operating income (including net income from trading and investments) constituted 18.1% 
(22.5% in 2022) of the Group’s consolidated operating income in 2023. The main categories of services provided 
to clients within the Issuer’s business lines are summarised below. 


For the half-year ended 30 June 2024, the Group’s consolidated operating income amounted to CZK 6,798 
million (down 3.3% year-on-year from CZK 7,031 million in 2023). This was comprised of CZK 4,416 million 
net interest income (up 0.2% year-on-year from CZK 4,408 million in 2023), CZK 1,369 million net fees and 
commissions (up 29.0% year-on-year from CZK 1,061 million in 2023) and CZK 1,013 million other operating 
income (including net income from trading and investments) (down 35.1% year-on-year from CZK 1,562 million 
in 2022). On a relative basis, net interest income constituted 65.0% (62.7% in 2023), net fees and commissions 
constituted 20.1% (15.1% in 2023) and other operating income (including net income from trading and 
investments) constituted 14.9% (22.2% in 2023) of the Group’s consolidated operating income for the half-year 
ended 30 June 2024. 


As at 30 June 2024, the Group’s share of non-performing exposures on a consolidated basis stood at 3.4% of its 
gross loan book (31 December 2023: 4.2%, and 31 December 2022: 6.1%). 


Corporate Banking 


The Issuer’s unique selling proposition in the Czech corporate lending segment lies in its ability, often together 
with its subsidiaries within the Group or sister companies, to arrange financing across a client’s or its project’s 
capital structure, including senior debt via the Issuer, Note financing (through J&T IB and Capital Markets a.s., 
the Issuer’s investment banking subsidiary) (J&T IB and Capital Markets), junior or hybrid financing (through 
J&T Mezzanine, a.s., the Issuer’s sister company, and, to a smaller extent, also via the Issuer) or equity financing 
(through J&T INVESTIČNÍ SPOLEČNOST, a.s., the Issuer’s asset management subsidiary) 
(J&T INVESTIČNÍ SPOLEČNOST). 


The difference between the corporate and retail business models is, all things being equal, generally reflected in 
a greater amount of risk weighted assets typically associated with corporate lending and, consequently, a greater 
capital requirement that would typically apply to a corporate bank, such as the Issuer, compared to a retail bank 
of similar size. 


Corporate banking services primarily include structured and project financing (bridge, term and, to a smaller 
extent also, mezzanine loans), syndicated lending, margin lending, working capital financing and various related 
treasury products (e.g. hedging) to companies owned by affluent and high profile entrepreneurial clientele. The 


 
5 Source: List of Issues published by the Central Depository available at https://www.cdcp.cz/seznam-emisi/?lang=en. Online data published 
by the PSE. Issuer’s data. 
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Issuer mainly finances business activities of its private banking clients and their projects across sectors and corporate 
acquisitions and restructurings in markets where it has considerable business experience. 


The following table shows the Group’s exposures to clients by geographic location of project implementation and 
collateral as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022. 


(in CZK million)  31 December 2023 31 December 2022 
Czech Republic  50,841 48,897 
Slovakia  12,382 11,453 
Germany  7,662 8,999 
Great Britain  5,394 8,784 
Romania  4,610 28 
Croatia  4,319 6,256 
Cyprus  3,451 2,473 
Spain  3,288 3,451 
USA  2,498 3,503 
Poland  1,814 1,659 
Slovenia  1,578 1,687 
Hungary  1,333 1,142 
Tanzania  599 610 
France  466 1,199 
Belgium  264 287 
Maldives  262 302 
Ukraine  164 186 
Malta  156 - 
The Netherlands  76 1,536 
Luxembourg  62 338 
Austria  9 1,555 
Russia  - 669 
Moldova  - 990 
Other  228  145  
Total 101,456 106,149 


The following table shows the Group’s exposures to clients by industry sector as at 31 December 2023 and 
31 December 2022. 


(in CZK million)  31 December 2023 31 December 2022 
Real estate activities  22,156 21,989 
Financial activities  15,158 11,135 
Production and distribution of electricity, gas and heat  12,034 7,703 
Cultural, sports, entertainment and recreation activities  11,258 11,525 
Manufacturing  10,146 10,237 
Construction  6,989 11,183 
Wholesale and retail  5,329 8,498 
Accommodation and food service activities  4,459 5,181 
Information communication technologies  3,695 3,566 
Transportation and storage  3,329 8,461 
Administrative and support service activities  1,717 843 
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Water supply, services relating to water, waste management 
and redevelopment  1,252 1,170 


Private households and employed persons  1,226 1,193 
Mining, quarrying and agriculture  875 754 
Professional, scientific and technological activities  850 789 
Education  240 115 
Agriculture, forestry and fishing  226 235 
Healthcare and social work  203 804 
Other  314 768 
Total 101,456 106,149 


Investment Banking 


Investment banking services primarily include arrangement of financing, both debt (Notes, private placements 
and commercial paper programmes) and equity (initial public offerings, secondary offerings), advisory on 
mergers and acquisitions and general corporate finance advisory. These services are provided via the Issuer’s 
wholly owned subsidiary, J&T IB and Capital Markets. The Issuer also provides services related to trading and 
investing in financial markets instruments, economic research, brokerage and custody and fiscal and paying agency 
services. 


Private Banking 


Private banking services include deposit products (whereas initial minimum deposit amounts range from CZK 
100,000 to CZK 1 million, depending on whether or not the client already uses certain investment products 
offered by the Issuer or its subsidiaries), wealth management and structuring, family office services, discretionary 
portfolio management, J&T Concierge (arranging business travel, visits to high profile social, cultural or leisure 
events, etc. for, high net worth, clientele) and issuance of Mastercard branded payment cards (Silver, Gold, 
World Elite for individuals and Business and BusinessGold for legal entities). 


Asset Management 


Acting primarily through its subsidiaries J&T INVESTIČNÍ SPOLEČNOST and – since 2022 – also AMISTA, 
the Issuer offers asset management services to retail and institutional investors. These include a variety of open- 
and closed-ended funds which allow investing into all types of financial assets (e.g. Notes, stocks, exchange-
traded funds, etc.), physical assets (e.g. precious metals) and alternative assets (e.g. venture capital, private 
equity, art). 


In 2020, J&T INVESTIČNÍ SPOLEČNOST launched J&T Arch Investments SICAV, an evergreen fund of 
funds with private equity type of investment exposure allowing clients (qualified investors) to co-invest 
alongside Patrik Tkáč and other J&T FINANCE GROUP business partners. Since May 2021, the shares in J&T 
Arch Investments SICAV have been traded on the Prague Stock Exchange.  


Articles of Association of the Issuer 


The Issuer is registered in the Commercial Register maintained by the Municipal Court in Prague, File No. 
B 1731. The Issuer is a bank under the Banking Act. The scope of the Issuer's activities is provided for in Article 
3 of its Articles of Association. 


The Issuer's business activities include: 


• activities listed in Section 1(1) of the Banking Act: 


(a) accepting deposits from the public 


(b) providing loans; 
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• activities referred to in Section 1(3) of the Banking Act: 


(a) investing in securities for own account; 


(b) financial leasing; 


(c) payment and settlement services; 


(d) issuing and managing means of payment; 


(e) provision of guarantees; 


(f) opening letters of credit; 


(g) procuring collections; 


(h) the provision of investment services pursuant to a special legal regulation; 


(i) financial brokerage; 


(j) acting as a depositary; 


(k) foreign exchange activity (purchase of foreign currency); 


(l) provision of banking information; 


(m) trading on own account or on behalf of a client in foreign exchange and gold to the extent of: 


(i) trading for own account or for the account of a client in foreign currency funds; 


(ii) trading for own account in foreign securities; 


(iii) trading for own account in money-value rights and obligations derived from the 
aforementioned foreign exchange values; 


(iv) trading for own account or for the account of a client in gold; 


(n) rental of safety deposit boxes; 


(o) activities directly related to the activities listed in the Issuer's banking licence. 


Share Capital of the Issuer 


As of the date of this Prospectus, the share capital of the Issuer amounts to CZK 10,638,127,000 and has been 
fully paid. The share capital of the Issuer composes of 700,000 ordinary shares with the nominal value of CZK 
1.43 each and 10,637,126 ordinary shares with the nominal value CZK 1,000 each which do not have any special 
rights associated with them. Ordinary shares include the entitlement to participate in the Issuer’s governance and 
the entitlement to a share on profit. 


Funding  


The Issuer funds its lending activities predominantly with client deposits as do its banking subsidiaries.  


Client deposits consist of term deposits, deposits cancellable with notice and savings and current accounts. Only 
term deposits (the remaining term), cancellable deposits (the notice period) and the sticky layer of savings and 
current accounts are used for funding.  
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Client deposits are mainly CZK and EUR denominated whereas the loan book is mainly EUR denominated. The 
CZK denominated deposits are, therefore, swapped into EUR using FX or cross-currency swaps to match the 
foreign exchange structure of the loan book. 


In March 2023, the Issuer opened a branch in Germany which will operate under J&T Direktbank brand. J&T 
Direktbank is a pure digital bank allowing German clients to open term and savings accounts using a simple 
online banking app. Deposits collected through J&T Direktbank should further enhance client diversification 
and gradually replace two German platforms, Savedo and Raisin, which are also used to raise deposits. The 
Issuer aims to raise up to 30% of its deposits through J&T Direktbank within the period of the next three to five 
years, with the main focus being on savings accounts in the initial years and gradually also on fixed-term euro-
denominated deposits. Simultaneously with the growth of the client portfolio, the Issuer will consider the 
possibilities of also offering its investment products to the German market. 


Capital Management of the Issuer  


The Issuer’s strategy is to hold a strong capital base in order to maintain the confidence of creditors and market 
counterparties, while ensuring the future development of the Issuer’s business. 


The capital adequacy ratios are calculated in accordance with the CRR. 


Regulatory capital of the Issuer consists of the following: 
(a) Tier 1 capital, which consists of: 


(i) CET1, which includes paid-up ordinary share capital, share premium, retained earnings 
(profit for the period is not included), accumulated other comprehensive income, other 
temporary adjustments CET1, net of goodwill, intangible assets and additional value 
adjustments; and 


(ii) AT1, which includes instruments (subordinated income certificates) issued in accordance 
with the CRR; and 


(b) Tier 2 capital, which consists of eligible subordinated debt approved by the CNB. 


The capital adequacy ratios are calculated for CET1, Tier 1 capital and total regulatory capital. The value 
represents the ratio of capital to risk weighted assets (the RWAs). CNB also requires every institution to hold 
additional capital conservation buffer of 2.5% and countercyclical buffer on all the levels of regulatory capital. 
As at the date of this Prospectus, the Issuer complies with all aforementioned requirements. 


The specific countercyclical capital buffer rate is calculated in accordance with Section 63 of the Prudential 
Rules Decree and is calculated as a weighted average of the countercyclical buffer rates in effect in the 
jurisdictions to which the Issuer has relevant risk exposures. 


The following table sets out the minimum capital adequacy requirements of the Issuer on an individual basis as 
at 30 June 2024, 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022. 


Minimum Capital Requirements of the Issuer as at 30 June 2024, 31 December 2023 and 31 December 
2022 (in %) 


 
Minimum 


Requirement 


Capital 
Conservation 


Buffer 
Countercyclical 


Buffer 
Total 


Requirement 
Common Equity Tier 1 capital 
(CET1) 4.5% 2.5% 1.27% 8.27% 
Tier 1 capital 6.0% 2.5% 1.27% 9.77% 
Total regulatory capital 30 June 
2024 8.0% 2.5% 1.27% 11.77% 
Common Equity Tier 1 capital 
(CET1) 4.5% 2.5% 1.25% 8.25% 
Tier 1 capital 6.0% 2.5% 1.25% 9.75% 
Total regulatory capital 2023 8.0% 2.5% 1.25% 11.75% 
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Common Equity Tier 1 capital 
(CET1) 4.5% 2.5% 0.72% 7.72% 
Tier 1 capital 6.0% 2.5% 0.72% 9.22% 
Total regulatory capital 2022 8.0% 2.5% 0.72% 11.22% 


The following table sets out the capital adequacy ratios of the Issuer on an individual basis as at 30 June 2024, 
31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022. 


Capital Adequacy Ratio of the Issuer as at 30 June 2024, 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 
(in %) 


 30 June 2024 31 December 2023 
31 December 


2022 
Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1) 17.24% 18.11% 14.19% 
Tier 1 capital 21.87% 24.12% 20.22% 
Total regulatory capital 22.91% 24.84% 20.36% 


The Issuer has, at the date of this Prospectus, issued subordinated unsecured certificates (in Czech, podřízené 
nezajištěné certifikáty) with total nominal amount of CZK 7,293 million (31 December 2022: CZK 8,868 
million), which qualify as AT1 instruments of the Issuer and are accounted for as Tier 1 capital of the Issuer. 
The certificates were issued under Czech law and placed with retail investors on the Czech market. 


The following table sets out the regulatory capital of the Issuer on an individual basis as at 30 June 2024, 31 
December 2023 and 31 December 2022. 


Regulatory Capital Composition of the Issuer as at 30 June 2024, 31 December 2023 and 31 December 
2022  
(in CZK millions) 


 30 June 2024 
31 December 


2023 
31 December 


2022 
Total Tier 1 capital 34,373 35,598 29,748 
Total Tier 2 capital 1,639 1,051 208 
Total regulatory capital 36,012 36,649 29,956 


Resolution Strategy 


The Issuer is part of J&T FINANCE GROUP which uses the MPE approach with two resolution groups and 
resolution entities: the Issuer and 365. bank, a.s. The indicative targets based on risk weighted assets prescribed 
by the CNB (excluding the combined capital buffer) applicable to the Issuer have been set as follows: 13.3% at 
1 January 2022, 14.8% as at 1 January 2023 and 16.5% as at 1 January 2024. The CNB’s prescription does not 
specifically require the Issuer to cover the MREL requirement by a subordinated instrument. 


The following table sets out the required capital structure of the Issuer on an individual basis. 


Total Management Capital Target on an individual basis (in %) 
 1 January 2022 1 January 2023 1 January 2024 
CRR requirement 8.0 8.0 8.0 
SREP requirement 3.0 3.7 3.8 
Countercyclical Buffer 0.4 0.9 1.3 
Capital Conservation Buffer 2.5 2.5 2.5 
Pillar 2 Guidance 0.0 0.5 0.0 
Total regulatory capital requirement 13.9 15.6 16.0 
Management capital buffer 0.5 1.0 1.0 
Total management capital target 14.4 16.6 17.0 


The following table sets out the MREL requirement of the Issuer expressed as a percentage of the total volume 
of risk exposure (TREA approach): 
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TREA approach MREL Requirement (in %) 
 1 January 2022 1 January 2023 1 January 2024 
MREL requirement 13.3 14.8 16.5 
Countercyclical Buffer 0.4 0.9 1.3 
Capital Conservation Buffer 2.5 2.5 2.5 
Total regulatory capital requirement 16.2 18.2 20.3 
Management capital buffer 0.5 1.0 1.0 
Total management capital target 16.7 19.2 21.3 


The following table sets out the MREL requirement expressed as a percentage of the sum of capital and eligible 
liabilities of the total volume of exposures (TEM approach): 


TEM approach MREL requirement (in %) 
 1 January 2022 1 January 2023 1 January 2024 
Loss Absorption Amount 3.00 3.00 3.00 
Recapitalization Amount 0.7 1.1 1.3 
MREL requirement 3.7 4.1 4.3 


The Issuer has, as at the date of this Prospectus, issued senior preferred MREL-eligible notes under Czech law 
in the total outstanding nominal amount of CZK 3,013.8 million. These were privately placed with investors on 
the Czech market. 


Market Position and Competition 


Overview 


The Czech banking market is concentrated with the five largest players – Československá obchodní banka, Česká 
spořitelna, Komerční banka, UniCredit and Raiffeisenbank – in 2022 in aggregate accounting for 65.5% of the 
Czech banking sector assets (2012: 61.5%), 64.9% of the Czech banking sector loans (2012: 60.1%), 69.2% of 
the Czech banking sector deposits (2012: 63.2%) and 63.6% of the Czech banking sector net profit (2012: 
78.3%), according to the data published by the CNB.6 Apart from the considerable scale, all of these banks are 
also part of large publicly listed international financial services groups with good access to funding and capital.  


In addition, the Czech financial services sector has been consolidating as competitors aim to increase the 
economies of scale inherent in their businesses with medium sized banks being particularly active. More 
specifically, in 2020, MONETA Money Bank, a.s. acquired Wüstenrot – stavební spořitelna a.s. and Wüstenrot 
hypoteční banka a.s. In 2021, Raiffeisenbank a.s. acquired Equa Bank a.s. and completed a re-contracting of ING 
BANK N.V.’s Czech retail customer portfolio. Finally, in November 2022, Česká spořitelna, a.s. signed an 
agreement allowing it to take over the loan portfolio of Sberbank CZ, a.s., which entered liquidation following 
the failure of Sberbank’s European operation after the Invasion of Ukraine and at the end of 2023 Česká 
spořitelna, a.s. bought a consumer credit portfolio from BNP Paribas Personal Finance SA, odštěpný závod 
(operating on the Czech market under brand Hello bank!). 


Another current trend in the financial services sector is dis-intermediation whereby financial services providers 
seek to limit or reduce the role of intermediaries (such as brokers or independent agents) because of the more 
diverse opportunities in new technologies that replace or reduce the need to use such intermediaries. This trend 
is likely to create new competitors that may have different business models allowing them to compete even more 
aggressively on price and fees. 


Corporate Banking 


Because the Czech Republic is the Issuer’s most important market and the Issuer does not provide any retail 
loans, the best proxy for the Issuer’s market position is to assess its share of the overall Czech banking sector’s 


 
6 Source: Financial Market Supervision Reports of the CNB for the year 2022 and 2012. Available at: https://www.cnb.cz/en/supervision-
financial-market/aggregate-information-financial-sector/financial-market-supervision-reports/. 
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corporate lending and its share of the overall Czech banking sector’s retail deposits. As at 31 December 2023, 
the Issuer’s loans and advances to customers on an individual basis amounted to CZK 100.3 billion and customer 
deposits on an individual basis amounted to CZK 216.7 billion. According to the data published by the CNB as 
at the same date for the Czech banking sector as a whole, total loans and advances granted by banks to non-
financial corporates in the Czech Republic amounted to CZK 1,358.1 billion7 and deposits of individuals 
(residents) in all currencies amounted to CZK 6,437.9 billion8. Therefore, based on these calculations, the Issuer 
has an approximately 7.4% market share in corporate lending and 3.4% market share in retail deposits in the 
Czech banking sector. 


Investment Banking and Financial Markets 


The Issuer’s annual trading volume on the Prague Stock Exchange (PSE) in 2022 was CZK 12.5 billion in equities 
and CZK 18.2 billion in Notes9. With the total trading volume of the PSE members in 2023 reaching CZK 247.2 
billion in equities and CZK 22.1 billion in Notes10, the Issuer’s share in 2023 was approximately 5% in equities 
and 82% in Notes, respectively. 


Asset Management 


According to the data published by the Czech Capital Markets Association (AKAT)11, assets under management 
by Czech asset managers across all funds regardless of type, instrument and geography as at 31 December 2023 
amounted to CZK 2,346.1 billion. As at the same date, assets under management by J&T INVESTIČNÍ 
SPOLEČNOST and AMISTA – the two key asset management subsidiaries of the Issuer – amounted to CZK 
102.4 billion and CZK 42.9 billion, respectively. Therefore, the Issuer has an approximately 6% combined 
market share in the overall Czech collective investment undertakings market. 


The Issuer focuses on funds of qualified investors. Assets under management in this sub-segment of the Czech 
collective investment undertakings market as at 31 December 2023 amounted to CZK 346.0 billion, representing 
approximately 15% of total assets under management by Czech asset managers. As at the same date, assets in 
funds of qualified investors managed by J&T INVESTIČNÍ SPOLEČNOST and AMISTA amounted to CZK 
88.0 billion and CZK 42.9 billion, respectively, making the Issuer the largest player in this sub-segment of the 
Czech collective investment undertakings market with a 38% combined market share. 


3. Organisational Structure 


The Group 


The graphic below shows the companies comprising the Group as at 30 June 2024. 


 


 
7 Source: Database of the CNB. Available at: https://www.cnb.cz/arad/#/en/home. (Database of time series – Statistical data – Monetary and 
financial statistics – Banking statistics (commercial banks) – Loans – Client – Non-financial corporations). 
8 Source: Database of the CNB. Available at: https://www.cnb.cz/arad/#/en/home. (Database of time series – Statistical data – Monetary and 
financial statistics – Banking statistics (commercial banks) – Deposits – Clients – Households). 
9 Source: Prague Stock Exchange. Statistics Files. Available at: https://www.pse.cz/en/market-data/statistics/statistics-files. 
10 Source: Prague Stock Exchange. Statistics Files. Available at: https://www.pse.cz/en/market-data/statistics/statistics-files. 
11 Source: Annual press release published by the Czech Capital Markets Association (AKAT). Available (in Czech only) at: 
https://www.akatcr.cz/Dokumenty/Aktuality/v253rocn237-tiskov225-zpr225va-akat-investice-v-cesk201-republice-narostly-v-roce-2023-
o-ctvrtinu. 







  
 


  
0093318-0000041 EUO1: 2012389325.26 103  


 


 


 


There were no substantive changes in the organisational structure of the Group from 30 June 2024 to the date of 
the Prospectus. 


Significant subsidiaries of the Issuer 


As set out above, the Issuer’s results represent the substantial majority share in the Group’s results where the 
Issuer’s individual results comprised 99% of the Group’s consolidated loans and advances to customers as at 30 
June 2024 (99% as at 31 December 2023 and 98% as at 31 December 2022), 99% of the Group’s consolidated 
deposits from customers as at 30 June 2024 (99% as at 31 December 2023 and 97% as at 31 December 2022), 
99% of the Group’s consolidated net interest income for the half-year 2024 (98% for the year 2023 and 94% for 
the year 2022) and 62% of the Group’s consolidated net fee and commission income for the half-year 2024 (63% 
for the year 2023 and 75% for the year 2022). In addition the Issuer has the following significant subsidiaries 
within the Group. 


J&T banka d.d. 


J&T banka d.d. is a Croatia-based subsidiary of the Issuer whose scope of business is to accept all types of deposits, 
to grant all types of loans, to trade on its own account or on account of its customers, to conduct payment 
transactions within the country and to issue bank guarantees. 


J&T INVESTIČNÍ SPOLEČNOST 


The scope of business of the Czech Republic-based subsidiary of the Issuer, J&T INVESTIČNÍ SPOLEČNOST, 
is the management and administration of investment funds. 


J&T IB and Capital Markets 


J&T IB and Capital Markets is a Czech Republic-based subsidiary of the Issuer that provides investment banking 
services. Specifically, it focuses on structuring and arrangement of debt financing (e.g., Notes, syndicated loans, 


100% 100%


  5,95% 94,05% 100%


100% 100%


80% 100%


80% 100%


92,33% 100%


J&T BANKA, A .S .


J&T IB and Capital Markets, a.s.


AMISTA investiční společnost, a.s.


ATLANTIK finanční trhy, a.s.


J&T banka d.d.


J&T INVESTIČNÍ SPOLEČNOST, a.s.


J&T INVESTIČNÁ SPOLOČNOSŤ, 
správ. spol., a.s.


J&T Leasingová společnost, a.s.J&T ORBIT SICAV, a.s.


J&T RFI I., s.r.o.


J&T VENTURES I o.p.f.


Rustonka Development II s.r.o.AMISTA consulting, s.r.o.
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private placements and commercial paper programmes) and equity financing (e.g., initial and secondary public 
offerings and private placements) and corporate finance advice (e.g., mergers and acquisitions advisory, strategic 
advisory, etc.). 


AMISTA 


AMISTA is a Czech Republic-based subsidiary of the Issuer and is a leading investment company and one of 
the largest Czech managers and administrators of funds for qualified investors in terms of assets under 
management, according to the information published by the Czech Capital Market Association.12 


Sole Shareholder 


The sole shareholder and ultimate parent company of the Issuer is J&T FINANCE GROUP SE which is owned 
by (i) Jozef Tkáč (45.05% ownership interest), (ii) Ivan Jakabovič (35.15% ownership interest), (iii) Rainbow 
Wisdom Investments Limited (9.9% ownership interest), (iv) Štepán Ašer (4.95% ownership interest), and (v) 
Igor Kováč (4.95% ownership interest). On this basis, the Issuer is directly controlled by J&T FINANCE 
GROUP SE and indirectly by Jozef Tkáč together with Ivan Jakabovič.         


The Issuer has not taken any special measures aimed at preventing abuse of control over the Issuer. The Issuer 
is not aware of the existence of any mechanisms or arrangements that could lead to a change of control over the 
Issuer. 


The Issuer has an internal management and control system in place to ensure the autonomy and integrity of the 
Issuer’s decision-making processes. The organisation of the internal management and control system is described 
in Article 16 of the current Articles of Association. 


The Issuer’s internal control system is a unified, internally structured and rationally arranged system of activities 
and organisational, technical and technological measures, and is part of the Issuer’s organisational structure and 
management system. 


The main objective of the control system is to identify deviations between the actual and the desired state, and, 
after their analysis, to make recommendations to eliminate the identified deficiencies. 


The Issuer’s internal control system is a process carried out by all management links of the Issuer’s organisational 
structure. The internal control system consists of: 
(a) the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board; 
(b) senior employees at all levels of management; 
(c) Internal Audit and Control Department; 
(d) Compliance and AML Department (AML - anti money laundering, i.e. measures against legalisation 


of proceeds of criminal activities); and 
(e) Audit Committee (AC). 


The functionality of this internal management and control system is subject to supervision and evaluation by the 
CNB and is audited annually by the internal audit function of the Issuer. 


The Issuer is not aware of any mechanisms or arrangements that could lead to a change in the control over the 
Issuer. 


Employees 


As at 31 December 2023, the Group had on average 968 full-time equivalent employees (940 as at 31 December 
2022), of which 698 were employed by the Issuer (644 as at 31 December 2022) and 270 were employed by 
other members of the Group (296 as at 31 December 2022). For the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Group 
had on average 817 employees (968 for the six months ended 30 June 2023), of which 698 were employed by 


 
12 Source: Data published by the Czech Capital Market Association (AKAT). Available at: https://www.akatcr.cz/en-gb/. 
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the Issuer (698 for the six months ended 30 June 2023) and 119 were employed by other members of the Group 
(270 as at 31 December 2022). 


Description of the J&T FINANCE GROUP 


The Issuer is part of a group comprising J&T FINANCE GROUP SE, a company incorporated under the laws of 
the Czech Republic, with its registered office at Sokolovská 700/113a, Karlín, Prague 8, Postal Code 186 00, ID 
No.: 275 92 502, registered in the Commercial Register maintained by the Municipal Court in Prague under file 
no. H 1317 (J&T FINANCE GROUP SE), as a parent company and the Issuer’s sole shareholder, and its 
subsidiaries (J&T FINANCE GROUP). 


J&T FINANCE GROUP is an international financial services group active in banking and asset management in 
the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Croatia, and Germany (listed by volume of assets). J&T FINANCE GROUP’s 
two key banking entities are the Issuer, a Czech bank providing private banking, corporate & investment banking 
and asset management services to affluent clientele, and 365.bank, a.s. (formerly known as Poštová banka), a 
mass-market retail-focused Slovak digital bank. Asset management services are principally offered via J&T 
INVESTIČNÍ SPOLEČNOST and AMISTA in the Czech Republic and 365.invest, správ. spol., a.s. in Slovakia. 
J&T FINANCE GROUP’s service offering is complemented by J&T Mezzanine, a.s., an approximately EUR 
400 million investment vehicle providing hybrid and subordinated capital. J&T FINANCE GROUP and its key 
banking entities are subject to supervision and prudential regulation under the CRR and the BRRD both 
individually as well as on a consolidated basis. 


The graphic below shows the key operating entities comprising J&T FINANCE GROUP and key segments in 
which they operate as at 30 June 2024. 


 


There were no substantive changes in the organisational structure of the J&T FINANCE GROUP from 30 June 
2024 to the date of the Prospectus. 


365.invest, a.s. 
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Position of the Issuer within J&T FINANCE GROUP 


In terms of the Issuer’s position within J&T FINANCE GROUP, the Issuer is a wholly-owned subsidiary of J&T 
FINANCE GROUP SE. 


The following table shows the contribution of the Group to the consolidated financial results of J&T FINANCE 
GROUP as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.13 


(in EUR millions) 31 December 
2023 


31 December 
2022 


Loans and 
advances to 
customers 


J&T BANKA, a.s. and its subsidiaries 4,071 4,279 
365.bank, a.s. and its subsidiaries 2,846 2,956 
J&T FINANCE GROUP (other) 356 418 
Total 7,234 7,652 


 J&T BANKA, a.s. and subsidiaries as % of Total 56% 56% 


Deposits and 
loans from 
customers 


J&T BANKA, a.s. and its subsidiaries 8,783 6,775 
365.bank, a.s. and its subsidiaries 3,436 3,483 
J&T FINANCE GROUP (other) 2 4 
Total 12,221 10,263 


 J&T BANKA, a.s. and subsidiaries as % of Total 72% 66% 


Net interest 
income 


J&T BANKA, a.s. and its subsidiaries 388 278 
365.bank, a.s. and its subsidiaries 143 132 
J&T FINANCE GROUP (other) 6 28 
Total 537 438 


 J&T BANKA, a.s. and subsidiaries as % of Total 72% 63% 


Net fee 
income 


J&T BANKA, a.s. and its subsidiaries 86 70 
365.bank, a.s. and its subsidiaries 70 71 
J&T FINANCE GROUP (other) (1) (1) 
Total 156 141 


 J&T BANKA, a.s. and subsidiaries as % of Total 55% 50% 
Note: The figures for the Group do not fully reconcile to the consolidated data of the Group because of the 
effect of full consolidation at J&T FINANCE GROUP level which eliminates all intercompany transactions 
within J&T FINANCE GROUP and different functional currencies used. 


Dependence upon other entities within J&T FINANCE GROUP 


As at the date of this Prospectus, the Issuer is not dependent on any entity of J&T FINANCE GROUP. The Issuer 
enters into relationships with entities within J&T FINANCE GROUP solely on an arms’ length basis. The 
principal intra-group relationships include credit exposure to entities within J&T FINANCE GROUP, deposits 
received from entities within J&T FINANCE GROUP, and loan commitments and guarantees issued to related 
parties. 


As at 30 June 2024, the total amount of the Group’s receivables from related parties was CZK 5,475 million, and 
the total amount of the Group’s liabilities to related parties was CZK 9,316 million. For the six months ended 30 
June 2024, total revenues of the Group from related party transactions amounted to CZK 1,348 million and total 
costs amounted to CZK 1,857 million. 


As at 31 December 2023, the total amount of the Group’s receivables from related parties was CZK 5,698 million, 
and the total amount of the Group’s liabilities to related parties was CZK 2,216 million. For the year ended 31 
December 2023, total revenues of the Group from related party transactions amounted to CZK 5,068 million and 
total costs amounted to CZK 4,496 million. 


4. Trend Information 


 
13 Source: Annual Reports of J&T FINANCE GROUP SE for the years 2023 and 2022. Available at: https://www.jtfg.com/en/investors. 
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General 


Since the publication date of the last audited financial statements, there has been no material negative change in 
the prospects of the Issuer or the Group. Moreover, the Issuer declares that there has been no significant change 
in the financial performance of the Issuer or the Group since the end of the last financial period for which the 
financial data was published until the date of preparation of this Prospectus. 


With the exception of facts stated below, the Issuer declares that it is not aware of any trends, uncertainties, 
claims, obligations or events as of the date of the Prospectus that could, with reasonable probability, have a 
significant impact on the Issuer's prospects for at least the current financial year. 


Current Macroeconomic Forecast14 


According to the Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic (the MF CR), global economic growth remains 
constrained by restrictive monetary policy and heightened geopolitical instability. International trade is hampered 
by logistical problems due to ongoing armed conflicts and the associated lengthening of delivery times. 
Economic growth in the euro area will remain subdued this year but could accelerate to 1.3% next year. 


The Czech economy stagnated last year. Gross domestic product fell by 0.1%, but is forecast to grow by 1.1% 
this year and 2.7% next year. Annual inflation is expected to be close to 2% over the forecast horizon. Real 
wages will rise thanks to continued strong labour demand and a fall in inflation. 


According to the preliminary estimate of the Czech Statistical Office, real gross domestic product of the Czech 
Republic, adjusted for seasonal and calendar effects, increased by 0.3% QoQ and by 0.4% YoY in Q2 2024. In 
Q1 2024, for which detailed data on the structure of growth are available, GDP fell by 0.2% YoY (unadjusted). 
Revised national accounts data show that economic output surpassed the pre-pandemic level already in Q2 2022, 
but since then the Czech economy has more or less stagnated. 


GDP could increase by 1.1% in 2024, mainly thanks to renewed growth in household consumption. The external 
trade balance should also provide a significant boost to the economy, mainly due to a weakening of import-
intensive investment demand and expected inventory developments. In 2025, the Czech economy could grow by 
2.7% thanks to stronger consumption and investment dynamics and more favourable economic developments 
abroad, but a more robust recovery in domestic demand will also support imports. 


Annual inflation had reached the Czech National Bank’s inflation target for the first time in three years at the 
beginning of this year and should remain within the tolerance band for the rest of the year. Inflationary external 
supply factors have weakened significantly while domestic demand pressures are further dampened by higher 
monetary policy rates, aided this year by the restrictive effects of the fiscal consolidation package. The average 
inflation rate could thus fall to 2.4% this year and further to 2.3% in 2025. 


Labour market imbalances related to labour shortages continue to manifest themselves. Thus, despite the weak 
economic dynamics, the unemployment rate should not increase much in 2024. From 2.6% in 2023, it could rise 
to 2.8% this year and fall slightly to 2.7% next year thanks to economic growth. The persistent labour market 
tightness will not allow nominal wage growth to slow significantly. Earnings will also rise in real terms after two 
years of decline. 


The current account of the balance of payments ended with a surplus of 1.3% of GDP in Q1 2024. The significant 
year-on-year improvement in the external balance was mainly due to an increase in the surplus on the goods 
balance, driven on the import side by the unwinding of price pressures in the industry and energy sectors and 
weak investment activity in Q1 2024. On the primary income balance, investment income outflows (mainly in 
the form of dividends) decreased. Meanwhile, these factors should continue to be relevant over the course of this 
year. The MF CR therefore expect the current account to reach a surplus of 1.6% of GDP this year, which will 
fall to 0.1% of GDP in 2025 due to the recovery in domestic demand. 


 
14 According to the Macroeconomic Forecast of the MF CR from August 2024 available at: https://www.mfcr.cz/en/fiscal-
policy/macroeconomic-analysis/macroeconomic-forecast/2024/macroeconomic-forecast-august-2024-56804. 
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The general government sector is expected to end 2024 with a deficit of 2.5% of GDP, down by 1.3pp year-on-
year, despite increased defence and pension spending. This will be supported by the government’s consolidation 
package, the waning measures related to the energy crisis and the economic recovery. Amid lower nominal GDP 
growth, the government debt is expected to reach 43.7% of GDP. 


In aggregate, the MF CR considers the risks to the macroeconomic forecasts to be skewed to the downside. 
Economic activity in some sectors of the economy may be dampened by renewed problems in supply chains, 
e.g. in relation to the situation in the Middle East. In addition to the negative impact on economic performance, 
supply-side problems would create additional inflationary pressures. These could also be triggered by an increase 
in energy commodity prices in the event of an escalation of geopolitical tensions, or by the introduction or 
increase in tariffs or other barriers to foreign trade. Given the significant trade links between the Czech and 
German economies, the MF CR also considers structural problems and weak economic growth in Germany to 
be a downside risk to the forecast. The ability to compensate for reduced imports of natural gas and oil from 
Russia into the European Union with increased imports from other suppliers and demand-side measures remains 
a risk. The persistence of prices in services and the evolution of inflation expectations are also risks for the Czech 
economy. Economic growth is supported by the participation of refugees from Ukraine in the labour market, and 
the full use of their human capital could boost labour productivity. 


Trends in the Credit Market15 


In the first half of 2024, mortgage lending grew 85% year-on-year. According to official CNB statistics, 89 
billion CZK of new mortgages were actually granted in the first half of the year, which is the same volume as in 
the same period of 2018 and only 7 billion CZK below the level of the first half of 2020. However, data from the 
CBA Hypomonitor show that in terms of the number of mortgages granted, the first half of this year was still a 
quarter weaker than in 2020. The average rate for newly granted mortgages is slightly above the 5% mark, 
according to CNB statistics, which is in line with the CBA Hypomonitor data. 


In the first half of 2024, the volume of new consumer loans rose by almost a third to CZK 67 billion. The 
favourable development is due to the improving income situation of households, higher consumer confidence 
and also the need for higher financing due to inflationary developments in recent years. The average interest rate 
on consumer loans in June was 9.1%, half a percentage point lower than a year ago. 


New lending to businesses rose by 5.4% in the first half of 2024, including 4% for crown loans and 6.6% for 
euro loans. New lending to businesses was split equally between crown and euro loans in the first half of 2024. 
The interest rate on koruna loans was 6.7% in June 2024 and was more than 2 percentage points lower than 
previous year, while the interest rate on euro loans was 5.2% and has been declining only slowly (5.6% a year 
ago) given the evolution of euro interest rates. The share of new euro-denominated corporate loans in 2023 
slightly exceeded the 50% mark for the first time (51.3%), while in 2022 it was 47.4% and the average for 2014-
2021 was around 30%.  


Deposit growth slowed slightly in the second quarter of 2024 compared to the first quarter, from 8 to 7.3%. 
However, growth continued at 8.4% for households. Given that roughly one-third of the growth in household 
deposits last year was accounted for by interest income, the year-on-year growth in deposits can be expected to 
slow as the CNB interest rates fall. 


The following table shows the growth forecast of the Czech Banking Association (CBA) in the banking sector: 


 2023 2024 2025 
Bank customer loan growth (%) 5.9 6.2 5.8 
Household Bank Loan Growth (%) 4.8 5.1 5.8 
Bank Loan Growth (Non-Financial) to 
businesses (%) 4.7 7.4 6.2 


 
15 According to the Macroeconomic Forecast of the CBA of 3Q 2024 available at: https://www.cbamonitor.cz/actuality/macroeconomic-
forecast-cba-3q-24. 
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Growth in customer bank deposits 
Total (%) 7.9 6.8 5.6 


5. Financial Results of the Group 


Financial Results of the Group in the first six months of 2024 


Positive trends in the Group’s key financial indicators – balance sheet growth, profitability, capitalization and 
liquidity – reported consistently over the past several years continued during the first half of 2024 as well. Total 
assets as at 30 June 2024 increased by 17.9% to CZK 345.52 billion (31 December 2023: CZK 293.08 billion). 
Net profit for the first half of 2024 amounted to CZK 3.94 billion, a 26.7% increase compared to the prior year 
(30 June 2023: CZK 3.11 billion) when the Group generated its highest profit since inception. 


Balance sheet growth was primarily driven by continued inflow of deposits which as at 30 June 2024 amounted 
to CZK 243.74 billion (31 December 2023: CZK 217.84 billion), representing a nearly 12% increase. Term 
deposits and deposits cancellable with notice accounted for 83% of the overall deposit base. As at 30 June 2024, 
the Group had over 134 thousand clients (31 December 2023: 123 thousand). 


The Group has operations in four European countries: the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Germany and Croatia. The 
German operation in particular – where J&T BANKA has been collecting deposits via its digital branch 
headquartered in Frankfurt am Main and operating under J&T Direktbank since 2023 – recorded rapid growth, 
increasing client deposits by nearly 50% from 2023 year-end to EUR 1.26 billion and serving 40 thousand clients 
as at 30 June 2024. 


Despite gradually decreasing policy rates of the CNB and a first rate cut by the European Central Bank during 
the first half of 2024, interest rates remain elevated. This allows the Group to offer attractive savings products, 
both traditional term deposits as well as products combining term deposits with investment fund placements, to 
its clients without undermining its profitability. 


Following stabilization in 2023, corporate loan book (gross) expanded again during the first half of 2024 by 
5.8%, reaching CZK 93.76 billion (31 December 2023: CZK 88.65 billion). Share of non-performing loans 
declined further to 3.4% as at 30 June 2024 (31 December 2023: 4.2%), reflecting good asset quality. Margin 
loans (gross) on the other hand moderately declined to CZK 12.91 billion as at 30 June 2024 (31 December 2023: 
CZK 14.88 billion) due to lower client activity in financial markets. 


Overall net loans and advances to customers at amortised costs grew by 3.5% to CZK 104.98 billion as at 30 
June 2024 (31 December 2023: CZK 101.46 billion). Because client deposits grew faster than overall loan book, 
loan-to-deposit ratio as at 30 June 2024 declined further to 43.1% (31 December 2023: 46.6%). 


Securities across all portfolios amounted to CZK 49.22 billion as at 30 June 2024 (31 December 2023: CZK 
31.44 billion) as the Group re-allocated a portion of its liquid resources into government bonds held at amortized 
costs which during the first half of 2024 increased fourfold, driving a 56.6% increase in the overall securities 
portfolio. This re-allocation is in line with the Group’s strategy to gradually build a lowrisk fixed income 
portfolio offering a higher yielding alternative compared to placing excess liquidity with central banks as interest 
rate cycle reaches its peak. Group equity including non-controlling interest amounted to CZK 41.22 billion as at 
30 June 2024 (31 December 2023: CZK 40.96 billion). Group’s registered capital was unchanged at CZK 10.64 
billion. Moderate increase in retained earnings is attributable to CZK 3.94 billion net profit generated during the 
first half of 2024 reduced by CZK 2.8 billion dividend paid out from financial year 2023 profit in 2024. 


Decline in other equity instruments was caused by redemption of AT1 instruments amounting to EUR 21.28 
million during the first half of 2024. Following the redemption referred to above, Group’s other equity 
instruments amounted to CZK 8.29 billion as at 30 June 2024 (31 December 2023: CZK 8.87 billion). 


The Group is more than sufficiently capitalized to meet all regulatory requirements, consistently exceeds all 
limits prescribed to it by the CNB and has ample capital buffer for its further growth. Consolidated total capital 
adequacy ratio as at 30 June 2024 stood at 22.5% (31 December 2023: 24.9%). Net interest income is consistently 
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the largest contributor to the Group’s operating income. During the first half of 2024, the Group generated CZK 
4.41 billion net interest income, which was broadly the same as net interest income generated in the first half of 
2023. 


Group’s interest income in the first half of 2024 amounted to CZK 9.91 billion, a 26.3% increase compared to 
prior year (30 June 2023: CZK 7.84 billion). This was driven by gradually declining 2W repo rate, the key rate 
determining yield on Group’s excess liquidity placed with the CNB, that was off-set by further increase in cash 
and cash equivalents resulting from continued inflow of client deposits. Cash and cash equivalents, mainly 
consisting of central bank placements, increased by 20.1% to CZK 169.12 billion as at 30 June 2024 (2023 year-
end: CZK 140.77 billion). At the same time, the average loan book in the first half of 2024 was higher than in 
the first half of 2023 as was the average interest rate charged to clients on those loans. 


Interest expense was affected by a marked increase in client deposit as well as a slight increase in average interest 
rate paid on those deposits. As a result, interest expense in the first half of 2024 increased by 54.6% to CZK 5.69 
billion (30 June 2023: CZK 3.68 billion). 


Net fee and commission income increased by 29.0% to CZK 1.37 billion (30 June 2023: CZK 1.06 billion). The 
most significant contributors to the Group’s net fee and commission income are asset management fees, fees for 
underwriting, placement and administration of corporate bonds and fees from financial markets operations and 
related custody services. 


Net income from trading in the first half of 2024 declined moderately to CZK 0.93 billion (30 June 2023: CZK 
1.26 billion) and was mainly driven by revaluation of share certificates in mutual funds and other securities, 
revaluation of derivatives and profit from FX operations. 


Group’s operating expenses declined in the first half of 2024. Personnel expenses remained unchanged in the 
first half of 2024 at CZK 1.03 billion. Other operating expenses declined by 12.4% in the first half of 2024 to 
CZK 1.16 billion (30 June 2023: CZK 1.34 billion), mainly due to lower deposit insurance cost and mandatory 
contributions to the resolution fund prescribed by the CNB. 


While the Group’s overall operating income declined by 3.3% in the first half of 2024 to CZK 6.79 billion (30 
June 2023: CZK 7.03 billion), total operating expenses declined by 10.0% in the first half of 2024 to CZK 2.27 
billion (30 June 2023: CZK 2.52 billion). As a result, the Group generated CZK 4.53 billion profit before 
allowances, provisions and income tax in the first half of 2024 (30 June 2023: CZK 4.51 billion), which translated 
into a further improvement in cost-to income ratio to 33.4% (30 June 2023: 35.8%). 


Net change in loss allowances for financial instruments in the first half of 2024 amounted to a positive CZK 0.56 
billion compared to a negative CZK 0.56 billion in the first half of 2023. The marked reduction in risk cost was 
caused by release of provisions related to loans which were fully or partially repaid during the first half of 2024. 
The Group remains conservative and its approach to risk cost assessment reflects the current economic and 
political uncertainty which can adversely affect its individual credit exposures. 


Financial Results of the Group in 2023 


In 2023, the Group’s consolidated profit after tax reached CZK 5.39 billion compared to CZK 3.38 billion in 
2022 and balance sheet grew by 29% year-on-year, reaching CZK 293.08 billion at the end of 2023, up from 
CZK 227.25 billion at the end of 2022. Since the Issuer accounted for the vast majority of the Group’s 
consolidated assets and income in 2023, the Group’s consolidated performance and financial results in 2023 
were primarily driven by the performance and financial results of the Issuer. 


The Group’s balance sheet dynamics mainly reflected the continued growth in customer deposits, which 
represented the main source of funding and a pre-requisite for the gradual loan portfolio growth. Monetary policy 
tightening translating into normalization in the general interest rate environment incentivised depositors to 
transfer funds from current accounts to products offering a more attractive interest rate, in particular term 
deposits, which reinforced the Group’s liquidity position in 2023.  
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Client deposits reached CZK 217.84 billion at the end of 2023 compared to CZK 164.02 billion at the end of 
2022 (a 32.8% year-on-year increase). The growth in term deposits reflected an increase in the interest rate 
differential between low or zero-interest current accounts, on the one hand, and interest-bearing term deposits or 
notice deposits, on the other hand. Total amount of term deposits grew by CZK 39.86 billion year-on-year from 
CZK 134.26 billion at the end of 2022 to CZK 174.12 billion at the end of 2023. Total number of depositors 
exceeded 123 thousand at the end of 2023 compared to 103 thousand at the end of 2022. 


In terms of loan book dynamics, corporate loans after deduction of expected credit losses stood at the end of 
2023 at CZK 86.57 billion (compared to CZK 87.58 billion in 2022). Margin lending declined from CZK 18.57 
billion at the end of 2022 to CZK 14.88 billion at the end of 2023 (a 19.9% year-on-year decrease). Net loans 
and advances to customers at amortised costs declined year-on-year by 4.4% to CZK 101.46 billion in 2023 
(compared to CZK 106.15 billion in 2022). The Loan-to-Deposit Ratio declined in 2023 to 46.6% (compared to 
64.7% in 2022). 


Securities held in all portfolio types amounted to CZK 31.44 billion in 2023 (compared to CZK 27.16 billion in 
2022). The moderate year-on-year increase was attributable to the growth in financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income mainly resulting from government bond purchases. 


Due to the combination of growing loan portfolio and normalization in the general interest rate environment, the 
Group’s interest income amounted to CZK 17.71 billion, compared to CZK 11.66 billion in 2022 (an 51.8% 
year-on-year increase). The Group’s interest expense grew from CZK 4.63 billion in 2023 to CZK 8.33 billion 
in 2023 (a 80.2% year-on-year increase). 


Net fees and commissions totalled CZK 2.29 billion in 2023 compared to CZK 1.89 billion in 2022 (a 21.0% 
year-on-year increase) on the back of growing asset management, securities underwriting, placement and 
administration of corporate bond issues, client portfolio management fees and fees from financial markets 
operations and related custody services  


Trading and other operating declined by 9.1% year-on-year in 2023 to CZK 1.96 billion (compared to CZK 2.15 
billion in 2022) and was mainly affected revaluation of derivatives the Group uses to manage the currency 
structure of its assets and liabilities which reflects the expected evolution of CZK:EUR and CZK:USD currency 
pairs and the interest rate differentials in those currencies. 


Personnel expenses increased by 15.4% year-on-year to CZK 1.99 billion in 2023 (compared to CZK 1.72 billion 
in 2022), mainly due to higher FTEs and salary increases vis-à-vis the inflationary pressures in the economy. 


Other operating expenses increased by 27.9% year-on-year to CZK 2.26 billion in 2023 (compared to CZK 1.76 
billion in 2022), mainly on account of higher information systems and technology outsourcing costs, greater 
marketing spend, indexation of expenses related to the Group’s premises and also operating costs of the Issuer’s 
branch in Germany opened at the beginning of 2023. Continued inflow of client deposits and consequently the 
Group’s balance sheet translates into higher deposit insurance cost and mandatory contributions to the resolution 
fund. The increase in the Group’s operating expenses was caused by the loss on disposal of subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates in the amount of CZK 0.88 billion in 2023 (compared to CZK nil in 2022). This loss 
reflects the accounting impact of the disposal of FVE Holding, s.r.o. and the de-consolidation of the Russian 
assets. A translation reserve resulting from movements of the Russian ruble exchange rate against the Czech 
koruna accumulated in the Group’s equity was released upon disposal and booked against net profit of the year, 
creating an expense but without any material impact on the overall equity. 


The Group’s total operating expenses amounted to CZK 5.43 billion in 2023 (CZK 3.76 billion in 2022), which 
represents a 44.7% year-on-year increase. 


The financial impact of disposal of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates mentioned above adversely affected 
the Cost-to-Income Ratio which in 2023 worsened to 38.2%. When 18 adjusted for this one-off effect, the Cost-
to-Income Ratio would have stood at 32.0%, which is a slight improvement compared to the prior year when the 
Cost-to-Income Ratio reached 32.6%. Net change in loss allowances for financial instruments amounted to CZK 
1.72 billion in 2023 (compared to CZK 3.03 billion in 2022), which represents a 43.2% year-on-year decline.  
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During 2023, JTLS faced a substantial increase in credit risk, which later resulted in the default and subsequent 
bankruptcy of one of its large clients, Mammoth. On 16 June 2023, J&T FINANCE GROUP SE provided JTLS 
with a risk participation in the amount of CZK 1,014 million to partially cover the expected credit losses in 
connection with the default and bankruptcy of Mammoth whereas the risk pariticpation has been exercised in 
full on 30 November 2023. The Group created a provision of approx. CZK 457 million in relation to this event 
whereas a provision in the amount of CZK 1,471 million was created at the level of J&T FINANCE GROUP. 
For further information on the insolvency proceedings of Mammoth and the claims of JTLS registered thereto, 
see section Legal and arbitration proceedings. 


6. Legal and arbitration proceedings 


Except for the proceedings described below, neither the Issuer nor any other member of the Group is or has been 
involved in any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are 
pending or threatened of which the Issuer is aware) in the 12 months preceding the date of this Prospectus which 
may have or have had in such a period a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer. 


Legal proceedings in relation to MAMMOTH s.r.o. 


JTLS, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Issuer, has been active in providing financing to clients primarily in the 
healthcare sector and the information and communication technology sector through loans, operational and 
financial leasing, assignment of receivables, and instalment sales. 


Between February 2021 and February 2023, JTLS financed hardware (mainly phones and accessories made by 
Apple) designed to be further leased to employees and contractors of the Unicorn group, which entrusted the 
purchase and distribution of the equipment to Mammoth, its service company. After more than two years of 
smooth cooperation, a payment default by Mammoth occurred in February 2023. Representatives of the Unicorn 
group subsequently informed JTLS about the possible inability of Mammoth to meet its obligations. The 
negotiations also revealed that there had been breaches of the applicable credit conditions and potentially 
fraudulent actions by the Unicorn group's employees and representatives. 


Despite repeated negotiations with the Unicorn group's representatives, no agreement was reached on resolving 
the situation. Consequently, the situation resulted in Mammoth filing an insolvency petition seeking its 
bankruptcy, which was declared by the relevant insolvency court in April 2023. JTLS subsequently registered 
its claims against Mammoth arising from the relevant contractual arrangements to the insolvency proceedings, 
with the total amount of the claims amounting to CZK 2,365,322,433. The insolvency proceedings, as well as 
related incidental proceedings addressing, among others, claims of JTLS against Mammoth, are currently 
pending. The timing and amount of the recovery of JTLS from this insolvency proceedings are uncertain. 


7. Material Contracts 


There are no contracts (excluding contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business) which are, or may 
be, material or which contain a provision under which the Issuer or another member of the Group has an 
obligation or entitlement which is material to the Issuer’s ability to meet its obligations to Noteholders in respect 
of the Notes, and the Issuer is not aware of any other such contract. 


8. Documents Available 


For the period of 12 months following the date of this Prospectus, copies of the following documents will be 
available for inspection from the registered office of the Issuer and also on the Issuer’s website www.jtbank.cz, 
where they will remain publicly available in electronic form for at least ten years after their publication on the 
relevant websites:  


(a) the Founding Deed and Articles of Association of the Issuer (with an English translation thereof); 


(b) the consolidated unaudited interim financial statements of the Issuer for the six months ended 
30 June 2024, the consolidated audited annual financial statements of the Issuer in respect of the 
financial years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 (drawn up in English or with an 
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English translation thereof), in each case together with the audit reports prepared in connection 
therewith; 


(c) a copy of this Prospectus; and 


(d) any future offering circulars, prospectuses, information memoranda, supplements and Final Terms to 
this Prospectus and any other documents incorporated herein or therein by reference. 
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MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES 


The Issuer is a Czech joint-stock company established and operating under Czech law. The Issuer, its 
management and the Issuer’s corporate setup are governed in accordance with the Articles of Association of the 
Issuer which can only be amended by a two-thirds majority vote of all shareholders present at the General 
Meeting of the Issuer. As at the date of this Prospectus, the conclusive version of the Articles of Association of 
the Issuer is the wording dated 26 February 2024, as filed in the Issuer’s collection of deeds in the Czech 
Commercial Register which is publicly accessible at www.justice.cz. 


The Issuer’s activities are governed by Czech law and the general principles of good corporate governance 
reflected therein. In its corporate governance, the Issuer has adopted and applies the main governance standards 
set out in the Czech Corporate Governance Code developed in 2018 by the Czech Institute of Directors (Institute 
of Members of Administrative Bodies) in partnership with the consulting company Deloitte. In particular, the 
Issuer has adopted the basic principles of the Czech Corporate Governance Code, such as emphasis on 
transparency, accountability and long-term view. 


Management Structure and Committees 


The Issuer’s system of bodies, in addition to the General Meeting, in which shareholders exercise their rights, 
consists of the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board, and several specialised committees, including the 
Audit Committee. 


Board of Directors 


The Board of Directors is the Issuer’s governing body which manages the Issuer’s business and whose members 
act on behalf of the Issuer in all matters, and represent the Issuer towards third parties, in proceedings before the 
court and other authorities in the manner specified in the Articles of Association and in the Commercial Register. 


The Board of Directors decides on all matters of the Issuer which are not reserved by law, the Articles of 
Association or a resolution of the General Meeting to the competence of the General Meeting or the Supervisory 
Board or the relevant committees established by the Issuer’s Board of Directors or the Supervisory Board, in 
particular the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. 


According to the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors has three to six members, with the specific 
number to be determined by the Supervisory Board. The Board of Directors currently has five members. 
Members of the Board of Directors are appointed and re-called by the General Meeting. The Board of Directors 
elects the chairman of the Board of Directors from among themselves. Members of the Board of Directors shall 
be appointed to a five-year term, and can be re-appointed. Apart from being members of the Board of Directors 
of the Issuer, Mr. Štěpán Ašer serves also as Chief Executive Officer of the Issuer, Mr. Igor Kováč serves also 
as Head of Risk Management and Active Trade Management of the Issuer, Mr. Jan Kotek serves also as Head 
of Credit Operations of the Issuer, Ms. Anna Macaláková serves also as Head of the Slovak branch of the Issuer, 
and Mr. Michal Kubeš serves also as Chief Financial Officer of the Issuer.  


Supervisory Board 


The Supervisory Board is an independent oversight body of the Issuer and its activities are regulated by law and 
the Articles of Association. The Supervisory Board oversees the performance of the Board of Directors and the 
Issuer’s business activities. According to the Articles of Association, the Supervisory Board has nine members, 
of which two thirds (6 members) are appointed by the General Meeting and one third (3 members) are appointed 
by the Issuer’s employees. Members of the Supervisory Board are appointed for a five-year term, and can be re-
appointed. 


Members of the Corporate Bodies of the Issuer 


Board of Directors 
 


Name Position Member since Current Term of Office since 







  
 


  
0093318-0000041 EUO1: 2012389325.26 115  


 


 


Štěpán Ašer Chairman 30 May 2006 6 September 2024 
Igor Kováč Member 16 February 2011 16 February 2021 
Jan Kotek Member 1 January 2022 1 January 2022 
Anna Macaláková Member 11 June 2018 11 June 2023 
Michal Kubeš Member 4 April 2024 4 April 2024 


The business address of all current members of the Board of Directors is Prague 8, Sokolovská 700/113a, Postal 
Code 186 00, Czech Republic, apart from Ms. Macaláková, whose business address is Bratislava, Dvořákovo 
nábrežie 8, Slovak Republic. 


Supervisory Board 
 


Name Position Member since Current Term of Office since 
Jozef Tkáč Chairman 3 June 1998 15 October 2023 
Ivan Jakabovič Vice-Chairman 3 June 1998 15 October 2023 
Dušan Palcr Member 15 June 2004 15 October 2023 
Jozef Šepetka  Member 9 September 2008 15 October 2023 
Jitka Šustová Member 10 December 2018 10 December 2023 
Jaroslava Sragner Member 14 October 2022 14 October 2022 
Jozef Kollár Member 26 February 2024 26 February 2024 
Marc Derydt Member 26 February 2024 26 February 2024 
Radoslav Míšek Member 15 March 2024 15 March 2024 


The business address of Mr. Palcr, Mr. Šepetka, Ms. Šustová and Mr. Míšek is Prague 8, Sokolovská 700/113a, 
Postal Code 186 00, Czech Republic. The business address of Mr. Tkáč, Mr. Jakabovič, Ms. Sragner, Mr. Kollár 
and Mr. Derydt is Bratislava, Dvořákovo nábrežie 8, Slovak Republic. 


Information on the Members of the Board of Directors of the Issuer and activities performed outside of 
the Issuer 


Other than as set out below, none of the members of the Issuer’s Board of Directors performs any activities 
outside the Issuer that would be material to the Issuer. 


Štěpán Ašer, MBA 


Mr. Ašer is a graduate of the School of Business and Public Management at George Washington University in 
Washington, D.C., specialising in finance and financial markets. He subsequently graduated with an MBA from 
the Rochester Institute of Technology. He has worked in finance in the Czech Republic since 1997, first as an 
analyst and later as a portfolio manager at Credit Suisse Asset Management. From 1999 to 2002 he was a Member 
of the Board of Directors of Commerz Asset Management (CZ) a.s. responsible for portfolio management and 
sales. At Česká spořitelna, Mr. Ašer briefly specialised in asset management for institutional clients. He has been 
working for the Issuer since 2003. 


Mr. Ašer currently also serves as the Member of the Board of Directors of J&T FINANCE GROUP SE, as the 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of J&T IB and Capital Markets, as the Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
of J&T Leasingová společnost, a.s., as the Member of the Supervisory Board of J&T INVESTIČNÍ 
SPOLEČNOST, as the Member of the Supervisory Board of AMISTA, and as the Member of the Supervisory 
Board of J&T Mezzanine, a.s. 


Ing. Igor Kováč 


Mr. Kováč is a graduate of the University of Economics in Bratislava, where he graduated in 1998 from the 
Faculty of National Economy. Since the beginning of his professional career, he has been working in the financial 
industry, in the field of banking since 2000, when he joined Hypovereinsbank Slovakia as Senior Controller. 
From 2002 to 2008, he worked at Volksbank Slovakia as Director of the Economic Department.  
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Mr. Kováč currently also serves as the Member of the Board of Directors of J&T FINANCE GROUP SE, as the 
Member of the Supervisory Board of J&T INVESTIČNÍ SPOLEČNOST, as the Member of the Supervisory 
Board of J&T IB and Capital Markets, as the Member of the Supervisory Board of J&T Leasingová společnost, 
a.s., as the Member of the Supervisory Board of J&T Mezzanine, a.s. and as the Member of the Supervisory 
Board of J&T Bank d.d. 


Ing. Jan Kotek 


Mr. Kotek is a graduate of the University of Economics in Prague. Since the beginning of his professional career 
he has worked in the financial services industry. He has been with J&T FINANCE GROUP since 2010, where 
he first held the position of Director of Credit Risk Management Department at the Issuer. From 2012 to 2014, 
he served in the top management of Poštová banka, a.s. in Slovakia. From 2014 to 2021, he worked as a Financial 
Manager at J&T FINANCE GROUP SE. Since 2019, he has held the position of Director of Credit Operations 
Department at the Issuer and in January 2022 he became a Member of the Board of Directors of the Issuer. 


Mr. Kotek currently also serves as the Member of the Board of Directors of Equity Holding, a.s., as the Member 
of the Board of Directors of J&T Mezzanine, a.s., and as the Member of the Supervisory Board of J&T banka 
d.d.  


Ing. Anna Macaláková 


Ms. Macaláková is a graduate of the University of Economics in Bratislava, Faculty of National Economy, 
majoring in Finance. Since graduating in 2006, she has worked at the Issuer’s Slovak branch in Bratislava, where 
she held various managerial positions.  


Currently, she works as the Head of the Slovak branch of the Issuer and also serves as the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board of J&T INVESTIČNÁ SPOLOČNOSŤ, správ. spol., a.s. 


Ing. Michal Kubeš 


Mr. Kubeš is a graduate of the University of Economics in Prague. He joined J&T in 2007 from the consulting 
firm KPMG, where he worked in the audit department for financial institutions. Since then, he has held various 
positions within the financial group, ranging from advisor to the board of directors, group risk manager, to Chief 
Financial Officer and member of the board of directors at J&T INVESTIČNÍ SPOLEČNOST, a.s. As of 2023, 
he primarily focuses on the bank in his role as Executive Director for the Finance Division and is member of the 
Issuer´s board of directors since April 2024. 


Mr. Kubeš currently also serves as the Member of the Supervisory Board of AMISTA investiční společnost, a.s. 
and J&T INVESTIČNÍ SPOLEČNOST, a.s., and J&T INVESTIČNÁ SPOLOČNOSŤ, správ. spol., a.s. 


Activities performed by the Members of the Supervisory Board outside of the Issuer 


Other than as set out below, none of the members of the Issuer’s Supervisory Board performs any activities 
outside the Issuer that would be material to the Issuer. 


Mr. Jozef Tkáč currently also serves as the Chairman of the Supervisory Board of J&T FINANCE GROUP SE, 
as the Member of the Supervisory Board of ATLANTIK finanční trhy, a.s., as the Member of the Supervisory 
Board of 365.bank,a.s., as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Equity Holding, a.s., as the Member of the 
Management Board of Nadace J&T and as the Chairman of the Supervisory Board of J&T INVESTIČNÁ 
SPOLOČNOSŤ, správ. spol., a.s. 


Mr. Ivan Jakabovič currently also serves as the Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors of J&T FINANCE 
GROUP SE, as the Chairman of the Supervisory Board of J&T CAPITAL PARTNERS, a.s., as the Chairman of 
the Supervisory Board of J&T EQUITY PARTNERS, a.s., as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of KOLIBA 
REAL, a.s., and as the Member of the Supervisory Board of EP Power Europe, a.s. 
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Mr. Dušan Palcr currently also serves as the Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors of J&T FINANCE 
GROUP SE, as the Executive Director of J&T Sport Team ČR, s.r.o., as the Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
of AC Sparta Praha fotbal, a.s., as the Member of the Management Board of I. Český Lawn - Tennis Klub Praha, 
as the Member of the Management Board of Nadace J&T, as the Member of the Supervisory Board of Karlín 
development II. s.r.o., as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of J & T REAL ESTATE CZ, a.s., as the 
Member of the Supervisory Board of J&T REAL ESTATE SMART SOLUTIONS, as the Member of the 
Supervisory Board of Doblecon a.s., as the President of the Executive Committee of Česká rugbyová unie, z.s., 
as the Chairman of the Supervisory Board of RAILSCANNER, s.r.o., as the Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
of JTZE a.s., as the Executive Director of J & T REAL ESTATE ENGINEERING s.r.o., as the Executive 
Director of Menmar s.r.o., as the Executive Director of Baunario s.r.o., as the Executive Director of Alvadose 
s.r.o., and as the Executive Director of MeasureTake s.r.o. 


Mr. Kollár currently also serves as the Member of the Supervisory Board of J&T FINANCE GROUP SE. 


Mr Derydt currently also serves as the Member of the Supervisory Board of J&T FINANCE GROUP SE. 


Committees 


The following are the main committees established within the Issuer by both the Board of Directors and the 
Supervisory Board of the Issuer. 


Audit Committee 


As a public interest entity within the meaning of Section 1a (a) in conjunction with Section 19a(1) of Act No. 
563/1991 Coll., on Accounting, as amended, the Issuer established an Audit Committee as at 1 July 2016. 


The Audit Committee is an advisory body established by the Issuer’s Supervisory Board to carry out the activities 
specified in the relevant legislation, without prejudice to the responsibilities of the Members of the Board of 
Directors or the Supervisory Board. In particular, the Audit Committee monitors the effectiveness of the internal 
control and risk management system, monitors the process of preparing the Issuer’s financial statements and 
makes recommendations to the Supervisory Board to ensure the integrity of the accounting and financial 
reporting systems. It further recommends the auditor to the Supervisory Board, with due justification for this 
recommendation. 


The Audit Committee consists of three members appointed and dismissed by the General Meeting. The majority 
of the members of the Audit Committee must be independent of the Company and must be professionally 
qualified. The term of office is three years and each member can be re-appointed. 


Members of the Audit Committee as of the date of this Prospectus are: 
 


Name Position In Office since Current Term of Office since 
Pavel Závitkovský Chairman 1 July 2017 1 July 2021 
Jakub Kovář Member 1 July 2017 1 July 2021 
Dušan Palcr Member 1 July 2017 1 July 2021 


Remuneration Committee 


The Remuneration Committee has been established by the Issuer’s Supervisory Board. The Remuneration 
Committee’s main objective and purpose is to support the Supervisory Board in establishing and evaluating the 
Issuer’s remuneration system and principles. The Remuneration Committee (i) prepares proposals for changes 
to the remuneration system and principles for the Issuer’s Supervisory Board, (ii) regularly evaluates compliance 
with the remuneration principles and presents the results of the evaluation to the Issuer’s Supervisory Board, (iii) 
evaluates the compliance of the remuneration principles with the Issuer’s current business model and their 
consistency with the Issuer’s business cycle and presents the results of the evaluation to the Issuer’s Supervisory 
Board, (iv) proposes to the Issuer’s Supervisory Board the inclusion of individual positions among persons with 
influence on the Issuer’s risk profile, and (v) supports the Issuer’s Supervisory Board in evaluating the 
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effectiveness and functionality of the remuneration principles. The Chairman and members of the Remuneration 
Committee are appointed and dismissed by the Issuer’s Supervisory Board. 


Assets and Liabilities Committee 


The Assets and Liabilities Committee (the ALCO) has been established by the Issuer’s Board of Directors. The 
ALCO’s main objective and purpose is to ensure the process of managing the Issuer’s assets and liabilities in 
terms of liquidity, interest rate risk, profitability of the Bank and capital adequacy. The ALCO especially (i) 
monitors liquidity, the Issuer’s interest and FX risks, observance of internal and external limits in those areas; 
(ii) analyses possible scenarios of the future development; (iii) monitors the observance of internal and regulatory 
capital adequacy limits at an individual and consolidated level, resp. prudential consolidation; (iv) evaluates an 
impact of legislative changes on the Issuer’s assets and liabilities; (v) responds to the situation in financial 
markets, analyses prices and products offered by competitor banks and their influence on the Issuer’s trades and 
prices; (vi) monitors maturity of significant asset and liability transactions; (vii) evaluates an impact of expected 
new trades on the risk, limits and profitability; and (viii) decides on interest rates of deposit products, measures 
taken in the market risk management, prudential business activities and in trades. The ALCO’s chairperson and 
members are appointed and removed by the Board of Directors. 


Investment Committee 


The Investment Committee has been established by the Issuer’s Board of Directors. The Investment Committee’s 
main objective and purpose is to support investments assigned in the business portfolio, the Issuer’s currency 
and commodity positions. A further goal of the Investment Committee is to co-ordinate and monitor investments 
in the trading book, currency and commodity positions of the individual members of the regulatory consolidated 
unit and at the consolidated level. The Investment Committee especially (i) discusses and approves limits or 
other parameters for the business portfolio trades, the Issuer’s currency and commodity positions to an extent 
specified by the Issuer’s internal rules governing limits for making the Issuer’s transactions; (ii) prescribes a set 
of liquidity risk figures and approves the Issuer’s emergency liquidity plan and approves the enlistment of a 
security for trading as a part of the client portfolio management; and (iii) regularly evaluates the observance of 
set limits. The Investment Committee’s chairperson and members are appointed and removed by the Board of 
Directors. 


Credit Committee 


The Credit Committee has been established by the Issuer’s Board of Directors. The Credit Committee’s main 
objective and purpose is to provide support in the area of transactions in the Issuer’s non-trading book. In 
particular, (i) based on a risk analysis of a financed active trade, the Credit Committee approves active trades up 
to CZK 250 million; (ii) based on a risk analysis of a financed active trade, it makes a recommendation to the 
Board of Directors to approve an active trade above CZK 250 million; (iii) based on a risk analysis of a non-
performing active trade, it makes a recommendation to the Board of Directors to approve the method of recovery 
of active business; and (iv) discusses and decides on the categorisation of receivables on the basis of the 
fulfilment of technical indicators, deviations from project plans and external events, and is responsible for the 
quantification of the risks taken. The Credit Committee’s chairperson and members are appointed and removed 
by the Board of Directors. 


Operational Risk and Damage Committee 


The Operational Risk and Damage Committee (the ORDC) has been established by the Issuer’s Board of 
Directors. The ORDC’s main objective and purpose is to discuss damage and the Issuer’s operational risk. A 
further goal of the ORDC is to co-ordinate and monitor the operational risk for the individual members of the 
regulatory consolidated unit and at the consolidated level. The ORDC is responsible for working out and 
submitting proposals for the risk and damage mitigation to an acceptable level, for the check and evaluation of 
Issuer’s operational risk and supervision over the implementation of approved proposals for the elimination of 
operational risk and damage by the Board of Directors. The ORDC’s chairperson and members are appointed 
and removed by the Board of Directors. 
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Conflicts of Interest at the Level of Administrative, Management and Supervisory Bodies 


The Issuer is not aware of any potential conflict of interest between the duties of the Members of the Board of 
Directors, the Supervisory Board or the Audit Committee of the Issuer and their private interests or other duties. 
The Issuer’s internal regulations in force contain effective measures to avoid any conflict of interest, existing or 
potential, of the above-mentioned persons. 
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BANKING REGULATION IN THE CZECH REPUBLIC 


This section contains selected information on certain aspects of Czech banking regulation and supervision. The 
information in this section is intended to provide a brief overview of Czech banking regulation and supervision 
to which the Issuer is subject, and is not intended to provide a comprehensive or complete description of Czech 
banking regulation and supervision. 


Banking Regulation and Supervision 


The structure of the regulation and supervision of the Czech banking system is set forth in a number of statutes, 
including Czech Act No. 6/1993 Coll., on the Czech National Bank, as amended (the CNB Act), the Banking 
Act, the Capital Market Act, Czech Act No. 15/1998 Coll., on Supervision in the Capital Market Area and 
Amendment of Certain Other Acts, as amended (the Czech Capital Market Supervision Act), Czech Act No. 
253/2008 Coll., the Act on Some Measures against Money-Laundering and Financing of Terrorism, as amended, 
Czech Act No. 370/2017 Coll., on Payment Services, as amended, the Bonds Act, the Czech Act No. 93/2009 
Coll., on Auditors, as amended, Czech Act No. 377/2005 Coll., on Supplementary Supervision over Banks, 
Credit Unions, Electronic Money Institutions, Insurance Companies and Investment Firms in Financial 
Conglomerates and amending some other acts, as amended (the Czech Financial Conglomerates Act), the 
Czech Recovery and Resolution Act, Czech Act No. 257/2016 Coll., on Consumer Credit, as amended (the 
Czech Consumer Credit Act) and certain regulations issued by the CNB (known as measures and decrees) as 
well as directly applicable EU laws and regulations. 


The CNB 


The CNB exercises regulatory and supervisory powers over the banking sector, as well as the rest of the Czech 
financial sector (including the capital markets, insurance, pension funds, credit unions and electronic money 
institutions as well as the foreign exchange sector). The CNB also carries out the traditional activities of a central 
bank including fostering price stability through monetary policy as well as fostering financial stability and safe 
functioning of the financial system in the Czech Republic. 


As a general rule, the CNB exercises banking supervision over Czech banks (including subsidiaries of foreign 
banks incorporated in the Czech Republic) and Czech branches of banks established outside the EEA. Banks 
established in EEA countries other than the Czech Republic which are conducting their banking business in the 
Czech Republic through a Czech branch passported in the Czech Republic, or without establishment of a Czech 
branch on the basis of freedom of cross-border provision of services, are primarily subject to supervision by their 
home country regulators, although their supervision is also partially carried out by the CNB. 


Under the CNB Act and the Banking Act, the CNB is empowered with an array of powers to regulate and 
supervise the Czech banking system. These powers, among others, include the power to: (i) grant banking 
licences; (ii) issue regulations containing the terms and conditions of entry into the banking sector and setting 
down prudential rules for specific areas of banking business; (iii) monitor the activities of banks, branches of 
foreign banks and credit unions; (iv) perform examinations (inspections) in banks, including foreign bank 
branches and credit unions; (v) grant prior consents to certain activities involving a bank, including the 
acquisition of a participation in a bank, the disposal of a bank’s business, the merger or winding up of a bank, or 
the termination of a bank’s activities; and (vi) impose remedial measures and penalties for shortcomings detected 
in banks’ activities (see section Remedial Measures and Penalties). 


Licensing 


As a general rule, only joint-stock companies that have been granted a banking licence by the CNB in compliance 
with the Banking Act are permitted to operate in the Czech Republic as a bank. Certain exceptions apply to 
foreign banks established within the EEA which intend to provide banking services in the Czech Republic 
through their Czech branch or on the basis of freedom of cross-border provision of services. Licences are issued 
for an indefinite period of time and contain a list of the activities that the respective bank is permitted to conduct. 
In some cases, licences also contain conditions the bank must meet prior to commencing a particular permitted 
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activity or while conducting that activity. Some of the activities listed in the licence, such as the provision of 
investment services and certain custodian services, may be conditional upon the fulfilment of special conditions. 


Activities Requiring Prior Consent of or Notification to the CNB 


In a number of cases, the Banking Act requires banks or other legal or natural persons to apply for consent from 
the CNB or to notify the CNB before executing particular transactions or operations. 


Prior consent of the CNB is required, without limitation: (i) where a person proposes to acquire or increase a 
direct or indirect participation in a Czech bank so that it would reach or exceed 10%, 20%, 30% or 50% of the 
registered capital or of the voting rights, or so that the acquirer would become the bank’s controlling entity or 
have the possibility to exercise a significant influence over the bank’s management (this duty also applies to 
persons acting in concert); (ii) in order to enter into an agreement pursuant to which the business enterprise of 
the bank or a part thereof is disposed of; (iii) in order to merge or divide the bank or to transfer its assets to its 
shareholder; (iv) for a resolution of the general meeting of shareholders to wind up the bank or cease to carry out 
any activity for which a licence is required; and (v) in order to reduce the capital of the bank, unless the capital 
is being reduced to cover a loss. 


A prior notification to the CNB is required, without limitation: (i) where a person proposes to completely dispose 
of or reduce a direct or indirect participation in a bank so that it would fall below 10%, 20%, 30% or 50% of the 
registered capital or of the voting rights, or so that the acquirer would cease to be the bank’s controlling entity 
or cease to have the possibility of exercising a significant influence over the bank’s management (this duty also 
applies to persons acting in concert); (ii) of changes proposed to a bank’s articles of association relating to the 
parts that are required by law; (iii) of proposed personnel changes in the board of directors and senior 
management of the bank; (iv) of the bank’s intent to establish a legal entity (subsidiary), branch or representation 
abroad or to provide services abroad without establishing a branch; (v) of the identity of a bank’s auditor; and 
(vi) to effect any call, redemption, repayment or repurchase of MREL eligible instruments prior to the date of 
the instrument’s contractual maturity. 


A subsequent notification to the CNB must be filed by a Czech bank without undue delay upon any acquisition 
of a participation in a legal entity, incorporation of a legal entity or participation in its incorporation if the Czech 
bank acquired or holds a direct or indirect participation in such legal entity of at least 10% of the registered 
capital or of the voting rights, or so that the Czech bank would become the legal entity’s controlling entity or has 
the possibility to exercise a significant influence over the legal entity’s management. 


Capital Adequacy Requirements 


In December 2010, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (the BCBS) published its final standards on 
the revised capital adequacy framework, known as Basel III, which tightened the definition of capital and requires 
banks to maintain capital buffers on top of minimum capital requirements. On 27 June 2013, the CRD IV and 
the CRR, transposing Basel III into EU-law, have been published. 


The CRR (an EU-regulation which directly applies in all EU-Member States without any further national 
implementation steps) entered into force on 1 January 2014. Certain Czech laws (including amendments to the 
Banking Act and an implementing Decree of the CNB No. 163/2014 Coll., on the Performance of the Activities 
of Banks, Credit Unions and Investment Firms, as amended (the Prudential Rules Decree)) implementing the 
CRD IV into Czech law were subsequently amended or newly promulgated in 2014. 


Thus, since 2014, the prudential requirements, in particular the regulatory capital requirements applicable to the 
Issuer have been substantially changed. 


Under the new rules, the only capital instruments eligible as own funds are: (i) CET 1 instruments; (ii) additional 
tier 1 instruments (the AT 1) (CET 1 and AT 1 together constituting the Tier 1); and (iii) tier 2 instruments (the 
Tier 2). 







  
 


  
0093318-0000041 EUO1: 2012389325.26 122  


 


 


Institutions are required at all times to satisfy the following minimum capital ratios for own funds: (i) a CET 1 
ratio of 4.5%; (ii) a Tier 1 ratio of 6%; and (iii) a total capital ratio constituted of the Tier 1 and Tier 2 of 8%, all 
expressed as a percentage of the total risk exposure amount. The total risk exposure amount is in principle the 
sum of risk-weighted exposure amounts for credit risk, as well as the own funds requirements for market risk 
and operational risk. 


Therefore, while the total capital an institution needs to hold remains at minimum 8%, the share that has to be of 
the highest quality (i.e. CET 1) increased from 2% to 4.5%. 


The new rules established the following new capital buffers: (i) the capital conservation buffer, (ii) the 
countercyclical capital buffer, (iii) the systemic risk buffer, (iv) the global systemic institutions buffer and (v) the 
other systemic institutions buffer. The capital conservation buffer is equal to 2.5%. The countercyclical capital 
buffer is 1.25% in the Czech Republic since 1 July 2024. The other systemically important institutions buffer is 
not applicable to the Issuer as at the date of this Prospectus. The systemic risk buffer is not applied by the CNB 
as at the date of this Prospectus. 


On top of these own funds requirements, the competent authorities may add extra capital requirements to cover 
other risks following a supervisory review and institutions may also decide to hold an additional amount of 
capital on their own. 


Under Basel III, banks (such as the Issuer) are required to meet two new liquidity standards: (i) the LCR and 
(ii) the NSFR. The LCR requires banks to hold an amount of unencumbered, high quality liquid assets that can 
be used to offset the net cash outflows the bank would encounter under an acute short term stress scenario 
specified by supervisors. The NSFR measures the amount of longer term, stable sources of funding available to 
a bank in relation to the stable funding it requires over a one year period of extended stress, given the liquidity 
profiles of its assets and its off-balance sheet exposures. 


In respect of credit risk, in order to calculate their risk-weighted exposure amounts, institutions shall apply either 
the standardised approach or (if permitted by the competent authorities) the internal ratings based approach. At 
the date of this Prospectus, the Issuer is using the standardised approach. 


Apart from the prudential requirements for own funds and regulatory capital described above, Czech credit 
institutions are subject to numerous other regulatory requirements stipulated by EU-law, including limits on large 
exposures, liquidity requirements, leverage ratios, as well as reporting and notification obligations. 


The CNB is authorised to apply certain remedial measures linked to failure to meet capital adequacy criteria. For 
example, the CNB may require the bank, among other things, to increase its capital to a sufficient level, to limit 
the acquisition of certain higher-risk assets, to refrain from paying interest on deposits where relevant interest 
rates would be in excess of the then current market level or to cease providing any loans to persons that have 
close personal or proprietary links with the bank. In an extreme case, the CNB is obliged to revoke the bank’s 
licence, unless the bank is subject to a crisis resolution measure (in Czech, opatření k řešení krize) pursuant to 
the Czech Recovery and Resolution Act. 


Furthermore, on 23 November 2016, the European Commission published its proposal for an EU Banking reform 
package including proposals to amend the CRR, the CRD IV and BRRD (the EU Banking Reform) as part of 
the finalisation of the Basel III framework and its implementation in the EU. The individual pieces of law forming 
the EU Banking Reform were adopted on 20 May 2019. The amendments include, among other things, 
introduction of a new asset class of “non-preferred” senior debt, changes to the market risk framework by 
implementing the fundamental review of the trading book, changes to the counterparty credit risk framework, 
introduction of a leverage ratio requirement, binding implementation of the NSFR, revisions to the Pillar 2 
framework and revisions to the framework concerning interest rate risk in the banking book. 


Financial Conglomerates 


Starting in September 2005, the Czech Financial Conglomerates Act came into force implementing Directive 
2002/87/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2002 on the supplementary 
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supervision of credit institutions, insurance undertakings and investment firms in a financial conglomerate. 
According to the Czech Financial Conglomerates Act, a bank is considered to be a “regulated person” when 
under certain circumstances it is subject to a regulation of the Czech Financial Conglomerates Act. 


According to the Czech Financial Conglomerates Act a financial conglomerate is a group or subgroup if: 


(a) the group or subgroup is headed by: (i) a regulated person, such as a bank, credit institution, insurance 
company or securities broker, which either: (a) controls a person in the financial sector; or (b) is a person 
who exercises a significant influence on a person in the financial sector; or (c) is a person connected to 
other person in financial sector through a unified management (d) is a person, the majority of whose 
members of statutory, managing and supervisory bodies comprise during most of the relevant 
accounting period individuals or persons, who are at the same time members of the statutory, managing 
and supervisory bodies of another person in the financial sector, or (ii) a person who is not a regulated 
person, provided the activity of the group is performed predominantly in the financial sector; 


(b) at least one person in the group or subgroup belongs to the insurance sector and at least one person in 
the group or subgroup belongs to the banking sector or investment services sector; and 


(c) the activities in the insurance sector of the group or subgroup in their aggregate and the activities in the 
banking sector and investment services sector of the group or subgroup in their aggregate are significant 
(where the extent of the sector’s significance is specified in detail in the Czech Financial Conglomerates 
Act). 


The supplementary regulation under the Czech Financial Conglomerates Act concerns mainly the following three 
areas at the level of the financial conglomerate: 


(a) capital adequacy; 


(b) risk management; and 


(c) intra-group transactions. 


The supplementary supervision is exercised at the level of the financial conglomerate, i.e. at the level of the 
regulated entity which is at the top of the financial conglomerate, or at the level of the regulated entity, the parent 
of which is a mixed financial holding company (i.e., a non-regulated entity controls a regulated entity) which 
has its head office in the EU. 


As at the date of this Prospectus, neither the Issuer nor any member of the Group is considered a regulated person 
subject to supplementary supervision at the level of financial conglomerate. 


Minimum Reserves 


Under the CNB Act, the CNB may require banks, foreign bank branches and credit unions to hold a pre-specified 
amount of liquid funds, known as minimum required reserves, in accounts with the CNB. The required minimum 
reserves may not exceed 30% of the total liabilities of the institution required to hold such reserves, net of its 
liabilities owed to other regulated persons. Currently, the CNB requires minimum reserves to amount to at least 
2% of the aggregate of the following liabilities to entities other than banks or foreign banks with a maturity of 
up to two years: (i) customer deposits; (ii) loans accepted from customers; (iii) holdings by non-banking entities 
of outstanding non-marketable securities; and (iv) holdings by non-banking entities of other outstanding debt 
securities. Minimum reserves are calculated from liabilities denominated in CZK as well as other currencies. 
Failure by a bank or a branch of a foreign bank established outside the EEA to meet minimum reserve 
requirements exposes the bank to interest penalties equal to twice the average Lombard rate applicable during 
the period in which it was obliged to meet such minimum reserve requirements. 


At its meeting on 10 October 2024, the Bank Board of the CNB decided to change the minimum reserve 
requirement. The current rate of 2% is to increase to 4% of the reserve base, except for repo liabilities. The new 
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rate becomes effective on 2 January 2025, i.e. on the first day of the new reserve maintenance cycle. The CNB 
took this step to lower the cost of implementing monetary policy while preserving its effectiveness. This follows 
on the measure adopted by the CNB on 7 September 2023, when the CNB decided to end the remuneration of 
minimum reserves with effect from 5 October 2023. The ECB adopted a similar decision in July 2023. Until 
then, the minimum reserves were remunerated at the 2W repo rate announced by the CNB, which at that time 
was 7%. The Issuer estimates that these measures will have impact on its financial results in the amount of CZK 
100 million per year. 


Liquidity Rules 


Under the Banking Act and the Prudential Rules Decree, banks operating in the Czech Republic are required to 
monitor and manage liquidity risks. A bank must establish a strategy for the management of liquidity risks and 
monitor liquidity on a daily basis for each individual major currency in which it deals, and on the aggregate level 
for all currencies. Banks must also maintain a stable and diversified funding portfolio and manage relationships 
with their principal creditors. 


Classification of Receivables and Impairment 


Under the Banking Act, the CRR and the Prudential Rules Decree, Czech banks and branches of foreign banks 
established outside the EEA are required to classify their exposures (especially those originating from granting 
of credit) according to the likelihood of default on such receivables into the following classes: (i) performing 
exposures; and (ii) non-performing exposures. The classification is realised in accordance with the approach to 
classification of exposures set out in the Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) No 680/2014 of April 2014 
laying down implementing technical standards with regard to supervisory reporting of institutions according to 
CRR. Following such classification, Czech banks and branches of foreign banks must follow procedures set by 
the Prudential Rules Decree to set amounts of expected losses on the exposures and create provisions and reserves 
to cover them. 


Large Exposures 


Under the Banking Act, the Prudential Rules Decree and the CRR, Czech banks and branches of foreign banks 
established outside the EEA are required to comply with large exposure rules established by the CRR that limit 
the amount of their assets and off-balance-sheet items in respect of a person or economically connected group of 
persons. For the purposes of these rules, a large exposure to a person or economically connected group of persons 
is deemed to exist if the exposure value is equal to or higher than 10% of a bank’s eligible capital. 


As a general rule, a Czech bank must not incur an exposure, after taking into account the effect of the credit risk 
mitigation, to a client or group of connected clients the value of which exceeds 25% of its eligible capital. If a 
group of connected clients includes one or more credit institutions or investment firms, the value of the exposure 
must not exceed 25% of a Czech bank’s eligible capital or EUR 150 million, whichever is higher, provided that 
the sum of exposure values, after taking into account the credit risk mitigation, to all connected clients that are 
not credit institutions or investment firms must not exceed 25% of the Czech bank’s eligible capital. 


As a general rule, trading portfolio exposure to a person or economically connected group of persons may not 
exceed 600% of the sum of the eligible capital. 


Qualified Participations 


The Banking Act defines a qualified participation as a direct or indirect participation in an entity which represents 
10% or more of the registered capital or voting rights of such entity, or which makes it possible to exercise 
significant influence over the management of such entity. Under the CRR, a qualified participation held by a 
bank or its consolidated group in a non-financial institution (i.e., an entity that is neither a Czech bank, a foreign 
bank, a financial institution nor an ancillary services undertaking) may not exceed (i) in respect of a single legal 
entity, 15% of the bank’s or the consolidated group’s eligible capital and (ii) in respect of all legal entities, a total 
of 60% of the bank’s or the consolidated group’s eligible capital. These limits do not apply in specific limited 
circumstances. 
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Under the Banking Act, a bank may acquire a participation or share in another legal entity, incorporate another 
legal entity or participate in its incorporation only if: (a) the bank does not become a participant with unlimited 
liability; (b) the legal entity is not a person having a qualified participation in such bank (with some exemptions 
stated by the Banking Act); (c) there are no legal or other obstacles to effective supervision of the bank’s 
activities; or (d) the investment is in compliance with the overall strategy of the bank and the bank controls the 
risks connected with such investment, in particular, in light of the eventual obligations of the bank arising 
therefrom. 


Disclosure of Information 


Banks are required to disclose and file with the CNB a number of reports, including quarterly and annual reports. 
The form of the reports is specified in various CNB decrees. The annual report must contain, among other things, 
the bank’s financial statements and the external auditor’s report. Since 2002, banks’ internal risk management 
systems must also be audited by statutory auditors, unless the CNB waives this requirement or limits it to only 
some parts thereof. The CNB reviews these reports and monitors whether regulations on liquidity, large 
exposures, capital adequacy, capital, qualified participations and other matters have been observed. Banks are 
also required to introduce effective mechanisms for dealing with customer complaints and to inform customers 
about these mechanisms in their premises. Banks must also disclose basic information about themselves, their 
shareholder structure, the structure of the consolidated group to which they belong, and their activities and 
financial situation on their website. Certain banks are also obliged to disclose information on compliance with 
the prudential rules. 


Deposit Insurance 


Primary deposits with Czech banks are insured with the Deposit Insurance Fund operated by the Financial Market 
Guarantee System established pursuant to the Czech Recovery and Resolution Act (the Deposit Insurance 
Fund). All Czech banks and branches of foreign banks outside the EEA must participate in this deposit insurance 
scheme and contribute to the Deposit Insurance Fund. The Deposit Insurance Fund is financed from contributions 
from banks, funds obtained at the financial market, subsidies, repayable financial assistance and loans provided 
by the CNB, investment yields on its funds and proceeds from finalised insolvency and liquidation proceedings. 


The condition for insuring each deposit is that the person making the deposit is duly identified, as follows: 


(a) in the case of individuals, the deposit must be identified by the individual’s name, surname, personal 
identification number or date of birth and address; and 


(b) in the case of legal entities, the deposit must be identified by the legal entity’s name, registered seat 
and, in the case of Czech legal entities, their identification number. 


Neither individuals nor legal entities need to apply for deposit insurance in order for their deposits to be covered. 
A deposit kept at a bank, building society or co-operative savings bank is insured automatically by operation of 
law. 


Subject to applicable limitations, deposit insurance covers all claims arising from deposits held in CZK or in 
other currencies registered as credit balances on accounts or deposit books, or evidenced by a certificate of 
deposit, deposit slip or another comparable document, and any interest accrued on such deposits. The deposit 
insurance does not cover deposit claims of banks, foreign banks, financial institutions, health insurance 
companies, state funds and certain other entities, such as members of the management or certain significant 
shareholders of the bank. Claims from subordinated debt and bills of exchange and other securities are also not 
covered by deposit insurance. 


The level of insurance coverage is calculated by aggregating the insured deposits of each depositor with the 
particular bank. Since 1 January 2011, the amount that can be paid to a depositor under the scheme is equal to 
100% of the aggregate of its deposits and is capped at the amount of EUR 100,000 per depositor per bank. For 
this purpose, the amounts paid in respect of deposits on joint accounts are proportionately allocated to each joint 
account holder. Since 1 January 2016, legislation has defined exceptional cases where even higher compensation 
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may be paid out for a defined period of time. This increased compensation can exceed the basic limit of EUR 
100,000 by a maximum of an additional EUR 100,000. Such exceptional cases are e.g. deposit compensations 
for deposits resulting from real estate transactions related to private residential properties, settlement of the 
common property of spouses after divorce, insurance settlement (in the case of injury, illness, invalidity or death) 
and in other cases determined by law. 


A yearly contribution of a Czech bank to the Deposit Insurance Fund is calculated pursuant to a formula 
published by the CNB, which takes into account the amount of the insured deposits and the risk profile of the 
institution. 


Remedial Measures and Penalties 


Under Czech law, banks are obliged to carry out their business in a prudent manner, in particular in a manner 
that does not impair the interests of depositors in respect of recoverability of their interests or endanger the bank’s 
safety and soundness. Banks are also required to observe all applicable legal rules and regulations, including the 
terms and conditions stipulated in their licence. If the CNB detects any shortcomings in the activities of a bank, 
it is authorised, among other things to: (i) require the bank to remedy the situation within a specified period by, 
for example, restricting some of the bank’s activities, replacing persons in the bank’s management or the bank’s 
supervisory board, or creating adequate provisions and reserves; (ii) change the bank’s licence by excluding or 
restricting some of the activities listed in the bank’s licence; (iii) order an extraordinary audit at the expense of 
the bank; (iv) impose a fine of up to CZK 50 million or, in some cases, of up to 10% of annual net turnover of 
the bank or the consolidated accounts of the parent undertaking; (v) require a reduction of the bank’s capital to 
cover any loss (to the extent that such loss is not covered by reserve funds and other funds), provided that the 
loss exceeds 20% of the bank’s equity; (vi) impose forced administration if the stability of the entire banking 
sector is endangered; and (vii) revoke the bank’s licence where serious shortcomings persist or when the bank is 
insolvent. The CNB is also authorised to apply certain other measures, which are linked mainly to capital 
adequacy. 


Under the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act, the CNB may further exercise a range of crisis prevention 
measures and crisis management measures, as described above. 


Additionally, the CNB is authorised to take measures consisting of suspending the rights of shareholders who 
acquire or increase a qualifying holding in a bank without the CNB’s consent or who operate to the detriment of 
the sound and prudent management of the bank. 


Consolidated Supervision 


Under the Banking Act and the Prudential Rules Decree, Czech banks, branches of foreign banks established 
outside the EEA and other entities forming consolidated groups are also subject to supervision on a consolidated 
basis, which includes monitoring and regulating the risks to which Czech banks and branches of foreign banks 
established outside the EEA are exposed due to their membership in a consolidated group. 


As a general rule, consolidated groups controlled by a bank or financial holding entity seated in other EEA 
Member States are not subject to supervision by the CNB on a consolidated basis. 


The consolidated groups subject to supervision by the CNB on a consolidated basis are mainly obliged to comply 
with: (i) the requirements for the internal management and control system; (ii) the rules for capital requirements; 
(iii) the large exposure rules; (iv) the restrictions on qualified participation; and (v) the rules for disclosure of 
information. When exercising supervision on a consolidated basis, the CNB co-operates with authorities 
responsible for supervising banks and financial institutions in other countries and is entitled to exchange 
information with them. 
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TAXATION 


Prospective purchasers of any Notes issued under this Prospectus acknowledge that the tax laws including, in 
particular, the tax laws of the Czech Republic as a country of tax residence of the Issuer and the tax laws of the 
country where the respective purchaser is tax resident, may have an impact on income from the Notes. Therefore, 
prospective purchasers of any Notes are advised to consult their own tax advisers as to the tax consequences of 
purchasing, holding and disposal of the Notes as well as receiving income from the Notes under the tax laws of 
any country in which income from holding and disposal of the Notes can become subject to tax including, in 
particular, the countries stated at the beginning of this paragraph. Only these advisors are in a position to take 
into account all relevant facts and circumstances and to duly consider the specific situation of the prospective 
purchaser. A similar approach should be taken by the prospective purchasers of any Notes in relation to the 
foreign-exchange-law consequences arising from the purchase, holding and disposal of the Bonds. 


The description below represents a brief summary of selected material tax aspects of the purchase, holding and 
disposal of the Notes, and foreign-exchange regulations in the Czech Republic. The summary is mainly based on 
Act No. 586/1992 Coll., on Income Taxes, as amended (Income Taxes Act) and on other related laws which are 
effective as at the date of this Prospectus as well as on the administrative practice or the prevailing 
interpretations of these laws and other regulations as applied by Czech tax, administrative and other authorities 
and bodies and as these are known to the Issuer at the date of this Prospectus. The information contained herein 
is neither intended to be nor should be construed as legal or tax advice The description below is solely of a 
general nature (i.e. it does not take into account, for example, specific tax treatment of certain taxpayers such 
as investment, mutual or pension funds) and may change in the future depending on changes to the relevant laws 
that may occur after this date, or in the interpretation of these laws which may be applied after that date. In this 
respect, please note that the below description of Czech tax treatment of the Notes has been significantly affected 
by Act No. 609/2020 Coll., which amends some acts in the field of taxes and some other acts (2021 ITA 
Amendment). The 2021 ITA Amendment has significantly changed the tax regime of bonds or notes (further only 
notes) issued after 31 December 2020. The new rules are quite controversial. Therefore, the tax regime of notes 
(including the Notes) is currently associated with many ambiguities. In the Issuer’s opinion, the summary below 
represents a rational interpretation of the relevant provisions of the Income Taxes Act in relation to notes. 


The following summary assumes that the person to whom any income is paid in connection with the Notes is the 
Beneficial Owner of such income (as defined below), i.e. it does not act, for example, as a proxy, agent, 
Depository or in any other similar position in which any such payments would be received on account of another 
person or entity. 


For the purposes of this section, the following terms have the following meaning: 


Beneficial Owner means an income recipient who is treated as the beneficial owner of such income (as 
interpreted by the OECD Model Tax Treaty and Commentary thereto) under the Income Taxes Act as well as 
for the purposes of a relevant Tax Treaty (if any). 


Coupon means any bond yield other than a bond yield that is determined by the difference between the nominal 
value of a bond and its issue price (i.e. yield determined as the Discount). For the avoidance of doubt, the Coupon 
also includes the Early Redemption Premium. 


Coupon Bond means a bond whose issue price is equal to its nominal value. For the avoidance of doubt, a 
Coupon Bond is not a bond whose yield is determined by the combination of the Discount and the Coupon. 


Czech Permanent Establishment means a permanent establishment in the Czech Republic under the Income 
Taxes Act as well as under a relevant Tax Treaty (if any). 


Czech Tax Non-Resident means a taxpayer who is not a tax resident of the Czech Republic under the Income 
Taxes Acts or under a relevant Tax Treaty (if any). 
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Czech Tax Resident means a taxpayer who is a tax resident of the Czech Republic under the Income Taxes Acts 
as well as under a relevant Tax Treaty (if any). 


Discount means a positive difference between the nominal value of a bond and its lower issue price. 


Discounted Bond means a bond whose issue price is lower than its nominal value. For the avoidance of doubt, 
a Discounted Bond is also a bond with a yield that is determined by the combination of the Discount and the 
Coupon. 


Early Redemption Premium means any extraordinary yield paid by an issuer in the event of early redemption 
of a bond. 


Legal Entity means a taxpayer other than an individual (i.e. a taxpayer that is subject to corporate income tax 
but that may not necessarily have a legal personality). 


Tax Security means a special amount collected by means of a deduction at source made by the Withholding 
Agent (for example by the issuer of a bond or by the buyer of a bond) upon payment of taxable income which 
serves essentially as an advance with respect to tax that is to be self-assessed by the recipient of the relevant 
income (i.e. unlike the Withholding Tax, the amount so withheld does not generally represent a final tax liability). 


Tax Treaty means a valid and effective tax treaty concluded between the Czech Republic and another country 
under which the Czech Tax Non-Resident is treated as a tax resident of the latter country. In the case of Taiwan, 
the Tax Treaty is Act No. 45/2020 Coll., on the elimination of double taxation in relation to Taiwan, as amended. 


Withholding Agent means a payer of (taxable) income who is responsible for making the deduction of (i) the 
Withholding tax or (ii) the Tax Security, as applicable, and their remittance to the tax authorities. 


Withholding Tax means a tax collected by means of a deduction at source made by the Withholding Agent (for 
example by the issuer of the bond) upon payment of taxable income. Save in certain circumstances, such tax is 
generally considered as final. 


1. INTEREST INCOME 


1.1 Czech Tax Residents 


(a) Individuals 


The yield in the form of the Coupon paid to an individual is subject to the Withholding Tax at a rate of 15%. 
This tax represents a final taxation of the Coupon in the Czech Republic. 


The yield in the form of the Discount paid to an individual is not subject to the Withholding Tax. Instead, it is 
included in the general tax base, which is subject to personal income tax at a progressive rate of 15% and 23% 
depending on the individual’s applicable bracket (the threshold for the higher bracket is 36 times the average 
wage, amounting to CZK 1,582,812 in 2024). However, the general tax base does not include the amount of the 
Discount, but rather the (positive) difference between the nominal value of the Bond paid by the Issuer (or the 
amount paid by the Issuer upon an early redemption of the Bond, but excluding the Early Redemption Premium, 
if any) and the price at which the individual acquired the Bond. If an individual holds the Bond that is a Coupon 
Bond until its maturity (or early redemption) and the individual acquired such Bond on a secondary market at 
an amount below the nominal value of the Bond (or below the amount paid by the Issuer upon an early 
redemption of the Bond, but excluding the Early Redemption Premium, if any), such (positive) difference is also 
included in the individual’s general tax base. 


(b) Legal Entities 
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The yield (whether in the form of a Discount or a Coupon) paid to a Legal Entity is not subject to the Withholding 
Tax, but it is rather included in the general tax base, which is subject to corporate income tax at a flat rate of 
21%. A Legal Entity that is an accounting unit is generally required to recognise the yield in its profit and loss 
statement on an accrual basis. 


1.2 Czech Tax Non-Residents 


(a) Individuals 


The yield in the form of a Coupon paid to an individual is subject to the Withholding Tax at a rate of 15% or 
35%. The 35% rate applies to recipients who do not have a Czech Permanent Establishment to which the Notes 
are attributable and, at the same time, are tax residents of neither (i) an EU/EEA member state nor (ii) a country 
with which the Czech Republic has an effective double tax treaty or an effective double (or multilateral) treaty 
on the exchange of information. The 15% rate applies to all other recipients. This tax generally represents a final 
taxation of the Coupon in the Czech Republic. However, an individual who is a tax resident of an EU/EEA 
member state may decide to include the Coupon in his/her tax return filed in the Czech Republic for the relevant 
tax year. In such a case, the above Withholding Tax represents an advance payment which is credited against the 
final Czech tax liability as declared in the tax return. 


The yield in the form of a Discount paid to an individual is not subject to the Withholding tax. Instead, it is 
included in the general tax base, which is subject to the personal income tax at a progressive rate of 15% and 
23% depending on the individual’s applicable bracket (the threshold for the higher bracket is 36 times the average 
wage, amounting to CZK 1,582,812 in 2024). However, the general tax base does not include the amount of the 
Discount, but rather the (positive) difference between the nominal value of the Bond paid by the Issuer (or the 
amount paid by the Issuer upon an early redemption of the Bond, but excluding the Early Redemption Premium, 
if any) and the price at which the individual acquired the Bond. However, if the Notes are not attributable to the 
individual’s Czech Permanent Establishment, the taxable amount cannot exceed the Discount (i.e., if such 
difference is higher, the amount of the Discount will be included in the general tax base). Furthermore, if an 
individual is not a tax resident of an EU/EEA member state, the Issuer will withhold the Tax Security at the rate 
of 1% applicable to the gross amount paid (i.e. the nominal value of the Bond upon the maturity or the amount 
paid by the Issuer upon an early redemption of the Bond, but excluding the Early Redemption Premium, if any). 
This Tax Security is creditable against the final tax liability as declared in a Czech tax return for the relevant tax 
year (any Tax Security overwithholding is generally refundable). If (i) an individual holds the Bond that is 
a Coupon Bond until its maturity (or its early redemption), (ii) the individual acquired such Bond on a secondary 
market for an amount below its nominal value (or below the amount paid by the Issuer upon an early redemption 
of the Bond, but excluding the Early Redemption Premium, if any) and (iii) such Bond is attributable to that 
individual’s Czech Permanent Establishment, such (positive) difference is also included in the individual’s 
general tax base (However, there are arguments supporting a conclusion that such difference is out of scope of 
Czech taxation).  


(b) Legal Entities 


The yield in the form of a Coupon paid to a Legal Entity where the Bond is not attributable to its Czech Permanent 
Establishment is subject to the Withholding Tax at a rate of 15% or 35%. The 35% rate applies to recipients that 
are tax residents of neither (i) an EU/EEA member state nor (ii) a country with which the Czech Republic has 
an effective double tax treaty or an effective double (or multilateral) treaty on the exchange of information. The 
15% rate applies to all other recipients. This tax generally represents a final taxation of the Coupon in the Czech 
Republic. However, a Legal Entity that is a tax resident of an EU/EEA member state may decide to include the 
Coupon in its tax return filed in the Czech Republic for the relevant tax year. In such a case, the above 
Withholding Tax represents an advance payment which is credited against the final self-assessed tax liability as 
declared in the tax return. The yield in the form of a Coupon paid to a Legal Entity where the Bond is attributable 
to its Czech Permanent Establishment is not subject to the Withholding Tax. Instead, it is included in the general 
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tax base, which is subject to corporate income tax at a flat rate of 21%. Furthermore, if the Legal Entity is not 
a tax resident of an EU/EEA member state, the Issuer will withhold a Tax Security at the rate of 10% applicable 
to the amount of the Coupon (on a gross basis). This Tax Security is creditable against the final tax liability as 
declared in a Czech tax return for the relevant tax year (any Tax Security overwithholding is generally 
refundable). 


The yield in the form of a Discount paid to a Legal Entity is not subject to the Withholding tax. Instead, it is 
included in the general tax base, which is subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 21%. However, the general 
tax base does not include the amount of the Discount, but rather the (positive) difference between the nominal 
value of the Bond paid by the Issuer (or the amount paid by the Issuer upon an early redemption of the Bond, 
but excluding the Early Redemption Premium, if any) and the price at which the Legal Entity acquired the Bond. 
However, if the Notes are not attributable to the Legal Entity’s Permanent Establishment, the taxable amount 
cannot exceed the Discount (i.e. if such difference is higher, the amount of the Discount will be included in the 
general tax base). Furthermore, if the Legal Entity is not a tax resident of an EU/EEA member state, the Issuer 
will withhold the Tax Security at the rate of 1%. applicable to the gross amount (i.e. the nominal value of the 
Bond at maturity or the amount paid by the Issuer upon an early redemption of the Bond, but excluding the Early 
Redemption Premium, if any). This Tax Security is creditable against the final tax liability as declared in a Czech 
tax return for the relevant tax year (any Tax Security overwithholding is generally refundable). If (i) a Legal 
Entity holds a Bond that is a Coupon Bond until its maturity (or its early redemption), (ii) the Legal Entity 
acquired such Bond on a secondary market for an amount below the nominal value of the Bond (or below the 
amount paid by the Issuer upon an early redemption of the Bond, but excluding the Early Redemption Premium, 
if any) and (iii) such Bond is attributable to that Legal Entity’s Czech Permanent Establishment, such (positive) 
difference is also included in its general tax base (However, there are arguments supporting a conclusion that 
such difference is out of scope of Czech taxation). 


A Legal Entity that is an accounting unit and where the Notes are attributable to its Czech Permanent 
Establishment is generally required to recognise the yield (whether in the form of a Discount or a Coupon) in its 
profit and loss statement on an accrual basis. 


2. CAPITAL GAINS/LOSSES 


2.1 Czech Tax Residents 


(a) Individuals 


Capital gains from the sale of the Notes that have not formed part of the business assets of an individual are 
generally exempt from personal income tax if: 


• the total annual (worldwide) gross income (i.e. not gains) of that individual from the sale of securities 
(including the Notes) does not exceed the amount of CZK 100,000, or 


• such gains are derived from the sale of the Notes which the individual has held for more than three years 
prior to their sale (however, income from a future sale of the Notes where a purchase agreement is 
concluded after 3 years but where income arises within 3 years from their acquisition is not tax-exempt); 
with effect from 2025, this exemption will be subject to an annual cap of CZK 40,000,000. The cap will 
be calculated based on a gross (worldwide) income (i.e. not gains) of that individual derived from the 
sale of securities (including the Notes) as well as certain participation in companies not represented by 
shares.  


If the Notes formed part of the business assets of an individual, the exemption upon their sale may still apply but 
only if the Notes are sold no earlier than 3 years after the termination of the individual’s business activities. 
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Taxable gains from the sale of the Notes realised by an individual are included in the general tax base, which is 
subject to personal income tax at a progressive rate of 15% and 23% depending on the individual’s applicable 
bracket (the threshold for the higher bracket is 36 times the average wage, amounting to CZK 1,582,812 in 2024). 
If an individual has held the Notes in connection with his/her business activities, such gains are also subject to 
social security and health insurance contributions. Losses from the sale of the Notes realised by an individual are 
generally tax non-deductible, except where such losses are compensated by taxable gains on the sale of other 
securities and the income from the sale of the Notes is not tax-exempt. 


(b) Legal Entities 


Capital gains from the sale of the Notes are included in the general tax base, which is subject to corporate income 
tax at a flat rate of 21%. Losses from the sale of the Notes realised by Legal Entities are generally tax deductible. 


2.2 Czech Tax Non-residents 


Capital gains from the sale of the Notes realised by a Czech Tax Non-Resident are subject to taxation in the 
Czech Republic provided that: 


• the Notes are attributable to a Czech Permanent Establishment of the Czech Tax Non-Resident selling 
the Notes, or 


• the Notes are acquired by (i) a Czech Tax Resident or (ii) a Czech Tax Non-Resident acquiring the 
Notes through his/her/its Czech Permanent Establishment. 


Therefore, capital gains realised by a Czech Tax Non-Resident where the Notes are sold to another Czech Tax 
Non-Resident and where such Notes are attributable to neither (i) a Czech Permanent Establishment of the seller 
nor (ii) a Czech Permanent Establishment of the buyer, are out of scope of Czech taxation. 


(a) Individuals 


Capital gains from the sale of the Notes that have not formed part of the business assets of an individual are 
generally exempt from personal income tax if: 


• the total annual (worldwide) gross income (i.e. not gains) of the individual from the sale of securities 
(including the Notes) does not exceed the amount of CZK 100,000, or 


• such gains are derived from the sale of the Notes which the individual has held for more than three years 
prior to their sale (however, income from a future sale of the Notes where a purchase agreement is 
concluded after 3 years but where income arises within 3 years from their acquisition is not tax-exempt); 
with effect from 2025, this exemption will be subject to an annual cap of CZK 40,000,000. The cap will 
be calculated based on a gross (worldwide) income (i.e. not gains) of that individual derived from the 
sale of securities (including the Notes) as well as certain participation in companies not represented by 
shares. 


If the Notes formed part of the business assets of an individual, the exemption upon their sale may still apply but 
only if the Notes are sold no earlier than 3 years after the termination of the individual’s business activities. 


Taxable gains from the sale of the Notes realised by an individual are included in the general tax base, which is 
subject to personal income tax at a progressive rate of 15% and 23% depending on the individual’s applicable 
bracket (the threshold for the higher bracket is 36 times the average wage, amounting to CZK 1,582,812 in 2024). 
If an individual has held the Notes in connection with his/her business activities, such gains may also be subject 
to social security and health insurance contributions. Losses from the sale of the Notes realised by an individual 
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are generally tax non-deductible, except where such losses are compensated by taxable gains on the sale of other 
securities and the income from the sale of the Notes is not tax-exempt. 


Furthermore, if the Notes are sold by an individual who is not a tax resident of an EU/EEA member state, a buyer 
acting as a Withholding Agent may be required to withhold a Tax Security amounting to 1% of the gross purchase 
price. The buyer will act as a Withholding Agent if he/she/it is: 


• a Czech Tax Resident, or 


• a Czech Tax Non-Resident and the acquired Notes are attributable to his/her/its Czech Permanent 
Establishment. 


Any Tax Security withheld is creditable against the final tax liability as declared by the Czech Tax Non-Resident 
selling the Notes in a Czech tax return for the relevant tax year (any Tax Security overwithholding is generally 
refundable). 


(b) Legal Entities 


Capital gains from the sale of the Notes that are subject to Czech taxation are included in the general tax base, 
which is subject to corporate income tax at a flat rate of 21%. Losses from the sale of the Notes realised by the 
Legal Entities are generally tax deductible. However, according to certain interpretations, such losses are not tax 
deductible for a Czech Tax Non-Resident that does not keep its accounting books under the Czech accounting 
rules. 


Furthermore, if the Notes are sold by a Legal Entity which is not a tax resident of an EU/EEA member state, 
a buyer acting as the Withholding Agent may be required to withhold a Tax Security amounting to 1% of the 
gross purchase price. The buyer will be acting as a Withholding agent if he/she/it is: 


• a Czech Tax Resident, or 


• a Czech Tax Non-Resident and the acquired Notes are attributable to his/her/its Czech Permanent 
Establishment. 


Any Tax Security withheld is creditable against the final tax liability as declared by the Czech Tax Non-resident 
selling the Notes in a Czech tax return for the relevant tax year (any Tax Security overwithholding is generally 
refundable). 


3. BENEFITS UNDER TAX TREATIES 


A Tax Treaty may reduce or even fully eliminate Czech taxation of both interest income from the Notes or capital 
gains from their sale (including a Tax Security withholding). Such Tax Treaty relief is usually applicable on the 
condition that the income recipient that is a Czech Tax Non-Resident does not hold the Notes through his/her/its 
Czech Permanent Establishment. Furthermore, the entitlement to particular Tax Treaty benefits is generally 
conditional on presenting documents proving that the income recipient qualifies for the Tax Treaty benefits 
including, in particular (i) a tax residency certificate issued by the relevant tax authorities and (ii) a beneficial 
ownership declaration of the income recipient. 


4. REPORTING OBLIGATION 


An individual holding the Notes (whether a Czech Tax Resident or a Czech Tax Non-Resident) is obliged to 
report to the Czech tax authorities any income earned in connection with the Notes if such income is exempt 
from taxation in the Czech Republic and exceeds, in each individual case, CZK 5,000,000. The reporting must 
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be fulfiled within the deadline for filing a personal income tax return. A non-compliance with this reporting 
obligation is penalised by a sanction of up to 15% of the gross amount of the unreported income. 


5. VALUE ADDED TAX 


There is no Czech value added tax payable in respect of the payment of interest or principal under the Notes , or 
in respect of the transfer of the Notes. 


6. OTHER TAXES OR DUTIES 


No registration tax, capital tax, customs duty, transfer tax, stamp duty or any other similar tax or duty is payable 
in the Czech Republic by either the Czech Tax Resident or the Czech Tax Non-Resident in respect of or in 
connection with the mere purchase, holding or disposal of the Notes. 
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ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE REGULATION 


This chapter contains only general information and relies on information obtained from publicly available 
sources. The Issuer or its advisers make no representation as to the accuracy or completeness of the information 
included herein. Any prospective purchasers of the Notes should therefore not rely upon the information included 
herein and are recommended to contact their legal advisers for consultation about the enforcement of claims in 
respect of the Issuer’s private law liabilities within any relevant jurisdiction. 


The Joint Terms and Conditions provide, among other things, that the courts of the Czech Republic shall have 
jurisdiction to settle any disputes, which may arise out of or in connection with the Notes (including a dispute 
relating to any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes). 


The recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments in civil and commercial matters in the Czech Republic is 
governed by EU law, public international treaties and Czech law. EU Regulation 1215/2012 of 12 December 
2012 on jurisdiction and the recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters (the 
Regulation 1215/2012) is directly applicable in the Czech Republic. Based on this regulation, court rulings 
issued by any court authority in the EU member states with regard to civil and commercial matters are 
enforceable in the Czech Republic, subject to the rules set forth in the Regulation 1215/2012 and, conversely, 
court rulings issued by court authorities in the Czech Republic with regard to civil and commercial matters are 
reciprocally enforceable in the EU member states. 


As from 1 January 2021, the Regulation 1215/2012 no longer applies in the UK. As a result, persons enforcing 
a judgment obtained before English courts no longer benefit from the recognition of such judgment in EU courts 
(including the Czech Republic) under the Regulation 1215/2012. However, on 28 September 2020, the UK 
deposited an instrument of accession to the Hague Convention on Choice of Court Agreements 2005 (the Hague 
Convention). The Hague Convention is an international convention which requires contracting states to 
recognise and respect exclusive jurisdiction clauses in favour of other contracting states and to enforce related 
judgments. As the Czech Republic already is a party to the Hague Convention by virtue of being a member state 
of the EU, judgments handed down by a UK court should be recognised and enforced under the Hague 
Convention in the Czech Republic. However, the scope of the Hague Convention is limited to contracts 
containing exclusive jurisdiction clauses and there is no assurance that such judgments will be recognised on 
exactly the same terms and in the same conditions as under the Regulation 1215/2012. 


According to the EC Regulation No. 593/2008 of 17 June 2008 on the law applicable to contractual obligations, 
parties to a contract may, subject to the terms set out therein, select the law which will govern their contractual 
relations in civil and commercial matters and Czech courts will give effect to such choice of law. In addition, 
EC Regulation No. 864/2007 on the law applicable to non-contractual obligations of 11 July 2007 allows parties 
to make a choice with respect to governing law of their non-contractual obligations in civil and commercial 
matters, subject to the terms set out therein. Unless parties to the dispute agreed otherwise, or unless courts of 
a different member state have an exclusive jurisdiction, foreign entities are able to bring civil proceedings before 
Czech courts against individuals and legal entities domiciled therein. In court proceedings, Czech courts apply 
their respective national procedural rules and their judgments are enforceable in their respective jurisdictions, 
subject to certain statutory limitations on the ability of creditors to enforce judgments against certain assets. 


Any person bringing an action in the Czech Republic may be required to: (i) submit to the court a translation in 
the Czech language (apostilled if applicable pursuant to respective international treaties) of any relevant 
document prepared by a sworn translator authorised by such court; and (ii) pay a court filing fee. 


In the event that court judgments against the Issuer are issued by court bodies of non-EU member states, the 
following rules shall apply: 


In cases where the Czech Republic concluded an international treaty with a specific country on the recognition 
and enforcement of court rulings, the recognition and enforcement of court rulings issued in such country is 
processed in accordance with the provisions of the applicable international treaty. 
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If no international treaty on the recognition and enforcement of court rulings exists, then the rulings of foreign 
courts shall be recognised and enforced in the Czech Republic in accordance with Act No. 91/2012 Coll., on 
private international law, as amended (the Private International Law Act) and other relevant legislation. In the 
event of a foreign ruling against a Czech individual or legal entity, such a foreign ruling shall be recognised and 
enforced if, among other things, actual reciprocity has been established regarding the recognition and 
enforcement of judgments rendered by Czech courts in the relevant country. 


The Czech Ministry of Justice may, upon agreement with the Czech Ministry of Foreign Affairs and other 
ministries, declare that reciprocity has been established with respect to a particular foreign country. Such 
declaration is binding on the Czech courts and other state authorities. If such declaration of reciprocity has not 
been issued with regard to a particular country, however, this does not automatically mean that reciprocity cannot 
be established in a given case. In such cases, the recognition of reciprocity would be assessed as part of the 
proceedings by the Czech court based on the actual situation in a given country with regard to the recognition of 
judgments of Czech authorities. 


On the other hand, even if reciprocity has been established and declared by the Ministry of Justice with respect 
to judgments issued by judicial bodies of a particular foreign country, such judgments may not be recognised 
and enforced under applicable provisions of Czech law if, for example: (i) the matter falls within the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the courts of the Czech Republic, or in the event that the proceedings could not have been 
conducted by any authority of a foreign state, should the provisions on the jurisdiction of Czech courts be applied 
for considering the jurisdiction of the foreign authority (unless the party against whom the decision was issued 
voluntarily submitted to the authority of the foreign body); (ii) proceedings are underway before a Czech court 
with regard to the same legal relations and if said proceedings commenced prior to the proceedings abroad, in 
which the judgement whose recognition has been proposed was issued; (iii) a Czech court has issued or 
recognised a final judgment in the same matter, or proceedings regarding the same matter are pending before 
a Czech court; (iv) the foreign authority deprived the party to the proceedings against whom the judgment was 
made of the opportunity to properly participate in the proceedings (i.e., in particular, if such party had not been 
duly served for the purposes of the initiation of the proceedings); or (v) the recognition of a foreign judgment 
would be contrary to the public order in the Czech Republic. 


Foreign exchange regulation 


The issue and acquisition of the Notes is not subject to any foreign exchange regulation in the Czech Republic. 
Under Czech Constitutional Act No. 110/1998 Coll., on security of the Czech Republic, the Czech Government 
or its Prime Minister may declare an emergency (in Czech: nouzový stav). If the Czech Government declares 
an emergency, payments in foreign currency or abroad generally, interbank transfers of monies from abroad to 
the Czech Republic and/or sale of securities (including the Notes) abroad may be suspended in accordance with 
Act No. 240/2000 Coll., on crisis management and amendment to certain acts, as amended, for the duration of 
such emergency. Such an emergency may be declared for a maximum period of 30 days unless prolonged by the 
approval of the Chamber of Deputies of the Parliament of the Czech Republic. 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 


1. INTERNAL APPROVAL 


The Issue was approved by a resolution of the Issuer's Board of Directors on 16 October 2024. 


2. LEGISLATION GOVERNING THE ISSUE OF THE NOTES 


The Notes are to be issued in accordance with the Bonds Act, the Capital Market Act and the Prospectus 
Regulation. 


3. APPROVAL OF THE PROSPECTUS BY THE CZECH NATIONAL BANK 


This Prospectus was approved by the CNB in its decision ref. no. [], file no. [] dated [], which became final 
and effective on []. The CNB has approved the Prospectus in its capacity as the competent authority under the 
Prospectus Regulation and only to the extent that the Prospectus meets the standards of completeness, 
comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the Prospectus Regulation. By approving the Prospectus, the 
CNB certifies that the Prospectus contains all information required by law necessary for the investor to take an 
investment decision. The CNB assesses neither the financial results nor the financial situation of the issuer and 
by approving the Prospectus it does not comment on the Issuer’s future profitability or its ability to repay the 
nominal value of the Notes or their proportional yield. 


4. USE AND ESTIMATED NET AMOUNT OF THE PROCEEDS 


The Issuer intends to offer the Notes in the Czech Republic, and intends to apply for their admission to trading 
on the Regulated Market of the PSE with the intention for them to qualify as Tier 2 Capital. The Issuer estimates 
that the net proceeds of the Issue will be CZK 1,496,250,000 and the cost of the Issue will be approximately 0.25 
% of the anticipated amount of the Issue. In the case of the possible increase up to CZK 2,500,000,000, the Issuer 
estimates that the net proceeds of the Issue will be CZK 2,496,250,000 and the cost of the Issue will be 
approximately 0.15 % of the anticipated amount of the Issue. 


5. STATUTORY AUDITOR 


The Annual Financial Statements were audited by KPMG Česká republika Audit, s.r.o., an independent 
registered auditor with its registered seat in Pobřežní 648/1a, 186 00 Prague 8, Czech Republic, ID No.: 
496 19 187, registered in the Commercial Register maintained by the Municipal Court in Prague under file no. 
C 24185; and in the Register of Audit Companies with the Chamber of Auditors of the Czech Republic, under 
License No. 071. On behalf of KPMG Česká republika Audit, s.r.o., the auditors’ reports on the Annual Financial 
Statements were signed by Jindřich Vašina, holding auditor’s certificate No. 2059, and whose relevant audit 
reports are included in the Annual Financial Statements. 


The Issuer declares that neither KPMG Česká republika Audit, s.r.o. nor any of its members, employees or agents 
has any material interest in the Issuer. In connection with this statement, the Issuer especially took into account 
the Auditors’ potential ownership of securities issued by the Issuer, potential prior participation in any governing 
bodies of the Issuer, or potential affiliation with other entities involved in the Issue. 


6. DATE OF THE PROSPECTUS 


The Prospectus was drawn up on 6 November 2024. 


7. DATA FROM THIRD PARTIES 


The Issuer confirms that if the information in this Prospectus or incorporated into this Prospectus by reference 
originated from a third party, the information has been accurately reproduced and, to the extent that the Issuer 
has been able to ascertain it from the information published by that third party, no facts that would make the 
reproduced information inaccurate of misleading were omitted. 
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The third-party information was sourced by the Issuer from: 


(a) the CNB in relation to the Standardised method of reporting insolvency rankings available at: 
https://www.cnb.cz/en/resolution/general-approach-of-the-czech-national-bank-to-setting-a-
minimum-requirement-for-own-funds-and-eligible-liabilities-mrel/standardised-method-of-reporting-
insolvency-rankings/; 


(b) the CNB in relation to the PRIBOR rates – monthly and yearly averages available at 
https://www.cnb.cz/en/financial_markets/money_market/pribor/averages_form.html 


(c) the Central Depository in relation to the List of Issues available at https://www.cdcp.cz/seznam-
emisi/?lang=en; 


(d) the CNB in relation to the Financial Market Supervision Reports for the year 2022 and 2012 available 
at https://www.cnb.cz/en/supervision-financial-market/aggregate-information-financial-
sector/financial-market-supervision-reports/; 


(e) the CNB in relation to the ARAD data series system available at https://www.cnb.cz/arad/#/en/home; 


(f) the PSE in relation to the Statistics Files available at https://www.pse.cz/en/market-
data/statistics/statistics-files; 


(g) the Czech Capital Markets Association (AKAT) in relation to the annual press release available (in 
Czech only) at https://www.akatcr.cz/Dokumenty/Aktuality/v253rocn237-tiskov225-zpr225va-akat-
investice-v-cesk201-republice-narostly-v-roce-2023-o-ctvrtinu; 


(h) the Czech Capital Markets Association (AKAT) in relation to the data available at 
https://www.akatcr.cz/en-gb/; 


(i) J&T FINANCE GROUP SE in relation to the annual reports of J&T FINANCE GROUP SE for the 
years 2023 and 2022 available at: https://www.jtfg.com/en/investors; 


(j) the MF CR in relation to the Macroeconomic Forecast from August 2024 available at: 
https://www.mfcr.cz/en/fiscal-policy/macroeconomic-analysis/macroeconomic-
forecast/2024/macroeconomic-forecast-august-2024-56804;  


(k) the CBA in relation to the Macroeconomic Forecast of 3Q 2024 available at 
https://www.cbamonitor.cz/actuality/macroeconomic-forecast-cba-3q-24; and  


(l) the Auditor. 


The sources are also always listed in the relevant footnote or in in the chapter Documents Incorporated by 
Reference. 


8. DEFINITIONS 


Capitalized terms used in a particular section of the Prospectus shall have the meaning assigned to them in 
Condition 14 (Definitions) of the Conditions or any other section of the Prospectus. All definitions used in this 
Prospectus can be found using the definition index contained chapter Index, which refers to the placement of the 
definition in the Prospectus. 
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		Summary

		Risk Factors

		Risks Related to the External Conditions under which the Group Conducts its Business

		Risks related to global financial, political and economic conditions and other market factors

		Risks related to the war in Ukraine and the conflict between Israel and Hamas

		Deterioration in the economic conditions and political situation in the Czech Republic could adversely affect the Group’s operations, profitability and financial condition

		Risks associated with the tax regulation



		Risks Related to the Business of the Issuer and the Group

		The Issuer is a corporate bank competing against larger financial institutions with a universal banking model and more diversified and predictable revenue streams

		The Issuer serves a specific market segment and its future success depends on the relationships with, and the opportunities generated by, this market segment

		The Issuer’s loan portfolio contains relatively large loans, some of which are junior or subordinated, provided to a relatively small number of clients. This creates concentration risk which tends to be greater than in a universal banking model

		Risk related to the Issuer’s exposure to real estate and construction sectors

		The Issuer may be unable to continue to effectively hedge its positions

		Resignation or loss of key personnel could have an adverse effect on the Issuer’s ability to execute its strategy



		Risks Related to the Banking Business

		The Issuer and the Group are exposed to credit risk

		The Issuer and the Group are exposed to market risk, in particular interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk

		The Issuer and the Group are exposed to operational risk related to their business activities

		The Issuer and the Group are exposed to liquidity risk

		The Issuer and the Group are exposed to funding risk

		Competition in the financial services sector is intense

		Risks associated with regulatory requirements and the Issuer’s and the Group’s legal obligations

		The Basel III framework may affect the capital requirements associated with a holding of the Notes for certain investors and the Issuer may incur substantial costs in monitoring and complying with new capital adequacy requirements

		The Issuer is subject to the Czech Resolution and Recovery Act, implementing BRRD and setting out a bank recovery and resolution framework which is intended to enable a range of actions to be taken in relation to credit institutions considered to be f...

		Risks associated with abuse of the financial system

		Risks associated with the Issuer’s and the Group’s human resources

		Risks associated with business development initiatives and digital innovation

		Litigation and disputes

		Risk associated with information security and risk of cybercrime attacks



		Risks relating to the regulatory classification of the Notes

		Adoption of resolution measures or crisis prevention measures against the Issuer may materially adversely affect the value of the Notes and the satisfaction of the claims from the Notes

		Any claims from the Notes may be written down or converted in the event of adoption of crisis resolution measures

		Noteholders may not be able to enforce their rights under the Notes in the event of the exercise of any resolution power

		The Notes may not be subject to set-off or any guarantee

		The Notes carry an enhanced risk of loss in the event of the Issuer’s insolvency or liquidation and if the Issuer is failing or likely to fail

		Claims from the Notes may be written down or converted also in the event the Issuer is determined not viable (and not only if the conditions for application of a resolution measure are fulfilled)

		Holders of the Notes are exposed to the risk that the Issuer may issue further debt instruments or incur further liabilities

		Market making by the Issuer for the Notes is subject to the prior permission of the Competent Authority and certain conditions and thresholds

		The Notes are not covered by any (statutory or voluntary) deposit guarantee scheme

		Claims of the Noteholders under the Notes are not covered by the statutory deposit protection (pojištění pohledávek z vkladů). Such Noteholders’ claims may only be satisfied in the ranking described in the Conditions. Therefore, in such case and upon ...

		Investors should not invest in the Notes with the expectation of their early redemption

		The Issuer is entitled to redeem the Notes early in certain cases, especially upon (i) Capital Disqualification Event, (ii) Tax Event, or (iii) by decision of the Issuer on the Reset Date and the subsequent Floating Interest Payment Dates.



		There are no events of default applicable in relation to the Notes, their Noteholders do not have the right to accelerate payments or to request early redemption upon a breach of the Conditions, in particular not even upon a default in payments

		In the event of a Capital Disqualification Event or a Tax Event, the Notes may be redeemed early, substituted and the Conditions may be changed without the consent of the Noteholders

		The Issuer issues the Notes with the intention of including the Notes in its Tier 2 Capital. To the extent the Notes do not qualify as Tier 2 Capital after the Reset Date, the Notes are intended to be included in the amount of eligible liabilities for...

		The Issuer may, if a Capital Disqualification Event or a Tax Event (as defined in Condition 4.2 of the Conditions) occurs and if other conditions specified in the Conditions are met, including the possible consent of the CNB, if this consent is requir...

		It is not possible to predict whether and when the Capital Disqualification Event occurs and, if so, whether the Issuer will exercise its rights as set out in the Conditions, or whether the CNB will allow the exercise of such rights, in case the conse...

		No Noteholder who, in the event of a Capital Disqualification Event, will be affected by early redemption and amendment of the Conditions, will not be entitled to demand compensation for any consequences of the exercise of such rights by the Issuer on...





		General risks relating to the Notes

		Return on investment in the Notes may be affected by the interest rate



		Although it cannot yet be judged that a similar abandonment should occur in relation to PRIBOR rates, there can be no assurance that PRIBOR will be maintained in the future, and if so, to what extent. This may cause PRIBOR to develop differently than ...

		Further, if even this option for determining the interest rate is unavailable, the Conditions set out other ways of determining such interest rate, the usage of which may be less favourable to the Noteholders than if the Original Reference was availab...

		The fixed to floating rate nature of the Notes may affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes

		Risks associated with PRIBOR and other interest rate ‘benchmarks’ from a regulatory perspective

		Risk of early redemption

		The Conditions of the Notes contain provisions which may permit their modification without the consent of all investors

		Liquidity risk

		Market price risk

		If an investor holds Notes which are not denominated in the investor’s home currency, they will be exposed to movements in exchange rates adversely affecting the value of their holding. In addition, the imposition of exchange controls in relation to a...





		Documents Incorporated by Reference

		Responsibility Statement

		Subscription and Sale

		Terms and Conditions of the Notes

		1. General characteristics of the Notes

		1.1 Form, Nominal Amount and other Characteristics of the Notes

		1.2 Issue Price

		1.3 Issue Date, Subscription and sale of the Notes

		1.4 Separation of Rights to Interest on the Notes

		1.5 Noteholders, Transfer of the Notes

		(a) Holders of the Notes

		(b) Transferability of the Notes

		(c) Transfers of the Notes





		2. Status of the Notes, No SET-OFF

		2.1 Status of the Notes

		(a) junior to all present or future (i) claims in respect of unsecured and unsubordinated instruments or obligations of the Issuer, including claims in respect of senior non-preferred instruments of the Issuer pursuant to Section 374b of the Insolvenc...

		(b) pari passu without any preference: (i) among themselves; and (ii) with all other present or future claims in respect of Tier 2 Instruments (other than claims in respect of Tier 2 Instruments which according to their terms are expressed to rank jun...

		(c) senior to all present or future claims in respect of: (i) all other Tier 2 Instruments which according to their terms are expressed to rank junior to the Notes; (ii) Additional Tier 1 Instruments; and (iii) CET 1 Instruments.

		Tier 2 Instruments means any (directly or indirectly issued) capital instruments of the Issuer that qualify as Tier 2 instruments pursuant to Article 63 CRR, including any capital (or other) instruments that qualify as Tier 2 items pursuant to transit...





		2.2 No Set-off

		2.3 No Security



		3. Interest

		3.1 Interest Accrual

		3.2 Interest Periods and Interest Payment Dates

		3.3 Interest Rate

		(a) Fixed Rate of Interest

		(b) Floating Rate of Interest



		3.4 Benchmark Discontinuation

		(a) Independent Adviser

		(b) Successor Rate or Alternative Rate

		(i) there is a Successor Rate, then such Successor Rate shall (subject to adjustment as provided in Condition 3.4(c)) subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the rate of interest (or the relevant component part thereo...

		(ii) there is no Successor Rate but that there is an Alternative Rate, then such Alternative Rate shall (subject to adjustment as provided in Condition 3.4(c)) subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the rate of inter...



		(c) Adjustment Spread

		(d) Benchmark Amendments

		(i) jeopardize the Notes qualifying as Tier 2 Instruments; and/or

		(ii) result in the Relevant Supervisor and/or the Relevant Resolution Authority considering the next Interest Payment Date as the effective maturity date of such Notes instead of the Final Maturity Date.



		(e) Notices

		(f) Survival of Original Reference Rate

		(i) in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended in relation to the replacement of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body; or (if no such recommendation has been made, or in the case of an Alter...

		(ii) is commonly used in international debt capital markets in transactions that refer to the Original Reference Rate and in which that rate has been replaced by a Successor Rate or an Alternative Rate (as the case may be); or, if neither (i) above no...

		(iii) the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, determines, is recognised or acknowledged as being the industry standard for over-the-counter derivative transactio...

		(i) the Original Reference Rate ceasing to exist or ceasing to be published for a period of at least 5 Business Days; or

		(ii) the later of these occurring: A) the administrator of the Original Reference Rate publicly announces that it will stop publishing the Original Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely by a specified date (in circumstances where no successor adm...

		(iii) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate, that the Original Reference Rate has been or will be permanently or indefinitely discontinued; or

		(iv) the later of these occurring: A) the supervisory authority of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate publicly announces that the Original Reference Rate will be terminated permanently or indefinitely by a specified date, and B) the day ...

		(v) the later of these occurring: A) as a result of a statement by the supervisory authority of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate, the use of the Original Reference Rate either generally or in relation to the Notes will be prohibited as...

		(vi) it has become unlawful for any Fiscal and Paying Agent, Calculation Agent, the Issuer or other party to calculate any payments due to be made to any Noteholder using the Original Reference Rate; or

		(vii) a public statement by the supervisory authority of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that the Original Reference Rate is no longer representative or may no longer be used.

		(i) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates, or any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicab...

		(ii) any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at the request of (a) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates, (b) any central bank or other supervisory ...







		4. Redemption of the Notes

		4.1 Redemption at Maturity

		4.2 Early Redemption at the Option of the Issuer

		(a) Early Redemption upon Decision of the Issuer

		(b) Early Redemption upon Capital Disqualification Event

		(i) Admissibility and notice of the early redemption upon Capital Disqualification Event

		(ii) Early redemption upon Capital Disqualification Event



		(c) Early Redemption upon Tax Event

		(i) Admissibility and notice of the early redemption upon Tax Event

		(ii) Early redemption upon Tax Event

		A Tax Event will occur if, as a result of a Tax Law Change, on the next Payment Date any payments by the Issuer in respect of the Notes cease (or will cease) to be deductible by the Issuer for the Czech Republic’s corporate income tax purposes or suc...





		(d) Conditions to Early Redemption at the Option of the Issuer and Purchases by the Issuer



		4.3 Early Redemption at the Option of the Noteholders

		4.4 Purchase of the Notes by the Issuer and their Cancellation

		Subject to Condition 4.2(d), the Issuer, or any entity from the Group, is authorised to purchase the Notes in the market or otherwise at any price. The Notes purchased in accordance with this Condition 4.4 or the Notes otherwise acquired by the Issuer...





		5. Payment terms

		5.1 Currency of Payments

		5.2 Payment Date

		5.3 Following Business Day Convention

		5.4 Determination of the Right to Receive Payments under the Notes

		(i) The authorised persons to whom the Issuer will pay the interest on the Notes will be the persons in whose owner’s accounts in the Central Depository or in follow-up records linked to the Central Depository the Notes are recorded as at the end of t...

		(ii) The authorised persons to whom the Issuer will repay the nominal amount of the Notes will be the persons in whose owner’s accounts in the Central Depository or in follow-up records linked to the Central Depository the Notes are recorded as at the...

		(iii) However, if the Issuer or the Fiscal and Paying Agent have been provided with conclusive evidence no later than five Business Days preceding the relevant Payment Date that the entry in the owner’s account in the Central Depository or in the foll...

		(iv) If the Notes are pledged as recorded in the owner's account in the Central Depository, the pledgee entered in the extract from the register prepared by the Central Depository at the end of the Record Date for Interest Payment or the Record Date f...



		5.5 Payments by Wire Transfer

		(a) The Fiscal and Paying Agent will make payments in connection with the Notes to the Authorised Persons by means of a wire transfer to their accounts kept with a bank with registered office in a member state of the European Union or other state that...

		(b) The Instruction must be delivered to the Fiscal and Paying Agent no later than five Business Days before the relevant Payment Date.

		(c) If the Instruction is not delivered to the Fiscal and Paying Agent within the deadline set for the delivery of the Instruction, or if an Instruction that is not proper is delivered to him within this deadline, the Issuer and the Fiscal and Paying ...

		(d) The Issuer’s obligation to pay any amount due in connection with the Notes will be discharged in a due and timely manner, if the relevant amount has been remitted to the Authorised Person in accordance with a proper Instruction pursuant Conditions...

		(e) Neither the Issuer nor the Fiscal and Paying Agent will be liable for any delay caused by the Authorised Person, e.g. by its failure to deliver a proper Instruction in a timely manner. Unless it is excluded by the provisions of legal regulations t...

		(f) If the Fiscal and Paying Agent cannot pay any amount due in connection with the Notes within a reasonable time after the Payment Date due to delays on the part of an Authorised Person, failure to submit a proper Instruction or other reasons on the...



		5.6 Change in the Payment Method



		6. Taxation

		7. Events of default

		7.1 Liquidation or Insolvency Event

		7.2 Maturity of the Accelerated Notes

		7.3 Withdrawal of Acceleration Notice

		7.4 Other Conditions for Early Redemption of the Notes



		8. Prescription

		9. Fiscal and Paying Agent and Calculation Agent

		9.1 Fiscal and Paying Agent

		(a) Fiscal and Paying Agent and the Specified Office

		(b) Additional or Another Fiscal and Paying Agent and Specified Office

		(c) Relationship between the Fiscal and Paying Agent and the Noteholders



		9.2 Calculation Agent

		(a) Another and Additional Calculation Agent

		(b) Relationship between the Calculation Agent and Noteholder



		9.3 Common Representative



		10. Meetings and changes to the Conditions and replacement of the Notes

		10.1 Authority and Convocation of the Meeting

		(a) Right to Convene the Meeting

		(b) Meeting Convened by the Issuer

		(c) Notice of the Meeting



		10.2 Persons Authorised to Attend and Vote at the Meeting

		(a) As the Notes are issued in the form of book-entry bonds, a person entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting (the Person Authorised to Attend the Meeting) will only be (i) the Noteholder recorded as a Noteholder at the end of the accounting day pr...

		(b) Voting Rights

		(c) Attendance of the Meeting by Other Persons



		10.3 Course of the Meeting; Decision-making

		(a) Quorum

		(b) Chairman of the Meeting

		(c) Common Representative

		(d) Decision-making at the Meeting

		(e) Adjournment of a Meeting

		(f) No right to an early redemption



		10.4 Minutes of the Meeting

		10.5 Decisions adopted outside of a Meeting

		(a) Notice of the proposed decision

		(i) the business name, identification number and registered office of the Issuer;

		(ii) the identification of the Notes, at least the Note title, the Issue Date and the ISIN;

		(iii) the text of the proposed decision and justification thereof;

		(iv) the deadline for delivering the Noteholder’s statement, which is at least 15 days from the date of the notification;

		(v) the Meeting Attendance Record Date;

		(vi) documents necessary for the adoption of the proposed decision; and

		(vii) other information and data at the convenor’s discretion.



		(b) Persons Authorised to Make Decisions outside of a Meeting

		(c) Adoption of a decision

		(d) Other provisions



		10.6 Substitution and Variation

		(a) the Capital Disqualification Event occurs and is continuing; or

		(b) the Tax Event occurs and is continuing;

		(a) in the case of substitution of Notes, the issue date of the relevant substitute notes; or

		(b) in the case of variation of the Conditions of the Notes, the effective date of the relevant variation;

		Eligible Notes means, at any time, any notes issued directly by the Issuer if:



		(a) (1) in respect of Notes where the substitution or variation is triggered by the occurrence of a Capital Disqualification Event, the terms and conditions of such notes comply with the then-current requirements for their inclusion in the Tier 2 Capi...

		(b) they have terms not materially less favourable to Noteholders than the terms of the relevant Notes (as reasonably determined by the Issuer in consultation with an independent adviser of recognized standing);

		(c) they have the same denomination and aggregate outstanding nominal amount, rate of interest and manner of determination of rate of interest, Payment Dates and preserve any existing rights to any accrued and unpaid interest and any other amounts pay...

		(d) they have at least the same ranking as the relevant Notes pursuant to Condition 2 on the Issue Date of the Notes;

		(e) they do not contain any terms providing for mandatory deferral or cancellation of payments of interest and/or of their nominal amount, preserve the obligations (including the obligations arising from the exercise of any right) of the Issuer as to ...

		(f) they are admitted to trading on a regulated market selected by the Issuer, if the Notes were admitted to trading on a regulated market immediately prior to the relevant substitution or variation pursuant to this Condition 10.6.





		11. Notices

		12. Governing Law and Language

		13. Bail-in Power

		13.1 Acknowledgement of the Bail-in Power

		(a) the effect of the exercise of any Bail-in Power by the Relevant Resolution Authority, which exercise may (without limitation) include and result in any of the following, or a combination thereof:

		(i) the reduction of all, or a portion, of the Relevant Amounts in respect of any Note;

		(ii) the conversion of all, or a portion, of the Relevant Amounts in respect of any Note into shares, other securities or other obligations of the Issuer or another person, and the issue to or conferral on the Noteholder of such shares, securities or ...

		(iii) the cancellation of any Note or the Relevant Amounts in respect of any Note; and

		(iv) the amendment or alteration of the maturity of any obligation for the repayment of the nominal amount of the Notes or amendment of any obligation for the payment of interest payable on any Note, or the date on which interest becomes payable, incl...



		(b) the variation of any Conditions, as deemed necessary by the Relevant Resolution Authority, to give effect to the exercise of any Bail-in Power by the Relevant Resolution Authority.

		Bail-in Power means any write-down, conversion, transfer, modification or suspension power existing from time to time under, and exercised in compliance with, Applicable Banking Regulations, including the Recovery and Resolution Act, or under other ap...

		Relevant Amounts means the obligations of the Issuer for the repayment of the outstanding nominal amount of any Note, together with the obligations of the Issuer for the payment of any accrued but unpaid interest on the Note. References to such amount...





		13.2 Notification to Noteholders

		13.3 Proportionate Performance of the Bail-in Power



		14. Definitions

		In these Conditions, the following terms shall have the following meaning:

		Acceleration Notice has the meaning as set out in Condition 7.1.

		Additional Subscription Period has the meaning as set out in Condition 1.2.



		Additional Tier 1 Instruments has the meaning as set out in Condition 2.1.

		Adjustment Spread has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.4.

		Agency Agreement has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

		Applicable Banking Regulations means, at any time, the laws, regulations, requirements, guidelines and policies relating to capital adequacy, solvency or resolution then applicable to the Issuer and/or the Group including, without limitation to the g...

		Authorised Persons or Authorised Person mean the persons or person entitled to the payment of interest on the Notes and repayment of the nominal amount of the Notes, determined according to the rules specified for individual cases in Condition 5.4, u...

		Bail-in Power has the meaning as set out in Condition 13.1.

		Benchmark Event has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.4.

		Bonds Act has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

		BRRD means Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms, as amended, including all implementing regulations, or ...

		Business Day means any day on which banks in the Czech Republic are open and interbank transactions are settled in CZK.

		Business Day Convention has the meaning as set out in Condition 5.3.

		Calculation Agent has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

		Capital Disqualification Event has the meaning as set out in Condition 4.2(b)(ii).

		Capital Market Act has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

		Central Depository means Centrální depozitář cenných papírů, a.s., with its registered office at Prague 1, Rybná 14, Postal Code 110 00, ID No.: 250 81 489, registered in the Commercial Register under file no. B 4308 maintained by the Municipal Court...

		CET 1 Instruments has the meaning as set out in Condition 2.1.



		Civil Code means Act No. 89/2012 Coll., Civil Code, as amended.

		Conditions or Condition has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the Notes.



		CRD means any of, or any combination of, the CRD Directive, the CRR, and any CRD Implementing Measures.

		CRD Directive means Directive 2013/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions and investment firms, as amended.

		CRD Implementing Measures means any rules implementing the CRD Directive or the CRR which may from time to time be introduced, including, but not limited to, delegated or implementing acts (regulatory technical standards) adopted by the European Comm...

		CRR means Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms and amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 (Capital Requirements Regulation), a...

		Czech National Bank means the Czech National Bank, which performs supervision of the capital market in accordance with Act No. 15/1998 Coll. on Supervision in the Capital Market Area, as amended, or another authority which may have the competence of ...

		CZK means the Czech Koruna, the lawful currency of the Czech Republic.

		Early Redemption Date has the meaning as set out in Conditions 4.2(a), 4.2(b)(i), 4.2(c)(i), 5.2 or 7.2.

		Eligible Notes has the meaning as set out in Condition 10.6.

		EUR, Euro or euro refer to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.

		Final Maturity Date has the meaning as set out in Condition 4.1.

		Fiscal and Paying Agent has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

		Fixed Day Count Fraction has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.3(a).

		Fixed Rate Interest Period has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.3(a).

		Fixed Rate of Interest has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.3(a).

		Floating Day Count Fraction has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.3(b).

		Floating Rate Interest Period has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.3(b).

		Floating Rate of Interest has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.3(b).

		Group has the meaning as set out in Condition 4.2(b)(ii).



		Hague Convention has the meaning as set out in Condition 5.5(a).

		Independent Adviser has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.4.

		Insolvency Act means Act No. 182/2006 Coll., on Insolvency and Methods of its Resolution (Insolvency Act), as amended.

		Instruction has the meaning as set out in Condition 5.5(a).

		Interest Determination Date has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.3(b).



		Interest Payment Date has the meaning as set out in Condition 5.2.

		Interest Period has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.1.

		Issue has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

		Issue Date has the meaning as set out in Condition 1.2.

		Issuer has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

		Margin has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.3(b).

		Material Change has the meaning as set out in Condition 10.1(b).

		Maturity Date means the Final Maturity Date, the Early Redemption Date and any other day designated as the Maturity Date.

		Meeting has the meaning as set out in Condition 10.1(a).

		Meeting Attendance Record Date has the meaning as set out in Condition 10.2.

		MREL Eligible Liabilities has the meaning as set out in 4.2(b)(ii).



		Noteholder has the meaning as set out in Condition 1.5(a).

		Notes has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the Notes.



		Original Reference Rate has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.4.

		Payment Date means each Interest Payment Date and Maturity Date.

		Payment Record Date means Record Date for Interest Payment and/or Record Date for Nominal Amount Repayment.

		Person Authorised to Attend the Meeting has the meaning as set out in Condition 10.2.

		Prospectus Regulation means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council on the prospectus to be published in the event of a public offering or admission of securities to trading on a regulated market, as amended.

		Recovery and Resolution Act means Act No. 374/2015 Coll., on Recovery and Resolution in the Financial Market, as amended.

		Regulated Market of the PSE means the regulated market of Burza cenných papírů Praha, a.s., with its registered office at Rybná 14/682, 110 05 Prague 1, ID No.: 471 15 629, registered with the Commercial Register kept by the Municipal Court in Prague...

		Relevant Amounts has the meaning as set out in Condition 13.1.

		Relevant Nominating Body has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.4.

		Relevant Supervisor means the Czech National Bank or any successor or replacement entity having primary responsibility for the prudential oversight and supervision of the Issuer.

		Relevant Resolution Authority means the Czech National Bank or any successor or replacement entity having responsibility for the recovery and resolution of the Issuer and/or the Group.

		Reset Date has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.1.

		Reference Rate has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.3(b).

		Record Date for Nominal Amount Repayment means the day that precedes by 30 days the relevant Maturity Date, provided, however, that for the purposes of determining the Record Date for Nominal Amount Repayment, such Maturity Date will not be adjusted ...

		Record Date for Interest Payment means the day that precedes by 30 days the relevant Interest Payment Date, provided, however, that for the purposes of determining the Record Date for Interest Payment, such Interest Payment Date will not be adjusted ...

		Set-Off Right has the meaning as set out in Condition 2.2.



		SRM Regulation has the meaning as set out in Condition 13.1.

		Subscription Period has the meaning as set out in Condition 1.2.



		Successor Rate has the meaning as set out in Condition 3.4.

		Specified Office has the meaning as set out under the heading Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

		Tax Event has the meaning as set out in Condition 4.2(c)(ii).

		Tax Law Change has the meaning as set out in Condition 4.2(c)(ii).

		Tier 2 Capital has the meaning as set out in Condition 4.2(b)(ii).
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